
 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
Meeting 
 

Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 
Decision Day 
 

Date and Time Thursday 14th January, 2021 at 2.00 pm 
  
Place Virtual Teams Meeting - Microsoft Teams 
  
Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk 
  
John Coughlan CBE 
Chief Executive 
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ 
 

FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
This meeting is being held remotely and will be recorded and broadcast live via the 

County Council’s website. 
 

AGENDA 
 
DEPUTATIONS 
 
 To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12.  

 
KEY DECISIONS (NON-EXEMPT/NON-CONFIDENTIAL) 
 
1. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT FOR BUS STOP AND BUS SHELTER 

INFRASTRUCTURE  (Pages 5 - 12) 
 
 To consider a report of the Director of Economy, Transport and 

Environment seeking approval to award a Framework contract to provide 
the supply, installation and maintenance of Bus Shelters and Bus Stop 
Infrastructure from 1 May 2021 for a period of four years, of a maximum 
total value of £7million. 
 

NON KEY DECISIONS (NON-EXEMPT/NON-CONFIDENTIAL) 
 
2. REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22  (Pages 13 - 28) 
 
 To consider a report of the Director of Economy, Transport and 

Environment and Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate 
Resources regarding the proposals for the 2021/22 budget for Economy, 
Transport and Environment, in accordance with the Council's Medium 
Term Financial Strategy approved by the County Council in November 
2019 and updated subsequently in July 2019, to reflect the financial 
impact of the Covid-19 crisis and the County Council’s response. 
 

Public Document Pack



3. ETE CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING  (Pages 29 - 44) 
 
 To consider a report of the Director of Economy, Transport and 

Environment regarding the progress and delivery within the capital 
programme in 2020/21 and changes to the programme in 2020/21 and 
beyond. 
 

4. ETE PROPOSED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22, 2022/23 AND 
2023/24  (Pages 45 - 68) 

 
 To consider a report of the Director of Economy, Transport and 

Environment setting out, subject to confirmation of funding, the proposals 
for the Economy, Transport and Environment (ETE) Capital programme 
for 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24. 
 

5. PROJECT APPRAISAL: WHITEHILL AND BORDON – SOUTH EAST 
LOOP PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLE PATH  (Pages 69 - 82) 

 
 To consider a report of the Director of Economy, Transport and 

Environment seeking approval for the Project Appraisal: Whitehill and 
Bordon: South East Loop Pedestrian and Cycle Facility as part of the 
‘Whitehill and Bordon Sustainable Transport Improvements Package’, at 
an estimated cost of £692,000. 
 

6. 2020 REVIEW OF THE HAMPSHIRE MINERALS & WASTE PLAN AND 
REVISED DEVELOPMENT SCHEME  (Pages 83 - 300) 

 
 To consider a report of the Director of Economy, Transport and 

Environment recommending a partial update of the Hampshire Minerals 
& Waste Plan (2013), following the completion of the 2020 Review, as 
required by the National Planning Policy Framework, and seeking 
approval to publish it. 
 

7. APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES  (Pages 301 - 302) 
 
 To appoint a Member to the Solent Airport Outside Body. 

 
KEY DECISIONS (EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL) 
 
 Not applicable 

 
NON KEY DECISIONS (EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL) 
 
 Not applicable 

 
 
ABOUT THIS AGENDA: 

On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as 
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages. 



 
ABOUT THIS MEETING: 

The press and public are welcome to observe the public sessions of the 
meeting via the webcast. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker: Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 

Date: 14 January 2021 

Title: Framework Agreement for Bus Stop and Bus Shelter 
Infrastructure  

Report From: Director of Economy, Transport and Environment 

Contact name: Rachel Hartley 

Tel:     Email: Rachel.hartley@hants.gov.uk 

Purpose of this Report 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval to award the necessary 

contractual arrangements to provide the supply, installation and maintenance of 
Bus Shelters and Bus Stop Infrastructure from 1 May 2021 for a period of four 
years of a maximum total value of £7million.   

Recommendations 

2. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment delegates 
authority to the Director of Economy, Transport and Environment to enter into 
the necessary Framework Agreements, in consultation with the Head of Legal 
Services, for the supply, installation and maintenance of Bus Stop and Bus 
Shelter Infrastructure, as detailed in this report, commencing on 1 May 2021 for 
a period of four years, up to an overall maximum value of £7million for the 
duration of the Framework. 

3. That authority is delegated to the Director of Economy, Transport and 
Environment to make minor modifications to the Framework in consultation with 
the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment.  

Executive Summary  
4. The current Bus Stop Infrastructure (BSI) framework agreement, awarded in 

2017, has enabled the County Council to address specialised bus stop repairs, 
improve waiting areas, support the provision of real time passenger information 
and ensure existing bus stop infrastructure is kept in a fit state of repair.  

 
5. This framework agreement expires on 30 November 2021 and therefore a new 

framework agreement is required to continue with the ongoing deployment of 
bus stop infrastructure.  

 
6. Following the success of a number of bids for major projects, including the 

Transforming Cities Fund for Portsmouth and Southampton and their respective 
surrounding areas, the procurement of a new BSI framework has included two 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



 

 

Lots; Lot 1 relates to BSI and Lot 2 incorporates the supply, installation and 
maintenance of Bus Shelters resulting in a comprehensive high-quality bus 
shelter and bus infrastructure offering.  

 
7. The award of the new framework agreement would both support Hampshire 

County Council’s commitment to local bus networks whilst positioning the 
County Council at the forefront in its delivery of major projects such as the 
Transforming Cities Fund and other government initiatives. 

 
8. It is proposed that the framework agreement be for a period of four years and 

will commence on 1 May 2021. The framework agreement will allow for call-off 
contracts for the maintenance of procured equipment for a period of up to six 
years from the framework agreement commencement date.  

 
9. It is proposed that the new framework agreement commence prior to the 

existing framework agreement expiring on 30 November 2021 to enable 
maximum flexibility in terms of what infrastructure the County Council can 
procure.  

Contextual information 
10. There are approximately 8,000 bus stops in Hampshire, all of which are owned 

by the County Council.  
 
11. Since the award of the existing framework agreement in 2017, the County 

Council has been able to improve bus stop waiting facilities and mobile phone 
messaging options at many of the County Council’s stops, providing passengers 
with up-to-date information. This has proved particularly important since March 
2020 when Hampshire’s bus services have seen a large number of changes 
thus emphasising how vital access to up-to-date information is for passengers.  

 
12. With a few specific exceptions, the County Council does not own bus shelters in 

Hampshire. Generally, these are owned by district, borough or parish councils 
with agreements in place to reflect this ownership. 

 
13. Ownership over a minority of shelters is less clear, predominately these are 

located in rural areas and have been in place for many years. To resolve this, a 
full bus shelter audit is currently being undertaken by the County Council.  

 
14. There are 2,158 shelters in Hampshire and the ownership of around 150 has yet 

to be ascertained. Once the audit has been completed, the County Council will 
consider the position with regards to the shelters which are considered “un-
owned”. At this time, a revised policy, with an accompanying project appraisal, 
will be presented to the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and 
Environment for consideration.   

 
15. Any expenditure on the supply, installation and maintenance of bus shelters will 

be dependent on the outcome of the Executive Member’s consideration of the 
project appraisal and the availability of suitable funding streams.  
 
 

Page 6



 

 

 
Other Local Authorities 
 
16. As part of the procurement of the new framework agreement, other local 

authorities were invited to be included to enable them to procure bus stop 
infrastructure and shelters through the framework. The proposed framework 
agreement would enable the Participating Authorities of Oxfordshire County 
Council; Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole Council; Dorset Council; 
Southampton City Council; Portsmouth City Council and Isle of Wight Council to 
access the services.    

 
17. In contrast to previous iterations of this framework agreement, it is proposed 

that Hampshire County Council charges a fee of 2% on the Participating 
Authorities spend.  

 
18. It is proposed that the income generated by this charge contributes to the 

development and maintenance of bus related infrastructure on the highway and 
to make overall improvements to the public bus “shop window”. This will aid the 
recovery of public bus services from the COVID-19 pandemic by ensuring that 
County Council owned infrastructure is fit for purpose and acts as an enabler for 
passengers to access local bus services.    

Finance 

19. Spend is subject to funding for this proposed framework agreement. For all 
funding secured, not only will purchase and installation costs be met, but also 
the provision to meet any ongoing maintenance costs.  

20. Subject to the framework agreement being approved, the County Council will 
charge a fee of 2% of the participating authorities spend on a quarterly basis. 
The maximum annual combined participating authority spend will be in the 
region of £627,500 resulting in a maximum income of approximately £12,550 
per annum for Hampshire County Council.  

21. The upper estimated value for the Framework agreement is £7million over the 
4-year life of the framework agreement. Based on previous success in bidding 
for Government grants, it has been determined that £4.49million of the total 
£7million will relate to Hampshire County Council. £2.51million will be the 
allocated combined spend of Oxfordshire County Council; Bournemouth, 
Christchurch & Poole Council; Dorset Council; Southampton City Council; 
Portsmouth City Council and Isle of Wight Council.  

22. The £4.49million spend relating to Hampshire County Council is based on a 
combination of allocated ongoing revenue funding from within the Local Bus 
Budget, appropriate developer contributions where improvements to public 
transport has been identified within the relevant Section 106 agreement and 
spend on innovative projects such as Transforming Cities Fund. Further reports 
seeking approval for Transforming Cities Fund spend will be brought to the 
Executive Member at a later date.  

 

 

Page 7



 

 

Performance 

 
23. The services provided under the proposed framework agreement would be 

monitored and assessed by the Passenger Transport Group Project Officer and 
Infrastructure Inspector. Mechanisms are built in to the proposed framework 
agreement to address faults where identified. 

 
24. Feedback from the public, elected Members, and bus operators has largely 

been positive about delivery under existing arrangements. During the initial 
Covid-19 lockdown and recovery periods, the County Council has been able to 
flexibly respond to changing public transport requirements and implement social 
distancing signage on bus posts, pavements and shelters providing reassurance 
for passengers and supporting passengers’ safety. Providing for similar 
arrangements in the future will aid the County Council in promoting local bus 
services, supporting the return of former passengers and advocating bus travel 
as sustainable transport post-Covid.  

 

Consultation and Equalities 

25. An equalities impact assessment has been completed in respect of this 
framework agreement. The award of the new framework agreement would not 
have an impact on people with protected characteristics as it maintains the 
authority’s existing ability to procure the supply, installation and maintenance of 
bus stop infrastructure and improves the County Council’s ability to procure the 
supply, installation and maintenance of bus shelter infrastructure.  

Climate Change Impact Assessments 
26. The climate change adaptation project screening tool has been used for this 

project and has identified; 
a) Key vulnerabilities are exposure of infrastructure to extreme weather events. 

Continuity of service through emergency maintenance is provided for within 
the framework agreement resulting in a low impact to users of public 
transport services. In addition, careful consideration is given to the 
positioning of new infrastructure which minimises the potential impact of 
extreme weather events.  

b) This decision links to the following Hampshire County Council strategic 
priorities: 
i. Green Economic Growth and Prosperity; 
ii. Improved Wellbeing and Health; and 

iii. Community Inclusivity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 8



 

 

27. The graph below illustrates the impact of this project.  

 
 
28. The climate change mitigation tool was not completed because the decision tree 

indicated that it does not calculate the emissions of this type of project.  

Conclusions 

29. That approval of the Framework Agreements detailed in this report will enable 
Hampshire County Council to continue to provide high quality infrastructure, 
supporting both the commercial and supported public bus network in 
Hampshire.  

 

Page 9



 

 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

yes 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

None  

 

Page 10



 

 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 

1. Equality Duty 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 
sharing a relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
The award of the new framework agreement would not have an impact on 
people with protected characteristics as it maintains the authority’s existing 
ability to procure the supply, installation and maintenance of bus stop 
infrastructure and improves the County Council’s ability to procure the supply, 
installation and maintenance of bus shelter infrastructure.  

 

 

 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



  

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker: Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 

Date: 14 January 2021 

Title: 2021/22 Revenue Budget Report for Economy, Transport and 
Environment 

Report From: Director of Economy, Transport and Environment and Deputy Chief 
Executive and Director of Corporate Resources 

Contact name: 
Stuart Jarvis 

Sue Lapham 

Tel:    
01962 845260 

03707 794503 
Email: 

stuart.jarvis@hants.gov.uk 

sue.lapham@hants.gov.uk 

 

 

Section A: Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to set out proposals for the 2021/22 budget for 
Economy, Transport and Environment in accordance with the Councils Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) approved by the County Council in November 
2019 and updated subsequently in July 2020 to reflect the financial impact of 
the Covid-19 crisis and the County Council’s response. 

Section B: Recommendations 

To approve for submission to the Leader and the Cabinet: 

2. The revised revenue budget for 2020/21 as set out in Appendix 1. 

3. The summary revenue budget for 2021/22 as set out in Appendix 1 

Section C: Executive Summary  

4. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) update presented to Cabinet and 
County Council in July 2020 sought to assess the medium term impact of 
Covid-19 on the financial sustainability of the County Council.  It explained that 
we were treating the medium term impact of Covid-19 as a one off financial 
impact that we aimed to address through a financial response package of 
Council resources and further government support and concluded that further 

Page 13

Agenda Item 2

mailto:stuart.jarvis@hants.gov.uk
mailto:sue.lapham@hants.gov.uk


  

government funding of £52.4m was required to ensure that the Council was 
financially sustainable in the medium term. 

5. An update was presented to Cabinet in November and County Council in 
December which reaffirmed that a minimum level of government support of at 
least £50m was still required to help balance the deficit after the application of 
the financial response package. 

6. The aim of the approach to Covid-19 was to place the County Council in the 
same financial position it would have otherwise been in if Covid-19 had not 
happened in order to ensure that the tried and tested financial strategy which 
the County Council operates could be protected and retained. 

7. This strategy works on the basis of a two year cycle of delivering departmental 
savings targets to close the anticipated budget gap.  This provides the time and 
capacity to properly deliver major savings programmes every two years, with 
deficits in the intervening years being met from the Budget Bridging Reserve 
(BBR) and with any early delivery of resources retained by departments to use 
for cost of change purposes or to cash flow delivery and offset service 
pressures.  The model has served the authority well. 

8. In line with this strategy, the Transformation to 2021 (Tt2021) Programme has 
been in place for some time to develop the £80m of savings required to 
balance the budget for 2021/22.  Detailed savings proposals for each 
department were approved by the County Council in November 2019, in order 
to allow more time for delivery of the savings; including the requirement to 
undertake a second stage of service specific consultations where necessary.   

9. Since the transformation programme is already in place to deliver approved 
departmental savings, there are no new savings proposals to be considered as 
part of the 2021/22 budget setting process.  The anticipated delay to delivery of 
some aspects of the transformation programmes has been factored into our 
financial planning and sufficient one-off funding exists both corporately and 
within departments to meet any potential gap over the period.   

10. The report also provides an update on the business as usual financial position 
for the current year and the outturn forecast for the Department for 2020/21, 
excluding the financial impact of Covid-19, is a saving against the budget of 
£4.4m. 

11. The proposed budget for 2021/22 analysed by service is shown in Appendix 1. 

12. This report seeks approval for submission to the Leader and Cabinet of the 
revised budget for 2020/21 and detailed service budgets for 2021/22 for 
Economy, Transport and Environment.  The report has been prepared in 
consultation with the Executive Member and will be reviewed by the Economy, 
Transport and Environment Select Committee.  It will be reported to the Leader 
and Cabinet on 9 February 2021 to make final recommendations to County 
Council on 25 February 2021. 

Page 14



  

Section D: Contextual Information 

13. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) update presented to Cabinet and 
County Council in July explained that we were treating the medium term impact 
of Covid-19 as a one off problem that we aimed to address through a financial 
response package of Council resources and further government support. 

14. The report concluded that further government funding of £52.4m was required 
to ensure that the Council was financially sustainable in the medium term and 
an update, presented to Cabinet in November and County Council in 
December, reaffirmed that a minimum level of government support of at least 
£50m was still required to help balance the deficit after the application of the 
financial response package. 

15. The aim of the approach to Covid-19 was to place the County Council in the 
same financial position it would have otherwise been in if Covid-19 had not 
happened in order to ensure that it still had sufficient fire power in its reserves 
to address the business as usual deficits of at least £40m per annum predicted 
after the current Transformation to 2021 (Tt2021) Programme has been 
implemented and in line with the strategy being adopted to manage the 
financial impact of Covid-19 as a separate one off issue. 

16. The current financial strategy which the County Council operates, works on the 
basis of a two year cycle of delivering change to release resources and close 
the anticipated budget gap.  This provides the time and capacity to properly 
deliver major transformation programmes every two years, with deficits in the 
intervening years being met from the Budget Bridging Reserve (BBR) and with 
any early delivery of resources retained by departments to use for cost of 
change purposes or to cash flow delivery and offset service pressures.  The 
model has served the authority well.   

17. The County Council’s action in tackling its forecast budget deficit and providing 
funding in anticipation of further reductions, placed it in a very strong position to 
produce a ‘steady state’ budget for 2020/21, giving itself the time and capacity 
to develop and implement the Tt2021 Programme to deliver the next phase of 
savings totalling £80m.  This also avoids the worst effects of sudden and 
unplanned decisions on service delivery and the most vulnerable members of 
the community.   

18. Consequently, the majority of the decisions in respect of major changes to the 
budget were taken early however, other factors will still affect the budget, such 
as council tax decisions and inflation.   

19. Members will be aware that following previous delays in the Comprehensive 
Spending Review (CSR) it was hoped that a three year CSR would be 
announced in November this year.  Following increasing rates of Covid-19 
throughout October and the uncertainty over the long term economic impacts of 
Covid-19 the Chancellor announced that only a single year Spending Review 
would be put in place. 

Page 15



  

20. The Spending Review announcement took place on 25 November 2020 and 
the key elements were as follows: 

 For salaries set by the Government (such as teachers and police) there 
will be a public sector pay freeze in 2021/22.  The exceptions are for 
those earning less than £24,000 (who will receive a minimum £250 
increase) and the NHS.  The Government does not set pay for most 
council staff, although it is likely to set grant levels at amounts which 
assume a pay freeze. 

 Councils with social care responsibilities will be allowed to increase 
council tax by up to 5% in 2021/22 without holding a referendum.  This 
consists of 2% for main council tax and 3% for the adult social care 
precept. 

 The business rates multiplier will be frozen in 2021/22 (with local 
authorities fully compensated for the lost income).  Further Covid-19 
business rates reliefs may be announced in the new year. 

 The Government expects to provide local authorities with over £3bn more 
to help with Covid-19 pressures in 2021/22.  It comprises: 

- £1.55bn to help with expenditure pressures. 

- £670m additional funding for council tax support schemes (which 
reduce council tax bills for households on low incomes). 

- £762m (estimate) to compensate local authorities for 75% of 
council tax and business rates losses resulting from 2020/21. 

- Extending the Covid-19 sales, fees and charges reimbursement 
scheme for three months until the end of June 2021. 

 An additional £300m for adults’ and children’s social care (£1.2m for 
Hampshire) and continuation of the existing £1bn annual grant put into 
social care previously will be maintained, along with £2.1bn provided 
through the improved Better Care Fund (pooled with the NHS).  Proposals 
for reforming adults’ social care will be brought forward next year. 

 The New Homes Bonus scheme will continue for a further year, with no 
new legacy payments.  Reforms to the New Homes Bonus will be 
consulted on shortly, with a view to implementing changes in 2022/23. 

 The Chancellor also announced how the Government would deliver the 
next stages of its infrastructure investment plans to drive the UK’s 
recovery with £100bn of capital spending next year and a £4bn Levelling 
Up Fund. 

21. The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement has not been 
announced at the time of writing this report but is anticipated during week 
commencing 14 December 2020.  This will provide more clarity as to the impact 
of the Spending Review on Hampshire County Council and details will be 
provided in a separate briefing to members and within the Economy, Transport 
and Environment Select Committee Briefing presentation in January 2021. 

Page 16



  

22. The final grant settlement for 2021/22 is not due out until this report has been 
dispatched, however it is not anticipated that there will be any major changes to 
the figures that were released in December 2020. 

23. The Economy, Transport and Environment (ETE) Department has been 
developing its service plans and budgets for 2021/22 and future years in 
keeping with the County Council’s priorities and the key issues, challenges and 
priorities for the Department are set out below 

Section E: Departmental Challenges and Priorities 

24. The Department’s underlying budget strategy continues a relentless focus on 
core service delivery around Highways, Waste Management, Transport, 
Economic Development and statutory planning services. 

25. The financial impacts of Covid-19 on the County Council have been 
comprehensively covered in the regular update reports to Cabinet so will not be 
repeated here (the net financial impact on ETE, expected to be £2.8m, will be 
met corporately).  The impacts on the Department’s activities this year have 
been wide-ranging and include: 

 In line with Government guidance, supporting public transport in 
Hampshire financially by making payments based on activity in the 
previous financial year where budget provision exists (e.g. Concessionary 
Fares, subsidies to local bus) and ensuring additional Government grant 
support covering commercial journeys has been passed to bus operators 
in a timely way. 

 Suspending the enforcement of on-street parking for a period and 
delaying the further rollout in town centres to support the recovery of retail 
and other outlets in local centres. 

 Introducing a booking system for Household Waste Recycling Centre 
visits to manage access and therefore enable the safe use of these sites 
by the public and remove the impact of nuisance queuing on neighbouring 
businesses and in some cases on highway safety. 

 Ensuring capital and highway maintenance works were able to re-start 
using Covid-19 secure methods of working (but this has brought both 
additional costs and reduced efficiency).   

26. While it might be expected that the immediate pressures from the pandemic will 
recede as the mass vaccination programme is rolled out the economic 
implications are likely to persist.  As part of the overall Recovery approach the 
Department is leading the development of an Economic Recovery Framework 
for Hampshire (and may come under pressure to catalyse regeneration 
programmes despite limited capacity to invest directly). 

27. The impact of pandemic has also contributed to further delays in bringing 
forward legislation to confirm the Government’s recycling proposals following 
publication of their Resources and Waste Strategy in 2018 and subsequent 

Page 17



  

consultation responses.  This continuing uncertainty has had a corresponding 
impact on the County Council’s ability to progress and conclude discussions 
with District and Borough Council Waste Collection Authorities on delivering the 
required changes including new infrastructure.  The proposed legislation could 
also have significant financial impacts: for example, in quarter 2 of this year, 
aluminium drinks cans make up just 3% of recycled materials by volume but 
32% by income value.  If the proposed Deposit Return Scheme were to remove 
this material from local authority waste streams there would be a 
disproportionate adverse effect on the current financial model for recycling. 

28. Following the County Council’s declaration of a Climate Change Emergency in 
July 2019 a small corporate team to lead this work was established in the 
Department.  Since then, the County Council’s Climate Change Strategy and 
the associated Action Plan have been endorsed, focussing on the County 
Council but also the wider county of Hampshire where the majority of carbon 
emissions are generated and the greater impact can be made.  However, these 
activities are generating pressure from raised public expectations to act quickly 
on a number of fronts such as increased walking and cycling schemes and 
accelerated flood mitigation works.  The approach remains to focus resources 
on developing pilot approaches and submitting bids for external funding to take 
these forward. 

29. The increased focus on Climate Change alongside the recommendations from 
the 2050 Commission of Enquiry is influencing the major update of the County 
Council’s Local Transport Plan (LTP4) the approach to which was endorsed by 
the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment in March 
2020.  Work is at an early stage and is initially focussed on consulting with an 
extensive range of internal and external stakeholders to shape a vision for the 
future place and quality of life in Hampshire then establish the design principles 
to achieve this vision. 

30. Finally, a decade of austerity and managed decline of the highway network has 
resulted in a visible and accelerating deterioration of the road network, which is 
particularly apparent on the c and unclassified roads (making up 83% of the 
network). The annual funding gap is now estimated at £3-5m per annum.  The 
National Highways and Transport Network (NHT) 2020 survey showed that, 
against a backdrop of falling overall scores, Hampshire’s score for highways 
condition has slipped from the top quartile last year to the second quartile this 
year. This position has been offset both by ongoing investment from the County 
Council in structural improvements through the ‘Operation Resilience’ 
programme (which benefitted from a one-off increase of £3m in 2020/21 agreed 
by Cabinet and the County Council in February 2020) and one-off Government 
grant funding such as the Pothole Fund.  However, the revenue budget 
provision available for reactive maintenance and safety defects continues to be 
under pressure.  It is worth noting that the issue also extends to structures with 
major bridges such as Redbridge and Langstone, built during a programme of 
expansion in the 1960s, requiring major structural works at a similar time. 

Section F: 2020/21 Revenue Budget  

Page 18



  

31. Enhanced financial resilience reporting, which looks not only at the regular 
financial reporting but also at potential pressures in the system and the 
achievement of savings being delivered through transformation, has continued 
through periodic reports to the Corporate Management Team (CMT) and to 
Cabinet. 

32. The anticipated business as usual outturn forecast for 2020/21 is a saving 
against the budget of £4.4m (3.5% of the cash limit).  These figures exclude the 
net impact of Covid-19 on ETE’s financial position as this has already been 
included in the corporate reporting of the position to Cabinet and the County 
Council and the net pressure will be met centrally.  It should be noted however 
that business as usual activities have been affected by resources being 
diverted to deal with the Covid-19 response and recovery. 

33. The Department’s long-standing approach of minimising non-essential spend, 
seeking to develop a broader client base for sold services and adopting a 
prudent approach to vacancy management has a heightened importance 
against the backdrop of the Council’s current financial position and the 
increased delay in delivering the Department’s Tt2021 savings from the Waste 
budget which will need cash flow funding from Cost of Change.  This approach 
has therefore continued to feature strongly in the Department’s overall financial 
management.  

34. The breakdown of the £4.4m 2020/21 forecast outturn saving is set out below:  

 £1.034m early achievement of Tt2021 savings. 

 Vacancy management savings and additional income and recharges 
totalling £2.847m across the Department. 

 Savings associated with service delivery of £504,000 including £204,000 
associated with the waste prevention work currently funded through 
temporary Cost of Change resources.  It is intended to reinvest these 
savings to enable a permanent programme to be established to secure 
current and develop future waste prevention savings. 

35. This saving will be transferred to the Department’s Cost of Change reserve at 
the end of the year in line with the County Council’s financial strategy to be 
used to support the delivery of future savings programmes or offset service 
pressures. 

36. The majority of the Department’s Transformation to 2019 (Tt2019) savings 
have been fully delivered with the balance of two programmes, Waste and 
Parking, still to be completed.  The outstanding balance of £0.9m of the Parking 
saving is now expected to be achieved in 2021/22 with aspects of the 
programme having been delayed due to the pandemic.  The balance on the 
Tt2019 Waste saving of £1.76m is also expected to be fully achieved by 
2021/22 following decisions taken by the Executive Member for Economy, 
Transport and Environment in October 2020.  The cash flow impact of these 
timing shortfalls has been met from the departmental Cost of Change reserve. 

Page 19



  

37. Despite the challenges of the Covid-19 response and recovery the Department 
has made progress in delivering the Tt2021 target of £11.748m with early 
achievement of £1.034m now expected in 2020/21. 

38. The budget for ETE has been updated throughout the year and the revised 
budget is shown in Appendix 1.  The revised budget shows an increase of 
£15.479m made up of: 

 A one-off increase to Highways Maintenance of £2.0m funded from the 
£595,000 2019/20 saving in Winter Maintenance and the use of corporate 
contingencies as agreed by Cabinet in February 2020. 

 The addition of £2.195m of one-off funding agreed by Cabinet and the 
County Council in February 2018 to support the revenue costs associated 
with feasibility, business case and funding bid development work 
associated with capital schemes. 

 Temporary cash flow funding from Cost of Change of £6.026m to cover 
the timing shortfalls against Tt2019 savings and one-off investments 
mainly to support the development of the Tt2021 savings programme. 

 A permanent increase to the waste disposal budget of £557,000 covering 
volume growth pressures. 

 £2m from the one-off funding for Operation Resilience of £3m approved 
by Cabinet in February 2020 moved to reactive maintenance to provide 
additional capacity for safety defects, emergency repairs and other 
actions to maintain the safety and operational integrity of the network. 

 £1.519m one-off funding from the Department for Transport being 
Hampshire’s revenue allocation from phases one and two of the Active 
Travel Fund to create safe space for cycling and walking. 

 £768,000 increase for pay inflation. 

 A net increase of £414,000 from transfers between departments including 
funding for the transfer of the relevant HantsDirect services and funding 
for Ash Dieback (part of the allocation agreed by Cabinet in February 
2020). 

Section G: 2021/22 Revenue Budget Pressures and Initiatives 

39. The revenue pressures in highways maintenance referred to in paragraph 30 
have been eased in the current financial year by an additional one-off sum of 
£3m for the Operation Resilience programme to increase planned works and 
provide extra flexibility to transfer funding to the reactive maintenance 
programme.  The November Cabinet report confirmed a commitment to 
reviewing the affordability of continuing this funding on a longer-term basis if 
this proves affordable.  The additional funding together with the flexibility to use 
it to support essential reactive maintenance and safety defects work has 
already been of benefit in the current financial year with the £2m of one-off 
funding transferred to revenue outlined in paragraph 38. 

Page 20



  

40. In recent years, the Department has been successful in bidding for funding to 
deliver capital schemes across Hampshire (such as Stubbington Bypass, 
Whitehill Bordon Green Grid Green Loop, A30 corridor improvements in 
Basingstoke) with around £169m capital funding secured since 2018/19.  The 
revenue costs associated with feasibility work and developing bids (for example 
to Government or Local Enterprise Partnerships) have been funded by 
allocations of around £1.5m approved annually.  The Cabinet report in 
November confirmed that the affordability of future funding will be considered in 
February when details of the County Council’s financial settlement for 2021/22 
will have been confirmed. 

41. There is emerging evidence of construction inflation pressures resulting from 
impact of HS2 (shortage of materials, higher prices), the Government’s 
National Infrastructure Strategy and spending plans and likely impact on the 
market. 

42. Further funding to continue a programme of inspection and works to address 
the health and safety risks associated with Ash Dieback in Hampshire was 
agreed by Cabinet in November 2020 for 2021/22.  This funding is welcome as 
there is growing evidence that the problem may be more widespread than 
initially thought and the position will need to be kept under close review. 

Section H: Revenue Savings Proposals 

43. Savings targets for 2021/22 were approved as part of the MTFS by the County 
Council in September 2018.  Proposals to meet these targets have been 
developed through the Tt2021 Programme and were approved by Executive 
Members, Cabinet and County Council in October and November 2019. 

44. It is now expected that full year savings of £3.053m will be achieved in 2021/22 
with the shortfall against the target being met from the cost of change reserve 
and corporate cash flow as part of the Covid-19 response where further delays 
have resulted from the impact of the pandemic.   For ETE an overall £8.695m 
timing shortfall against the £11.748m target is now anticipated, an increase of 
£7.247m over the original expectation of a £1.448m timing shortfall to be met 
from Cost of Change. 

45. The main reasons for the shortfall relate to: 

 £8.295m waste disposal (recycling and charging for waste wood) – this 
complex programme involves changing the financial relationship between 
the County Council as Waste Disposal Authority and the district and 
borough councils as Waste Collection Authorities (with legal responsibility 
for recycling).  Progress continues to be made but has been significantly 
affected by further delays in the Government bringing forward legislation 
to implement aspects of its radical Resources and Waste Strategy 
together with the need for the waste service to respond to the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

Page 21



  

 £0.4m Street Lighting – the complexity of reaching mutual agreement to 
vary the PFI contract has extended the preliminary period ahead of works 
commencing and the subsequent timescales for delivery agreed with the 
contractor for the programme of investment in LED lighting mean the full 
£0.5m savings from street lighting are not now expected to be fully 
realised until 2023/24. 

46. Rigorous monitoring of the delivery of the programme will continue during 
2021/22, to ensure that the Department is able to stay within its cash limited 
budget as set out in this report. 

47. This early action in developing and implementing the savings programme for 
2021/22 means that the County Council is a strong position for setting a 
balanced budget in 2021/22 and that no new savings proposals will be 
considered as part of the budget setting process for the next financial year. 

Section I: 2021/22 Revenue Budget Other Expenditure 

48. The budget includes some items which are not counted against the cash limit. 

49. For ETE this is: 

 £692,000 relating to the Flood Protection Levies paid annually to the 
Environment Agency.  These funds are received and distributed by the 
Regional Flood and Coastal Committees for flood defence works across 
their regions.  

 £203,000 relating to the precept paid each year to the Chichester Harbour 
Conservancy for the conservancy, maintenance and improvement of the 
Harbour and the Amenity Area for recreation and leisure, nature 
conservation and natural beauty. 

Section J: Budget Summary 2021/22 

50. The budget update report was presented to Cabinet on 24 November 2020 
included provisional cash limit guidelines for each department.  The cash limit 
for ETE in that report was £103.667m, a £5.886m decrease on the previous 
year.  The decrease comprised:   

 £11.748m reduction to the cash limit for Tt2021 savings. 

 £5.107m increase for inflation, permanent additions from the waste 
contingency and growth recognising the increase in highways assets to 
be maintained. 

 A net increase of £755,000 from internal transfers including the full year 
effect transfer of the Blue Badge and multi services team from 
HantsDirect. 

Page 22



  

51. Appendix 1 sets out a summary of the proposed budgets for the service 
activities provided by ETE for 2021/22 and show that these are within the cash 
limit set out above. 

52. In addition to these cash limited items there are further budgets which fall under 
the responsibility of ETE, which are shown in the table below: 

  

 2021/22 

 £’000 £’000 

Cash Limited Expenditure 151,722  

Less Income (Other than Government Grants) (48,055)  

Net Cash Limited Expenditure  103,667 

Flood Protection Levy  692 

Chichester Harbour Conservancy  203 

Less Government Grants: 

 Bikeability 

 Bus Service Operators Grant 

 

(316) 

(1,068) 

 

Total Government Grants  (1,384) 

Total Net Expenditure  103,178 

   

Page 23



 
 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
Links to the Strategic Plan 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic growth 
and prosperity: 

Yes / No 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent lives: Yes / No 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse environment: Yes / No 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, inclusive 
communities: 

Yes / No 

 
Other Significant Links 

Links to previous Member decisions:  

Title Date 
Transformation to 2021 – Revenue Savings Proposals 
(Executive Member for Economy, Transport and 
Environment) 
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s38269/Repo
rt .pdf 

Medium Term Financial Strategy Update and 
Transformation to 2021 Savings Proposals 
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=
22267&PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI22852 

Medium Term Financial Strategy Update 
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?
CId=134&MId=6499&Ver=4 

Budget Setting and Provisional Cash Limits 2021/22 
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s60700/Nov
%202020%20Financial%20Update%20Budget%20Setti
ng%20-%20Cabinet%20FINAL.pdf 

17 September 2019 
 
 

 

Cabinet – 15 October 
2019 / County Council 
– 7 November 2019 
 

Cabinet – 14 July 2020 
/ County Council – 16 
July 2020 

Cabinet – 24 November 
2020 / County Council 
– 3 December 2020 

Direct links to specific legislation or Government 
Directives  

 

Title Date 
  

 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

Page 24

http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s38269/Report%20.pdf
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s38269/Report%20.pdf
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=22267&PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI22852
http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=22267&PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI22852
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=6499&Ver=4
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=6499&Ver=4
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s60700/Nov%202020%20Financial%20Update%20Budget%20Setting%20-%20Cabinet%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s60700/Nov%202020%20Financial%20Update%20Budget%20Setting%20-%20Cabinet%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s60700/Nov%202020%20Financial%20Update%20Budget%20Setting%20-%20Cabinet%20FINAL.pdf


 
 

None  

Page 25



 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 
sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
The budget setting process for 2021/22 does not contain any proposals for 
major service changes which may have an equalities impact.  Proposals for 
budget and service changes which are part of the Transformation to 2021 
Programme were considered in detail as part of the approval process carried 
out in October and November 2019 and full details of the Equalities Impact 
Assessments relating to those changes can be found in Appendices 5 to 8 in 
the October Cabinet report linked below: 

http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=21194#mgDocuments 

Page 26

http://democracy.hants.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=21194#mgDocuments


 

Budget Summary 2021/22 – Economy, Transport and Environment 
 
 

Service Activity Original 
Budget 
2020/21 

£’000 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 

£’000 

Proposed 
Budget 
2021/22 

£’000 

Highways Maintenance (1) 17,075 21,895 18,006 

Street Lighting 10,651 10,898 10,739 

Winter Maintenance 5,677 5,677 5,820 

Concessionary Fares 13,212 13,212 13,142 

Other Public Transport (2) 4,092 4,329 4,378 

Traffic Management and Road Safety (3) 2,268 3,167 2,573 

Strategic Transport (2) 1,780 5,205 1,480 

Highways, Traffic and Transport 54,755 64,383 56,138 

Waste Disposal (4) 48,699 51,710 41,656 

Environment 619 539 554 

Strategic Planning 932 1,095 997 

Waste, Planning and Environment 50,250 53,344 43,207 

Economic Development 879 1,029 1,027 

Departmental and Corporate Support 3,319 5,242 3,295 

Early Achievement of Savings 350 1,034 0 

    

Net Cash Limited Expenditure 109,553 125,032 103,667 

 
 
 
(1) The Highways Maintenance revised budget includes £2m additional funding for maintenance, 

which each year is met from any underspend against the Winter Maintenance budget in the 
previous financial year topped up from corporate contingencies as necessary.  The proposed 
budget for 2021/22 does not yet include this £2m as the amount of funding from each source will 
not be clear until the year end.  The revised budget also includes £2m additional one-off funding 
transferred from Operation Resilience. 
(2) The revised and forward budgets for these two areas reflect the transfer of a team from 

Strategic Transport to Other Public Transport.  The revised budget for Strategic Transport also 
includes one-off budget provision of £2.195m major schemes development funding and £1.519m 

Active Travel funding.(3) Revised budget includes one-off cash flow support covering the delayed 

Tt2019 parking saving, and both the revised and forward budget now include funding for the 
HantsDirect Blue Badge Team transferred across to ETE. 
(4) Revised budget includes one-off cash flow support to cover the delayed Tt2019 waste savings 

and transformation projects required to achieve the Tt2021 savings. 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker: Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 

Date: 14 January 2021 

Title: ETE Capital Programme Monitoring 

Report From: Director of Economy, Transport and Environment 

Contact name: Maria Golley 

Tel:    0370 779 0492 Email: maria.golley@hants.gov.uk 

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide a high-level summary of progress and 
delivery within the capital programme in 2020/21 and provides 
recommendations for changes to the programme in 2020/21 and beyond. 

Recommendations 

2. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment notes the 
significant work being undertaken to progress the capital programme in the 
current difficult conditions, as well as the considerable value of competitive 
funding that has been secured so far in 2020/21. 

3. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment seeks 
approval from Council for an increase in the value of the Stubbington Bypass 
scheme from £34.495 million to the value of £39.295 million, noting that the 
increase of £2 million associated with the impact of Covid-19 is to be funded 
from the allocation previously approved for that purpose by the County Council 
in July 2020, with the balance to be funded from a mix of Section 106 developer 
contributions and local resources. 

4. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment notes the 
increase in the value of the Redbridge Causeway Works Package 2 scheme 
from £9.7 million to the value of £9.88 million, noting that the additional cost of 
£0.18 million is associated with the impact of Covid-19 to be funded from the 
allocation previously approved for that purpose by the County Council in July 
2020. 

5. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment notes the 
increase in the value of the Woodhouse Lane South – Botley scheme from 
£4.498 million up to the value of £5.087 million, noting that the additional cost of 
£0.589 million is associated with the impact of Covid-19 to be funded from the 
allocation previously approved for that purpose by the County Council in July 
2020. 

6. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment delegates 
authority to the Director of Economy, Transport and Environment (in 

Page 29

Agenda Item 3



 

 

consultation with the Head of Legal Services) to agree the terms and enter into 
contractual arrangements to secure the transfer of the Future Transport Zone 
funding from Southampton City Council. 

7. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment approves 
the inclusion of 16 capital Active Travel Fund schemes (totalling £2.4 million) 
into the 2020/21 capital programme. The schemes will be entered individually 
with the greatest value being £0.394 million, as outlined in appendix 4. 

Executive Summary  

8. The Economy, Transport and Environment (ETE) capital programme contains a 
range of projects, including but not limited to: highways maintenance, transport 
improvements, flood alleviation, waste management, bridge strengthening, 
economic development, town centre improvements and highways safety. 

9. ETE’s capital programme is a mix of starts-based and spend-based approvals, 
which means that the published programme figures are not wholly related to 
expenditure in any given year. It is not possible, therefore, to correlate the 
published programme to actual expenditure in any meaningful way. 

10. This paper provides a short narrative summary of progress and delivery within 
the capital programme. The additional appendices to this report provide more 
detailed information and are referenced where relevant. 

11. This paper also contains recommendations for the consideration of the 
Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment. 

Expenditure and Finance 

12. This section provides an update on the capital programme expenditure and 
finance since the beginning of 2020/21. 

13. Gross spend across the capital programme from 1 April to 30 October 2020 is 
£48.407million. Appendix 1 shows where expenditure is being made across 
ETE’s programme.  

14. A review of planned expenditure was undertaken in the autumn, taking in to 
account planned carry forwards for schemes due to commence in future years 
as notified at this point.  Further review will take place before the end of the 
financial year, and based on experience, further deferments and/or 
amendments are likely to occur in the final quarter and works may be subject to 
potential impacts from adverse winter weather events. Last year’s actual outturn 
was £76.13 million and the forecast at this point in the previous year was £85 
million. The current predicted outturn is in the region of £90 - £95 million and 
taking in to account previous experience and the challenges of the current year 
to date, it is likely that the actual outturn at the end of 2020/21 will be lower than 
the current prediction, potentially in the region of £80 - £85million. 

15. The outturn could be reduced further due to the impact of unavailability of 
construction staff due to Covid-19 and self-isolation requirements, which 
generates further uncertainty.    

Page 30



 

 

16. The Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment approved the 
following Project Appraisals since the ETE Capital Programme Quarter 2 
2020/21 report: 

 Farnborough Flood Alleviation Scheme - Rectory and Sycamore Roads 
(£0.475 million);  

 Whitehill Bordon STP – Woolmer Way (Tesco)/High Street Junction 
Improvement (0.495million); and 

 Brighton Hill Roundabout, Basingstoke (£19.3 million) 

17. Required adjustments to the schemes’ capital programme entries have been 
made accordingly. 

18. Since the last update, the outcome of the Active Travel Fund bid has now been 
announced and Hampshire County Council has been successful in securing 
£3.28million (capital and revenue mix). This funding will be used on a range of 
measures to improve spaces for people walking and cycling. It should be noted 
that Hampshire County Council’s award was less than the indicative bid, 
receiving only 95% of the amount requested.  This was in line with similar 
authorities but showed that the awards tended to favour unitary authorities 
whose bids were felt to be strong.  Appendix 3 provides further information on 
the percentage of indicative allocations received by other local authorities in 
England. 

Delivery and Programme Changes  

19. This section details significant points concerning the delivery of the elements 
within each Economy, Transport and Environment sub-programme since the 
last report and recommends amendments and additions to the capital 
programme for approval. 

20. The impacts of Covid-19 are being seen across ETE’s capital programme. 
Although work is continuing to minimise financial and time impacts as much as 
possible, increased capital costs resulting in some schemes requiring further 
funding is expected. Specific impacts are detailed within the capital programme 
sections below.  

Structural Maintenance programme 

21. Work has continued within the Hampshire Highways Service Contract despite 
the pressures and changes to ways of working brought about by the Covid-19 
pandemic.  At the time of writing Quarter 3 was yet to complete, however at the 
end of Quarter 2, 86% of works have been ordered and 246 schemes (45%) 
completed. Remaining schemes are programmed for delivery although weather, 
road space availability and resource availability remain a challenge. 

22. Principal inspections of subways were undertaken during the November 
lockdown to take advantage of the fact that usage of these was down, 
particularly in town centre locations. Precautions for inspectors were in place for 
social distancing due to Covid-19. 

23. Work has continued on Redbridge Viaduct Work Package 2 with repairs starting 
on the southern edge off scaffolding supported on the footway.  This identified 

Page 31



 

 

additional works as a result of the 1960’s records not fully reflecting the ‘as built’ 
situation. Site work continued throughout the lockdown utilising the additional 
welfare facilities provided earlier in the year. Covid-19 related cost pressures 
have affected this scheme and it is expected that the value of the scheme will 
increase by £0.18 million. As a result, the Executive Member for Economy, 
Transport and Environment is asked to note the increase in the value of the 
Redbridge Causeway Works Package 2 scheme from £9.7 million to the value 
of £9.88 million, noting that the additional cost of £0.18 million is associated with 
the impact of Covid-19 to be funded from the allocation previously approved for 
that purpose by the County Council in July 2020.  

24. Design work continued on Redbridge Work Package 3 (Eastbound carriageway) 
and liaison with utilities, Network Rail and the Marine Management Organisation 
continued. Design for Botley structures, Langstone bridge refurbishment and a 
number of smaller bridge replacement schemes is ongoing. 

25. In November, Department for Transport Officers advised that the Major Road 
Network (MRN) fund bid for Redbridge Work Package 3, endorsed by Transport 
for South East (TfSE) in July 2019, was due to be submitted to Ministers shortly. 

26. At Holmsley, legal work continued in relation to transfer of land between 
Hampshire County Council and Forestry England. At the time of writing the 
Tender was expected to go out in December through the Gen4-2 Framework.  

Integrated Transport Programme 

27. At the time of writing, the government expects local authorities to continue with 
the construction of capital programmes, despite Covid-19 challenges resulting in 
increased costs and potential prolonging of scheme construction due to the 
need for contractors’ staff to social distance.  

28. The increased costs for the schemes currently in construction are being incurred 
at Hampshire County Council’s expense. In addition, it is now apparent through 
the return of tenders that the cost of schemes not yet in construction will be 
higher than their pre-tender estimate, due to the impacts of Covid-19 restrictions 
on the industry. 

29. The department is reviewing each scheme on a case by case basis, to identify 
where additional funding will be required. Where schemes rely on external 
funding, there may be challenges in securing additional resources, and 
therefore it will be necessary to explore all avenues to secure additional funding.  
It is possible, however, that additional funding may not be available, in which 
case schemes may need to be reduced in scope, or potentially paused, due to 
Covid-19 cost increases. 

30. The scheme of most concern at time of writing is Stubbington Bypass. Covid-19 
related cost pressures incurred to date, as well as future forecasted Covid-19 
cost pressures for this scheme, could add an estimated additional £2 million of 
costs. As a result, the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and 
Environment is asked to note the increase of £2 million associated with the 
impact of Covid-19 to be funded from the allocation previously approved for that 
purpose by the County Council in July 2020. 

31. As would be expected, costs and designs of schemes on the scale of 
Stubbington Bypass are regularly reviewed to ensure the scheme remains 
resilient against external changes post initial approval. A recent review has 

Page 32



 

 

identified several adaptions and enhancements that will benefit the outcome of 
the scheme, these include additional ecological activities and remediations, 
additional ground stabilisation work, additional street lighting at the junction with 
Peak Lane and higher contractor costs. These changes, which could result in an 
increase of £2.8 million representing 8% from the original approved value, will 
be funded from a mix of S106 developer contributions and local resources. 
Considering the premium needed to cover the additional Covid-19 related costs 
as well, the overall value of the scheme is now forecast at £39.295 million.   

32. It is therefore recommended that the Executive Member for Economy, Transport 
and Environment seeks approval from Council for an increase in the value of the 
Stubbington Bypass scheme from £34.495 million to the value of £39.295 
million, noting that the increase of £2 million associated with the impact of 
Covid-19 is to be funded from the allocation previously approved for that 
purpose by the County Council in July 2020, with the balance to be funded from 
a mix of S106 developer contributions and local resources. 

33. Covid-19 related cost pressures have also affected the Woodhouse Lane South 
– Botley scheme and it is expected that the value of the scheme will increase by 
£0.589 million.  As a result, the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and 
Environment is asked to note the increase in the value of the Woodhouse Lane 
South – Botley scheme from £4.498 million up to the value of £5.087 million, 
with the additional cost of £0.589 million to be funded from the allocation 
previously approved for that purpose by the County Council in July 2020.   

34. Despite the complexities that Covid-19 presents, the department is working hard 
to develop and implement a strong forward programme of Integrated Transport 
schemes. The Majors sub-programme has seen significant recent growth with 
the inclusion of 10 Portsmouth City Region Transforming Cities Fund Tranche 2 
schemes (£21 million) in November 2020 as well as further additions 
recommended elsewhere on this agenda. Furthermore, there continues to be 
significant work on schemes in the existing programme across the 
county, including schemes on site such as A326 Waterside, Thornycroft 
Roundabout in Basingstoke, Eclipse Busway in Gosport, Stubbington Bypass 
and M27 Junction 9 schemes. In addition, schemes including Brighton Hill 
Roundabout in Basingstoke, Lynchford Road in Farnborough, Uplands 
Development Infrastructure & Woodhouse Lane in Botley are moving forward 
with advanced works expected on site this winter.  

35. The Named schemes (<£2million) transport improvement programme is also 
seeing considerable growth with the inclusion of 12 Southampton City Region 
Transforming Cities Fund Tranche 2 schemes (approximately £18 million) in 
November 2020.   

36. In addition, following the success of the Department for Transport’s Active 
Travel Fund Tranche 2 bid, 16 schemes have been developed for inclusion into 
the capital programme 2020/21.  These schemes seek to enable increases in 
walking and cycling, facilitating social distancing within various urban areas 
across Hampshire. In Winchester, for example, the range of measures proposed 
include reallocation of road space and removal/relocation of parking bays to 
widen footways and create new cycle lanes in addition to the installation of a 
modal filter. It is recognised that these schemes will require, as advised by DfT, 
public consultation to ensure that there is full opportunity for comments to be 

Page 33



 

 

made and considered before any schemes are implemented. Appendix 4 shows 
further details of the schemes. 

37. It is therefore recommended that the Executive Member for Economy, Transport 
and Environment approves the inclusion of the 16 capital Active Travel Fund 
schemes (totalling £2.4 million) into the 2020/21 capital programme. The 
schemes will be entered individually with the greatest value being £0.394 
million, as outlined in appendix 4. 

38. As detailed in the November 2020 Capital Programme report, a review of the 
remaining 2020/21 capital programme has now taken place to determine which 
schemes programmed for delivery in 2020/21 require deferral to later 
programme years. Local members have been consulted as part of the review, 
with the Director for Economy, Transport and Environment approving the 
deferrals in December 2020, as set out in appendix 2. This also lists all the 
amendments made to the capital programme under delegated authority since 
the last Executive Member report. 

39. The Casualty Reduction (previously Safety Engineering) works sub-programme 
continues to make progress and since the last update; approximately £585,000 
has been spent with 36 schemes completed. 

40. Safety improvement measures are being developed alongside colleagues in the 
Operation Resilience Team for the B2177/C50 Staple Cross near Boarhunt. 
These follow a fatal collision in 2015 and a pattern of further injury accidents. 
Measures proposed include the addition of new traffic islands on the side road 
approaches and drainage improvements to reduce the current ponding issues. 
This work follows the resurfacing of the B2177 through the crossroads in 2019 
to improve overall skidding resistance. It is expected that the overall scheme will 
cost in the region of £150,000 and will be funded both through the annual 
Casualty Reduction Programme budget and the Planned Maintenance budget. 

41. As reported in July 2020 capital programme monitoring report, Solent Transport 
has been successful in its Future Transport Zone (FTZ) bid to the Department 
for Transport (DfT).  The total funding awarded is now £28.8m awarded for a 
programme of tests and trials of innovative approaches to transport across the 
Solent. An interim project team is now in place and significant activity is 
underway. As the accountable body for the FTZ programme, Southampton City 
Council has received FTZ funds from the DfT.  Legal arrangements will 
therefore be required to transfer funds between the Solent Transport partner 
authorities to ensure that each partner can undertake the projects that they are 
responsible for. 

42. It is therefore recommended that the Executive Member for Economy, Transport 
and Environment delegates authority to the Director of Economy, Transport and 
Environment (in consultation with the Head of Legal Services) to agree the 
terms and enter into contractual arrangements to secure the transfer of the 
Future Transport Zone funding from Southampton City Council. 

Waste programme 

43. Veolia has completed the feasibility study into the delivery of kerbside sort and 
twin stream recycling systems in terms of infrastructure requirements, covering 
both waste transfer station upgrades as well as recyclables processing facilities, 

Page 34



 

 

and is now working on the revenue implications ahead of further engagement 
with the Waste Collection Authorities in Quarter 4 2020/21.  The work has 
revealed key locations where the current infrastructure may not be sufficient, 
Rushmoor and Blue Haze waste transfer stations, and further investment will be 
required to meet the needs of any new recycling collection system.  

44. It is expected that an outline planning application and Environmental Impact 
Assessment for new recycling infrastructure to be situated at the Chickenhall 
Lane site in Eastleigh will be submitted during quarter 4 2020/21 to understand 
the implications of development on the site.  Work to consider the implications of 
moving the recycling infrastructure from Alton to Eastleigh will be undertaken, 
including any need for additional waste transfer capacity in the Alton area. In 
addition, since the last update, the Executive Member for Economy, Transport 
and Environment has granted authority for Hampshire County Council to enter 
into a funding agreement with Southern Water to implement the utilities 
diversion works in Chickenhall Lane, Eastleigh. This authority has also been 
delegated to the Director of Economy Transport and Environment. 

45. Feasibility work on two potential sites for a new Household Waste Recycling 
Centre (HWRC) in the north west of Hampshire is underway as part of a wider 
review of service provision in that area that will include work linked to Hartley 
Wintney, Farnborough and Aldershot HWRCs to ensure effective service 
provision across the region.  The management of closed landfills continues to 
incur minor costs in relation to both landfill gas and leachate management 
however these works are likely to be reactive in nature. 

46. There is potential for the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic to impact on the 
progression of all of the projects due to the availability of resources as a result 
of rising numbers of cases and the impact of self-isolation. 

Flood Risk and Coastal Defence programme 

47. The impact of Covid-19 on the deliverability of schemes remains a concern 
although the schemes on site are managing these risks well. The current 
estimated costs of Covid-19 restrictions on the flood schemes capital 
programme is £0.3million.   

48. Buckskin Flood Alleviation Scheme was completed in December 2020 however 
some remedial work which will take place during the maintenance period has 
been identified. A project appraisal for Rectory Road and Sycamore Road Flood 
Alleviation Scheme subject to external funding has been approved to procure 
and spend £0.325million of Hampshire County Council’s Flood Risk Coastal 
Defence Programme Fund on the £0.475million scheme which is due to start 
construction in Winter 2020 and be completed by Spring 2021. £0.150million 
Flood Defence Grant in Aid and Local Levy Funding to support the Rectory 
Road and Sycamore Road Scheme has also been approved by the 
Environment Agency.  

49. Approval has also been granted to contribute £0.210million to an Environment 
Agency led two year pilot programme to install passive property level resilience 
in properties across southern Hampshire that are vulnerable to flooding, for 
which strategic capital schemes are not economically viable. Further to 
exploring innovative ways of dealing with flooding, approval is being sought to 
undertake a strategic study of the sub-catchment area of the River Itchen north 

Page 35



 

 

of Winchester in order to identify options for long term improvements to flood 
and water management in support of forthcoming mitigation measures being 
implemented through the Outer Winchester Flood Alleviation Scheme in the 
area. The first phase of the Outer Winchester scheme is due to be completed in 
Spring 2021.  

50. The Mainstone element of the Romsey Flood Alleviation Scheme is substantially 
complete and work on surface water drainage improvements in Middlebridge 
Street, a second element of the Romsey scheme, is due to finish in early 2021.  

Economic Development programme 

51. Hampshire County Council has now repaid Solent LEP the outstanding sum of 
£3.5million in relation to the Growing Places Fund loan (£3.2million), admin fee 
(£200,000) plus accrued interest (net of the approved retained interest of 
£120,000). Fareham Borough Council, to meet its contractual obligations with 
regards to the funding arrangements, is now making arrangements to refund the 
£3.2million to Hampshire County Council. It is anticipated that this transaction 
will take place by the end of 2020. At the same time, the legal charge that 
Hampshire County Council has over the land at the Enterprise Zone will be 
removed. 

Consultation and Equalities 

52. This is a financial report amending or proposing budgets for programmes and 
individual schemes, and therefore does not require a consultation. 

53. Service changes or proposals for individual schemes will undertake their own 
specific consideration of equalities issues.  This report has no direct effect on 
service users, so has a neutral impact on groups with protected characteristics. 

Climate Change Impact Assessments  

54. The tools employed by the County Council to assess impacts on climate change 
adaptation and mitigation were utilised and found not to be applicable on 
grounds that the decision relates to a strategic programme rather than specific 
interventions.  The tools will be applied to specific schemes and more detailed 
proposals in the future to assess any impacts and ensure they are reported. 

 

 

Page 36



 

 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

yes 

 
Other Significant Links 

 

Links to previous Member decisions:  

 
ETE Proposed Capital Programme 2020/21,2021/22 and 
2022,23 
 

Date 
14/01/2020 

  
  

Direct links to specific legislation or Government Directives   

Title Date 
  
  

 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

None  

 

Page 37

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s43056/Report.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s43056/Report.pdf


 

 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 

1. Equality Duty 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 
sharing a relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 

This is a financial report amending or proposing budgets for programmes and 
individual schemes. Changes or proposals for individual schemes will have 
been made following consultation and will have undertaken their own specific 
consideration of equalities issues. The decisions in this report are financial, 
and mainly relate to in-house management or accounts and therefore have a 
neutral impact on groups with protected characteristics. 

  

Page 38



 

 

Appendix 1: Table of expenditure across ETE capital programme in 2020/21. 
 
 
 

Gross Expenditure   To 31 October 2020 

    Periods 1-7 

    £ 

      

Structural Maintenance   23,712,630  

      

Integrated Transport Programme   22,626,771  

      

      

Flood & Coastal Defence Management   2,043,339  

      

Solent Enterprise Zone   4,272  

      

Community Transport   19,800  

      

Waste   0  

      

PRIP (residual)   0  

      

TOTAL   48,406,813  

 

Page 39



 

 

Appendix 2: List of delegated decisions that have been made since the last report: 

 
 East Hants District Council - Whitehill & Bordon GGGL: Budds Lane Southern 

Shared-use Footway - new addition to 2020/21 capital programme at £245,000  
 

 Fareham Borough Council: A27 and Portchester Precinct, Portchester – removal 
of scheme from 2019/20 capital programme due to duplication with Transforming 
Cities Fund Portchester District Centre Bus and Pedestrian improvements scheme 

 

 Eastleigh Borough Council: West End High Street Improvements Access – to 
defer this scheme to the 2021/22 capital programme  

 

 Test Valley Borough Council: Walworth Roundabout / A3093 / A3057 – to defer 
this scheme to the 2022/23 capital programme  

 

 East Hants District Council: A339 / B3349 Junction Improvements, Alton – to defer 
this scheme to the 2022/23 capital programme  

 

 Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council: Manydown Cycles, Basingstoke – to 
defer this scheme to the 2021/22 capital programme  
 

 BDBC: Whitchurch Accessibility and Traffic Measures – to increase the value of 
this scheme to £572,000 

 

 Rushmoor Borough Council: A323 High Street/Ash Road, Aldershot 
footway/cycleway – to defer this scheme to the 2022/23 capital programme  

 

 East Hants District Council: Whitehill Bordon: Route towards Lindford – to defer 
this scheme to the 2021/22 capital programme  

 

 Eastleigh Borough Council: Botley Village Enhancements– to defer this scheme to 
the 2023/24 capital programme  

 

 New Forest District Council – Ringwood Town Centre Improvements Phase 2 – 
increase value to £400,000. Externally funded. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 40



 

 

Appendix 3: Emergency Active Travel Fund award map for England 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 

 

Appendix 4: Schemes to be entered into 2020/21 capital programme funded by DfT Active Travel Fund  
 

District Scheme  Description Value 
£000 
 

East Hampshire District 
Council 

Petersfield High Street Measures include the provision of a bus 
and cycle gate, cycle parking and 
additional space for pedestrians by the 
suspension of some on-street parking. 

189 

Rushmoor Borough 
Council 

Camp Road Public Realm 
Improvements 

Measures include installation of parklets 
and widening of footway by removal of 
some on-street parking. 

144 

Rushmoor Borough 
Council 

Old Lynchford Road Measures include a parallel crossing, 
new cycle lane and widened footway by 
removal of some on-street parking.  

307 

Rushmoor Borough 
Council 

Aldershot Station forecourt Measures to include repaving, public 
realm improvements and narrowing of 
carriageway for additional pedestrian 
space.  

144 

Rushmoor Borough 
Council 

Low Traffic Neighbourhood 
Measures 

Development of a kit of traffic 
management measures to include cycle 
parking, planters, parklets and traffic 
calming.  

96 

Winchester City Council  Winchester North Walls 
West-East   

Measures to include widened footway 
with a separate cycle way by 
reallocating road space and relocating 
some parking bays and bus shelter. 

195 

Winchester City Council  Winchester City Centre 
North-South 

Measures to include widened footway 
for additional pedestrian space, 
installation of modal filter, signage and 

110 

P
age 42



 

 

road markings to permit increased 
cycling provision. 

Winchester City Council Winchester W-E St Pauls 
Hill-Trafalgar St 

Measures include a new contraflow 
cycle lane by removal of on street 
parking as well as carriageway and 
footway width reduction.   

135 

Basingstoke & Deane 
Borough Council  

Brighton Way Cycle Route To provide a new segregated two-way 
cycle lane on the eastern side of 
Brighton Way.  

394 

Fareham Borough Council  A27 Corridor – Raised 
tables 

To provide continuous footways formed 
by raising the carriageway at minor arms 
of key locations along the A27 corridor. 

195 

Countywide School Cycles Measures include the provision of 
scooter and cycle parking to schools. 

227 
 

Eastleigh Borough Council  Eastleigh High Street  Measures include the closure of the 
High Street, Market Street and parts of 
Wells Street to vehicular traffic using 
planters, bollards and parklets.  

61 

Test Valley Borough 
Council  

Romsey High Street Measures include closure of sections of 
The Hundred with the installation of 
planters, bollards and signage.  

52 

New Forest District 
Council  

Brookley Road, 
Brockenhurst 

Measures include the reallocation of 
some on-street parking bays to provide 

build outs for queuing and the provision 
cycle parking and seating. 

69 

Fareham Borough Council  BRT Route improvements Measures include route improvements 
from Gosport to Fareham through 
footway widening, dropped kerbs and 
tactile paving.  

48 

Fareham Borough Council  Cycle Route Signing  Measures include updating signage to 
existing cycle routes along Gosport BRT 

48 

P
age 43



 

 

 

P
age 44



 

 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker: Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 

Date: 14 January 2021 

Title: ETE Proposed Capital Programme 2021/22, 2022/23 and 
2023/24 

Report From: Director of Economy, Transport and Environment 

Contact name: Maria Golley 

Tel:    0370 779 0492 Email: maria.golley@hants.gov.uk 

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to set out, subject to confirmation of funding, the 
proposals for the Economy, Transport and Environment (ETE) Capital 
programme for 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 and to seek approval for their 
onward submission to the Cabinet in February 2021. Appendix 1 is the approved 
format for the budget book and Appendix 2 is a simplified view with expenditure 
profiled. 

Recommendations 

2. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 
recommends approval to the Leader and Cabinet of the proposed 2021/22, 
2022/23 and 2023/24 capital programmes totalling £209.359 million, as set out in 
this report and in Appendices 1 and 2. 

3. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment delegates 
authority to the Director of Economy, Transport and Environment, in consultation 
with the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment, to make 
minor amendments to the split of funding across sub-programmes within the 
Structural Maintenance programme. 

 

Executive Summary 

4. The proposals set out in this report amount to just over £209 million across the 
next three years. Government formula settlements (£89.716 million) and 
Government competitively bid grants (£59.028 million) make up the bulk of the 
funding, with other competitively bid project specific grants, e.g. Local Growth 
fund (LGF) through the Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) (£0.07 million) 
also contributing. The remainder is funded through a mix of local resources, 
(£36.201million), developer contributions (£23.139 million), and other local 
authority contributions (£1.205 million). 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 4



 

 

Contextual information 

5. Executive Members can now prepare proposals for: 

 a locally resourced capital programme for three years from 2021/22 to 
2023/24 within the guidelines of the current capital programme; and 

 programme of capital schemes supported by Government Grants in 
2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24. 

6. The 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 programmes set out new capital resources 
only, with the latter two years based on indicative schemes and figures. The 
2021/22 and 2022/23 programmes replace previously approved programmes, 
they do not add to them. 

7.  ETE’s forward capital programme includes the following programmes: 

 Structural Maintenance; 

 Integrated Transport; 

 Waste; and 

 Flood Risk and Coastal Defence. 

8. The proposed programmes have been prepared in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment and have been 
reviewed by the Economy, Transport and Environment Select Committee. They 
are to be reported to the Leader and Cabinet on 9 February 2021 to make final 
recommendation to Council later in February 2021. 

PART A – RESOURCES  

Local Resources 

9. Local resources guidelines were agreed by Cabinet on 24th November 2020.  

10. Total local resources amount to £36.201 million over the next three years. 

 

Table 1: Local Resources 

 2021/22 

£000 

2022/23 

£000 

2023/24 

£000 

Total  

£000 

Capital 
Guidelines 

11,929 11,929 11,929 35,787 

Original 
Capital 
Guidelines 

 

11,929 

 

11,929 

 

11,929 

 

 

35,787 

Local 
Resources 
Carried 

 

0 

 

0 

 

414 

 

414 

Page 46



 

 

Forward/Vired 
from Earlier 
Years 

Revised 
Capital 
Guidelines 

 

11,929 

 

11,929 

 

12,343 

 

36,201 

 

Government Formula Allocations 

11. The Department for Transport (DfT) allocations for Integrated Transport and 
Structural Maintenance for 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 are detailed in Table 
3 below. However, at the time of writing, these have not been confirmed by DfT.  
These values are based on previous allocations and have been used for 
planning purposes.  

12. The DfT is yet to confirm that Band 3 (highest band) recipients of its Incentive 
Fund will be awarded £4.495 million (the maximum available) each year until 
2021/22. It is assumed in this report that Hampshire County Council will retain 
its Band 3 status and that funding remains at this level through to 2023/24 
inclusive. 

13. Further, at the time of writing, the DfT has not confirmed the Pothole fund, but 
for planning purposes, it is assumed that £1.543 million will be received each 
year for the next three years.  

Other Government Funding 

14. The County Council has historically had a great deal of success in securing 
Local Growth Funding (LGF) from both the EM3 and Solent LEPs, with a 
significant proportion of Integrated Transport schemes currently being delivered 
from previous capital programme years (due to the ‘starts-based’ nature of this 
programme) being part-funded from LGF funding. However, due to the lack of 
additional Local Growth Funding being made available to the LEPs by central 
government, the total value of funding from this source has reduced from recent 
years with only £0.07 million within the starts programme in the next three 
years.  This represents a significant reduction from last year’s three-year value 
of just under £10 million and the £27 million three-year value the year before.  

15. To mitigate the reduced opportunity for LGF funding, the department has 
worked hard to identify other sources and has been successful in securing 
significant competitive funding from DfT. This includes over £40 million in a 
forward package of works funded across the Tranche 2 Transforming Cities 
Fund and Tranche 2 Active Travel Fund (mix of capital and revenue). These 
schemes have entered the capital programme in 2020/21, 2021/22 and 
2022/23.   

 

 

Page 47



 

 

Developer Contributions and other External Funding 

16. The Department receives contributions from developers towards the cost of 
highway and transport infrastructure associated with mitigating the effects of 
developments. 

17. This three-year programme includes an estimate of £23.139 million of developer 
contributions (£22.620 million from Section 106 and £0.519 million from 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)).  In addition, there are many more projects 
currently at feasibility or early development stages that may well come forward 
during the year for delivery which may utilise this source. 

Revenue Investment 

18. With all these potential funding sources available, it remains important to 
recognise that these substantial capital grants require initial revenue investment 
in order to develop scheme proposals sufficiently to make a credible funding bid. 
Since 2018/19 a revenue investment of around £1.5million per year has secured 
almost £170 million of competitive capital grants. Securing these funds requires 
schemes to be appropriately designed, costed and evidenced, prior to funding 
being secured. Such activities are multi-disciplinary and need to be sufficiently 
resourced if the County Council is to take best advantage. Due to the financial 
pressure that the Council is facing, at the time of writing, there is uncertainty over 
whether this funding can be maintained at the previous level from 2021/22 
onwards.  

Total Resources 

19. The table below is a breakdown of the capital resources in their respective starts 
year. This table does not reflect actual expenditure in those years.  

 

 Table 2: Total Capital Resources 

 2021/22 

£000 

2022/23 

£000 

2023/24 

£000 

Total 

£000  

Local 
Resources  

 

11,929 

 

11,929 

 

12,343 

 

36,201 

DfT LTP 
Grant –
Maintenance  

 

21,584 

 

21,584 

 

21,584 

 

64,752 

DfT 
Highways 
Maintenance 
Incentive 
Fund 

 

4,495 

 

4,495 

 

4,495 

 

13,485 

Page 48



 

 

DfT LTP 
Grant – 
Transport 

 

5,296 

 

5,296 

 

5,296 

 

15,888 

DfT Pothole 
Fund 

1,543 1,543 1,543 4,629 

DfT Pinch 
Point Grant 

0 23,800 0 23,800 

DfT Safer 
Roads Grant 

600 0 0 600 

LGF Grant – 
Transport 

70 0 0 70 

Transforming 
Cities Fund 
Tranche 2  

 

18,274 

 

16,354 

 

0 

 

34,628 

Developer 
Contributions 

6,899 12,815 2,906 22,620 

Other Local 
Authority 

1,205 0 

 

0 1,205 

CIL 519 0 0 519 

Total 
Programme 

72,414 97,816 48,167 218,397 

  Figures in italics are subject to DfT decisions and for planning purposes it is 
assumed that funding will keep to current levels.  

  

PART B – PROGRAMMES  

Structural Maintenance Programme 

20. The maintenance programme is a ‘spend’ based programme, and therefore the 
figures in Table 3 represent how much will be spent in that year. 

 

Table 3: Total Programme – Structural Maintenance 

 2021/22 

£000 

2022/23 

£000 

2023/24 

£000 

Total  

£000 

Local resources 11,823 11,823 11,823 35,469 

Page 49



 

 

DfT LTP Grant 

Maintenance 

 

21,584 

 

21,584 

 

21,584 

 

64,752 

DfT Pothole 
Fund 

1,543 1,543 1,543 4,629 

DfT Highways 
Maintenance 
Incentive Fund 

 

4,495 

 

4,495 

 

4,495 

 

13,485 

Total 
Programme 

39,445 39,445 39,445 118,335 

Figures in italics are subject to DfT and local decisions, for planning purposes it 
is assumed that funding will keep to current levels. 

 

21. The Structural Maintenance budget is used to extend the life of an existing 
asset. It is split across all highway assets for example, carriageways, footways, 
drainage, structures, traffic signals, pedestrian crossings and cattle grids.  

22. It should be noted that, within year, one-off government grant funding and other 
funding from successful bids can be allocated to this budget increasing the total 
available in year.  As part of some programmes, ETE seeks to build up sufficient 
allocations for larger more complex schemes over several years. In addition, 
some schemes hold funding to help support bidding opportunities. 

23. Budgets are allocated in line with Hampshire County Council’s Asset 
Management principles and needs based budgeting and programmes are 
developed based on various factors, including condition, remaining life and 
lifecycle planning including whole life costs. 

24. The Structural Maintenance programme is made up of two major programmes 
of work: Structural Planned Maintenance and Bridges. The sub-programmes of 
work will vary over the next three years, however the information in the next two 
paragraphs detail the types of activity undertaken. 

25. Structural Planned Maintenance consists of sub-programmes as follows: 

 Operation Resilience - consisting of a surface treatments programme i.e. 
surface dressing etc. In addition, sub-programmes for carriageway and 
footway resurfacing, reconstructions, drainage, haunching and edge repairs, 
vehicle restraint systems, fencing, cattle grids and similar;  

 local depot sub-programmes – consisting of carriageway and footway 
repairs, kerb repairs, carriageway edge repairs, drainage, accident damage, 
fencing and similar; and 

 Intelligent Transport Systems – consisting of replacing life expired 
equipment i.e. traffic signals and crossings. 

26. The Bridges and Structures programme consists of works to County Council 
owned Highway structures, which includes road bridges, footbridges, culverts 
(1.5m span or more), subways and retaining walls, as well as works on pumps 
at subways and low spots in the carriageway. Work can include any of the 

Page 50



 

 

following as a result of structural assessment, annual inspection, accident 
damage (vehicles or weather related) or vandalism: 

 bridges, footbridges and culverts: strengthening/ replacement; 
refurbishment; cathodic protection installation; bearing replacement; 
drainage replacement; concrete, steel, or brickwork repair; painting; bridge 
deck waterproofing replacement; expansion joint replacement; scour/invert 
repairs/protection; parapet repair/replacement; revetment 
repair/strengthening; and corrugated culvert relining; 

 subways: in addition to the above, application/repair of murals; repair and 
replacement of signs and mirrors; repair and replacement of tiling; and 

 pumps: replacement of pump units and pipework leading to pumps. 

27. To provide greater governance of the Structural Maintenance programme, it has 
been agreed that this report will include the initial split of allocation between the 
two sub-programmes that form the Structural Maintenance programme, with 
authority delegated to the Director of Economy, Transport and Environment to 
make minor amendments to the split of funding across sub-programmes.  

28. It is therefore recommended that the Executive Member for Economy, Transport 
and Environment delegates authority to the Director of Economy, Transport and 
Environment to make minor amendments to the split of funding across sub-
programmes.  

29. In 2021/22, the total Structural Maintenance spend will be split across the two 
programmes of work as shown in the tables below.  The split of the total 
Structural Maintenance budget is confirmed on a rolling year basis, therefore the 
split for next year is shown below.  

30. The initial split of allocations between the two sub-programmes that form the 
Structural Maintenance programme is shown in the table below: 

 

Table 4: Structural Maintenance Programme 

 2021/22 

£000 

Total 

£000  

Operation resilience  27,576 27,576 

Local Depots 3,929 3,929 

ITS  150 150 

Other Highways structural 
maintenance 

3,790 3,790 

Total Programme 35,445 35,445 

 
 
 
 

Page 51



 

 

Table 5: Bridges Programme 

 

 2021/22 

£000 

Total  

£000 

Bridges  4,000 4,000 

Total Programme 4,000 4,000 

 

Integrated Transport Programme 

31. This programme is a ‘starts’ based programme, and therefore the figures in 
Table 6 do not represent how much will be spent but the full value of projects 
that are proposed to start construction in that year. 

32. The proposed total value of the three-year Integrated Transport Plan (ITP) 
Programme is £90.706 million. As this is a ‘starts-based’ programme this figure 
does not include the value of schemes currently in delivery which commenced 
prior to 2021/22. Schemes which commenced prior to 2021/22, such as 
Stubbington Bypass, M27 Junction 9, Eclipse Busway Phase 1 Completion and 
Brighton Hill Roundabout, totalling over £90 million, will continue to require 
significant on-going resources from across the department in 2021/22.  

33. As mentioned above, the proposed Integrated Transport Programme includes 
schemes that have now been successfully awarded funding from DfT’s Tranche 
2 Transforming Cities Fund. These schemes have entered the capital 
programme in 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/2. This has increased the overall 
programme by 22 schemes. The package of measures for Portsmouth City 
Region consists of 10 schemes (£21million) and a further 12 schemes in the 
Southampton City Region (£18million).  

34. In addition, Hampshire County Council has recently received confirmation that it 
has been successful in securing £3.28 million of DfT Tranche 2 Active Travel 
Fund (capital and revenue mix). This will allow Hampshire County Council to 
provide a range of measures to create better spaces for people walking and 
cycling.  

35. The 2021/22 main programme provides details of the schemes expected to 
commence during that financial year. Circumstances outside of the 
organisation’s control such as further Covid-19 restrictions, unexpected public 
utility apparatus or environmental considerations can intervene that may cause 
some schemes to be delayed to later financial years. The main 2022/23 and 
2023/24 programmes are at this stage provisional and programmed based upon 
the more limited information available for schemes at a much earlier stage of 
development. This includes schemes such as Hamble Lane Improvements (£15 
million) and Lynchford Road, Farnborough Phase 2 (£6.6 million) that currently 
do not have funding secured.   

36. The three-year capital programme has a range of scheme types, including a 
sub-programme of schemes which are mainly concerned with walking and/or 
cycling improvements. The current value of this sub-programme is over £18 

Page 52



 

 

million, an increase of £8 million from 2020/21. It is noted however that this is 
the value of schemes mainly focused on walking and cycling improvements, 
there are many other schemes in the programme that include walking and 
cycling elements, which are not included in this sub-programme. 

37. The programme includes an allocation of £1.5 million to the Safety Engineering 
Programme for each of 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24.  This budget provides 
for a combination of planned schemes and other safety measures based on a 
rigorous process of continuous monitoring of accident statistics, patterns, and 
trends.   

38. Appendix 2 provides detail on the schemes to be included in this programme 
and presents a spend profile across years for information. 

Table 6: Total Programme – Integrated Transport 

 2021/22 

£000 

2022/23 

£000 

2023/24 

£000 

Total 

£000  

Local 
Resources 

0 0 414 414 

DfT - LTP 
Grant - 
Transport 

 

2,250 

 

2,450 

 

2,150 

 

6,850 

DfT - Pinch 
Point Grant 

0 23,800 0 23,800 

DfT - Safer 
Roads Grant  

600 0 0 600 

LGF Grant - 
Transport 

70 0 0 70 

Transforming 
Cities Fund 
Tranche 2  

 

18,274 

 

16,354 

 

0 

 

 

34,628 

Developer 
Contributions 

6,899 12,815 2,906 22,620 

Other Local 
Authority 

1,205 0 0 1,205 

CIL 519 0 0 519 

Total 
Programme 

29,817 55,419 5,470 90,706 

Page 53



 

 

The County Council is developing additional schemes, which are expected to be 
added to 2023/24 capital programme year once further developed. This explains 
why the value is so much higher in years 2021/22 and 2022/23. 

Waste Programme 

39. The feasibility study into development of new recycling infrastructure to meet the 
forthcoming legislation has been completed by Veolia providing the capital costs 
associated with the delivery both for the Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) as 
well as the associated Waste Transfer Station (WTS) network. The twin stream 
system, which sees fibre-based materials being collected separately from 
containers (plastic bottles, pots, tubs and trays, glass bottles and jars, tins and 
cans and cartons) the later mix going to a new container MRF for processing, is 
broadly deliverable with the WTS network and would cost approximately £20 
million to deliver.  The alternative kerbside sort option would require the majority 
of the 11 WTSs to be replaced with new larger sites which is both unlikely to be 
deliverable and would cost significantly more. 

40. It is expected that the collection system review work supported by WRAP will be 
completed by consultants in early March 2021 with the outputs from both the 
collections and infrastructure work being presented together at a waste summit 
on the preferred recycling system across Hampshire, Portsmouth and 
Southampton as soon as reasonably practical. Decisions to proceed by partners 
would need to be made in quarter 2 or 3 of 2021/22 with detailed design and 
planning work to follow ahead of a 12 month construction period which would be 
completed by the summer 2023. 

Flood Risk & Coastal Defence Programme 

41. Several flood risk reduction schemes have been delivered across the County 
despite the delays and costs associated with high ground water levels and 
Covid-19 lockdown restrictions during the last financial year. The estimated 
value of the programme is £24 million. The County Council is projected to spend 
just over £14 million of local resources (including structural maintenance), 60% 
of the total with the remaining 40% anticipated to be drawn from other sources 
including Flood Defence Grant in Aid (FDGiA), Regional Flood and Coastal 
Committee (RFCC) Local Levy, other local authorities and the private sector. 

42. Up until October 2020, a further £3.4million has been invested in the 
programme increasing the total investment to date in flood risk reduction 
schemes to £12.8 million. £2.5 million of the funding secured in 2020/21 for the 
programme was from national FDGiA, local levy and contributions from 
partners. A further £3.5 million is due to be leveraged in to support the 
programme subject to the deliverability of the schemes. It is also projected that 
just over £3.8 million of HCC funds will be required to support the programme 
this financial year. 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



 

 

 

 

 

Table 7: Flood Risk and Coastal Defence Capital Programme  

 

 2021/22 

£000 

2022/23 

£000 

2023/24 

£000 

Total 

£000  

Local 
Resources – 
Capital 
Guidelines 

 

 

106 

 

 

106 

 

 

106 

 

 

318 

Total  106 106 106 318 

 

PART C – SUMMARY  

Summary 

43. On the basis of the position outlined in Part B above, Table 8 summarises the 
proposed new capital investment submitted for consideration for the next three 
years. Table 9 sets out how they are to be funded in aggregate. 

 

Table 8: Summary of Capital Programmes 

 2021/22 

£000 

2022/23 

£000 

2023/24 

£000 

Total 

£000  

Structural 
Maintenance 

39,445 39,445 39,445 118,335 

Integrated 
Transport 

29,817 55,419 5,470 90,706 

Flood and 
Coastal 
Defence 

 

106 

 

106 

 

106 

 

318 

Total 
Programme 

69,368 94,970 45,021 209,359 

 

 

 

Page 55



 

 

Table 9: Summary of Capital Funding 

 2021/22 

£000 

2022/23 

£000 

2023/24 

£000 

Total 

£000  

Local 
Resources  

11,929 11,929 12,343 36,201 

DfT LTP 
Grant –
Maintenance  

 

21,584 

 

21,584 

 

21,584 

 

64,752 

DfT 
Highways 
Maintenance 
Incentive 
Fund 

 

 

4,495 

 

 

4,495 

 

 

4,495 

 

 

13,485 

DfT Pothole 
Fund 

1,543 1,543 1,543 4,629 

DfT LTP 
Grant – 
Transport  

 

 

2,250 

 

 

2,450 

 

 

2,150 

 

 

6,850 

DfT Pinch 
Point Grant 

0 23,800 0 23,800 

DfT Safer 
Roads Grant 

600 0 0 600 

LGF Grant – 
Transport 

70 0 0 70 

Transforming 
Cities Fund 
Tranche 2  

 

18,274 

 

16,354 

 

0 

 

34,628 

Developer 
Contributions 

6,899 12,815 2,906 22,620 

Other Local 
Authority 

1,205 0 

 

0 1,205 

CIL 519 0 0 519 

Total 
Programme 

69,368 94,970 45,021 209,359 

Page 56



 

 

The balance of funding compared to Table 2 is retained as a programme 
contingency to enable the County Council to enter into funding agreements 
requiring spend within tight deadlines and leaving the risk of cost overruns with 
the County Council and to provide some capacity to provide match funding 
where this is required. 

Revenue Implications 

44. On the basis of the position outlined in Part B above, Table 10 summarises the 
Revenue Implications of the proposed capital investment. 

Table 10: Revenue Implications 

 2021/22 

£000 

2022/23 

£000 

2023/24 

£000 

Total 

£000  

Running 
Costs 

417 776 77 1,270 

Capital 
Charges 

3,466 4,746 2,248 10,460 

Revenue 
Implications 

3,883 5,522 2,325 11,730 

Consultation and Equalities  

45. This is a financial report amending or proposing budgets for programmes and 
individual schemes, and therefore does not require a consultation.  

46. Service changes or proposals for individual schemes will undertake their own 
specific consideration of equalities issues.  This report has no direct effect on 
service users, so has a neutral impact on groups with protected characteristics.  

Climate Change Impact Assessments  

 

47. The tools employed by the County Council to assess impacts on climate change 
adaptation and mitigation were utilised and found not to be applicable on 
grounds that the decision relates to a strategic programme rather than specific 
interventions.  The tools will be applied to specific schemes and more detailed 
proposals in the future to assess any impacts and ensure they are reported. 

 

 

Page 57



 

 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

yes 

 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

None  

 

Page 58



 

 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 

1. Equality Duty 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 
sharing a relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 

This is a financial report amending or proposing budgets for programmes and 
individual schemes. Changes or proposals for individual schemes will 
undertake their own specific consideration of equalities issues. The decisions 
in this report are financial, and mainly relate to in-house management of 
accounts, and therefore have a neutral impact on groups with protected 
characteristics. 

 

 

 
 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Economy, Transport and Environment Capital Programme - 2021/22
Total Revenue Effect in  

Construct- Furniture Cost Full Year Site Contract  

Ref Project ion Fees Equipment (excluding Running Capital Position Start Remarks Ref

Works Vehicles sites) Costs Charges Date Duration  

 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 Qtr Months  

  

2021/22 Schemes

Schemes Supported from   

Local Resources

 

1 Structural Maintenance of Non Principal Roads # 10,641 1,182 - 11,823 - 591 N/A 1 12 Structural maintenance to improve road conditions. 1

 

2 Flood and Coastal Defence Management 88 18 - 106 - 2 N/A - - Provision for works and strategies for coastal sites and flood 2

defence including match funding for joint funded schemes with 

external bodies  

Total Programme Supported           

by Local Resources 10,729 1,200 - 11,929 - 593  
   

           

Schemes Supported by the           

Government and Other      

External Bodies       

3 Manydown Cycle Routes, Basingstoke* 900 300 - 1,200 - 60 N/A 4 12 Cycle improvements. 3

4 Whitehill Bordon GGGl - Station Road Crossroads* 975 325 - 1,300 - 65 N/A 4 4 Pedestrian and cycle improvements 4

5 SCR - Redbridge Viaduct+ 757 252 - 1,009 - 50 N/A 2 6 Parapet improvements 5

6 SCR - Eling to Holbury Cycle Route* 2,581 860 - 3,441 - 172 N/A 3 6 New cycle route and cycle improvements 6

7 SCR - Rushington Roundabout* 1,832 611 - 2,443 - 122 N/A 4 7 Bus priority measures 7

8 PCR - Local Transport Hub - Havant Park Road South* 787 263 - 1,050 - 53 N/A 2 8 Capacity enhancements 8

9 PCR - Enhanced MM Corridor - Ladybridge R/A VE 1,017 339 - 1,356 - 68 N/A 1 5 Bus corridor improvements 9

Bus Priority and Pedestrian/Cycling Enhancements*

10 PCR - Gosport Bus Station, taxi rank and Cross Street 4,425 1,475 - 5,900 - 295 N/A 4 13 Bus station improvements 10

improvements*

11 PCR - Enhanced MM Corridor - Rusty Cutter Bedhampton * 2,194 731 - 2,925 - 146 N/A 2 13 Full roundabout signalisation 11

 

12 North Test Valley LCWIP, Andover* 525 175 - 700 - 35 N/A 4 7 Sustainable accessibility improvements 12

 

13 Whitehill Bordon GGGl - Route towards Lindford* 431 144 - 575 - 29 N/A 2 12 Pedestrian and cycle improvements 13

14 Andover - B3400 Andover Down Pedestrian Improvements* 487 163 - 650 - 33 N/A 4 6 Pedestrian improvements 14

15 West End High Street - Access Improvements* 187 63 - 250 - 13 N/A 3 4 Accessibility Improvements 15

16 Trade Street, East Woodhey - Accessibility* 255 85 - 340 - 17 N/A 4 10 Safety and pedestrian improvements 16

17 SCR - Eastleigh Mobility Hub* 239 80 - 319 - 16 N/A 4 3 Mobility hub 17

18 SCR - Totton Junction Road* 565 189 - 754 - 38 N/A 4 2 Bus priority measures 18

   

 

 1 2

P
age 61



Economy, Transport and Environment Capital Programme - 2021/22
Total Revenue Effect in  

Construct- Furniture Cost Full Year Site Contract  

Ref Project ion Fees Equipment (excluding Running Capital Position Start Remarks Ref

Works Vehicles sites) Costs Charges Date Duration  

 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 Qtr Months  

  

2021/22 Schemes (continued)

19 PCR - Local Access Zones - Havant - Secondary* 740 247 - 987 - 49 N/A 1 9 Walking and cycling enhancements 19

20 PCR - Local Transport Hub - A27 Enhanced Safety 651 217 - 868 - 43 N/A 3 9 A27/Castle Street Roundabout 20

Scheme, Portchester+

21 Schemes Costing Less than £250,000+ 1,125 375 - 1,500 - 75 N/A 1 12 Local Improvements Sub-programme 21

22 Safety Schemes # 1,125 375 - 1,500 - 75 N/A 1 12 Casualty reduction programme. 22

23 Minor Improvements (part #) + 563 187 - 750 - 38 N/A 1 12 Improvement schemes costing less than £70,000 each. 23

24 Structural Maintenance of Roads and Bridges # 24,860 2,762 - 27,622 - 1,381 N/A 1 12 Structural maintenance to improve road conditions and structural 24

maintenance and strengthening of bridges.

Total Programme Supported -

by the Government and 47,223 10,216 - 57,439 417 2,873
other bodies

Total Programme 69,368 417 3,466
# Projects controlled on an accrued expenditure basis

+ Projects partly funded from external contributions

* Projects externally funded

  

 3 4

P
age 62



Economy, Transport and Environment Capital Programme - 2022/23
Total Revenue Effect in  

Construct- Furniture Cost Full Year Site Contract  

Ref Project ion Fees Equipment (excluding Running Capital Position Start Remarks Ref

Works Vehicles sites) Costs Charges Date Duration  

 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 Qtr Months  

  

2022/23 Schemes

Schemes Supported from   

Local Resources

 

25 Structural Maintenance of Non 10,641 1,182 - 11,823 - 591 N/A 1 12 Structural maintenance to improve road conditions. 25

Principal Roads #

 

26 Flood and Coastal Defence 88 18 - 106 - 2 N/A - - Provision for works and strategies for coastal sites and flood 26

Management defence including match funding for joint funded schemes with 

external bodies

Total Programme Supported           

by Local Resources 10,729 1,200 - 11,929 - 593  
  

            

Schemes Supported by the            

Government and Other       

External Bodies       

            

27 A323 High St/Ash Rd, Aldershot - Cycleway/Footway* 750 250 - 1,000 - 50 N/A 4 8 Pedestrian and cycle improvements 27

28 SCR - Marchwood Bypass+ 981 327 - 1,308 - 65 N/A 1 6 Bus priority measures 28

29 SCR - Bishopstoke Road, Eastleigh* 3,112 1,037 - 4,149 - 207 N/A 1 7 Bus priority measures 29

30 SCR - Providence Hill Cycle Route* 1,716 572 - 2,288 - 114 N/A 2 6 New cycle route 30

31 Fleet Station Roundabout* 5,625 1,875 - 7,500 - 375 N/A 3 20 Roundabout improvements 31

32 Hamble Lane Improvements* 11,250 3,750 - 15,000 - 750 N/A 4 18 Carriageway widening and junction improvements 32

33 Lynchford Road, Farnborough, Phase 2 * 4,950 1,650 - 6,600 - 330 N/A 4 18 Capacity improvements & accessibility for pedestrians and cyclists 32

34 PCR - Enhanced MM Corridor - Delme to Downend Bus 6,772 2,258 - 9,030 - 452 N/A 1 14 Bus and cycle improvements 34

and Cycle Scheme*

35 Andover Railway Station Improvements* 244 81 - 325 - 16 N/A 4 6 Access improvements and environmental enhancements 35

36 Andover - Walworth RAB/A3093/A3057* 637 213 - 850 - 43 N/A 4 9 Roundabout signalisation, pedestrian and cycle improvements 36

37 A339/B3349 Junction Improvements, Alton* 727 243 - 970 - 49 N/A 3 16 Junction improvements 37

38 Whitehill & Bordon GGGL – Hogmoor Road Cycle & 300 100 - 400 - 20 N/A 1 12 Traffic and cycle improvements 38

Associated Traffic Measures*

39 SCR - Airport Parkway Travel Hub* 335 112 - 447 - 22 N/A 3 3 Travel hub 39

40 A27 Barnes Lane, Fareham - Junction Improvements+ 600 200 - 800 - 40 N/A 4 10 Junction improvements 40

41 North Baddesley: Firgrove Rd to Castle Lane Cycleway+ 388 129 - 517 - 26 N/A 4 5 Provision of missing cycle link 41

42 Schemes Costing Less than £250,000+ 1,489 496 - 1,985 - 100 N/A 1 12 Local Improvements Sub-programme 42

 5 6

P
age 63



Economy, Transport and Environment Capital Programme - 2022/23
Total Revenue Effect in  

Construct- Furniture Cost Full Year Site Contract  

Ref Project ion Fees Equipment (excluding Running Capital Position Start Remarks Ref

Works Vehicles sites) Costs Charges Date Duration  

 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 Qtr Months  

  

2022/23 Schemes (continued)

43 Safety Schemes # 1,125 375 - 1,500 - 75 N/A 1 12 Casualty reduction programme. 43

44 Minor Improvements (part #) + 563 187 - 750 - 38 N/A 1 12 Improvement schemes costing less than £70,000 each. 44

            

45 Structural Maintenance of Roads and Bridges # 24,860 2,762 - 27,622 - 1,381 N/A 1 12 Structural maintenance to improve road conditions and structural 45

maintenance and strengthening of bridges.

Total Programme Supported

by the Government and 66,425 16,616 - 83,041 776 4,153

other bodies

Total Programme 94,970 776 4,746

 

# Projects controlled on an accrued expenditure basis

+ Projects partly funded from external contributions

* Projects externally funded

 

 7 8

P
age 64



Economy, Transport and Environment Capital Programme - 2023/24
Total Revenue Effect in  

Construct- Furniture Cost Full Year Site Contract  

Ref Project ion Fees Equipment (excluding Running Capital Position Start Remarks Ref

Works Vehicles sites) Costs Charges Date Duration  

 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 Qtr Months  

  

2023/24 Schemes

Schemes Supported from   

Local Resources

 

46 Structural Maintenance of Non 10,641 1,182 - 11,823 - 591 N/A 1 12 Structural maintenance to improve road conditions. 46

Principal Roads #   

 

47 Flood and Coastal Defence 88 18 - 106 - 2 N/A - - Provision for works and strategies for coastal sites and flood 47

Management defence including match funding for joint funded schemes with 

external bodies

Total Programme Supported           

by Local Resources 10,729 1,200 - 11,929 - 593  
   

            

Schemes Supported by the            

Government and Other       

External Bodies       

            

48 Whitehill Bordon - Sleaford Lights Junction - A325/B3004* 750 250 - 1,000 - 50 N/A 4 12 Junction improvements 48

49 Andover - London Street/Eastern Avenue* 229 77 - 306 - 15 N/A 4 4 Junction improvements & bus priority measures 49

 

50 Botley Bypass - Village Enhancements 310 104 - 414 - 21 N/A 4 12 Footway widening, crossing improvements, cycle improvements 50

 

51 Safety Schemes # 1,125 375 - 1,500 - 75 N/A 1 12 Casualty reduction programme. 51

52 Minor Improvements (part #) + 563 187 - 750 - 38 N/A 1 12 Improvement schemes costing less than £70,000 each. 52

53 Schemes Costing Less than £250,000+ 1,125 375 - 1,500 - 75 N/A 1 12 Local Improvements Sub-programme 53

54 Structural Maintenance of Roads and Bridges (part #) 24,860 2,762 - 27,622 - 1,381 N/A 1 12 Structural maintenance to improve road conditions and structural 54

 maintenance and strengthening of bridges.

Total Programme Supported

by the Government and 28,963 4,129 - 33,092 77 1,655

other bodies

Total Programme 45,021 77 2,248

# Projects controlled on an accrued expenditure basis

   + Projects partly funded from external contributions

* Projects externally funded

 

 9 10

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Capital Programme Spend Profile and Proposed Programme 2021/22 to 2023/24 Appendix 2

Budget Expenditure Profile

21/22 22/23 23/24 Total Historic 20/21 Pre 21/22 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25
25/26 & 

beyond
TOTAL

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital Maintenance Programme

Structural Maintenance - new Resources LTP 21,584 21,584 21,584 64,752 21,584 21,584 21,584 64,752

Structual Maintenance - new Resources DfT Pot Hole Fund 1,543 1,543 1,543 4,629

Structual Maintenance - new Resources
DfT Highways Main. 

Incentive Fund 4,495 4,495 4,495 13,485 4,495 4,495 4,495 13,485

Structural Maintenance - new Resources Revenue Reserve 10,000 10,000 10,000 30,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 30,000

Structural Maintenance - new Resources LR Guideline 1,823 1,823 1,823 5,469 1,823 1,823 1,823 5,469

39,445 39,445 39,445 118,335 37,902 37,902 37,902 113,706

Capital Maintenance Programme 39,445 39,445 39,445 118,335 37,902 37,902 37,902 113,706

Spend Against Pre 2021/22 Programme Approvals (All) 124,394 416,882 93,983 25,982 13,070 549,917

2021/22 TO 2023/24 PROGRAMME

Major Highway Improvements (>£1.0m)

Manydown Cycle Routes, Basingstoke New 1,200 1,200 300 900 1,200

Whitehill Bordon GGGl - Station Road Crossroads 1,300 1,300 250 950 100 1,300

SCR - Redbridge Viaduct 1,009 1,009 1 127 128 881 1,009

SCR - Eling to Holbury cycle route 3,441 3,441 28 123 151 1,764 1,526 3,441

SCR - Rushington Roundabout 2,443 2,443 34 157 191 270 1,982 2,443

PCR - Local Transport Hub - Havant Park Road South 1,050 1,050 65 83 148 420 482 1,050

PCR - Enhanced MM Corridor - Ladybridge R/A VE Bus 

Priority and Pedestrian/Cycling Enhancements

1,356 1,356 56 76 132 1,224 1,356

PCR - Gosport Bus Station, taxi rank and Cross street 

improvements

5,900 5,900 39 118 157 1,470 4,273
5,900

PCR - Enhanced MM Corridor - Rusty Cutter Bedhampton 2,925 2,925 59 99 158 1,425 1,342 2,925

A323 High St/Ash Rd, Aldershot - cycleway/footway 1,000 1,000 500 500 1,000

SCR - Marchwood Bypass 1,308 1,308 90 90 180 1,038 1,308

SCR - Bishopstoke Road, Eastleigh 4,149 4,149 22 219 241 489 3,419 4,149

SCR - Providence Hill cycle route 2,288 2,288 121 121 237 1,930 2,288

Fleet Station Roundabout 7,500 7,500 2,000 3,200 2,300 7,500

Hamble Lane Improvements 15,000 15,000 1,500 8,000 5,500 15,000

Lynchford Road, Farnborough, Phase 2 6,600 6,600 1,000 3,600 2,000 6,600

PCR - Enhanced MM Corridor - Delme to Downend Bus and 

Cycle Scheme

9,030 9,030 64 285 349 1,650 7,031
9,030

Whitehill Bordon - Sleaford Lights Junction - A325/B3004 1,000 1,000 500 500 1,000

 20,624 46,875 1,000 68,499 368 1,498 1,866 12,560 31,573 15,000 7,500 68,499

Schemes costing >£250k

North Test Valley LCWIP 700 700 350 350 700

Whitehill Bordon GGGl - Route towards Lindford 575 575 21 21 554 575

Andover - B3400 Andover Down Pedestrian Improvements 650 650 650 650

West End High Street - Access Improvements 250 250 250 250

Trade Street, East Woodhey - accessibility 340 340 4 22 26 314 340

SCR - Eastleigh Mobility Hub 319 319 22 22 297 319

SCR - Totton Junction Road 754 754 73 73 252 429 754

PCR - Local Access Zones - Havant - Secondary 987 987 50 50 311 626 987

PCR - Local Transport Hub - A27 Enhanced Safety Scheme 

(Portchester)

868 868 61 175 236 632 868

Andover Railway Station Improvements 325 325 325 325

Andover - Walworth RAB/A3093/A3057 850 850 850 850

A339/B3349 Junction Improvements, Alton 970 970 970 970

Whitehill & Bordon GGGL – Hogmoor Road Cycle & 

Associated Traffic Measures
400 400 400 400

SCR - Airport Parkway Travel Hub 447 447 33 414 447

A27 Barnes Lane, Fareham - Junction Improvements 800 800 150 650 800

North Baddesley: Firgrove Rd to Castle Lane Cycleway 517 517 395 122 517

Andover - London Street/Eastern Avenue 306 306 306 306

Botley Bypass - Village Enhancements 414 414 1 1 2 412 414

5,443 4,309 720 10,472 66 364 430 3,793 5,409 840 10,472

Schemes Costing <£250k

Schemes costing < £250k 21/22 Unallocated 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500

SCR - Super Stops/Enhanced Stops - Corridor 1 243 243 13 230 243

SCR - Super Stops/Enhanced Stops - Corridor 4 242 242 13 229 242

North Lane Junction Improvements, Aldershot 150 150 150 150

Schemes costing < £250k 22/23 Unallocated 1,350 1,350 1,350 1,350

Schemes costing < £250k 23/24 Unallocated 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500

Schemes Costing <£250k 1,500 1,985 1,500 4,985 1,526 1,959 1,500 4,985

Safety Schemes

Casualty Reduction Programme 1,500 1,500 1,500 4,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 4,500

Minor Improvements

Minor Works Programme 300 300 300 900 300 300 300 900

Minor Traffic Management Programme 450 450 450 1,350 450 450 450 1,350

750 750 750 2,250 750 750 750 2,250

TOTAL INTEGRATED TRANSPORT PROGRAMME 29,817 55,419 5,470 90,706 434 1,862 2,296 20,129 41,191 19,590 7,500 90,706

Community Vehicle Replacement Fund

Flood Risk And Coastal Defence 106 106 106 318 106 106 106 318

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22-2023/24 69,368 94,970 45,021 209,359 434 126,256 419,178 152,120 105,181 70,668 7,500 754,647

2021 Capital Budget Setting 21-22 to 23-24 - ETEEMETE 2021 January Appendix 2 14/12/202010:26

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 
HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
Decision Report 

 

Decision Maker: Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 

Date: 14 January 2021 

Title: Project Appraisal: Whitehill and Bordon – South East Loop 
Path 

Report From: Director of Economy, Transport and Environment 

Contact name: Allen Harris 

Tel:    07834 123434 Email: Allen.harris2@hants.gov.uk 

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to obtain permission from the Executive Member for 
Economy, Transport and Environment to deliver the scheme as part of the 
‘Whitehill and Bordon Sustainable Transport Improvements Package’ to support 
the sustainable economic growth potential in Whitehill and Bordon and to 
encourage walking and cycling. 

Recommendations 

2. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment approve the 
Project Appraisal for ‘Whitehill and Bordon: South East Loop Path’ (“the Scheme”), 
as outlined in this report. 

3. That approval be given to procure, spend and enter into necessary contractual 
arrangements, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services, to implement the 
proposed improvements to South East Loop Path, as set out in this report, at an 
estimated cost of £597,000 to be funded from EM3 Local Enterprise Partnership. 

4. That approval be given to enter into any necessary licences easements consents 
approvals and agreements with East Hampshire District Council and Whitehill 
Town Council, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services, prior to the start of 
works to enable implementation of the Scheme. 

5. That authority to make the arrangements to implement the scheme, including 
minor variations to the design or contract, be delegated to the Director of 
Economy, Transport and Environment. 

Executive Summary  

6. This report seeks to deliver a section of the Green Grid Green Loop (GGGL), a 
strategic network of pedestrian and cycle facilities that links the whole of Whitehill 
and Bordon (See Appendix) contributing to the overall delivery of the Whitehill and 
Bordon Sustainable Transport Improvements Package. 

7. The GGGL traverses both highway and private land such as Hogmoor Inclosure 
(MoD), Alexandra Park (Whitehill Town Council) and the proposed South East Page 69

Agenda Item 5



 
Loop (East Hampshire District Council and Whitehill Town Council) which is the 
subject of this report. 

8. The aims of the GGGL are to:  

 link together the existing and new areas of town; 

 reduce motor-traffic dominance in the town and thereby free up capacity to 
support growth in housing and jobs;  

 make the town an attractive place to relocate to;  

 support better health by enabling active travel; and 

 enable sustainable growth by promoting sustainable travel. 

9. This particular section of the route is for pedestrian use and aims to link Mill Chase 
Road to Forest Road, and further links and other areas in Whitehill and Bordon to 
meet the objectives of the Walking and Cycling Strategy.  This will link to a shared 
use path to the north to be delivered as a separate scheme as part of the GGGL 
and link to Lindford.  

Contextual Information 

10. This Scheme is part of a successful bid for £3.14million to the EM3 Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) in July 2018 titled, ‘Whitehill and Bordon Sustainable 
Transport Improvements Package’. This package was prepared as a response to 
the sustainable economic growth potential in Whitehill and Bordon, to encourage 
walking and cycling. 

11. East Hampshire District Council led the bid in partnership with Hampshire County 
Council represented by ETE, which will deliver the schemes identified. 

12. The GGGL network is currently being delivered by the County Council in its role as 
Highway Authority as a programme of schemes both on and off-highway, reporting 
to the Whitehill Bordon Strategic Delivery Board. It is considered appropriate for 
the Highway Authority to lead on the schemes to ensure consistency with the on-
highway links and to manage the overall delivery plan effectively. 

13. Following Scheme Design and Approval, the County Council Countryside Service 
will be commissioned to engage the Contractor and manage the works.  This 
provides benefits in that this specific element of the GGGL is more in keeping with 
schemes regularly provided by Countryside Service and its contractors. 

  

Page 70



 
Finance 

 

14.  
 Estimates £'000  % of total  Funds Available £'000 
        
 Design Fee 30  5  EM3 LEP 597 
 Client Fee 15  3    
 Supervision 40  7    
 Construction 469  77    
 Land 1  1    
 Contingency 40  7    

 Total 597  100  Total 597 

        
 

15. Maintenance 
Implications 

£'000  % Variation to 
Committee’s budget 

     
 Net increase in 

maintenance 
expenditure 
 

0  0.0000 

 Capital Charges 0  0.0 

16. The construction of the track within Whitehill Town Council land was stated in the 
LEP bid for which the LEP has agreed spend for this purpose. 

Programme 

17.  

 Gateway Stage 

 3 - Project 

Appraisal 

Start on site End on site 4 - Review 

Date 

(30/20) 

January 2021 February 

2021 

April 2021 April 2022 

 

18. To ensure that works are started at the earliest opportunity to maximise LEP 
spend Countryside Services has undertaken pricing and tendering under its own 
Property Services governance process but does not have the authority to procure 
the works until this project appraisal has been approved and funds transferred.  

Scheme Details 

19. The scheme consists of the improvement of existing tracks used for walking to 
provide unsealed paths for pedestrian use in six sections along the line shown as 
the blue dotted line in accordance with the General Arrangement in the appendix. 

20. A 2-metre wide path (as per County Council standard path) shall be constructed at 
the following locations (see Appendix - Proposed Works): 

 Section A – Mill Chase Road to Britannia Close – 150 metre length; 

 Section B - Britannia Close to River Deadwater Sign – 340 metre length; 

 Section C – Hollybrook Park Open Space – 90 metre length;   

 Section D - River Deadwater Sign to Forest Lodge – 850 metre length; Page 71



 

 Section E – Forest Lodge to Woodlea Primary School – 460 metre length; and 

 Section F – Woodlea Primary School to Forest Road – 325 metre length. 

21. All sections are an improvement of existing tracks used for walking currently 
maintained by Whitehill Town Council or East Hampshire District Council. 

22. Where required, a number of recycled plastic boardwalks (135 metres approx. 
total length) to raise the path shall be provided at low-level flood points and the 3 
damaged wooden bridges are to be replaced with recycled plastic alternatives. 

23. There are no national or international conservation designations in the immediate 
area, although there are several SINCs (Sites of Nature Conservation) as 
designated by Hampshire County Council.  Extra notice of potential impact on 
wildlife/habitat has been observed, but not requiring Natural England consent.  

24. The environment dictates the paths are unlit and that the path surface that is 
provided is specifically non bituminous surfacing. The proposed design is 
considered sensitive to the nature of the environment it is being built in. 

25. Sections A, B, D, E and F, are on land designated as Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 
and is managed by the Deadwater Valley Trust on behalf of Whitehill Town 
Council who own or lease the land.  The works are consistent with this LNR status. 

26. Where they are obstructing passage for pedestrians 4 Scots Pine trees are to be 
removed in the wooded area in section F.  Alternative route options to retain the 
trees were considered but are not feasible.  The trees are considered by the 
County Council Arboriculture Team to be of relatively lower importance in this 
location. Therefore, the decision was taken reluctantly to propose their removal. 

27. The proposed scheme also includes measures to plant additional trees as 
mitigation for trees that have been felled to facilitate the construction of the new 
pedestrian path. Replanting proposals include a ratio of two-three trees planted for 
every tree removed, of a suitable species type in line with the existing range and 
that would offer a good level of canopy cover replacement within a reasonable 
time. This is in collaboration with the local County Councillor, Whitehill Town 
Council and East Hampshire District Council. 

28. In section B and F, native trees are to be coppiced to allow working space and 
thus more light to the underlying vegetation which will also cause less root 
disturbance. Hampshire County Council arboriculturist will work closely with the 
Countryside Services supervision team to ensure correct methodologies are 
respected. 

29. Cell-web will be laid to prevent future maintenance damage to existing tree roots 
and allow them to grow without impacting on the structure of the path. 

Departures from Standards 

30. There will be no departures from standards. 

Consultation and Equalities 

31. East Hampshire District Council commissioned the original bid development, is in 
full support of the scheme, will maintain the new path where it is the landowner 
and will ensure it remains open for use by the public at all times. 

Page 72



 
32. The local County Councillor, Adam Carew, has agreed to the proposals and 

supports the scheme.   

33. The final scheme incorporates a request from Councillor Carew that in section F, 
from Forest Road eastbound, the route follows the existing north track rather than 
the existing south track initially favoured by Whitehill Town Council.  Whitehill 
Town Council has agreed to this amendment and planting will be provided to 
reduce the impact on adjacent properties from being overlooked. 

34. Further communications will be made with Councillor Carew to ensure that he is 
fully informed on the delivery of the scheme. 

35. Whitehill Town Council approved the scheme at its Executive Decision Council 
meeting on 8 October 2020, attended by an officer from Hampshire County 
Council Countryside Services.  At this meeting it was also agreed that Whitehill 
Town Council will maintain the new path where it is the landowner/lessee and will 
ensure it remains open for use by the public at all times. 

36. The Deadwater Valley Trust, which will be tasked with maintaining the works on 
Whitehill Town Council land, has been consulted regarding impacts on 
watercourses/ponds, trees, bat roosts and habitats. 

37. Section B is next to the Deadwater River. The Environment Agency has been 
consulted and will visit the site to determine construction methodology and 
whether consent is required.  The Contractor shall submit any required consent 
forms prior to start of works. 

38. This scheme has no detrimental impact on equalities or diversity and has the 
potential to improve modes of travel for physically and socially disadvantaged 
groups.  The design is in accordance with best practice in meeting mobility 
requirements.  

39. The Whitehill Bordon Transportation website will be updated and local 
residents/businesses will be informed of the works prior to commencement. 

 

Climate Change Impact Assessments 

 
40. The proposals have been assessed using the County Council’s Climate Change 

Adaptation assessment tool, and the summary of vulnerability appears to highlight 
the scheme as being vulnerable to climate impacts.  However, mitigation 
measures are to be provided that will reduce the overall impact to acceptable 
levels. 

 

Page 73



 

 
Vulnerability Impact and Strategic Priority Matrix 

 
41. The Path will replace the existing tracks to improve safety of the route for 

pedestrians and is to be maintained by Whitehill Town Council and/or East 
Hampshire District Council and not by Hampshire County Council. 

 
42. The impact on the path takes into account the possibility of flooding by UK 

Government flood prediction, however, the scheme is the improvement of existing 
tracks within a wooded/park area for which structures are to be provided to raise 
path levels and other routes are available in extreme weather events. 

 
43. The impact of extreme winds has been assessed to take into account the 

possibility of bridges/wooden pathways being damaged should a tree fall.  
However, experience is that this is not a regular occurrence and trees near the 
path are protected by other trees at the extremity of the wooded areas. 

 
44. The carbon mitigation tool does not calculate emissions for bound gravel 

construction.  Materials have been chosen to be in keeping with the natural 
environment. 

 
45. The project is important for meeting Hampshire County Councils’ strategic 

priorities, including economic growth and contributing towards strong, resilient and 
inclusive communities as the GGGL forms part of a wider development and growth 
initiative in the regeneration of Whitehill & Bordon, encouraging people to move 
into the area and contribute financially and inclusively to the town. Additionally, it 
leads to health benefits by providing improved facilities to enable walking, 
encouraging the local community to walk in local woodland areas that they may 
not have done so previously. 

 
46. As the climate change tools used to form this assessment are newly implemented, 

having come into effect from January 2021, this project is already at an advanced 
stage of development. By understanding where the carbon emissions lie and 
where the project is vulnerable to climate change variables, it will be considered 
through the next stages where it is appropriate to make mitigations and 
adaptations to climate change and help meet the two climate change targets. 

 

Statutory Procedures 

47. Although owned by Whitehill Town Council, the Deadwater Valley Local Nature 
Reserve (LNR) Bylaws were made by East Hampshire District Council (EHDC) on 
15 November 2006 under Section 20, 21(4) and 106 of the National Parks and 

Page 74



 
Access to the Countryside Act 1949, and in accordance with Section 236 of the 
Local Government Act 1972.  The byelaw prevents vehicles being brought onto 
the LNR without a permit from East Hampshire District Council.  It also prohibits 
engaging in activity which is likely to cause a disturbance.  However, it should be 
noted that normal local authority operations in fulfilling their statutory functions 
would be exempt. 

48. East Hampshire District Council may issue permits authorising any person to do 
any act or class of acts within the Reserve or any part thereof which would 
otherwise be unlawful under these byelaws.  Hampshire County Council will obtain 
any necessary permit prior to the works. 

Land Requirements 

49. Sections A and B are to be constructed as a path on land owned by Whitehill 
Town Council.  The track will remain in the ownership of the landowner and 
dedicated for use by the public as a path for pedestrians at all times.  

50. Whitehill Town Council has confirmed that it is prepared to give Hampshire County 
Council the necessary highway rights dedication and rights to access the land to 
complete the works, and that it is willing to enter into agreements in this respect. 

51. Section C is to be constructed as a path on land owned by East Hampshire District 
Council.  The path will remain in the ownership of the landowner and dedicated for 
use by the public as a path for pedestrians at all times. 

52. East Hampshire District Council and Whitehill Town Council have confirmed that 
they are prepared to give Hampshire County Council the necessary highway rights 
dedication and rights to access the land to complete the works, and that they are 
willing to enter into agreements in this respect. 

53. Sections D, E and F, are to be constructed as a path for pedestrians on 
Hampshire County Council LNR land which is leased long term to Whitehill Town 
Council to be managed as public open space.  Whitehill Town Council has 
confirmed that it will manage and maintain the path as required by the lease for 
use by the public as a path for pedestrians at all times. 

54. Whitehill Town Council has confirmed that it is prepared to give Hampshire County 
Council the necessary rights to access the land to complete the works, and that it 
is willing to enter into agreements in this respect. 

55. All necessary arrangements are to be progressed by Hampshire County Council 
Legal Services and will be in place prior to the start of works. 

 

Maintenance Implications 

56. The scheme is being delivered by the County Council in its role as delivery partner 
for the GGGL as part of the wider regeneration of Whitehill & Bordon.  The original 
GGGL funding application to the EM3 LEP states that maintenance of all new 
GGGL elements (that are not to be constructed within the existing publicly 
maintainable highway) shall become the maintenance responsibility of the 
landowner.  On this basis, the route remains privately maintainable.  Whilst all 
reasonable arrangements will be put in place to secure the long term maintenance 
obligations with the town council and district council, should these arrangements 

Page 75



 
cease at some future point it is possible that a maintenance obligation may fall 
back on the Highway Authority as long as the routes remain in place. 

57. Whitehill Town Council will maintain Sections A, B, D, E and F, as the responsible 
landowner or lessee, after the scheme has been delivered by Hampshire County 
Council. At the end of the lease between Whitehill Town Council and the 
landowner, should it arise, the maintenance responsibility will revert to the 
landowner. 

58. After practical completion of Sections A, B, D, E and F, a defects period shall run 
for a period of 12 months. During this period, Whitehill Town Council will be 
responsible for maintenance; however, the County Council will be responsible for 
any liabilities and remediating any defects.  Upon expiration of the defects period, 
Whitehill Town Council will be responsible for management, maintenance and 
liabilities as the responsible lessee/landowner. 

59. East Hampshire District Council will maintain Section E as the responsible 
landowner, after the scheme has been delivered by Hampshire County Council. 

60. After practical completion of the path in Hollybrook Open Space, Section C, a 
defects period shall run for a period of 12 months. During this period, East 
Hampshire District Council will be responsible for maintenance; however, 
Hampshire County Council will be responsible for any liabilities and remediating 
any defects.  Upon expiration of the defects period, East Hampshire District 
Council will be responsible for management, maintenance and liabilities as the 
responsible landowner. 

61. Prior to issuing a certificate/confirmation of practical completion the District Council 
and Town Council will be invited to inspect the new paths and make notes of any 
"snags". 

62. Replacement tress shall be maintained by the landowner. 

  

Page 76



 
APPENDIX – PROPOSED WORKS PLAN 

  

Figure 1 – Proposed South East Loop - Path

A 

B 

D 

E 

F 

C 

Page 77



 

APPENDIX – LAND PLAN 

 

Figure 2: South East Loop Path – Land Plan

Deadwater 

Deadwater Valley 

Woodlea 
Primary 
School 

Deadwater 
Valley 

Forest 
Road 
(Road
) Hollybrook 

Open Space 

P
age 78



 

LTP3 Priorities and Policy Objectives 
 

3 Priorities 

 To support economic growth by ensuring the safety, soundness and 

efficiency of the transport network in Hampshire      

 Provide a safe, well maintained and more resilient road network in 

Hampshire               

 Manage traffic to maximise the efficiency of existing network capacity, 

improving journey time reliability and reducing emissions, to support the 

efficient and sustainable movement of people and goods     

    

14 Policy Objectives    

 Improve road safety (through delivery of casualty reduction and speed 

management)            

 Efficient management of parking provision (on and off street, including 

servicing)          

 Support use of new transport technologies (i.e. Smartcards; RTI; electric 

vehicle charging points)            

 Work with operators to grow bus travel and remove barriers to access 

      

 Support community transport provision to maintain ‘safety net’ of basic 

access to services         

 Improve access to rail stations, and improve parking and station facilities  

               

 Provide a home to school transport service that meets changing curriculum 

needs              

 Improve co-ordination and integration between travel modes through 

interchange improvements           

 Apply ‘Manual for Streets’ design principles to support a better balance 

between traffic and community life         

 Improve air quality            

 Reduce the need to travel, through technology and Smarter Choices 

measures               

Page 79



 

 Promote walking and cycling to provide a healthy alternative to the car for 

short local journeys to work, local services or school        

 Develop Bus Rapid Transit and high quality public transport in South 

Hampshire, to reduce car dependence and improve journey time reliability  

              

 Outline and implement a long term transport strategy to enable sustainable 

development in major growth areas           

 
Other 
Please list any other targets (i.e. National Indicators, non LTP) to which this 
scheme will contribute. 
 
 
 

Page 80



 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

yes 

 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document 
 
 

Location 

 

Page 81



 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 

1. Equality Duty 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 
sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 
This scheme has no detrimental impact on equalities or diversity and has the 
potential to improve modes of travel for physically and socially disadvantaged 
groups.  The design is in accordance with best practice in meeting mobility 
requirements.  

 

 

Page 82



 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker: Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 

Date: 14 January 2021 

Title: 2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan and 
revised Development Scheme 

Report From: Director of Economy, Transport and Environment 

Contact name: Melissa Spriggs 

Tel:     Email: melissa.spriggs@hants.gov.uk 

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this paper is to provide the reasons for why a partial update of 
the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) is required following the 
completion of the 2020 Review as required by the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and to set out the timetable for completing the update. 

Recommendations 

2. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 
recommends that Cabinet recommends to Full Council the approval of the 
conclusions of the 2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan as 
set out in this report, and approves its publication following agreement by the 
plan-making partner Authorities.  

3. That the Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 
recommends that Cabinet recommends to Full Council the approval of the 
Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme which sets out the 
timetable and programme for the partial update of the Hampshire Minerals & 
Waste Plan (2013), subject to agreement by the plan-making partner 
Authorities.  

Executive Summary  

4. This paper seeks to 

 provide the background to why a Review of the Hampshire Minerals & 
Waste Plan is required; 

 highlight the findings of the 2020 Review; 

 outline the financial status of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan 
(2013) and budgeting implications of a partial update to the Plan; and 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



 

 set out the timetable and programme of work to be undertaken to support 
a partial Plan update. 

Background to the Review 

5. The National Planning Policy Framework (2018) requires that Local Plans 
should be reviewed to assess whether they require updating at least once 
every five years1. The Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (the ‘Plan’) was 
adopted in October 2013.  

6. The Plan was produced in partnership with Portsmouth and Southampton City 
Councils and the New Forest and South Downs National Park Authorities. 
Since adoption, there has been an on-going relationship between Hampshire 
County Council and these Authorities regarding the monitoring and 
implementation of the Plan. Therefore, a decision on the future of Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan needs to be made by each Authority. 

7. A Review was undertaken in 2018 based on the data obtained through annual 
Monitoring Reports.  The 2018 Review concluded that an update of the Plan 
was not required at that time.  The reasons given were that the development 
management policies were functioning well to protect communities and the 
environment.  Whilst some issues were identified in the delivery of minerals 
and waste development, the policies were considered to enable suitable 
development to come forward.  However, the 2018 Review also concluded 
that some of the issues should be kept under review and a commitment was 
made to undertake a workshop to explore the issues and a further review of 
the Plan in 2020.  

8. The 2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (see Appendix 1) 
follows the approach taken for the 2018 Review including a ‘RAG’ (Red, 
Amber, Green) status for the policies but also takes into account the guidance 
provided by the Planning Advisory Service toolkit (published in 2019). 
Therefore, the 2020 Review includes a review of compliance of the Plan with 
national policy (National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning 
Policy for Waste) and a review of the Plan Vision, Plan Objectives and Spatial 
Strategy.  

Findings of the 2020 Review 

9. The 2020 Review not only takes into account the monitoring data and 
compliance with national policy but also the raft of policy documents which 
have been issued by Government since the Plan was adopted.  This includes, 
but is not limited to, the 25 Year Environment Plan, the Industrial Strategy and 
Waste & Resources Strategy as well as other policy drivers such as the 

                                            

1 National Planning Policy Framework (Para. 33) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf 

Page 84

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf


 

Environment Bill and the recent ‘Planning for the future’ White Paper 
consultation.  

10. The 2020 Review not only considers national policy drivers but also local 
agendas such as the climate change emergencies that have been declared by 
Hampshire County Council and partners as well as the 2050 Commission of 
Inquiry.  

11. In addition, the 2020 Review outlines the key messages from the Review 
Workshop held on 25th September 2019.  

12. The 2020 Review concludes the following: 

Development Management Policies  

13. The monitoring data suggests that most of these policies are performing well 
with Policy 14 (Community benefits) as the exception. However, reviewing 
national policy compliance highlights that the policies would benefit from a 
light touch update in their terminology and in some cases, their delivery.  In 
addition, Policy 2 (Climate change – mitigation and adaption) needs to be 
strengthened and Policy 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste developments) 
needs to ensure that climate change is suitably embedded in its 
implementation.    

Minerals Policies  

14. The 2018 Review highlighted that the minimum 7-year landbank for sand and 
gravel (for both sharp sand and soft sand), as required by national policy, was 
not being met along with other mineral requirements. The situation remains in 
2020 as well as an increasing risk to recycled and secondary aggregate 
delivery and capacity issues at the wharves.  

15. The aggregate delivery requirements (Policy 17 Aggregate supply – capacity 
and source) would benefit from being updated. This would help ensure the 
requirements of national policy were being met.  

16. Whilst the policies are enabling suitable development to come forward, they 
would benefit from outlining any additional sustainable opportunities to help 
meet requirements and provide certainty to industry and communities.   

Waste Policies    

17. The 2020 Review shows that in general, the waste forecasts continue to be 
relatively accurate and additional capacity is coming on stream albeit focused 
more on recovery than recycling. However, to ensure compliance with the 
national policy, they would benefit from an update to enable greater alignment 
with the waste hierarchy and the emerging national waste strategy.   

18. Whilst landfill is a last resort, there remains a need to landfill some wastes 
and current landfill capacity continues not to meet the forecasted need. 
Therefore, the policy would benefit from considering possible sustainable 
options alongside other sites for waste management.  

Monitoring Indicators  

19. The 2020 Review has not assessed these in detail but is it is recognised that 
not all indicators obtain the information required to monitor the effectiveness 

Page 85



 

of the Policies. However, any update of the policies should include a further 
review of the monitoring indicators to ensure that they are SMART2.   

Vision, Plan Objectives, Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram 

20. The issues identified through this Review could suggest that the economy 
was not being supported adequately. The current Vision could also be 
considered to be lacking in spatial identity and specificity in its aims in relation 
to minerals and waste.  

21. The Plan Objectives generally align with the policies and would help achieve 
the current Vision. As some of the Policies are currently not delivering their 
aim, this would suggest the Plan Objectives are not being met. An update of 
the Policies and/or Vision would need to include a review of the Plan 
Objectives to ensure they align.  

22. Any update to the Policies would need to be reflected in both the Spatial 
Strategy and Key Diagram. To ensure compliance with national policy, the 
Policies, Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram need to be unambiguous.  

2020 Review recommendations 

23. The 2020 Review recommends that an update of the HMWP is undertaken to 
ensure compliance with national policy but also to ensure that the Plan is 
delivering a steady and adequate supply of minerals and enabling sustainable 
waste management provision.   

24. In addition, the Vision, Plan Objectives, Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram will 
need to be further reviewed to ensure that all requirements of the Plan are 
delivered but also that the Vision aligns with the 2050 principles for 
Hampshire and the climate change agenda.  

25. To support the partial Plan update, an assessment of mineral and waste site 
options would ensure any suitable sites for enabling sustainable minerals and 
waste development are included in the Plan helping provide certainty to the 
industry and local communities.   

Partial Plan Update Timetable 

26. The timetable for the partial update set out in the new Development Scheme 
(see Appendix 2) is outlined as follows: 

                                            

2 Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic and Timely.  

HMWP Key 
Milestones 

Timescale Description 

Regulation 18 
(Preparation) 
 

March 2021 – Sept 2021 Call for Sites (Fixed period) 
Preparation of Evidence Base  
 

Regulation 18 
(Consultation) 
 

Oct 2021 – Dec 2021 Consultation on the Draft Plan Update 
and Evidence 

Regulation 19 
(Proposed 

Jan 2022 – March 2022 Update Evidence Base 

Page 86



 

27. The consultations will be carried out in line with the Statement of Community 
Involvement3 (2017).  

28. It is recognised that the recent consultation on the ‘Planning for the future’ 
White Paper outlines proposed changes to plan-making and timescales.  The 
timetable for the Plan update sits within the proposed 30-month period and it 
is expected that submission by Winter 2022 will also be within any transition 
period relating to changes to the planning system.   

Programme of work  

29. To support the partial update of the Plan, several studies and assessments 
will need to be undertaken.  These include the following:  

 Waste Background Study; 

 Minerals Background Study; 

 Wharves & Depots Needs Assessment; 

 Climate Change Topic Paper; 

 Aggregate Recycling Topic Paper; 

 Restoration Topic Paper; 

 Minerals and Waste Proposal Studies; 

                                            

3 Statement of Community Involvement (2017) - https://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-
strategic/HampshireStatementofCommunityInvolvementAdoptedNovember2017.pdf 

Submission) 
Document 
Preparation) 
 

Revise Plan based on Evidence Base 
and Consultation 
 

Regulation 19 
(Proposed Submission 
Document 
Consultation) 
 

April 2022 – June 2022 Consultation on the Updated Plan to 
be submitted to the Secretary of State 
 

Regulation 22 
(Preparation) 
 

July 2022 – Oct 2022 Update Evidence Base 
Proposed Modifications based on 
Evidence Base and Consultation 
 

Regulation 22 
(Submission to SoS) 

Winter 2022 Submitting the Plan to the Secretary 
of State who appoints a Planning 
Inspector 
 

Regulation 24 (Public 
Examination) 

Spring 2023 Pre- Examination Hearing 
Planning Inspector examines the Plan 
 

Regulation 25 
(Inspector’s Report) 

Summer 2023 Planning Inspector delivers his report 
on the Plan 
 

Regulation 26 
(Adoption) 

Autumn 2023 All authorities adopt the Plan, as 
modified by Planning Inspector 
 

Page 87

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-strategic/HampshireStatementofCommunityInvolvementAdoptedNovember2017.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-strategic/HampshireStatementofCommunityInvolvementAdoptedNovember2017.pdf


 

 Sustainability Appraisal (incorporating Strategic Environmental 

Assessment); 

 Habitats Regulations Assessment; 

 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment; and 

 Strategic Technical Assessments on issues such as Transport, 

Landscape, Ecology and Heritage.  

30. A call for minerals and waste site nominations will commence immediately 
that the update is approved, to explore suitable site options for allocation.  

31. It is intended that the studies and assessments will be prepared in-house 
where possible to make use of skills and resources within the Council, 
minimise costs and develop officers.  

Financial Implications 

32. Hampshire County Council has contractual arrangements with the plan-
making partner Authorities regarding the monitoring and implementation of the 
Plan. The partners pay 8% each of the yearly cost for these services, with 
Hampshire County Council covering the remaining 68%. 

33. Final budgetary arrangements are yet to be agreed with partners.  However, 
an initial total budget estimate for the partial Plan update is approximately 
£816,750k.  Based on the current distribution of costs, partner authorities 
would be contributing approximately £261,360k to the estimated total budget.  
The remaining £555,390k would be paid by Hampshire County Council.  

34. The cost of the partial Plan update would be funded from monies previously 
identified and earmarked for a Plan update (£230,000 which remained from 
the preparation of the adopted (2013) plan) with the remaining resource 
requirements met through re-prioritisation of work programmes and activities 
within ETE Planning budgets, subject to appropriate contributions being 
secured from the partner authorities.     

35. Hampshire County Council will lead the technical preparation of the partial 
Plan update working with officers from each of the partner Authorities, as 
required.   

Next Steps 

36. The findings of the Review need to be published and it is proposed to do this 
by making the ‘2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan’ public 
as soon as possible. 

37. The Development Scheme outlines the programme for the partial update of 
the Plan and will come into effect following resolution by each partner.   

38. Due to the focused nature of the update, it is not expected that the outcome of 
the current consultation on the ‘Planning for the future’ White Paper will 
impact the timetable.   

Page 88



 

39. It is necessary for all partner Authorities to agree to carrying out a partial Plan 
update, and contribute the required funding, before the work can proceed.  
Discussions with partner Authorities are positive and on-going. 

40. Once completed, the decision to agree and adopt the updated Plan will be 
taken to Full Council.  

Consultation and Equalities 

41. The 2020 Review recommends that a partial update to the Plan is required 
but does not contain the detail.  The new Development Scheme sets out the 
programme and timetable for the partial Update but not the outcomes.  
Therefore, any impacts are unknown at this stage and considered to be 
neutral.  The update will be supported by an Equalities Impact Assessment.  

Climate Change Impact Assessments 

42. The main vulnerabilities to climate change variables identified for the 2020 
Review of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (HWMP) include risk to 
coastal infrastructure of sea level rises and storm events.  These include 
wharves and waste facilities (located in Portsmouth and Southampton), some 
of which deal with hazardous waste. The 2020 Review also considers 
minerals and waste infrastructure which is vulnerable to heat events due to 
the materials, such as waste, which could pose a risk of fire or lead to a rapid 
deterioration of waste and an increase in odours.  However, mineral extraction 
may also provide an opportunity for flood water storage in heavy rain events.   
 

43. Any update of the HMWP will be adapted to reduce its vulnerabilities to 
climate change by taking into account the findings of a Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment which will need to be prepared to support the project.  The 
HMWP currently includes a climate change policy (Policy 2: Climate change – 
mitigation and adaption).  Any update of the HMWP would look to strengthen 
this policy and ensure climate change was addressed suitably throughout the 
Plan.   

 
44. Adaptations to climate change have not been addressed so far because these 

would need to be considered and implemented as part of any planning 
application.  

Page 89



 

Project Vulnerability, Impact and Strategic Priority Matrix: 

45. The climate change mitigation tool cannot be applied to the 2020 Review of 
the HMWP and revised Development Scheme as it is a strategic programme.  
In addition, the carbon mitigation tool does not currently calculate emissions 
for all minerals and waste developments. However, as noted, the programme 
does seek to further strengthen the existing climate change policy which 
outlines that “minerals and waste development should minimise their impact 
on the causes of climate change”.  
 

46. As these tools are newly implemented, having come into effect from January 
2021, they will need to be considered as the programme progresses, 
hopefully helping to identify where it is appropriate to make mitigations and 
adaptations to climate change, and help meet the two climate change targets. 

 
47. The programme is important for meeting Hampshire County Council’s 

strategic priorities: 1. Green Economic Growth & Prosperity, as the Plan 
provides a framework for decision-making on minerals and waste 
development which supports the economy and encourages sustainable 
management of waste;  and 3. Enhancing the Natural & Built Environment, as 
the Plan contains a number of policies to protect and enhance the natural and 
built environment as part of the development process, for example through 
restoration.  
 

 

Page 90



 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

Yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

Yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

No 

 
 

Other Significant Links 

Links to previous Member decisions:  

2018 Review of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan 13 November 
2018 

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s25501/Report.pdf  
  

Direct links to specific legislation or Government Directives   

National Planning Policy Framework February 2019 
  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/sy
stem/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_re
vised.pdf 

 

 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals & 
Waste Plan 
 
Hampshire Minerals & Waste 
Development Scheme 
 
2018 Review of the Hampshire Minerals & 
Waste Plan 

Appendix 1 
 
 
Appendix 2 
 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanning
andenvironment/strategic-
planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-
plan 

 

Page 91

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s25501/Report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-plan
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-plan
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-plan
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-plan


 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 

1. Equality Duty 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 
sharing a relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 

The 2020 Review recommends that a partial update to the Plan is required 
but does not contain the detail.  The new Development Scheme sets out the 
programme and timetable for the partial Update but not the outcomes.  
Therefore, any impacts are unknown at this stage and considered to be 
neutral.  The update will be supported by an Equalities Impact Assessment.  

 

 

 
 

Page 92



 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL, NEW FOREST NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY, 
PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL, SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY & 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL 

2020 Review of the 
Hampshire Minerals & 

Waste Plan (2013) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version 2 – November 2020 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 93



 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................. 1 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 10 

2018 Review of the HMWP ......................................................................................................... 11 

Structure of this review .............................................................................................................. 12 

Duty to Cooperate ...................................................................................................................... 12 

2. Effectiveness of Plan Policies (review of Monitoring Reports) ................................................... 13 

Policy 1: Sustainable minerals and waste development ............................................................ 14 

Policy 2: Climate change ............................................................................................................. 16 

Policy 3: Protection of habitats and species ............................................................................... 17 

Policy 4: Protection of the designated landscape ...................................................................... 19 

Policy 5: Protection of the countryside ...................................................................................... 21 

Policy 6: South West Hampshire Green Belt .............................................................................. 22 

Policy 7: Conserving the historic environment and heritage assets ........................................... 23 

Policy 8: Protection of soils ......................................................................................................... 24 

Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and waste developments ...................................................... 25 

Policy 10: Protecting public health, safety and amenity ............................................................ 26 

Policy 11: Flood risk and prevention .......................................................................................... 28 

Policy 12: Managing traffic ......................................................................................................... 29 

Policy 13: High-quality design of minerals and waste development .......................................... 30 

Policy 14: Community benefits ................................................................................................... 31 

Policy 15: Safeguarding – mineral resources .............................................................................. 32 

Policy 16: Safeguarding – minerals infrastructure ...................................................................... 34 

Policy 17: Aggregate supply – capacity and source .................................................................... 36 

Policy 18: Recycled and secondary aggregates development .................................................... 38 

Policy 19: Aggregate wharves and rail depots ............................................................................ 39 

Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates ......................................................................................... 41 

Policy 21: Silica sand development ............................................................................................. 44 

Policy 22: Brick-making clay ........................................................................................................ 46 

Policy 23: Chalk development .................................................................................................... 48 

Policy 24: Oil and gas development ............................................................................................ 49 

Policy 25: Sustainable waste management ................................................................................ 51 

Policy 26: Safeguarding – waste infrastructure .......................................................................... 53 

Page 94



 

Policy 27: Capacity for waste management development ......................................................... 54 

Policy 28: Energy recovery development ................................................................................... 56 

Policy 29: Locations and sites for waste management ............................................................... 58 

Policy 30: Construction, demolition and excavation waste development ................................. 60 

Policy 31: Liquid waste and waste water management ............................................................. 62 

Policy 32: Non-hazardous waste landfill ..................................................................................... 64 

Policy 33: Hazardous and Low Level Radioactive Waste development ..................................... 67 

Policy 34: Safeguarding potential minerals and waste wharf and rail depot infrastructure ..... 69 

Summary of Monitoring status ................................................................................................... 70 

3. Issues requiring review ............................................................................................................... 72 

Protection of countryside (Policy 5) ........................................................................................... 73 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 73 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 73 

Safeguarding: Mineral resources (Policy 15) .............................................................................. 74 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 74 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 74 

Aggregate supply – capacity and resource (Policy 17) ............................................................... 76 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 79 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 80 

Recycled and secondary aggregate (Policy 18) ........................................................................... 82 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 82 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 83 

Chalk (Policy 23) .......................................................................................................................... 84 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 84 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 84 

Sustainable waste management (Policy 25) & Capacity for waste management (Policy 27) .... 86 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 87 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 87 

Energy recovery (Policy 28) ........................................................................................................ 89 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 89 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 90 

Locations and sites for waste management (Policy 29) ............................................................. 91 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 91 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 91 

Page 95



 

Construction, demolition and excavation waste development (Policy 30) ................................ 92 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 92 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 92 

Long-term safeguarding (Policy 34) ............................................................................................ 93 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 93 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 93 

Summary of Review status ......................................................................................................... 94 

4. Issues to be reviewed and may need to be addressed .............................................................. 95 

Community benefits (Policy 14).................................................................................................. 96 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 96 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 96 

Aggregate wharves and rail depots (Policy 19) .......................................................................... 97 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................... 98 

Should this issue be addressed? ................................................................................................. 98 

Local land-won aggregate (Policy 20) ....................................................................................... 100 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................. 103 

Should this issue be addressed? ............................................................................................... 103 

Silica sand (Policy 21) ................................................................................................................ 105 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................. 106 

Should this issue be addressed? ............................................................................................... 106 

Brick-making clay (Policy 22) .................................................................................................... 107 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................. 107 

Should this issue be addressed? ............................................................................................... 107 

Non-hazardous landfill (Policy 32) ............................................................................................ 109 

Relevant national policy updates ............................................................................................. 110 

Should this issue be addressed? ............................................................................................... 110 

Summary of Review status ....................................................................................................... 111 

5. Effectiveness of the Vision, Plan Objectives, Spatial Strategy & Key Diagram ......................... 112 

Vision ........................................................................................................................................ 112 

Plan Objectives ......................................................................................................................... 112 

Spatial Strategy & Key Diagram ................................................................................................ 113 

6.  Policy change drivers ................................................................................................................ 114 

NPPF (2019) .............................................................................................................................. 114 

National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) ............................................................................... 115 

Page 96



 

Planning Practice Guidance (2014 onwards) ............................................................................ 115 

River Basin Management Plan (2016) ...................................................................................... 115 

Clean Growth Strategy: Leading the way to a low carbon future (2017) ................................. 116 

The 25 Year Environment Plan (2018) ...................................................................................... 116 

Industrial Strategy: Building a Britain fit for the future - White Paper (2018) ......................... 117 

Resources and Waste Strategy (2018) ...................................................................................... 117 

Review of Designated Landscapes (2019) ................................................................................ 117 

South Inshore and South Offshore Marine Plan (2018) ........................................................... 118 

The Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019 ................................... 118 

Environment Bill (2020) ............................................................................................................ 118 

Biodiversity Net Gain ................................................................................................................ 119 

Fixing our broken housing market – Housing White Paper (2017) .......................................... 119 

Strategic Environmental Assessment Regulations ................................................................... 120 

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 ... 120 

Community Infrastructure Levy ................................................................................................ 120 

Court Rulings ............................................................................................................................. 120 

Government Oil and Gas Consultations ................................................................................... 121 

Planning for the future - White Paper (2020) ........................................................................... 121 

Changes to the Current Planning System consultation 2020 ................................................... 122 

7. Review Workshop Outcomes ................................................................................................... 124 

Key messages ............................................................................................................................ 124 

General messages ..................................................................................................................... 125 

Minerals messages ................................................................................................................... 125 

Waste messages ....................................................................................................................... 125 

8. Compliance with National Policy .............................................................................................. 126 

Key outcomes ........................................................................................................................... 126 

9 Conclusion ................................................................................................................................ 127 

Review limitations .................................................................................................................... 129 

Next Steps ................................................................................................................................. 130 

Appendix 1: Plan Objectives / Policy Table ............................................................................... 131 

Appendix 2: Review Workshop – Notes from Event ........................................................................... 133 

Appendix 3: National Policy Checklist ................................................................................................. 150 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) ............................................................................ 151 

National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) ............................................................................... 179 

Page 97



 

 

Page 98



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 1 
 

Executive Summary 
 

Introduction  
 
The Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (HMWP) was adopted in October 20131.   
 
The National Planning Policy Framework requires that Local Plans should be reviewed 
to assess whether they require updating at least once every five years2.  

 
An initial Review was carried out in 2018 and this concluded that whilst a number of 
issues had been identified, the policies were effective in that they enabled 
development and the Vision was being implemented. Following the 2018 Review there 
was a commitment to undertake a Review Workshop and a further review in 2020.  
 
The Workshop was held on 25th September 2019 and this is the 2020 Review of the 
HWMP.  
 
In 2019, the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) issued a toolkit to assist with plan 
reviews and this is incorporated. As such, this Review considers in more detail the 
Vision, Plan Objectives and Spatial Strategy (and the Key Diagram). In addition, 
compliance with national policy is assessed.  
 

Effectiveness of Plan Policies 
 
This section considers each of the 34 policies contained within the HMWP in turn. The 
trends over the past seven years are reviewed based on information set out in the 
Monitoring Reports which support the HMWP. 
 
A RAG (Red, Amber, Green) Monitoring status is provided for each of the policies and 
is determined as follows:  

Monitoring shows no issues 
 

Green 

Monitoring shows some issues to be 
reviewed 

Amber 

Monitoring shows issues to be reviewed 
and may need to be addressed 

Red 

 
1 Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) - 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-plan  
2 National Planning Policy Framework (Para. 33) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf 

Page 99



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 2 
 

The summary of the RAG Monitoring status of each of the policies is outlined below. 

Summary of Monitoring status 

Policy Number & Title 
RAG status 

2020 2018 

Policy 1: Sustainable minerals & waste development Green Green 

Policy 2: Climate change – mitigation and adaptation Green Green 

Policy 3: Protection of habitats and species Green Green 

Policy 4: Protection of the designated landscape Green Green 

Policy 5: Protection of the countryside Amber Amber 

Policy 6: South West Hampshire Green Belt Green Green 

Policy 7: Conserving the historic environment and 
heritage assets 

Green Green 

Policy 8: Protection of soils Green Green 

Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and waste sites Green Green 

Policy 10: Protecting public health, safety and amenity Green Green 

Policy 11: Flood risk and prevention Green Green 

Policy 12: Managing traffic Green Green 

Policy 13: High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development 

Green Green 

Policy 14: Community Benefits Red Red 

Policy 15: Safeguarding - mineral resources Amber Amber 

Policy 16: Safeguarding – minerals infrastructure Green Green 

Policy 17: Aggregate supply - capacity and source Amber Red 

Policy 18: Recycled and secondary aggregates 
development 

Amber Amber 

Policy 19: Aggregate wharves and rail depots Red Red 

Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates Red Red 

Policy 21: Silica sand development Red Red 

Policy 22: Brick-making clay Red Red 

Policy 23: Chalk Development Amber Amber 

Policy 24: Oil and gas Development Green Green 

Policy 25: Sustainable waste management Amber Amber 

Policy 26: Safeguarding – waste infrastructure Green Green 

Policy 27: Capacity for waste management development Green Green 

Policy 28: Energy recovery development Amber Amber 

Policy 29: Locations and sites for waste management Amber Amber 

Page 100



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 3 
 

Policy 30: Construction, demolition and excavation 
waste development 

Amber Green 

Policy 31: Liquid waste and waste water management Green Green 

Policy 32: Non-hazardous waste landfill Red Red 

Policy 33: Hazardous and low level waste development Green Green 

Policy 34: Safeguarding potential minerals and waste 
wharf and rail depot infrastructure 

Green Green 

 

Issues requiring review 
 
This section explores in more detail the policies with issues identified through the 
Monitoring Reports (i.e. policies with an Amber ‘Monitoring’ status).   
 
Consideration is given to the circumstances around the short-term breaches that may 
have occurred or the trends that have raised an issue with delivery.   

 
A RAG (Red, Amber, Green) Review status and review update requirement is provided 
for each policy and is determined as follows: 

Review shows that the policy does not 
need to be updated.  

Green 

Review shows that the policy does need 
to be updated with additional allocations, 
where possible.  

Amber 

Review shows that the policy 
requirements need to be updated.   

Red 

 

The summary of the RAG Review status of each of the policies is outlined below. 

Summary of Review status 

Policy Number & Title RAG status 

Policy 5: Protection of the countryside Green 

Policy 15: Safeguarding - mineral resources Green 

Policy 17: Aggregate supply - capacity and source Red 

Policy 18: Recycled and secondary aggregates development Red 

Policy 23: Chalk Development Green 

Policy 25: Sustainable waste management Amber 

Policy 27: Capacity for waste management development  Amber 

Policy 28: Energy recovery development Green 

Policy 29: Locations and sites for waste management Amber 

Policy 30: Construction, demolition and excavation waste 
development 

Red 

Page 101



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 4 
 

Policy 34: Safeguarding potential minerals and waste wharf and rail 
depot infrastructure 

Green 

 

Issues to be reviewed and may need addressing  
 
This section explores in more detail the policies with issues identified through the 
Monitoring Reports (i.e. policies with a Red ‘Monitoring’ status).   
 
Consideration is given to the circumstances around the short-term breaches that may 
have occurred or the trends that have raised an issue with delivery.   

 
A RAG (Red, Amber, Green) Review status and review update requirement is provided 
for each policy and is determined as follows: 

Review shows that the policy does not 
need to be updated.  

Green 

Review shows that the policy does need 
to be updated with additional allocations, 
where possible.  

Amber 

Review shows that the policy 
requirements need to be updated.   

Red 

 
The summary of the RAG Review status of each of the policies is outlined below. 

Summary of Review status 

Policy Number & Title RAG status 

Policy 14: Community Benefits Red 

Policy 19: Aggregate wharves and rail depots Amber 

Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates Amber 

Policy 21: Silica sand development Amber 

Policy 22: Brick-making clay Amber 

Policy 32: Non-hazardous waste landfill Amber 

 
Effectiveness of the Vision, Plan Objectives, Spatial Strategy & Key 
Diagram 

  
Due to the generic nature of the Vision, this is generally being achieved although the 
issues regarding delivery of minerals could impact the support of the economy. As 
some of the policies are not meeting their aims, the Plan Objectives are not all being 
achieved.  
 
In line with the need to update some of the policies, the Plan Objectives, Spatial 
Strategy and Key Diagram need to be further reviewed to ensure they are fit-for-
purpose. This includes ensuring all polices are represented and there is no ambiguity.  

Page 102



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 5 
 

Whilst the Vision represents the pillars of sustainability which meets the objectives of 
the NPPF, it is recognised that the Vision would benefit from an update to be more 
geographically representative and less generic. Aligning with the 2050 Hampshire 
principles and the climate change agenda would strengthen it further.  

Policy drivers 
 
There have been a number of Government policy publications and announcements 
since 2013 which have an impact on the HMWP policies.   

The policy drivers and the policies they impact are summarised in the Table below.  

Summary of Policy Drivers 

Policy Driver HMWP Policy 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) All policies. 

National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) Policies 25 – 34.  

Planning Practice Guidance (2014 onwards) All policies. 

River Basin Management Plan (2016) Policies 2, 3, 9, 10, 11 
and 31 

Clean Growth Strategy (2017) Policies 1 and 2.  

The 25 Year Environment Plan (2018) Policies 2 – 6, 9 and 25. 

Industrial Strategy (2018) Policies 1, 2, 18, 25, 28 
and 30.  

Resources and Waste Strategy (2018) Policies 1, 18, 30 and 32.  

South Inshore and South Offshore Marine Plans Policies 17 and 24. 

Review of designated landscapes Policy 4. 

Climate change Act 2008 Order 2019 Policy 2. 

Environment Bill (2020) All policies.  

Biodiversity net gain Policy 3. 

Fixing our broken housing market – Housing White 
Paper (2017) 

Plan-making. 

Strategic Environmental Assessment Regulations Policy 29. 

The Town & Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2016 

Policy 16 and 26.  

Community Infrastructure Levy Policy 1. 

Court rulings Plan-making.  
Government Oil and Gas Consultations  Policy 24.  

Planning for the future – White Paper (2020) Plan-making.  

Changes to the current Planning system consultation 
(2020) 

Plan-making 

Page 103



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 6 
 

Review Workshop Outcomes 
 
A Review Workshop was held on 25th September 2019 to explore the issues raised in 
the 2018 Review.  

The Workshop was attended by approximately 60 participants including 
representatives from the minerals and waste industry, statutory consultees, 
neighbouring minerals and waste planning authorities and from the wider south east, 
districts and boroughs, and Members.  

The Workshop was structured around presentations and round table discussion 
sessions on the following issues: 

 The 2018 Review of the HMWP outcomes 
 The changed policy landscape: NPPF, 25 Year Plan, Waste & Resources and 

Brexit etc.  
 Sustainability issues: Climate change, biodiversity net gain, horizon scanning 

etc.  
 Biodiversity net gain 
 Waste & Resources Strategy 
 Soft sand 
 Marine aggregates.  

 
A number of key messages were highlighted at the Workshop which can be used to 
inform this Review and the scope of the Plan update: 

General messages 

A number of general issues were raised which impact the whole Plan: 

 Climate change. 
 The need to future proof the Plan and make it flexible. 
 On-going Government updates and the need for implementation guidance. 
 The need for Duty to Cooperate and liaison with industry.  
 Consideration of the monitoring indicators as well as the policies themselves.  

 

Minerals messages 

A number of minerals issues were raised including: 

 Safeguarding, particularly in relation to prior extraction and wharves. 
 Consideration of regional-level supply issues.  
 Greater emphasis on the Local Aggregate Assessment.  
 Demand should take into account Local Plan delivery and infrastructure.  

 
Waste messages 

Issues raised regarding waste including: 

Page 104



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 7 
 

 The need to consider all waste streams, not just household waste.  
 Review of the data, types of site (not just facility type) and how they are 

delivered. 
 The need for more waste sites, such as resource parks.  

 

Compliance with National Policy 
 
This section applies the PAS toolkit to determine compliance with national policy. As 
the toolkit is geared towards all Local Plans, some parts have been struck out and 
highlighted as ‘not applicable’. In addition, the toolkit does not include compliance with 
the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) (2014) which is relevant to Waste 
Local Plans and therefore, the requirements have been included.   

The review of Local Plan Content compliance has demonstrated that overall, the 
HMWP is compliant and is not silent on any policy requirement. However, there are 
several policy areas where the general policy approach is in conformity, but the 
specific wording may need to be refreshed to ensure that the policy is fully compliant.    

The key policy areas requiring a policy refresh include: 

 Reference to government policy (post 2013); 
 The Vision and its relevance to minerals and waste; 
 The removal of some areas of ambiguity in policies; 
 Clearer identification of the Strategic Policies;  
 Reference to net gain, natural capital, and the agent of change;  
 Clearer climate change measures; 
 Clearer delivery of the waste hierarchy; and 
 An update on terminology, such as ‘sustaining’ rather than ‘protecting’ historic 

assets.  
 

Conclusion 
 
This 2020 Review has considered the effectiveness of the HWMP since its adoption in 
2013. Unlike the 2018 Review, consideration has been given not only to the monitoring 
data but compliance with national policy. In addition, the Vision, Plan Objectives, 
Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram have been taken into account.  
 
Development Management Policies  
 
The monitoring data suggests that most of these policies are performing well with 
Policy 14 (Community benefits) as the exception. However, reviewing national policy 
compliance, highlights that the policies would benefit from a refresh in their 
terminology and in some cases, their delivery.   
 
In addition, Policy 2 (Climate change – mitigation and adaption) needs to be 
strengthened and Policy 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste developments) needs to 
ensure that climate change is suitably imbedded in its implementation.    

Page 105



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 8 
 

 
 
Minerals Policies  

 
The 2018 Review highlighted that the required 7-year landbank for sand and gravel 
(for both sharp sand and soft sand) was not being met along with other mineral 
requirements. The situation remains in 2020 as well as an increasing risk to recycled 
and secondary aggregate delivery and capacity issues at the wharves.  
 
The aggregate delivery requirements (Policy 17 (Aggregate supply – capacity and 
source) would benefit from being updated. This would help ensure the requirements of 
the NPPF were being met.  

 
Whilst the policies are enabling suitable development to come forward, they would 
benefit from outlining any additional sustainable opportunities to help meet 
requirements and provide certainty to industry and communities.   
 
Waste Policies    
 
The 2020 Review shows that in general, the waste forecasts continue to be relatively 
accurate and additional capacity is coming on stream albeit focused more on recovery 
than recycling. However, to ensure compliance with the NPPW, they would benefit 
from an update to enable greater alignment with the waste hierarchy.   
 
Landfill capacity continues not to meet the forecasted need. Therefore, the policy 
would benefit from considering possible sustainable options alongside other sites for 
waste management.  

 
Monitoring Indicators  

 
This Review has not assessed these in detail but is it is recognised that not all 
indicators obtain the information required to monitor the effectiveness of the Policies. 
However, any update of the policies should include a further review of the monitoring 
indicators to ensure that they are SMART3.   

 
Vision, Plan Objectives, Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram 

 
The issues identified through this Review could suggest that the economy was not 
being supported adequately. The current Vision could be considered to be lacking in 
spatial identity and specificity in its aims in relation to minerals and waste. The Vision 
would also benefit from aligning itself with the visionary Hampshire 2050 work and the 
climate change agenda.  
 
The Plan Objectives generally align with the policies and would help achieve the 
current Vision. As some of the Policies are currently not delivering their aim, this would 

 
3 Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant and Timely.   

Page 106



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 9 
 

suggest the Plan Objectives are not being met. An update of the Policies and/or Vision 
would need to include a review of the Plan Objectives to ensure they align.  

 
Any update to the Policies would need to be reflected in both the Spatial Strategy and 
Key Diagram. To ensure compliance with national policy, the Policies, Spatial Strategy 
and key Diagram need to be unambiguous.  

Review limitations 
 

It is recognised that there are limitations to this Review. However, the application of 
the PAS Guidance has enabled a more thorough assessment.   
 
The monitoring indicators were set when preparing the Plan and were an attempt to 
quantify the impacts of the decisions made within the framework of the HMWP. Any 
update to the policies should include a further investigation of the indicators and 
triggers. 

 
The 2018 Review highlighted that there were at the time several uncertainties which 
could have an impact on future supply and capacity requirements of minerals and 
waste. However, uncertainty has only been increased due to the national pandemic, 
which is impacting on the economy; the longevity of these impacts is unknown.  

 
The Government continues to drive forward changes to boost the housing market. 
Whilst an increase in development will have a direct impact on demand for 
construction aggregates, the rate of this increase is unclear.   

 
Duty to cooperate correspondence has been issued to minerals and waste planning 
authorities who have a relationship with Hampshire in terms to minerals and waste 
movements to inform this Review.  However, it is recognised that the minerals data is 
out-of-date (2014) as the new data was not available at the time. Further focussed 
liaison can be addressed as part of the Plan update.   

Next Steps 
 
It is recommended that a partial update of the HMWP is undertaken to ensure 
compliance with the NPPF and NPPW but also to ensure that the Plan is delivering a 
steady and adequate supply of minerals and enabling sustainable waste management 
provision.   
 
In addition, the Vision, Plan Objectives, Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram will need to 
be further reviewed to ensure that all requirements of the Plan are delivered but also 
that the Vision aligns with the 2050 principles for Hampshire and the climate change 
agenda.  

 
To support the partial Plan update, an assessment of mineral and waste site options 
would ensure any suitable sites for enabling sustainable minerals and waste 
development are included in the Plan helping provide certainty to the industry and local 
communities.   

Page 107



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 10 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (HMWP) was adopted in October 20134.  
 

1.2 The Plan covers the administrative areas of Hampshire County Council, the unitary 
authorities of Portsmouth City Council and Southampton City Council, the New Forest 
National Park Authority, and the area of the South Downs National Park Authority 
within Hampshire (the Hampshire Authorities). 

 
1.3 The Plan is based upon the principle of ensuring we have the right developments to 

maintain a reliable and timely supply of minerals and excellent management of our 
waste, whilst protecting the environment and our communities. It contains policies to 
enable minerals and waste decision-making, as well as minerals and waste site 
allocations (rail depots, land-won sand and gravel quarries, brick-making clay quarries 
and landfill) which support Hampshire's 'vision and objectives' for minerals and waste 
development to 2030.  

 
1.4 The effectiveness of the policies in the HMWP have been reviewed through Monitoring 

Reports on an annual basis from 2012/13 to 2018 (please note we latterly changed to 
calendar year reporting to standardise data collection and make all the data 
comparable). 

 
1.5 The annual Monitoring Reports (MRs) can be viewed here: 

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-
minerals-waste-plan  

 
1.6 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that Local Plans should be 

reviewed to assess whether they require updating at least once every five years5. A 
recent update to the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) suggests that if a local 
planning authority decides not to update their policies, they should publish the reasons 
within 5 years of the adoption date of the plan6. 

 
1.7 Having been adopted in 2013, the HMWP was due a review in 2018 to assess if the 

intended outcome (the Vision; 'Protecting the environment, maintaining communities 
and supporting the economy') of land use for minerals and waste development in 
Hampshire is supported by the correct ‘direction of travel’ and whether the Plan 
policies are effective. 

 

 
4 Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) - 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-plan  
5 National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (Para. 33) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf 
6 Planning Practice Guidance (Paragraph: 051 Reference ID: 61-051-20180913) (Revision date: 
13 09 2018) - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making 

Page 108



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 11 
 

1.8 Elements of national and regional minerals and waste policy have also been under 
review by Government since the adoption of the HMWP, further indicating that a 
review now would be timely. 

2018 Review of the HMWP 
 

1.9 A Review of the HMWP took place in 2018 (5 years since adoption) and considered 
the performance of the 34 policies against the monitoring indicators and data. Where 
the data suggested there was an issue, this was investigated, and the Review 
concluded whether policies required an update or not.    
 

1.10 The 2018 Review concluded that the policies were working effectively to achieve the 
Vision and there is no requirement to update the HMWP. The reasons for this decision 
were as follows: 
 
Waste 
 
 In general, the waste forecasts have been relatively accurate.   
 Landfill capacity is identified as not meeting the forecasted need. However, Policy 

32 allows for additional landfill capacity and there is also reserve capacity.  
 The implications of the Britain’s exit from the European Union (“Brexit”) on the 

waste industry are unknown at this time.  
 

Minerals  
 
 The landbank and permitted reserves of sand and gravel, silica and brick-making 

clay are not meeting their required levels. However, review of the mineral supply 
policies has highlighted that these do not exclude further development proposals 
to come forward and would be supported where a shortfall in supply is identified.  
The policies are considered to be flexible and enable development, where 
required. 

 The allocations in the HWMP are coming forward (relatively to the timescales set 
out in the Plan) as well as unplanned opportunities.  

 The landbank is being impacted by a delay in decision-making which is not the 
result of policy. 
 

1.11 It was determined that the effectiveness of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan 
should be reviewed again in 2020 to test whether the delays in decision-making can be 
overcome, the remaining allocations are submitted as applications and the implications 
of Brexit are better understood. 
 

1.12 A commitment was made to undertake a Stakeholder Workshop in 2019 to investigate 
the issues raised within the 2018 Review and how the trends in minerals supply and 
sustainable waste management provision are developing. This is covered in more 
detail in Section 7 of this Report. It was also determined that the HMWP Local 
Development Scheme would be updated to reflect the commitment to a future review 
in 2020 and Stakeholder event in 2019. 

Page 109



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 12 
 

Structure of this review 
 

1.13 This 2020 Review has a number of sections: 
 

 Section 2: Effectiveness of Plan Policies (review of MRs) – outlines the findings 
of the review of the annual MRs to provide information and trends over the past 
five years against each of the 34 policies within the Plan. A Monitoring RAG 
(Red, Amber and Green) status is provided for each policy.    

 Section 3: Issues requiring review – explores the policies that have been found 
to have an ‘Amber’ Review status and what the circumstances were in 
determining this summary. The review of each policy concludes whether an 
update of the Plan is required and provides a Review RAG status.  

 Section 4: Issues to be reviewed and may need addressing - explores the 
policies that have been found to have a ‘Red’ Monitoring status and what the 
circumstances were in determining this summary. The review of each policy 
concludes whether an update of the Plan is required and provides a Review 
RAG status.  

 Section 5: Effectiveness of the Vision, Plan Objectives and Spatial Strategy – 
delineates the findings of the policy review and whether this exposes a lack of 
delivery in the purpose of the Plan.    

 Section 6: Policy Change Drivers – reviews the policy legislation and drivers 
that have been released since the HMWP was adopted and concludes whether 
any of these indicate whether an update of the Plan is required.  

 Section 7: Review Workshop Outcomes – outlines the issues raised at the 
Review Workshop held in September 2019. 

 Section 8: Compliance with National Policy – assess whether the HMWP is 
compliant with the National Planning Policy for Waste (produced after the Plan 
was adopted) and the revised National Planning Policy Framework. 

 Section 9: Conclusion – outlines a summary of the findings and a proposed 
way forward in relation to the need for an update of the HMWP.  

 

Duty to Cooperate 
 
1.14 To support this Review, letters have been sent to minerals and waste planning 

authorities with which there are is a strategic movement of minerals and/or waste.  
This is to determine whether there are any key issues which could impact the 
continuation of this movement. Unfortunately, due to the delay caused by the current 
national pandemic, updated minerals data was not available at the time of this Review.  
 

1.15 The responses received from the relevant minerals and waste planning authorities, did 
not raise any issues which need to be outlined in this Review.  

 
1.16 Should the Plan be updated, this exercise will be repeated to inform the update and 

will make reference to the results of the 2019 national Aggregate Survey. Meetings will 
also take place with neighbouring authorities to discuss the findings of this Review and 
the planned update. Where necessary, Statements of Common Ground will be 
prepared.   

Page 110



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 13 
 

2. Effectiveness of Plan Policies (review of Monitoring 
Reports) 

 
2.1 This section considers each of the 34 policies contained within the HMWP in turn. The 

policy wording is provided as well as trends over the past five years based on 
information set out in the MRs. Specifically, this considers the monitoring indicators 
and triggers for each policy. 
 

2.2 Where relevant to the indicator, contextual information is provided on how the statistics 
compare to the total number of applications or permissions. In the last 7 years 
(October 2013 to August 2020): 

 
 Hampshire County Council has processed 2487 applications; 
 A total8 of 230 permissions have been granted (49 Minerals / 181 Waste)  
 A total of 16 new development sites9 have been permitted (6 Minerals / 10 

Waste)   
 

2.3 A RAG (Red, Amber and Green) Monitoring status is provided for each policy and is 
determined as follows: 
 

Monitoring shows no issues Green 

Monitoring shows some issues to be 
reviewed 

Amber 

Monitoring shows issues to be reviewed 
and may need to be addressed 

Red 

 
2.4 In addition, the content of the policy is reviewed for compliance with the National 

Planning Policy Framework and/or National Planning Policy for Waste.  
 

 

 
7 Excludes Environmental Impact Assessments 
8 Total = Total of all permissions granted by Hampshire County Council. 
 

Page 111



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 14 
 

Policy 1: Sustainable minerals and waste development 
 
Policy wording 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Percentage of Planning Applications processed within 13 weeks. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
60% of planning applications within 13 weeks. 
 
7-year trend for planning applications processed by Hampshire County Council 
 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Percentage of planning applications processed within 13 weeks

Target

The Hampshire Authorities will take a positive approach to minerals and waste 
development that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Minerals and 
waste development that accords with policies in this Plan will be approved 
without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Where there are no policies relevant to the proposal or the relevant policies are 
out of date at the time of making the decision, the Hampshire Authorities will 
grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise, taking into 
account whether: 
 
Any adverse impacts of granting planning permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF taken as a whole; or 
Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be 
restricted. 

Page 112



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 15 
 

Over the last seven years (October 2013 to August 2020) around 248 minerals and 
waste applications were processed. This includes 14 in 2013 (post adoption of the 
Plan in October), 36 in 2014, 34 in 2015, 58 in in 2016, 34 in 2017, 30 in 2018, 30 in 
2019 and 12 until August 2020. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
The number of planning applications processed within 13 weeks (or within an agreed 
extension of time) has increased over the 7-year period and remained at 100% since 
2017.  
 

Green 

 
 
 

Page 113



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 16 
 

Policy 2: Climate change  
 
Policy wording 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Percentage of planning permissions granted against Environment Agency (EA) advice. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 

Number of planning permissions granted against EA advice = 0. 
 
7-year trend 
 
0% over each of the last seven years [230 total permissions]. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
No applications have been granted against EA advice.  
 

Green 

 
 

Minerals and waste development should minimise their impact on the 
causes of climate change. Where applicable, minerals and waste 
development should reduce vulnerability and provide resilience to impacts of 
climate change by: 
 
a. being located and designed to help reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
and the more sustainable use of resources; or 
b. developing energy recovery facilities and to facilitate low carbon 
technologies; and 
c. avoiding areas of vulnerability to climate change and flood risk or 
otherwise incorporate adaptation measures. 

Page 114



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 17 
 

Policy 3: Protection of habitats and species 
 
Policy wording 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 

Planning permissions granted against Natural England (NE) advice (Planning 
permissions in designated areas). 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 

Number of planning permissions granted within designated sites (SPA / SAC / Ramsar 
/ SSSI etc.) against NE advice = 0. 
 
7-year trend 
 
0% over each of the last seven years [230 total permissions]. 
 

Minerals and waste development should not have a significant adverse effect on, 
and where possible, should enhance, restore or create designated or important 
habitats and species. 
 
The following sites, habitats and species will be protected in accordance with the 
level of their relative importance: 
 
a. internationally designated sites including Special Protection Areas, Special 
Areas of Conservation, Ramsar sites, any sites identified to counteract adverse 
effects on internationally designated sites, and European Protected Species; 
b. nationally designated sites including Sites of Special Scientific Interest and 
National Nature Reserves, nationally protected species and Ancient Woodland; 
c. local interest sites including Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation, and 
Local Nature Reserves; 
d. habitats and species of principal importance in England; 
e. habitats and species identified in the UK Biodiversity Action Plan or Hampshire 
Authorities’ Biodiversity Action Plans. 
 
Development which is likely to have a significant adverse impact upon such sites, 
habitats and species will only be permitted where it is judged, in proportion to 
their relative importance, that the merits of the development outweigh any likely 
environmental damage. Appropriate mitigation and compensation measures will 
be required where development would cause harm to biodiversity interests. 
 

Page 115



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 18 
 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
No applications have been granted against NE advice.  
 

Green 

 

Page 116



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 19 
 

Policy 4: Protection of the designated landscape 
 
Policy wording 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 

Planning permissions granted against Natural England advice (Planning permissions 
in designated landscape areas). 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of planning permissions granted within designated landscape areas (NP / 
AONB) against NE advice = 0. 

7-year trend 
 
0% over each of the last seven years [230 total permissions]. 
 
 

Major minerals and waste development will not be permitted in the New Forest or 
South Downs National Parks, or in the North Wessex Downs, the Cranborne 
Chase and West Wiltshire Downs, and Chichester Harbour Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONBs), except in exceptional circumstances. In this respect, 
consideration will be given to: 
 
a. the need for the development, including in terms of any national 
considerations; 
b. the impact of permitting, or refusing the development upon the local economy; 
c. the cost and scope for meeting the need outside the designated area, or 
meeting the need in some other way; and 
d. whether any detrimental effects on the environment, landscape and / or 
recreational opportunities can be satisfactorily mitigated. 
 
Minerals and waste development should reflect and where appropriate enhance 
the character of the surrounding landscape and natural beauty, wildlife and 
cultural heritage of the designated area. 
 
Minerals and waste development should also be subject to a requirement that it is 
restored in the event it is no longer needed for minerals and waste uses. 
 
Small-scale waste management facilities for local needs should not be precluded 
from the National Parks and AONBs, provided that they can be accommodated 
without undermining the objectives of the designation. 

Page 117



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 20 
 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
No applications have been granted against NE advice.  
 

Green 

 

Page 118



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 21 
 

Policy 5: Protection of the countryside 
 

 
Policy wording 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 

Planning permissions granted in the countryside contrary to policy AND Restoration 
conditions in exceptional developments. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 

Number of planning permissions granted in the countryside contrary to policy = 0 AND 
For exceptional developments, number of planning permissions granted without 
restoration conditions = 0. 
 
7-year trend 

Only one planning permission has been granted in the countryside that was contrary to 
policy over the last seven years (2015) [230 total permissions]. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
One application has been granted contrary to policy.  
 

Amber 

 

Minerals and waste development in the open countryside, outside the National 
Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, will not be permitted unless: 
 
a. it is a time-limited mineral extraction or related development; or 
b. the nature of the development is related to countryside activities, meets local 
needs or requires a countryside or isolated location; or 
c. the development provides a suitable reuse of previously developed land, 
including redundant farm or forestry buildings and their curtilages or hard 
standings. 
 
Where appropriate and applicable, development in the countryside will be 
expected to meet highest standards of design, operation and restoration. 
 
Minerals and waste development in the open countryside should be subject to a 
requirement that it is restored in the event it is no longer required for minerals 
and waste use. 

Page 119



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 22 
 

Policy 6: South West Hampshire Green Belt 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Planning permissions granted in the Green Belt contrary to policy AND Restoration 
conditions in exceptional developments. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of planning permissions granted in the Green Belt contrary to policy = 0 AND 
For exceptional developments, number of planning permissions without restoration 
conditions = 0. 
 
7-year trend 
 
0% over each of the last seven years [230 total permissions]. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
No applications have been granted contrary to policy.  
 

Green 

 

Within the South West Hampshire Green Belt, minerals and waste 
developments will be approved provided that they are not inappropriate or that 
very special circumstances exist. 
 
As far as possible, minerals and waste developments should enhance the 
beneficial use of the Green Belt. 
 
The highest standards of development, operation and restoration of minerals or 
waste development will be required. 

 

Page 120



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 23 
 

Policy 7: Conserving the historic environment and heritage assets 
 
Policy wording 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring Indicator 
 
Planning permissions against English Heritage (EH) advice. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of planning permissions against English Heritage (EH) advice = 0. 
 
7-year trend 
 
0% over each of the last seven years [230 total permissions]. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
No applications have been granted against Historic England (formerly English 
Heritage) advice.  
 

Green 

 

Minerals and waste development should protect and, wherever possible, 
enhance Hampshire’s historic environment and heritage assets, both 
designated and non-designated, including the settings of these sites. 
 
The following assets will be protected in accordance with their relative 
importance: 
 
a. scheduled ancient monuments; 
b. listed buildings; 
c. conservation areas; 
d. registered parks and gardens; 
e. registered battlefields; 
f. sites of archaeological importance; and 
g. other locally recognised assets. 
 
Minerals and waste development should preserve or enhance the character or 
appearance of historical assets unless it is demonstrated that the need for and 
benefits of the development decisively outweigh these interests. 

 

Page 121



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 24 
 

Policy 8: Protection of soils 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Number of planning permissions that result in a net loss of Best & Most Versatile 
(BMV) agricultural land in Hampshire AND Planning permissions against Natural 
England (NE) advice. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of planning permissions that result in a net loss of BMV land in Hampshire > 0 
AND Number of planning permissions granted against NE advice = 0. 
 
7 year tend 
 
0% over each of the last seven years [230 total permissions]. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
No applications have been granted against NE advice or resulted in a loss of BMV 
land.  
 

Green 

 

Minerals and waste development should protect and, wherever possible, 
enhance soils and should not result in the net loss of best and most versatile 
agricultural land. 
 
Minerals and waste development should ensure the protection of soils during 
construction and, when appropriate, recover and enhance soil resources. 

 

Page 122



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 25 
 

Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and waste developments 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring Indicator 
 
Relevant planning permissions have restoration and aftercare conditions. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of relevant planning permissions without restoration and aftercare conditions = 
0. 
 
7-year trend 
 
0% over each of the last seven years [230 total permissions]. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
No relevant applications have been granted without restoration or aftercare conditions. 
 

Green 

 

Temporary minerals and waste development should be restored to beneficial 
after-uses consistent with the development plan. 
 
Restoration of minerals and waste developments should be in keeping with the 
character and setting of the local area, and should contribute to the delivery of 
local objectives for habitats, biodiversity or community use where these are 
consistent with the development plan. 
 
The restoration of mineral extraction and landfill sites should be phased 
throughout the life of the development. 

 

Page 123



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 26 
 

Policy 10: Protecting public health, safety and amenity 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Planning permissions against Environment Agency (EA) advice AND Planning 
permissions against Environment Health Officer (EHO) advice. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of planning permissions granted against EA advice = 0 AND Number of 
planning permissions granted against EHO advice = 0. 
 
7-year trend 
 
0% over each of the last seven years [230 total permissions]. 
 

Minerals and waste development should not cause adverse public health and 
safety impacts, and unacceptable adverse amenity impacts. 
 
Minerals and waste development should not: 
 
a. release emissions to the atmosphere, land or water (above appropriate 
standards); 
b. have an unacceptable impact on human health; 
c. cause unacceptable noise, dust, lighting, vibration or odour; 
d. have an unacceptable visual impact; 
e. potentially endanger aircraft from bird strike and structures; 
f. cause an unacceptable impact on public safety safeguarding zones; 
g. cause an unacceptable impact on: 
 
i. tip and quarry slope stability; or 
ii. differential settlement of quarry backfill and landfill; or 
iii. subsidence and migration of contaminants; 
 
h. cause an unacceptable impact on coastal, surface or groundwaters; 
i. cause an unacceptable impact on public strategic infrastructure; 
j. cause an unacceptable cumulative impact arising from the interactions 
between minerals and waste developments, and between mineral, waste and 
other forms of development. 
 
The potential cumulative impacts of minerals and waste development and the 
way they relate to existing developments must be addressed to an acceptable 
standard. 

 

Page 124



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 27 
 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
No applications have been granted against EA or EHO advice.  
 

Green 

 

Page 125



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 28 
 

Policy 11: Flood risk and prevention 
 
Policy wording  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator  

Planning permissions granted against Environment Agency (EA) advice. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 

Number of planning permissions against EA advice = 0. 

7-year trend 
 
0% over each of the last seven years [230 total permissions]. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
No applications have been granted against EA advice.  
 

Green 

 

Minerals and waste development in areas at risk of flooding should: 
 
a. not result in an increased flood risk elsewhere and, where possible, will reduce 
flood risk overall; 
b. incorporate flood protection, flood resilience and resistance measures where 
appropriate to the character and biodiversity of the area and the specific 
requirements of the site; 
c. have site drainage systems designed to take account of events which exceed 
the normal design standard; 
d. not increase net surface water run-off; and 
e. if appropriate, incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems to manage surface 
water drainage, with whole-life management and maintenance arrangements. 

 

Page 126



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 29 
 

Policy 12: Managing traffic 
 
Policy wording  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Planning permissions granted contrary to Highway Authority (HA) advice. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of planning permissions contrary to HA advice = 0. 
 
7-year trend 
 
0% over each of the last seven years [230 total permissions]. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
No applications have been granted against HA advice.  
 

Green 

 

Minerals and waste development should have a safe and suitable access to the 
highway network and where possible minimise the impact of its generated 
traffic through the use of alternative methods of transportation such as sea, rail, 
inland waterways, conveyors, pipelines and the use of reverse logistics. 
Furthermore, highway improvements will be required to mitigate any significant 
adverse effects on: 
 
a. highway safety; 
b. pedestrian safety; 
c. highway capacity; and 
d. environment and amenity. 

 

Page 127



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 30 
 

Policy 13: High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development 
 
Policy wording  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Planning permissions in the view of MWPA are of satisfactory design. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of planning permissions without satisfactory design = 0. 

7-year trend 
 
0 over each of the last seven years.  
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
No relevant applications have been granted without satisfactory design.  
 

Green 

 

Minerals and waste development should not cause an unacceptable adverse 
visual impact and should maintain and enhance the distinctive character of the 
landscape and townscape. 
 
The design of appropriate built facilities for minerals and waste development 
should be of a high-quality and contribute to achieving sustainable development. 

 

Page 128



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 31 
 

Policy 14: Community benefits 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator  
 
Percentage of major applications with community benefits. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Percentage of major applications with community benefits > 50%. 

7-year trend  
 
0 over each of the last seven years. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
No applications have been granted with community benefits.  
 

Red 

 

Hampshire Authorities encourage negotiated agreements between relevant 
minerals and waste developers/operators and a community as a source of funding 
for local benefits. 

 

Page 129



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 32 
 

Policy 15: Safeguarding – mineral resources 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monitoring indicator 
 
Area of Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA) sterilised by non-mineral development 
granted permission by Local Planning Authority (LPA) against Minerals Planning 
Authority (MPA) advice. 

 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 

 

Area of MSA sterilised by non-mineral development granted permission by LPA 
against MPA advice = 0 hectares. 

 

7-year trend 

19.3 hectares of MSA was sterilised by development in the first five years of the Plan:  

 4.1 ha in 2015 (application 15/00392/REM, Edenbrook, Hitches Lane, Hart).  
 14.5 ha in 2016 (application 16/10764, Land at Buckland Manor Farm, Alexandra 

Road, Lymington, New Forest).  
 0.7 ha in 2016 (application 16/10497 Merryfield Park, Derritt Lane, Sopley). 

Hampshire’s sand and gravel (sharp sand and gravel and soft sand), silica sand 
and brick-making clay resources are safeguarded against needless sterilisation 
by non-minerals development, unless ‘prior extraction’ takes place. 
 
Safeguarded mineral resources are defined by a Mineral Safeguarding Area 
illustrated on the Policies Map. 
 
Development without the prior extraction of mineral resources in the Mineral 
Safeguarding Area may be permitted if: 
 
a. it can be demonstrated that the sterilisation of mineral resources will not occur; 
or 
b. it would be inappropriate to extract mineral resources at that location, with 
regards 
to the other policies in the Plan; or 
c. the development would not pose a serious hindrance to mineral development 
in the vicinity; or 
d. the merits of the development outweigh the safeguarding of the mineral. 
 
The soft sand / potential silica sand resources at Whitehill & Bordon (Inset Map 
5), further illustrated on the Policies Map are included within the MSA and are 
specifically identified for safeguarding under this policy. 

 

Page 130



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 33 
 

A further 14.3 hectares of MSA have been sterilised in the last two years of the Plan: 

 8.3 ha in 2017 (application17/01470/FUL - Land at former Ford Motor Co Wide 
Lane Southampton and application O/17/80319 – Land at Satchell Lane, 
Hamble-Le-Rice, Southampton. Site allowed by Planning Inspectorate during 
appeal). 

 6.0 ha in 2018 (application 18/02994/FULLS, Stoneham Golf Club, Bassett 
Green Road, Southampton and application APP/18/00287– Former Council 
Depot Site, Harts Farm Way, Havant). 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
33.6 ha of land has been sterilised against MPA advice in the 7-year period.  
 

Amber 

 

Page 131



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 34 
 

Policy 16: Safeguarding – minerals infrastructure 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Number of safeguarded sites developed for non-mineral uses by Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) permission against Mineral Planning Authority (MPA) advice. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of safeguarded sites developed for non-mineral uses by LPA permission 
against MPA advice = 0. 

7-year trend 

0 over each of the last seven years. 
 

Infrastructure that supports the supply of minerals in Hampshire is safeguarded 
against development that would unnecessarily sterilise the infrastructure or 
prejudice or jeopardise its use by creating incompatible land uses nearby. 
 
Minerals sites with temporary permissions for minerals supply activities are 
safeguarded for the life of the permission. 
 
The Hampshire Authorities will object to incompatible development unless it can 
be demonstrated that: 
 
a. the merits of the development clearly outweigh the need for safeguarding; or 
b. the infrastructure is no longer needed; or 
c. the capacity of the infrastructure can be relocated or provided elsewhere. In 
such instances, alternative capacity should: 
i. meet the provisions of the Plan, that this alternative capacity is deliverable; and 
ii. be appropriately and sustainably located; and 
iii. conform to the relevant environmental and community protection policies in 
this Plan; or 
 
d. the proposed development is part of a wider programme of reinvestment in the 
delivery of enhanced capacity for minerals supply. 
 
The infrastructure safeguarded by this policy is illustrated on the Policies Map 
and identified in 'Appendix B - List of safeguarded minerals and waste sites'. 

Page 132



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 35 
 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
No safeguarded sites have been developed for non-mineral uses against MPA advice. 
 

Green 

 

Page 133



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 36 
 

Policy 17: Aggregate supply – capacity and source 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring Indicator 

Reduction in aggregate production capacity AND Land-won aggregate sales. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 

Aggregate production capacity is not reduced by more than 556,000 tonnes per annum 
(10% of 5.56mtpa) AND Land-won aggregate sales are not constrained by lack of 
capacity. 

7-year trend  
 

 
 

5

5.5

6

6.5

7

7.5

8

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Aggregate Production Capacity (mtpa)

An adequate and steady supply of aggregates until 2030 will be provided for 
Hampshire and surrounding areas from local sand and gravel sites at a rate of 
1.56mtpa, of which 0.28mtpa will be soft sand. 
 
The supply will also be augmented by safeguarding and developing 
infrastructure capacity so that alternative sources of aggregate could be 
provided at the following rates: 
 
 1.0mtpa of recycled and secondary aggregates; and 
 2.0mtpa of marine-won aggregates; and 
 1.0mtpa of limestone delivered by rail. 

Page 134



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 37 
 

 
  
RAG Monitoring status 
 
Sales of land-won aggregate have increased over the seven years. The loss in 
capacity is significantly greater than 556,000 between 2015/16. However, 2017 and 
2018 suggest a recovery in production capacity.  
 

Amber 

 

0.7

0.75

0.8

0.85

0.9

0.95

1

1.05

1.1

1.15

1.2

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Land-won aggregate sales (mtpa)

Page 135



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 38 
 

Policy 18: Recycled and secondary aggregates development 
 
Policy wording 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Production of high quality recycled and secondary aggregate. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Year on year decrease in the (capacity for) production of high quality recycled and 
secondary aggregates. 

7-year trend*  

 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
Whilst there has a year on year increase during the period 2012/15, there was a 
significant decrease in capacity in 2016 which has recovered in 2017/2018.  
 

Amber 

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Capacity for the production of high quality recycled and secondary aggregate (mtpa)

Recycled and secondary aggregate production will be supported by 
encouraging investment and further infrastructure to maximise the availability 
of alternatives to marine-won and local land-won sand and gravel extraction. 

 

Page 136



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 39 
 

Policy 19: Aggregate wharves and rail depots 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Rail depot capacity AND Wharf capacity. 

The capacity at existing aggregate wharves and rail depots will where possible 
and appropriate be maximised and investment in infrastructure and /or the 
extension of suitable wharf and rail depot sites will be supported to ensure that 
there is sufficient capacity for the importation of marine-won sand and gravel and 
other aggregates. 
 
1. Existing wharf and rail depot aggregate capacity is located at the following 

sites: 
 
i.  Supermarine Wharf, Southampton (Aggregates wharf) 
ii.  Leamouth Wharf, Southampton (Aggregates wharf) 
iii.  Dibles Wharf, Southampton (Aggregates wharf) 
iv.  Kendalls Wharf, Portsmouth (Aggregates wharf) 
v.  Fareham Wharf, Fareham (Aggregates wharf) 
vi.  Marchwood Wharf, Marchwood (Aggregates wharf) 
vii.  Bedhampton Wharf, Havant (Aggregates wharf) 
viii.  Burnley Wharf, Southampton (Aggregates wharf) 
ix.  Eastleigh Rail Depots, Eastleigh (Aggregates rail depot) 
x.  Botley Rail Depot, Botley (Aggregates rail depot) 
xi.  Fareham Rail Depot, Fareham (Aggregates rail depot) 
 
2. Further aggregate rail depots are proposed provided the proposals address 

the development considerations outlined in 'Appendix A - Site allocations' at: 
 
i.  Basingstoke Sidings, Basingstoke (Rail depot) (Inset Map 2) 
ii.  Micheldever Sidings, Micheldever (Rail depot) (Inset Map 4) 
 
The rail depot proposals are illustrated on the 'Policies Map'. 
 
3. New wharf and rail depot proposals will be supported if the proposal 

represents sustainable development. New developments will be expected to: 
 
a.  have a connection to the road network; and 
b. have a connection to the rail network or access to water of sufficient depth 

to accommodate the vessels likely to be used in the trades to be served; 
and 

c.  demonstrate, in line with the other policies in this Plan, that they do not 
pose unacceptable harm to the environment and local communities. 

Page 137



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 40 
 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Rail depot capacity reduced by more than 130,000 tonnes per annum (10% of 1.3 
mtpa) AND Wharf capacity reduced by more than 256,000 tonnes per annum (10% of 
2.56 mtpa). 

7-year trend  

 

 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
There has been a significant decrease in rail depot and wharf capacity from 2015.  Rail 
depot capacity has had a slight increase in capacity in 2018 whilst wharf capacity has 
continued to decline.   
 

Red 

 

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.5

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Rail depot capacity (mtpa)

1

1.25

1.5

1.75

2

2.25

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Wharf capacity (mtpa)

Page 138



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 41 
 

Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

An adequate and steady supply of locally extracted sand and gravel will be provided 
by maintaining a landbank of permitted sand and gravel reserves sufficient for at least 
seven years from: 
 
1. the extraction of remaining reserves at the following permitted sites: 
 
i. Bramshill Quarry, Bramshill (sharp sand and gravel) 
ii. Eversley Common Quarry, Eversley (sharp sand and gravel) 
iii. Eversley Quarry (Chandlers Farm), Eversley (sharp sand and gravel) 
iv. Mortimer Quarry, Mortimer West End (sharp sand and gravel) 
v. Badminston Farm (Fawley) Quarry, Fawley (sharp sand and gravel) 
vi. Bury Farm (Marchwood) Quarry, Marchwood (sharp sand and gravel) 
vii. Bleak Hill Quarry (Hamer Warren), Harbridge (sharp sand and gravel) 
viii. Avon Tyrell, Sopley (sharp sand and gravel) 
ix. Downton Manor Farm Quarry, Milford on Sea (sharp sand and gravel) 
x. Blashford Quarry (including Plumley Wood / Nea Farm), near Ringwood (sharp 

sand and gravel / soft sand) 
xi. Roke Manor Quarry, Shootash (sharp sand and gravel) 
xii. Frith End Sand Quarry, Sleaford (soft sand) 
xiii. Kingsley Quarry, Kingsley (soft sand) 
 
2.  extensions to the following existing sites, provided the proposals address the 

development considerations outlined in 'Appendix A - Site allocations': 
 
i. Bleak Hill Quarry Extension, Harbridge (sharp sand and gravel) (Inset Map 13) – 

0.5 million tonnes 
ii. Bramshill Quarry Extension (Yateley Heath Wood), Blackbushe (sharp sand and 

gravel) (Inset Map 1) – 1.0 million tonnes 
 
3. new sand and gravel extraction sites, provided the proposals address the 

development considerations outlined in 'Appendix A - Site allocations': 
 
i.  Roeshot, Christchurch (sharp sand and gravel) (Inset Map 11) – 3.0 million tonnes 
ii. Cutty Brow, Longparish (sharp sand and gravel) (Inset Map 3) – 1.0 million tonnes 
iii. Hamble Airfield, Hamble-le-Rice (sharp sand and gravel) (Inset Map 9) – 1.50 

million tonnes 
iv. Forest Lodge Home Farm, Hythe (soft sand / sharp sand and gravel) (Inset Map 

10) – 0.57 million tonnes 
v. Purple Haze, Ringwood Forest (soft sand / sharp sand and gravel) (Inset Map 12) 

– 4.0 million tonnes 

Page 139



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 42 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Monitoring indicator 

Landbank for Aggregate supply. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Landbank falls below 7 years worth of aggregate supply (Breach of benchmark over 
two successive years). 

7-year trend  

 
 

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

5.5

6

6.5

7

7.5

8

8.5

9

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Local Requirement for aggregate supply (years) Target landbank

4. Proposals for new sites outside the areas identified in Policy 20 (including 
extension of sites identified in Policy 20 (1) will be supported where: 
 
a. monitoring indicates that the sites identified in Policy 20 (1), (2) or (3) are 

unlikely to be delivered to meet Hampshire’s landbank requirements and / or 
the proposal maximises the use of existing plant and infrastructure and 
available mineral resources at an existing associated quarry; or 

b. the development is for the extraction of minerals prior to a planned 
development; or 

c. the development is part of a proposal for another beneficial use, or 
d. the development is for a specific local requirement. 
 
The extension and new sites identified above are shown on the 'Policies Map'. 

 

Page 140



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 43 
 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
The landbank for aggregate supply dropped significantly below the required 7 years in 
2016 based on the Local Requirement and has remained below the threshold.  
 

Red 
 

Page 141



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 44 
 

Policy 21: Silica sand development 
 
Policy wording 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Landbank at individual silica sand sites. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Landbank falls below 10 years at individual silica sand sites (Breach of benchmark 
over two successive years). 
 
7-year trend  

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Landbank at individual silica sand sites (years) Target

1. An adequate and steady supply of silica sand will be provided by maintaining 
a landbank of permitted reserves sufficient for at least 10 years from: 

 
i. Frith End Sand Quarry, Sleaford (silica sand) 
ii. Kingsley Quarry, Kingsley (silica sand) 
 
2.  Proposals for silica sand extraction within the Folkestone bed formation and 

outside the permitted silica sand sites identified above will be supported 
where: 

 
a. the availability of deposits with properties consistent with silica sand uses is 

demonstrated; and 
b. monitoring indicates that there is a need to maintain a 10 year landbank; and 
c. the proposals do not have an unacceptable environmental or amenity impact 

either alone or in combination with other plans or projects; or 
d. prior extraction is necessary in order to avoid sterilisation of the deposits due 

to planned development. 

Page 142



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 45 
 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
While there has been a lack of availability of data to determine a baseline of silica sand 
provision, a 10-year landbank has not been achieved for each individual site. 
 

Red 

 

Page 143



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 46 
 

Policy 22: Brick-making clay 
 

 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Landbank for brick-making clay. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Landbank falls below 25 years worth of brick-making clay supply (Breach of 
benchmark over two successive years). 

 

 

 

 

 

A supply of locally extracted brick-making clay for use in Hampshire’s remaining 
brickworks that will enable the maintenance of a landbank of at least 25 years of 
brick-making clay, will be provided from: 
 
1.  the extraction of remaining reserves at the following permitted site: 
 
i. Michelmersh Brickworks 
 
2. and extension of existing or former brick-making clay extraction sites at the 

following sites, provided the proposals address the development considerations 
outlined in 'Appendix A - Site allocations': 

 
i. Michelmersh Brickworks (Inset Map 7); and 
ii. Selborne Brickworks (Inset Map 6). 
 
The sites identified above are shown on the 'Policies Map'. Extracted brick-making 
clay from Michelmersh and Selborne should only be used for the manufacture of 
bricks, tiles and related products in the respective brickworks. 
 
3. Clay extraction outside the sites identified could take place where: 
 
a. it can be demonstrated that the sites identified in Policy 22 (2) are not 

deliverable; and 
b. there is a demonstrated need for the development; and/or 
c. the extraction of brick-making clay is incidental to the extraction of local land-

won aggregate at an existing sand and gravel quarry. 

 

Page 144



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 47 
 

7-year trend  

 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
Despite a relative improvement in landbank in 2014/15, the 25-year landbank has not 
been achieved and continued to decline in 2018.  
 

Red 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Landbank for brick-making clay (years) Target

Page 145



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 48 
 

Policy 23: Chalk development 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Amount of chalk extracted in tonnes per annum (tpa). 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Amount of chalk extracted in tonnes per annum (tpa) < 25,000tpa. 
 
7-year trend 
 
The amount of chalk development only exceeded 25,000 tpa in 2015. Extraction at 
each site was relatively small-scale, only slightly going over 25,000. 

Extraction returned to less than 25,000 tpa in 2016 and has continued to remain below 
the threshold.    
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
Extraction exceeded the 25,000 tonnes during the 7-year period, although this 
returned to a level below the threshold in 2016 and remains below the threshold. 
 

Amber 

 

The small-scale extraction of chalk will only be supported for agricultural and 
industrial uses in Hampshire. Extraction of chalk for other uses, such as 
aggregate, a fill material or for engineering will not be supported. 

 

Page 146



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 49 
 

Policy 24: Oil and gas development 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Oil and gas development will be supported subject to environmental and amenity  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 

Planning permissions granted in the countryside contrary to policy. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of planning permissions granted in the countryside contrary to policy = 0. 

7-year trend 
 
0 over each of the last seven years. 
 

Oil and gas development will be supported subject to environmental and amenity 
considerations. 
 
1. Exploration and appraisal of oil and gas will be supported, provided the site 

and equipment: 
 
a. is not located within the New Forest National Park or South Downs National 

Park except in exceptional circumstances, where the reasons for the 
designation are not compromised and where the need for the development 
can be demonstrated; and 

b. is sited at a location where it can be demonstrated that it will only have an 
acceptable environmental impact; and 

c. the proposal provides for the restoration and subsequent aftercare of the site, 
whether or not oil or gas is found. 

 
2. The commercial production of oil and gas will be supported, provided the site 

and equipment: 
 
a. is not located within the New Forest National Park or South Downs National 

Park except in exceptional circumstances, where the reasons for the 
designation are not compromised and where the need for the development 
can be demonstrated; and 

b. a full appraisal programme for the oil and gas field has been completed; and 
c. the proposed location is the most suitable, taking into account environmental, 

geological and technical factors. 

 

Page 147



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 50 
 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
No relevant applications have been granted in the countryside contrary to policy.  
 

Green 

 

Page 148



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 51 
 

Policy 25: Sustainable waste management 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Amount / percentage of non-hazardous waste recycled*. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Recycling not reaching 60% by 2020. 

*It is noted that there is not an indicator which monitors the level of diversion from 
landfill. 

The long-term aim is to enable net self-sufficiency in waste movements and 
divert 100% of waste from landfill. All waste development should: 
 
a. encourage waste to be managed at the highest achievable level within the 
waste hierarchy; and 
b. reduce the amount of residual waste currently sent to landfill; and 
c. be located near to the sources of waste, or markets for its use; and / or 
d. maximise opportunities to share infrastructure at appropriate existing mineral 
or waste sites. 
 
The co-location of activities with existing operations will be supported, where 
appropriate, if commensurate with the operational life of the site, and where it 
would not result in intensification of uses that would cause unacceptable harm 
to the environment or communities in a local area (including access routes), or 
prolong any unacceptable impacts associated with the existing development. 
 
Provision will be made for the management of non-hazardous waste arisings 
with an expectation of achieving by 2020 at least: 
 
60% recycling; and 
95% diversion from landfill. 

Page 149



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 52 
 

7-year trend  

 

The 2018 Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator shows that of all household, 
commercial and industrial ‘waste removed’ from sites in Hampshire – 39% (43%) was 
sent for ‘recovery’ while 5% (6%) was treated. Please note this figure will include some 
waste arisings which did not originate in Hampshire.  
 
The 2016 and 2017 ‘waste removed’ data has been corrected.  
 
Based on data from Waste Data Flow, MSW waste arisings in 2018 were 799,007 
(814,641) tonnes. The treatment of this waste was as follows:  

- Recycled 25% (26%)  
- Composted 13% (13%)  
- Recovered 57% (56%)  
- Landfill 5% (5%). 

 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
The percentage recycled trend shows a decline since 2014/15 and at present does not 
look to achieve the 60% by 2020.  
 

Amber 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Amount / percentage of non-hazardous waste recycled Target

Page 150



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 53 
 

Policy 26: Safeguarding – waste infrastructure 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Number of safeguarded sites developed for non-waste uses by Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) permission, against Waste Planning Authority (WPA) advice. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of safeguarded sites developed for non-waste uses by LPA permission, 
against WPA advice = 0*. 

*Please note that "sites developed" is measured through planning permissions granted 
for development, rather than a physical development, as waiting until a site is 
developed would introduce significant delays to the monitoring process. 

7-year trend 
 
0 over each of the last seven years 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
No safeguarded sites have been developed for non-waste uses against WPA advice.  
 

Green 

 

Waste management infrastructure that provides strategic capacity is 
safeguarded against redevelopment and inappropriate encroachment unless: 
 
a. the merits of the development clearly outweigh the need for safeguarding; or 
b. the waste management infrastructure is no longer needed; or 
c. the waste management capacity can be relocated or provided elsewhere and 
delivered; 
or 
d. the proposed development is part of a wider programme of reinvestment in 
the delivery of enhanced waste management facilities. 
 
The infrastructure safeguarded by this policy is illustrated on the Policies Map 
and identified in 'Appendix B - List of safeguarded minerals and waste sites'. 

 

Page 151



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 54 
 

Policy 27: Capacity for waste management development 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monitoring indicator 
 
Capacity and operational status of waste management facilities - provision of 
additional recycling and recovery capacity: 

2011-2015 = 370,000 tonnes 
2016-2020 = 205,000 tonnes 
2021-2030 = 102,000 tonnes 

In order to reach the objectives of the Plan and to deal with arisings by 2030 of: 
 
2.62 mtpa of non-hazardous waste; 
2.49 mtpa of inert waste; 
0.16 mtpa of hazardous waste. 
 
The following minimum amounts of additional waste infrastructure capacity are 
estimated to be required: 
 
0.29 mtpa of non-hazardous recycling capacity; and 
0.39 mtpa of non-hazardous recovery capacity; and 
1.4 mt of non-hazardous landfill void. 
 
Proposals will be supported where they maintain and provide additional 
capacity for non-hazardous recycling and recovery through: 
 
a. the use of existing waste management sites; or 
b. extensions to suitable sites: 
 
i. that are ancillary to the operation of the existing site and improve current 

operating standards, where applicable, or provide for the co-location of 
compatible waste activities; and 

ii. which do not result in inappropriate permanent development of a temporary 
facility and proposals for ancillary plant, buildings and additional 
developments that do not extend the timescale for completion of the 
development; or 

c. extension of time to current temporary planning permissions where it would 
not result in inappropriate development; or 

d. new sites to provide additional capacity (see Policy 29 - Locations and sites 
for waste management). 

 

Page 152



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 55 
 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 

No net loss of waste management capacity from closure of sites and/or no new 
recycling or recovery capacity proposals. (Breach of benchmark over two successive 
years). 

7-year trend 
 
Additional capacity delivery is shown in  

Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1: Targets for additional capacity to be delivered and actuals 2011-20 

 

Target  
(2011-15) 

Actual  
(2011-15) 

Target  
(2016-20) 

Actual  
(2016-20) 

Difference 

Recycling (tpa) 108,693 16,888 114,693 58,640 -147,858* 

Recovery (tpa) 260,904 354,950 89,904 290,640 294,782* 

Landfill 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 369,597 371,838 204,597 349,280 146,924* 
*Capacity granted permission up to August 2020 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
No net loss in waste management capacity over the five years. Combined recycling 
and recovery capacity provision meeting requirements, however recycling targets not 
being met. 

 

Green 

 

Page 153



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 56 
 

Policy 28: Energy recovery development 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Number of facilities and amount of renewable energy produced. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Decrease in number of facilities and/or amount of renewable energy produced (Breach 
of benchmark over two successive years). 

7-year trend  

 

 
 

380000

390000

400000

410000

420000

430000

440000

450000

16

18

20

22

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

M
W

h

Si
te

s

Sites Megawatt hours (MWh)

Energy recovery development should: 
 
a. be used to divert waste from landfill and where other waste treatment options 

further up the waste hierarchy have been discounted; and 
b. wherever practicable, provide combined heat and power. As a minimum 

requirement the scheme should recover energy through electricity production 
and the plant should be designed to have the capability to deliver heat in the 
future; and 

c. provide sustainable management arrangements for waste treatment residues 
arising from the facility. 

 

Page 154



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 57 
 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
The number of sites and amount of renewable energy produced has varied over the 
seven years with a noticeable decline in 2014/15 but increasing again in 2016.  2018 
sees a return to 2012/13 figures.  
 

Amber 

 

Page 155



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 58 
 

Policy 29: Locations and sites for waste management 
 
Policy wording 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Planning permissions in accordance with Policy 29. 
 
Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review  
 
Planning permissions not in accordance with Policy 29. 

7-year trend 
 
Only two planning permissions in the first five years of the plan were not in accordance 
with Policy 29; one in 2014-15 and one in 2015.  
 
There have been no issues of non-compliance between 2016 and 2018.  
 

1. Development to provide recycling, recovery and/ or treatment of waste will 
be supported on suitable sites in the following locations: 

 
i. Urban areas in north-east and south Hampshire; 
ii. Areas along the strategic road corridors; and 
iii. Areas of major new or planned development. 
 
2. Any site in these locations will be considered suitable and supported where 

it: 
 
a. is part of a suitable industrial estate; or 
b. has permission or is allocated for general industry/ storage; or 
c. is previously-developed land or redundant agricultural and forestry buildings, 

their curtilages and hardstandings or is part of an active quarry or landfill 
operation; or 

d. is within or adjoins sewage treatment works and the development enables 
the co-treatment of sewage sludge with other wastes; and 

e. is of a scale compatible with the setting. 
 
3. Development in other locations will be supported where it is demonstrated 

that: 
 
a. the site has good transport connections to sources of and/or markets for the 

type of waste being managed; and 
b. a special need for that location and the suitability of the site can be justified. 

Page 156



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 59 
 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
Two relevant planning permissions have been granted contrary to Policy 29 during the 
first 7-year plan period.   
 

Amber 

 

Page 157



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 60 
 

Policy 30: Construction, demolition and excavation waste 
development 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Amount of high quality recycled and secondary aggregate production. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Once 1mtpa production reached, production of high quality recycled and secondary 
aggregate production decreases below 1mtpa (Breach of benchmark over two 
successive years). 

7-year trend  

 

 

500,000

750,000

1,000,000

1,250,000

1,500,000

1,750,000

2,000,000

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Amount of high quality recycled and secondary aggregate production (tonnes)

Target

Where there is a beneficial outcome from the use of inert construction, 
demolition and excavation waste in developments, such as the restoration of 
mineral workings, landfill engineering, civil engineering and other infrastructure 
projects, the use will be supported provided that as far as reasonably 
practicable all materials capable of producing high quality recycled aggregates 
have been removed for recycling. 
 
Development to maximise the recovery of construction, demolition and 
excavation waste to produce at least 1mtpa of high quality recycled/secondary 
aggregates will be supported. 

 

Page 158



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 61 
 

This indicator shows the four broad classifications for beneficial uses of inert waste. 
Overall, the amount of inert waste put to beneficial uses has reduced by 19.7% from 
1.32 million tonnes (mt) in 2017 to 1.06mt in 2018:  

- Recycled: 0.72mt  
- Recovered: 338 thousand tonnes (kt)  
- Reclamation: 0kt  
- Construction: 0kt  

 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
Production of recycled and secondary aggregate has not decreased below 1mtpa 
however has decreased steadily for four successive years and the current trend 
suggests that production could fall below the 1mpta in the next year.   
 

Amber 

 

Page 159



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 62 
 

Policy 31: Liquid waste and waste water management 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Number of and capacity of Waste Water Treatment Works (WWTW) with co-disposal 
of liquid wastes and/or biogas recovery. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Decrease in number of WWTW and/or capacity for co-disposal of liquid wastes and/or 
biogas recovery (Breach of benchmark over two successive years). 

Proposals for liquid waste management will be supported, in the case of waste 
water or sewage treatment plants where: 
 
a. there is a clearly demonstrated need to provide additional capacity via 
extensions or upgrades for waste water treatment, particularly in planned areas 
of major new development; and 
b. they do not breach either relevant ‘no deterioration’ objectives or 
environmental quality standards; and 
c. where possible (subject to relevant regulations), they make provision for the 
beneficial co-treatment of sewage with other wastes and biogas is recovered 
for use as an energy source in accordance with Policy 28 (Energy recovery 
development); 
 
and in the case of other liquid waste treatment plants: 
 
d. they contribute to the treatment and disposal of oil and oil/water mixes and 
leachate as near as possible to its source, where applicable. 

 

Page 160



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 63 
 

7-year trend  

 

Figure only records capacity of those WWTW with co-disposal capability. Please note 
that this capacity is also included in the capacity reported for the Policy 28 monitoring 
indicator. 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
The number of sites and capacity has not decreased during the 7-year period, but the 
biogas capacity has increased in 2017/2018. 
 

Green 

2.2

2.9

3.6

4.3

5

5.7

0

1

2

3

4

5

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

M
W

Si
te

s
Sites Megawatts (MW)

Page 161



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 64 
 

Policy 32: Non-hazardous waste landfill 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Development for landfill capacity necessary to deal with Hampshire’s non-
hazardous residual waste to 2030 will be supported. 
 
Non-hazardous landfill capacity will be provided and supported in accordance 
with the following priority order: 
 
1. the use of remaining permitted capacity at existing landfill sites: 
 
i. Blue Haze landfill, near Ringwood 
ii. Squabb Wood landfill, near Romsey 
iii. Pound Bottom landfill, Redlynch 
 
2. proposals for additional capacity at the following existing site provided the 

proposals address the relevant development considerations outlined in 
'Appendix A – Site allocations': 
 

i. Squabb Wood landfill, near Romsey (Inset Map 8) 
 
3. in the event that further capacity is required, or if any other shortfall arises for 

additional capacity for the disposal of non-hazardous waste, the need may be 
met at the following reserve area, provided any proposal addresses the 
relevant development considerations outlined in 'Appendix A - Site 
allocations': 
 

i. Purple Haze, near Ringwood (Inset Map 12) 
 
4. proposals for additional capacity at any other suitable site where: 
 
a. there is a demonstrated need for non-hazardous landfill and where no 

acceptable alternative form of waste management further up the waste 
hierarchy can be made available to meet the need; and 

b. there is an existing landfill or un-restored mineral void, except where this 
would lead to unacceptable continuation, concentration or increase in 
environmental or amenity impacts in a local area or prolong any impacts 
associated with the existing development; and 

c. the site is not located within or near an urban area, (e.g. using suitable 
guideline stand-offs from the Environment Agency); and 

d. the site does not affect a Principal Aquifer and is outside Groundwater 
Protection and Flood Risk Zones; and 

e. through restoration proposals, will lead to improvement in land quality, 
biodiversity or public enjoyment of the land; and 

f. the site provides for landfill gas collection and energy recovery. 

Page 162



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 65 
 

Monitoring indicator 
 
Lifetime of Landfill capacity void. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Lifetime of Landfill capacity void drops below four years. 
 
7-year trend  

 

Landfill capacity as of 31.12.18 based upon averaged annual inputs as recorded by 
the Environment Agency and voids as reported by the operators.  
 
In 2017, no more waste was accepted at Squabb Wood and in May 2018 Pound 
Bottom10 ceased landfilling operations, both sites are now in restoration.  
 
Based on data from the Environment Agency's Waste Data Interrogator, the amount of 
non-hazardous waste received at Hampshire's operating non-hazardous landfills (Blue 
Haze and Pound Bottom (Pre May 2018)) was 110,113 (169,066) tonnes, of which 
65% (62%) came from Hampshire. Around 168,036 (177,687) tonnes of household, 
industrial and commercial waste received in non-Hampshire landfills came from 
Hampshire. At the same time, around 38,197 (63,801) tonnes of waste from other 
authorities was received at landfills in Hampshire. 
 
The recent increase in lifetime of landfill capacity is due to the reduced quantities being 
accepted at Blue Haze. 
 

 
10 The Pound Bottom landfill is within the Wiltshire administrative boundary, however as the HMWP applies to 
the whole New Forest National Park it is monitored here. Due to this, other figures from the EA on 
Hampshire's waste may not include Pound Bottom 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Lifetime of landfill capacity void (years) Target

Page 163



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 66 
 

RAG Monitoring status 
 
The lifetime of landfill capacity has been below four years since 2015. 
 

Red 

 

Page 164



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 67 
 

Policy 33: Hazardous and Low Level Radioactive Waste 
development 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monitoring indicator 
 
Amount of hazardous waste management arisings and capacity. 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Hazardous waste management capacity is higher than estimated arisings. 

7-year trend  

 

 

 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015 2016 2017 2018

Hazardous waste arisings (tpa)
Hazardous waste capacity (tpa)
Deposits (tonnes)

Developments to provide sufficient capacity necessary to deal with hazardous 
and Low Level Radioactive Waste will be supported, subject to: 
 
a. no acceptable alternative form of waste management further up the waste 

hierarchy can be made available, or is being planned closer to the source of 
the residues; or 

b. in the case of landfill, it will be for material that is a proven unavoidable 
residue from a waste management activity further up the waste hierarchy 
and; 

c. it will contribute to the management of hazardous or radioactive waste that 
arises in Hampshire (accepting cross-boundary flows). 

Page 165



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 68 
 

Arisings in 2018 (2017) were 146,302 (135,100) tonnes. Deposits were 110,386 
(93,900) tonnes. Capacity remains at 232,000 tonnes per annum. 
 
Data on arisings from Hampshire and deposits in Hampshire is from the Environment 
Agency's Hazardous Waste Data Interrogator. 
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
The hazardous waste management capacity has been maintained above the level of 
arisings during the 7-year period.  
 

Green 

 

Page 166



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 69 
 

Policy 34: Safeguarding potential minerals and waste wharf and 
rail depot infrastructure 
 
Policy wording  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring indicator 
 
Planning permissions granted contrary to advice of the Minerals Planning Authority 
(MPA) / Waste Planning Authority (WPA). 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 
Number of planning permissions granted contrary to advice of the MPA/WPA = 0. 

7-year trend 

There was only one occurrence in the first five years of the Plan where a planning 
permission was granted in a safeguarded area contrary to MPA advice (application 
14/00865/OUT, Land at Chapel Hill, Kingsclere, Basingstoke was permitted affecting 
Basingstoke Sidings). However, this has been specifically safeguarded through Policy 
16 and therefore, should not be considered under Policy 34. There have been issues 
of non-compliance between 2016 and 2018.  
 
RAG Monitoring status 
 
There has been one occurrence of planning permission being granted within a 
safeguarded area contrary to the MPA/WPA advice.  However, this site is not 
considered under Policy 34.  
 

Green  

 

The following areas are safeguarded, so that their appropriateness for use as a 
minerals or waste wharf or rail depot can be considered, if they become 
available or are released from their current uses: 
 
i. land located to the north west of Hythe identified in the Port of Southampton 

Master Plan; and 
ii. land identified in the Southampton Core Strategy as operational port land; 

and 
iii. Marchwood Military Port (also known as Marchwood Sea Mounting Centre); 

and 
iv. land at HM Naval Base and commercial port as identified in the Portsmouth 

Core Strategy for port and employment uses; and 
v. existing and former railway siding and other land that could be rail linked. 
 
The locations identified for safeguarding are shown on the Policies Map. 

Page 167



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 70 
 

Summary of Monitoring status  

Policy Number & Title 
RAG status 

2020 2018 

Policy 1: Sustainable minerals & waste development Green Green 

Policy 2: Climate change –mitigation and adaptation Green Green 

Policy 3: Protection of habitats and species Green Green 

Policy 4: Protection of the designated landscape Green Green 

Policy 5: Protection of the countryside Amber Amber 

Policy 6: South West Hampshire Green Belt Green Green 

Policy 7: Conserving the historic environment and 
heritage assets 

Green Green 

Policy 8: Protection of soils Green Green 

Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and waste sites Green Green 

Policy 10: Protecting public health, safety and amenity Green Green 

Policy 11: Flood risk and prevention Green Green 

Policy 12: Managing traffic Green Green 

Policy 13: High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development 

Green Green 

Policy 14: Community Benefits Red Red 

Policy 15: Safeguarding - mineral resources Amber Amber 

Policy 16: Safeguarding – minerals infrastructure Green Green 

Policy 17: Aggregate supply - capacity and source Amber Red 

Policy 18: Recycled and secondary aggregates 
development 

Amber Amber 

Policy 19: Aggregate wharves and rail depots Red Red 

Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates Red Red 

Policy 21: Silica sand development Red Red 

Policy 22: Brick-making clay Red Red 

Policy 23: Chalk Development Amber Amber 

Policy 24: Oil and gas Development Green Green 

Policy 25: Sustainable waste management Amber Amber 

Policy 26: Safeguarding – waste infrastructure Green Green 

Policy 27: Capacity for waste management development Green Green 

Policy 28: Energy recovery development Amber Amber 

Policy 29: Locations and sites for waste management Amber Amber 

Policy 30: Construction, demolition and excavation 
waste development 

Amber Green 

Page 168



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 71 
 

Policy 31: Liquid waste and waste water management Green Green 

Policy 32: Non-hazardous waste landfill Red Red 

Policy 33: Hazardous and low level waste development Green Green 

Policy 34: Safeguarding potential minerals and waste 
wharf and rail depot infrastructure 

Green Green 

Page 169



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 72 
 

3. Issues requiring review  
 
3.1 This section explores in more detail the issues identified through the Monitoring 

Reports (MRs) and those policies given an ‘Amber’ Monitoring status.   
 

3.2 Consideration is given to the circumstances around the short-term breaches that may 
have occurred or the trends that have raised an issue with delivery.   

 
3.3 Where comments have been raised by Plan practitioners (namely Development 

Management or Policy officers) on the implementation of the relevant policy these are 
also outlined.  

 
3.4 A RAG (Red, Amber, Green) Review status and review update requirement is provided 

for each policy and is determined as follows: 

Review shows that the policy does not 
need to be updated.  

Green 

Review shows that the policy does need 
to be updated with additional allocations, 
where possible.  

Amber 

Review shows that the policy 
requirements need to be updated.   

Red 

 
 

 

Page 170



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 73 
 

Protection of countryside (Policy 5) 
 

3.5 One planning permission has been granted in the countryside that was contrary to 
policy over the last seven years (2015).   
 

3.6 This was planning application 14/01791/CMA at Stapeley Manor Farm. As the 
application was a Certificate for Lawful Use (CLU) it is not subject to the same process 
as a full planning application. Instead the planning authority has to decide whether 
there is sufficient evidence that the development has been present without issue for a 
certain amount of time. As the development already exists and the CLU simply 
acknowledges and regularises this fact, there is no opportunity to attach conditions. 
This process is set out in national legislation and there is no scope to alter it at a local 
level. 

 

Relevant national policy updates  
 
3.7 There are no policy updates that have been identified relevant to protection of the 

countryside.  
 

Should this issue be addressed? 
 

3.8 Taking into account the single circumstances in which an application was granted 
contrary to policy, it is not considered that the issue needs to be addressed through an 
update of the Plan. 
 
RAG Review status 

 
3.9 The wording of the policy does not need to be updated.  

 

Green  

Page 171



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 74 
 

Safeguarding: Mineral resources (Policy 15) 
 

3.10 A total of seven applications have resulted in sterilisation of the Mineral Safeguarding 
Area (a total of 33.6 hectares of land). In each case, the relevant Mineral Planning 
Authority (MPA) was consulted and submitted its concerns. 
 

3.11 Subsequent decisions undertaken by the Local Planning Authority were beyond the 
control of the MPA. 

 
3.12 In February 2016, a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on Minerals & Waste 

Safeguarding11 was adopted by Hampshire County Council, the New Forest National 
Park Authority and Portsmouth and Southampton City Councils to assist the 
implementation of the safeguarding policies set out in the HMWP. Six of the seven 
applications that resulted in sterilisation of the Mineral Safeguarding Area were 
validated after the adoption of the Supplementary Planning Document.   

 
3.13 Engagement is on-going with Districts and Boroughs to raise awareness of 

safeguarding including raising awareness of the SPD. Two of the applications were in 
the New Forest District and three were in the borough of Eastleigh. The Council has 
worked closely with both authorities to ensure safeguarding considerations are 
outlined in their Local Plans, which once adopted, should enable early engagement on 
safeguarding issues on sites allocated for development.   

 
3.14 Whilst there has been some sterilisation of resources, the MPAs have also 

experienced some success in facilitating prior extraction and enabling subsequent 
development. An example of this is the Whitehill & Bordon relief road12 the proposed 
route of which was within the Mineral Safeguarding Area. Where levelling of ground 
levels and drainage works have taken place as part of the development, the extracted 
mineral resources have been taken to a local operator and incorporated into the 
mineral supply. 

Relevant national policy updates 
 
3.15 Hampshire County Council worked alongside a selection of other Mineral Planning 

Authorities, the Minerals Product Association and the Planning Officers Society to 
update the guidance on mineral safeguarding13. Whilst it is recognised this is not 
government policy, it is the leading national guidance on mineral safeguarding.    
 

Should this issue be addressed? 
 

 
11 Minerals & Waste Safeguarding in Hampshire – Supplementary Planning Document (2016) - 
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-
strategic/HMWPMineralsandWasteSafeguardinginHampshireSPDFinalFeb2016.pdf  
12 Relief Road (Hybrid) Application: https://planningpublicaccess.easthants.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_EHANT_DCAPR_234061 
13 MPA/POS Minerals Safeguarding Guidance (2019) - 
https://www.mineralproducts.org/documents/MPA_POS_Minerals_Safeguarding_Guidance_Document.pdf 

Page 172



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 75 
 

3.16 Whilst there have been incidents of sterilisation, the Mineral Planning Authorities are 
continuing to work proactively to implement the policies and it is not considered that 
changes are required to the existing policy. Therefore, it is considered that this issue 
does not need to be addressed through an update of the Plan. However, the Plan 
would benefit from reference to the SPDs to increase awareness.  

 
RAG Review status 

 
3.17 The wording of the policy does not need to be updated.  

 

Green  

Page 173



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 76 
 

Aggregate supply – capacity and resource (Policy 17) 
 

3.18 Although Policy 17 states that an adequate and steady supply of sand and gravel will 
be provided for Hampshire until 2030 at a rate of 1.56 million tonnes per annum 
(mtpa), the delivery of this landbank provision falls to Policy 20 (Local land-won 
aggregates) which enables the development to meet this requirement. Therefore, this 
issue is reviewed in ‘Local land-won aggregate (Policy 20)).  
 

3.19 Whilst the maintenance of the landbank is monitored through Policy 20, the rate by 
which this is calculated – 1.56 mtpa of sand and gravel – is set out in Policy 17.  When 
the HMWP was prepared, the ‘apportionment’ figure was based on an average figure 
of 10-years land-won aggregate sales. Sales during this period (2001-2010) peaked in 
2001 at 2.29 mtpa of land-won aggregate but then showed a steady decline.  
 

3.20 Table 2 shows the 10-year (yr) average (Av.) sales in 2018 for the period 2009-2018.  
This also shows general steady decline in sales from 2009, until 2012 where sales 
have gradually risen year on year. Both the 10-year and 3-year averages are 
significantly below the 1.56 mtpa of which 0.28 mtpa should be soft sand.  

 
Table 2: 10-year average sales in million tonnes per annum 2009-2018 

Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Last 
3-yr 
Av. 

Last 
10-yr 
Av. 

Soft 
sand 
sales 

0.1 0.14 0.12 0.16 0.12 0.11 0.12 0.2 0.23 0.23 0.15 0.22 

Sharp 
sand & 
gravel 
sales 

0.95 0.84 0.71 0.58 0.73 0.78 0.71 0.75 0.73 0.96 0.77 0.81 

Total 1.05 0.98 0.83 0.75 0.85 0.88 0.83 0.95 0.96 1.18 0.93 1.03 
 

  
3.21 Mineral Planning Authorities are required through the NPPF to produce annual Local 

Aggregate Assessments14 (LAA).  The LAA reports on the landbank.  In the Hampshire 
LAA15, this has historically been calculated using the ‘Local Requirement’ (the 1.56 
mpta apportionment). However, guidance16 on preparing LAAs was agreed by the 
South East England Aggregate Working Party in 2019 which specifies that the LAA 
rate should be calculated taking into account a number of factors: 

 Average of 10-years of aggregates sales data 

 
14NPPF (Para. 207) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733637/
National_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf  
15 Hampshire Local Aggregate Assessment - 
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/2017LocalAggregateAssessment.pdf 
16 SEEAWP Supplementary Local Aggregate Assessment Guidance (July 2019) - 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/see-awp/SEEAWP-SuppLAAGuidance-July2019.pdf 

Page 174



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 77 
 

 Average of 3-years of aggregates sales data; 
 Economic forecasts;  
 Population, housing and capital programme growth and;  
 Major Infrastructure projects.  

 
3.22 Taking these factors into account, the 2018 LAA Rate17 was established as 0.92mpta 

for sand and gravel (compared to the 1.28Mt Local requirement) and 0.23Mt for soft 
sand (compared to 0.28mtpa Local requirement).  
  

3.23 The NPPF requires a landbank of at least 7 years18 of permissions. A landbank 
calculated using the Local Requirement rate of 1.56 mtpa provides a lower landbank 
than those calculated based on the 2018 LAA rate and the 10- or 3-year averages as 
the figure is significantly higher (see Table 3). 

Table 3: Sand and gravel landbank provision in 2018 

 Permitted 
Reserve  

Landbank 
based upon 

Local 
Requirement 

Landbank 
based upon 
2018 LAA 

Rate 

Landbank 
based upon 

10-yr Av. 
sales 

between  
2009-2018 

Landbank 
based upon  

3-yr Av. 
sales 

between  
2016-2018 

Landbank 
based 

upon 2018 
sales 

Million tonnes Years 
Soft sand 
 

0.634 2.26 2.76 4.14 2.88 2.76 

Sharp 
sand & 
gravel 

8.433 6.59 9.17 10.90 10.54 8.78 

Total 
 

9.067 5.81 7.88 9.75 8.80 7.68 

 
3.24 Whilst Policy 17 states a provision of 1.56 mtpa of sand and gravel, this was a point in 

time and could be argued to no longer be relevant. As the requirement within the 
NPPF is for at least 7 years, using this Local Requirement rate has the impact of 
reducing the landbank which may not reflect the current market conditions.   

 
3.25 Tables 2 and 3 highlights that the provision of soft sand does not meet the required 

0.28 mtpa as specified by Policy 17. Soft sand supply is recognised as a regional issue 
and is a regular item of discussion at the South East England Aggregate Working 
Party meetings19.  

 
3.26 A number of Mineral Planning Authorities in the South East have soft sand resources 

that are constrained by designations such as Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 
17 Hampshire 2019 Local Aggregate Assessment  - 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/2019LocalAggregateAssessment.pdf 
18 NPPF (Para. 207) 
19  SEEAWP Minutes - https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/seeawp/seeawpdocuments 

Page 175



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 78 
 

(AONB) or National Park. National Policy states that ‘as far as practical’ landbanks 
should be maintained by minerals from ‘outside’ National Parks and AONBs20.   

 
3.27 Mineral Planning Authorities in the South East have prepared a Position Statement on 

Soft Sand which sets out the existing supply situation, relevant national and local 
policy and the issues regarding supply. This Position Statement will then form the 
basis of Statements of Common Ground between Authorities.   

 
3.28 As with sharp sand and gravel, the sales averages in Table 2 suggest that the 0.28 

mtpa is higher than the actual demand level in Hampshire. The application of all the 
rates all result in a landbank lower than the required 7 years which also suggests there 
is insufficient permitted reserves (sites).    

 
3.29 The remaining part of Policy 17 seeks to safeguard and develop infrastructure to 

ensure aggregates can be provided at specific rates: 1 mtpa of recycled and 
secondary aggregate; 2 mtpa of marine-won aggregate; and 1 mtpa of limestone by 
rail.  

 
3.30 Monitoring seeks to ensure there is no significant reduction (more than 556,000 

tonnes) in capacity for aggregate production as well as a reduction in land-won sales.  
 
3.31 The Monitoring data shows that the sales of land-won aggregate have increased 

significantly from 2016. There was also a significant reduction in aggregate production 
capacity in 2016 but this appears to be making a steady recovery. However, this still 
indicates that there is not sufficient capacity to meet demand.  

 
3.32 The review of Policies 18 (see ‘Recycled and secondary aggregates development’) 

and Policy 30 (see ‘Construction, demolition and excavation waste development) show 
that capacity provision remains above 1 mtpa but that capacity remains unsteady.  

 
3.33 The provision of marine-won aggregate is generally determined by wharf capacity 

which is where marine-won aggregate is landed. Policy 19 considers capacity of 
wharves and rail depots in more detail (see ‘Aggregate wharves and rail depots’ 
(Policy 19)). However, the monitoring data shows decreasing wharf capacity since 
2016.   

 
3.34 It should be noted that in 2016, capacity was surveyed for the first time through the 

Aggregate Monitoring (AM) survey. Prior to receipt of this data, capacity had been 
judged on the highest level of sales in previous years. It is recognised that 
circumstances may change at sites over time which can impact on capacity and it is 
believe this is what has resulted in the reduction of capacity. Although the recent drop 
in capacity in 2018 suggests this is not the only reason.   

 

 
20 NPPF (2018) (Para. 205) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733637/
National_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf   
 

Page 176



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 79 
 

3.35 In addition, Tipner Wharf in Portsmouth has now been redeveloped. This regeneration 
proposal was recognised in the HMWP and therefore, the site was not safeguarded.   
 

3.36 It should also be noted that an application was submitted to extend Kendalls Wharf in 
Portsmouth21. However, this application has stalled as the proposed compensation 
measures have not been approved by Natural England.  

 
3.37 In relation to rail depots, capacity was also surveyed through the AM survey in 2016.  

This concluded that a 1 mtpa capacity remained at the existing rail depots. No new rail 
depot proposals have come forward in the last 5 years, but capacity increased slightly 
in 2018.   

 
3.38 The monitoring trigger for Policy 17 is a reduction of 556,000 tonnes in capacity. The 

556,000 tonnes are a 10% reduction of the total aggregate capacity (including land-
won). The most significant lack in capacity is at wharves and land-won sites (see Table 
4). However, the ability to deliver the required land-won capacity is driven by Policy 20. 

Table 4: Aggregate supply capacity in 2018 

  

Target rate 
 

Sales Capacity % Sales / 
Production 

mtpa Mt % 

Land-won 
Aggregate 

1.56 1.18 1.875 63% 

Soft Sand 0.28 0.23 0.637 36% 

Sharp Sand and 
Gravel 

1.28 0.96 1.237 78% 

R/S sites 1.0 0.72 2.368 30% 

Wharves* 2.0 1.45 1.547* 94%* 

Rail Depots 1.0 0.68 1.2 57% 

Footnotes 
Source: Aggregate Monitoring Survey, 2018. Please note that capacity data collection is still in the early 
stages, and as such, results should be treated with caution. Where capacity data has not been made 
available sales have been used. *Wharf Capacity Data is based upon sales 

 
Relevant national policy updates 

 
3.39 In 2017, the white paper ‘Fixing our broken housing market’22 was published which set 

out a broad range of reforms that the government intends to introduce to help reform 
the housing market and increase the supply of new homes. The paper states that 
225,000 to 275,000 or more homes per year are required to keep up with population 
growth and tackle under supply. The paper also recognises that development of 
communities is also required which does not just mean building homes but also roads, 
rail links, schools, shops, GP surgeries etc.  

 
21 Kendalls Wharf Application - http://publicaccess.portsmouth.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=OWVWPNMOHRB00&activeTab=summary 
22 Fixing our broken housing market (2017) -  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/590463/
Fixing_our_broken_housing_market_-_accessible_version.pdf 

Page 177



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 80 
 

 
3.40 In August 2020, the Government published ‘Planning for the future’23 which sets out its 

proposals for planning reform. The consultation closes in October 2020, but the paper 
seeks to address the significant shortfall in new housing delivery.  

 
3.41 The Minerals Product Association reports that the construction of a typical home 

requires 12 tonnes of mortar and 200 tonnes of aggregate, school requires 15,000 
tonnes of concrete and a community hospital would require 53,000 tonnes of 
concrete24. These figures highlight the need for a steady and adequate supply of 
aggregate to support the governments drive for delivering homes and infrastructure.  

 
3.42 Whilst not policy, the recent national pandemic is recognised as having an impact on 

the aggregates industry. This is expressed clearly in the Minerals Products Association 
Press Release25:  

 
‘Sales volumes of ready-mixed concrete and aggregates (crushed rock and sand & 
gravel), two materials that are used across most types of construction work, declined 
by 5.7% and 4.0% respectively over the quarter. For ready-mixed concrete, this follows 
three consecutive years of market declines since 2017, as Brexit-related uncertainties 
put a brake on commercial construction work, notably for offices, whilst housebuilding 
slowed in the capital. Housing and the commercial sectors have also been significantly 
impacted by the COVID-19 lockdown, with most major housebuilders having closed 
sites throughout the last week of March and April, and office construction impacted by 
the collapse in business and consumer confidence. Simultaneously, mortar sales, 
which are primarily used in housebuilding, fell by a further 1.6% in the first quarter of 
2020, after a 7.9% fall at the end of last year. The trend in mortar sales volumes has 
been subdued over the past 18 months, a clear indication of the underlying 
weaknesses in housebuilding even before accounting for the impact of the COVID-19 
lockdown.’ 

 
Should this issue be addressed? 

 
3.43 Policy 17 states that provision of 1.56 mtpa of sand and gravel will be provided of 

which 0.28 mtpa will be soft sand. Whilst it is recognised that this Local Requirement 
rate no longer reflects the current market, it is not the determining factor in sand and 
gravel provision. The landbank is used to determine whether a steady and adequate 
supply of sand and gravel can be maintained. The provision of the landbank is met 
through the implementation of Policy 20.   

 

 
23 Planning for future (2020) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907647/
MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf 
24 Mineral Products Association: Facts at a Glance (2018) - http://www.mineralproducts.org/documents/Facts-
at-a-Glance-2018.pdf 
25 Mineral Productions Association: Press Release (5 May 2020) - https://mineralproducts.org/20- 
release15.htm 

Page 178



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 81 
 

3.44 The Government is seeking to increase the delivery of housing and infrastructure and 
whilst it could be argued the existing Local Requirement rate allows for an up lift in 
demand and maintenance of supply, the reality is that these rates have not been 
achieved to date and forecasts suggest that the impact of Brexit and the current 
national pandemic will have an impact on construction and therefore, aggregate 
demand. As such, it is considered that this issue does need to be addressed through 
an update of the Plan.   

 
3.45 In relation to capacity, it is recognised that there has been a reduction, and whilst this 

appears to be recovering, capacity at wharves continues to decline. The Policy seeks 
to maintain this level and is not a cap which would prevent further development. 
However, the Policy and its associated delivery policies26 may be able to encourage 
capacity through support for further development through allocation. As such, it is 
considered that this issue does need to be addressed through an update of the Plan.  

 
RAG Review status 

 
3.46 The rates of provision in the policy need to be addressed and updated to enable the 

right provision of mineral supply and reflect the provision outlined in associated 
policies. 
 

Red 

 
26 Policy 18: Recycled and secondary aggregate development, Policy 19: Aggregates wharves and depots, Policy 
20: Local land-won aggregates  

Page 179



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 82 
 

Recycled and secondary aggregate (Policy 18) 
 

3.47 During 2012 to 15 there was a steady increase in recycled and secondary aggregate 
production. There was a significant decrease in capacity between 2015/ 2016.  
However, the recovery in 2017/18 appears unsteady with a slight decline in 2018.  
 

3.48 These drops (in 2016 and 2018) do not indicate a year on year decrease. However, 
this threshold could be breached should a downwards trend continue from 2018. 

 
3.49 It should be noted that this policy also relates to Policy 30 (Construction, demolition 

and excavation waste development) which supports development to maximise the 
recovery of construction, demolition and excavation waste and seeks to maintain at 
least 1 million tonnes per annum (mtpa) of capacity. Whilst there has been a decline in 
capacity, the capacity requirement has been met. However, the current trend suggests 
that capacity could fall below 1mpta very soon.   

 
3.50 As capacity has been maintained but sales have declined, this suggests that there 

could be a change in the market in relation to recycled and secondary aggregates.   
 

3.51 Discussions with operators27 have highlighted that there could be further reduction in 
capacity as demand for housing increases and there is completion for sites with good 
transport connections. Issues have also been raised regarding the availability of good 
quality inert material for recycling. It is considered that this is impacted further on 
demolition sites where the use of crushers on-site means that material never enters 
the market.  

 
3.52 This will place greater emphasis on the safeguarding of minerals infrastructure to 

ensure that careful consideration is given to the potential loss of sites and the 
maintenance of capacity. 

Relevant national policy updates 
 
3.53 The government’s 25 Year Environment Plan (January 2018) includes the goal of zero 

avoidable waste by 2050 and to transition towards a circular economy. Specifically, 
this involves doubling resource efficiency and minimising environmental impacts at 
products’ end of life by; looking at the whole life-cycle to promote their recycling/reuse 
wherever possible.  
 

3.54 The Resources and waste strategy for England (2018) sets out how the ambitions of 
the 25 year Environment Plan can be realised in the sphere of waste and resource 
management. A variety of mechanisms are proposed including changes to waste 
collections, encouragements for implementing the waste hierarchy, introducing food 
waste targets and improving data collection. Some of these could have wide ranging 
implications on how waste is collected and managed. 

 
27 Source: Correspondence regarding safeguarding status of aggregate recycling site (2017). 

Page 180



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 83 
 

Should this issue be addressed? 
 

3.55 Whilst it is recognised that there has been a decline in sales of recycled and 
secondary aggregate, Policy 18 seeks to encourage this form of development 
recognising its importance in aggregate supply. The recent decline in sales may be 
due to market changes and this is something that cannot be influenced by the MPAs.  
However, due to the unsteady nature of capacity and possible future decline in 
capacity below 1mpta, it is considered that this issue does need to be addressed, 
through an update of the Plan.   
 
RAG Review status 

 
3.56 The issues behind the decline in capacity need to be explored and this will determine 

whether an update in the policy wording is required.   
 

Red 

 

Page 181



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 84 
 

Chalk (Policy 23) 
 

3.57 Chalk is a plentiful mineral in Hampshire and although there is now only limited 
demand, there are a number of existing and active extraction sites. 

 
3.58 The HMWP supports small-scale extraction of chalk which is defined as up to 25,000 

tonnes per annum. During the 7-year period, the amount extracted exceeded this level 
to a limited extent28 and has since returned to a level within the threshold.    

 
3.59 There are currently two permitted chalk sites in Hampshire at Manor Farm, Monk 

Sherborne and Somborne Chalk Quarry, Winchester. Permission was granted for a 
new chalk quarry at Monk Sherborne29 in 2018 to replace the existing Manor Farm 
quarry which is to be completed and restored by December 2021. The chalk will be 
extracted at the new quarry in Monk Sherborne at a rate not exceeding 25,000 tonnes 
per annum, a throughput similar to the operation at the existing site. 

 
3.60 Somborne Chalk Quarry, which has been worked since 1860 has recently been sold 

and is currently mothballed for chalk production. Without the recently permitted quarry, 
existing contractors would have had to source chalk from alternative sites, mainly 
outside the County, which was not considered sustainable. 

 
3.61 The chalk is extracted to provide agricultural lime. Information provided by the 

applicant for Manor Farm states that agricultural lime makes a significant difference to 
the productive potential of arable and grassland. It provides lime to the soil which 
improves soil aeration and helps to release soil nutrients. It contains calcium which is 
essential for plant development. It also restores the pH balance of acidic soils. It is a 
sustainable option for soil improvement. Specifically, it is natural product that optimises 
the plants ability to utilise major and trace nutrients more efficiently30. 

 
3.62 It is recognised that markets change over time and therefore, the demand for chalk 

may increase during the Plan period. Monitoring extraction allows this to be reviewed.   
 
Relevant national policy updates 

 
3.63 There are no policy updates that have been identified relevant to chalk extraction.  

 
Should this issue be addressed? 

 
3.64 It is considered that should the level of extraction increase significantly and for a 

prolonged period, this could suggest that the policy approach needs to be reviewed. 
 

 
28 Actual figure cannot be released due to commercial confidentiality.  
29 Chalk Quarry Application - https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=19053 
30 Regulatory Committee Report (July 2020) - 
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=19053 

Page 182



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 85 
 

3.65 Within 7 years, there is no clear evidence that the markets have shifted significantly to 
demonstrate a review of the current policy approach to chalk. It is considered that the 
existing policy sufficiently seeks to meet local demand. Therefore, it is considered that 
this issue does not need to be addressed through an update of the Plan.   
 
RAG Review status 

 
3.66 The wording of the policy does not need to be updated.  

 

Green  

Page 183



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 86 
 

Sustainable waste management (Policy 25) & Capacity for waste 
management (Policy 27) 

 
3.67 Policy 25 seeks to make provision to be made for the management of non-hazardous 

waste arising, based on the expectation that certain targets will be achieved by 2020: 
60% recycling; and 95% diversion from landfill.   

 
3.68 These targets sought to take into account the targets established by the revised Waste 

Framework Directive: 50% recycling of household (and similar non-hazardous) wastes; 
and 70% recovery of inert.  

 
3.69 At present, the trend for recycling non-hazardous waste has been declining since 

2014/15 to below 45% in 2018 which suggests that the Waste Framework Directive 
target will also not be met.  

 
3.70 The Plan does not include a monitoring indicator related to landfill diversion of non-

hazardous waste. However, Policy 25 covers this aspect of waste management as 
well. The amount of household and industrial waste removed from sites in Hampshire 
and going to landfill has been 13% in 2011, 12% in 2012, 9% in 2013, 8% in 2014, 
10% in 2015, 15% in 2016, 13% in 2017 and 13% in 2018. The recent increase of the 
percentage of waste going to landfill corresponds to the decrease in recycling rates 
and to a parallel increase in waste going to incinerators. It also corresponds with 
significant changes in household and industrial waste tonnages, with a high of 4 million 
tonnes in 2014 compared to 2.1 million tonnes in 2018. In fact, the amount of waste 
going to landfill has slowly been reducing from around 400,000 to less than 300,000 
tonnes, and it is the changes in the total waste have led to the differing percentages of 
waste going to landfill.  

 
3.71 The reduction of the amount of waste going to landfill also corresponds to a reduction 

the waste landfill capacity in Hampshire, indicative of a general trend that less waste is 
going to landfill and therefore less landfill capacity is needed. This is discussed further 
under Policy 32.  

 
3.72 Overall, it is difficult to assess the direction of travel of landfilled waste, however at no 

point has it yet reached the level of 95% that the Plan aims for. As additional recycling 
and recovery capacity has been delivered, whereas no new landfills have been 
provided, there is no indication that the Plan policies are not encouraging landfill 
diversion, even if the targets have not been reached. 

 
3.73 Policy 27 (Capacity for waste management development) outlines the minimum 

capacity requirements for making provision for dealing with waste arising within 
Hampshire up to 2030.  

 
3.74 The trigger for Policy 27 has not been met as there has been no net loss in waste 

management capacity. There are also monitoring indicators in place to track progress 
on waste management provision. These show that additional waste management 

Page 184



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 87 
 

capacity is being provided to meet projected demand, although there has been a 
greater level of recovery provision rather than recycling.   

 
3.75 Whilst the type of waste management provision is recovery rather than recycling, this 

provision is market driven which is something that the Waste Planning Authorities 
cannot influence. The required capacity levels in Policy 27 are also minimum amounts 
of provision.  

 
3.76 Campaigns to change behaviour of local residents to increase recycling rates have 

also been put in place by the plan-making Authorities and although these are hoped to 
influence the level of recycling, are not planning issues.  
 
Relevant national policy updates 

 
3.77 The government’s 25 Year Environment Plan (published January 2018) includes the 

goal of zero avoidable waste by 2050 and to transition towards a circular economy. 
Specifically, this involves doubling resource efficiency and minimising environmental 
impacts at products’ end of life by; looking at the whole life-cycle to promote their 
recycling/reuse wherever possible. 
 

3.78 The Resources and waste strategy for England (2018) sets out how the ambitions of 
the 25 Year Environment Plan can be realised in the sphere of waste and resource 
management. A variety of mechanisms are proposed including changes to waste 
collections, encouragements for implementing the waste hierarchy, introducing food 
waste targets and improving data collection. Some of these could have wide ranging 
implications on how waste is collected and managed, making planning for waste 
facilities more difficult. 

 
3.79 The goal of improving recycling rates is likely to be encumbered by China’s ban on 

imported plastics. The UK exports almost two-thirds of its waste to China and waste 
management companies lack the capacity in the UK to dispose of recyclable materials 
appropriately. Furthermore, there is uncertainty post-Brexit, regarding how the UK will 
design future targets in areas such as recycling and landfill. Specifically, whether the 
European Union’s Circular Economy Package (CEP) goals will be maintained, filtered 
or enhanced. Industry leaders are also uncertain whether sources of funding for 
companies that build more sustainable waste management facilities will be replaced. 
Additionally, the potential inability to export waste (particularly Refuse Derived Fuel) to 
the EU may impact on the profile of waste that needs to be disposed of within the UK. 

 
3.80 In March 2018, the Government approved plans for a bottle and can deposit scheme in 

attempt to reduce pollution and increase recycling rates.       
 

Should this issue be addressed? 
 

3.81 There is a lack of ability of Waste Planning Authorities to influence markets and due to 
the UK leaving the EU and recent Government announcements on waste, there is 

Page 185



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 88 
 

currently a high level of uncertainty over waste management provision requirements 
nationally.    

 
3.82 The monitoring of Policy 25 suggests that the recycling target of 60% by 2020 is 

unlikely to be met. However, while increased recycling rates are the aim, the policy 
itself relates to the provision of waste management capacity as this is what the WPA 
can influence. Policy 27 sets out the specific required provision of waste management 
and within the 5-year period, sufficient capacity has been delivered, albeit more 
focused on recovery than recycling.  

 
3.83 Policy 27 enables provision of waste management and as the requirements are set at 

a minimum, the policy is considered sufficiently flexible to allow additional waste 
management to be delivered, should this be required. The ability of the Policy to 
provide waste management has been monitored and is shown to be delivering 
capacity, however there may be ways to improve the ways waste is driven up the 
waste management hierarchy. Therefore, it is considered that this issue does need to 
be addressed through an update of the Plan.   

 
RAG Review status 

 
3.84 Whilst the policies are delivering the required level of capacity, the type of waste 

management could be better aligned with the waste hierarchy than is currently 
happening. It should be explored whether the policies (alone, in combination and/or in 
combination with other policies in the Plan) could do more to encourage driving waste 
up the waste hierarchy.  
 

Amber  

Page 186



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 89 
 

Energy recovery (Policy 28) 
 
3.85 During the 7 years, there was variability in the number of sites and energy produced 

from energy recovery developments. 2016 saw a significant increase in the amount of 
energy produced, potentially due to improved reporting from sites. 2018 saw a drop in 
sites, but a slight increase in production (as the sites lost had not been operational). A 
variety of waste sites produce energy including landfill sites, energy from waste 
facilities, waste water treatment works, combined heat and power and anaerobic 
digestion sites.  

 
3.86 Policy 27 (Capacity for waste management development) outlines the minimum 

capacity requirements for making provision for dealing with waste arising within 
Hampshire up to 2030. Monitoring of Policy 27 shows that whilst waste management 
provision is being made, more recovery development is being developed than 
recycling. It is worth noting that anaerobic digestion can be considered recycling under 
certain circumstances. Additionally, while non-hazardous landfill is not a preferred form 
of disposal, if it used, capturing the energy from leachate gases is the more 
sustainable option. Monitoring of Policy 28 suggests that, generally at a minimum, 
energy recovery development is producing electricity as the amount of energy 
produced is tracking the trend of the delivery of sites.      

 
3.87 Energy recovery helps to divert waste from landfill. However, despite the increase in 

energy recovery development, the amount of waste being diverted from landfill is not 
yet reaching the target of 95% (see Policy 25).  

 

Relevant national policy updates 
 
3.88 As part of their strategy to improve the management of residual waste, the 

Government have set out in their 25 Year Environment Plan31, aims to explore 
methods of cutting carbon dioxide emissions from Energy from Waste (EfW) facilities. 
These include managing the amount of plastics in the residual waste stream and also 
increasing the use of heat produced through better connections to heat networks. They 
are also looking at managing residual waste beyond electricity, in the production of 
biofuels.  
 

3.89 Improving energy efficiency to reduce emissions of air pollution and carbon is also a 
goal in the Government’s recent draft Clean Air Strategy, which will sit alongside the 
Environment Plan. 

 
3.90 The Resources and waste strategy (2018)32 has particular provisions for waste 

collection and food waste which may have further implications for recovery facilities 
and, in particular, anaerobic digestion.  

 
31 25 Year Environmental Plan (2017) - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-
plan 
32 Resource and waste strategy for England (2018) - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-
and-waste-strategy-for-england  

Page 187



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 90 
 

Should this issue be addressed? 
 

3.91 Although during the 7-year period, the provision of energy recovery development has 
been varied, monitoring data suggests that at a minimum, sites are producing 
electricity which can be considered renewable. Therefore, it is considered that this 
issue does not need to be addressed through an update of the Plan.   
 
RAG Review status 

 
3.92 The wording of the policy does not need to be updated.  

 

Green  

 
 

Page 188



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 91 
 

Locations and sites for waste management (Policy 29) 
 

3.93 During the 7-year period, two planning permissions have been permitted that are 
contrary to Policy 29.  
 

3.94 One of these permissions had the special circumstance of being very close to the 
waste produced33 and the other was a certificate of lawful use where it is a matter of 
regularising an existing use34. The exceptional nature of these permissions indicates 
that the problem was not the policy itself. 

 
3.95 Plan practitioners have raised concerns regarding the wording and definitions 

contained within Policy 29. In particular, the highway element of the policy which 
includes terms ‘good transport connections’ and ‘local’ were highlighted as presenting 
issues as the terminology is open to interpretation. Additionally, phrases such as 
‘special need’ and curtilage have previously encountered objections. This has led to 
difficulties where the policy is tested and placed under scrutiny.  
 
Relevant national policy updates 

 
3.96 There are no policy updates that have been identified relevant to the locational criteria 

for waste sites.  
 

Should this issue be addressed? 
 

3.97 During the 7 years, only two permissions have been granted contrary to Policy 29, 
both considered exceptions either due to a specific waste or the Certificate of Lawful 
Use permission process. Greater scrutiny has also shown that in some circumstances, 
the lack of clarity of the terminology used within the Policy has led to difficulties in 
implementation.   
 

3.98 It is recognised that the policy would benefit from clarification of these terms, but it is 
not considered necessary to update the Plan in order to make these improvements. 
Therefore, it is considered that this issue does not need to be addressed through an 
update of the Plan.  

 
RAG Review status 

 
3.99 The wording of the policy would benefit from clarification which should be kept under 

review.  
 

Amber 

 
33 Breamore Marsh, Breamore Estate Lane, Nr Fordingbridge SP6 2DF: 14/11272 
34 Stapeley Manor Farm, Long Lane, Odiham, Hook Hampshire RG29 1JE: 14/01791/CMA 

Page 189



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 92 
 

Construction, demolition and excavation waste development 
(Policy 30) 
 

3.100 Policy 30 aims to encourage beneficial uses for construction, demolition and 
excavation (CDE) waste. A considerable amount of CDE reuse and recycling 
happens on site or at exemption sites, in ways that are not part of the waste 
management regime. There may be a case for measuring sales of CDE and amounts 
used beneficially, however consideration would need to be given about the remit of 
the waste planning regime. The existing indicator may align better with Policy 18 
(Recycled and secondary aggregate development). 

 
Relevant national policy updates 

 
3.101 Nationally there has been a slight adjustment to which beneficial uses of inert 

material are considered recovery and which are classed as inert landfill. 
 

Should this issue be addressed? 
 

3.102 This policy needs to be viewed in combination with Policy 18 (Recycled and 
secondary aggregate development) to avoid repetition and to focus on the stated 
aims of the policy, namely, to promote beneficial outcomes for the use of inert CDE 
waste. 

 
3.103 Work has been ongoing at a regional level, through the South East Waste Planning 

Group, to improve understanding of beneficial uses of inert waste and this work 
should be incorporated in future updates of the policy. 

 
3.104 The current indicator shows a declining trend from a high of 2 million tonnes recycled 

and recovered inert waste in 2015, to just over 1 million tonnes in 2018. In addition to 
the need to explore the appropriateness of the indicator and the interactions with 
Policy 18, it is considered that this issue does need to be addressed through an 
update of the Plan.  

 
RAG Review status 

 
3.105 The wording of the policy would benefit from clarification on its purpose and more 

suitable monitoring and indicators to determine the extent of beneficial outcomes 
should be explored.  

 

Red 

Page 190



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 93 
 

Long-term safeguarding (Policy 34) 
 

3.106 During the 7-year period, there has only been one occurrence where a planning 
permission has been granted in a safeguarded area (application 14/00865/OUT, Land 
at Chapel Hill, Kingsclere, Basingstoke was permitted affecting Basingstoke Sidings). 

 
3.107 However, although the site is an ‘existing’ siding (as per (v) of Policy 34), the site is 

included in the HMWP as an allocation and therefore, is monitored under Policy 16 
(Safeguarding – minerals infrastructure).   
 

3.108 None of the listed areas in Policy 34 have been subject to safeguarding consultations.  
 

3.109 The Mineral Planning Authority continues to engage the Local Planning Authorities 
with regards to Safeguarding. In addition, a Minerals and Waste Safeguarding 
Supplementary Planning Document (adopted in February 2016) was produced to 
further assist ongoing engagement.  
 

Relevant national policy updates 
 
3.110 Although not National Policy, in 2016, the Port of Southampton Port Master Plan – 

Consultation Draft was published by Associated British Ports (ABP)35. The draft 
Master Plan covers 2016 to 2035 and outlines the proposals for the strategic land 
reserve at Dibden Bay.   

 
3.111 This area is referred to as “land located to the north west of Hythe” in part (i) of Policy 

34. As these expansion proposals are progressed by ABP, the draft Port Master Plan 
makes specific reference to Policy 34 of the HMWP (see para. 3.22).  

 
Should this issue be addressed? 

 
3.112 The permission granted contrary to safeguarding advice is not considered relevant to 

Policy 34 in this instance. The draft Port Master Plan produced by ABP does 
recognise the relevance of the HMWP and specifically Policy 34. Therefore, it is 
considered that this issue does not need to be addressed through an update of the 
Plan.   

 
RAG Review status 

 
3.113 The wording of the policy does not need to be updated.  

 

Green  

 
 

 
35Port of Southampton Port Master Plan 2016-2035: Consultation Draft (Associated British Ports, 2016) - 
http://www.southamptonvts.co.uk/admin/content/files/New%20capital%20projects/Master%20Plan%202016
/Master%20Plan%202016%20-%202035%20Consultation%20Document%20Oct%202016.pdf 

Page 191



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 94 
 

Summary of Review status 
Policy Number & Title RAG status 

Policy 5: Protection of the countryside Green 

Policy 15: Safeguarding - mineral resources Green 

Policy 17: Aggregate supply - capacity and source Red 

Policy 18: Recycled and secondary aggregates development Red 

Policy 23: Chalk Development Green 

Policy 25: Sustainable waste management Amber 

Policy 27: Capacity for waste management development  Amber 

Policy 28: Energy recovery development Green 

Policy 29: Locations and sites for waste management Amber 

Policy 30: Construction, demolition and excavation waste 
development 

Red 

Policy 34: Safeguarding potential minerals and waste wharf and rail 
depot infrastructure 

Green 

Page 192



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 95 
 

4. Issues to be reviewed and may need to be addressed  
 
4.1 This section explores in more detail the issues identified through the Monitoring 

Reports (MRs).   
 
4.2 Consideration is given to the circumstances around the short-term breaches that may 

have occurred or the trends that have raised an issue with delivery.   
 
4.3 Where comments have been raised by Plan practitioners (namely Development 

Management or Policy officers) on the implementation of the relevant policy these are 
also outlined.  

 
4.4 A RAG (Red, Amber, Green) Review status and review update requirement is provided 

for each policy and is determined as follows: 

Review shows that the policy does not 
need to be updated.  

Green 

Review shows that the policy does need 
to be updated with additional allocations, 
where possible.  

Amber 

Review shows that the policy 
requirements need to be updated.   

Red 

 

Page 193



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 96 
 

Community benefits (Policy 14) 
 

4.5 In the past seven years, no major applications have resulted in community benefits.  
Therefore, the percentage of applications is less than 50%.  
 

4.6 However, implementation of this policy has highlighted that it does not relate directly to 
work done by the Minerals or Waste Planning Authority (MWPA) as it refers to bilateral 
agreements that do not include the MWPA. The policy provides more of a position in 
support of these separate agreements.  

 
4.7 It is also difficult to monitor on an annual basis as such agreements can take time to 

be established and implemented and lie outside of the planning process. There is also 
no obligation for such agreements to be reported to the MWPA. 

Relevant national policy updates 
 
4.8 In 2016, the Government announced a community benefits funding scheme for host 

communities for shale gas - Shale Wealth Fund. In addition, the shale gas industry 
sets out its commitment to community engagement in its Charter. The Charter sets out 
what communities can expect from companies developing shale in their areas. This 
includes a commitment to a package for communities that host shale development 
which includes £100,000 in community benefits per well-site where fracking takes 
place (at exploration stage), 1% of revenues will be paid out to communities (at 
production). However, in November 2019, the Government placed a moratorium on 
fracking following the publication of scientific analysis which found that it is not 
currently possible to accurately predict the probability or magnitude of earthquakes 
linked to fracking operations. 

 

Should this issue be addressed? 
 

4.9 It is considered that this issue does need to be addressed through an update of the 
Plan. The Policy should be removed as the support for community engagement is 
already provided in the supporting text of Policy 1 (Para. 3.4).  

 
RAG Review status 

 
4.10 The Policy needs to be removed and further clarification provided in Para. 3.4.  

 

Red 

Page 194



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 97 
 

Aggregate wharves and rail depots (Policy 19) 
 
4.11 Policy 19 seeks to ensure that there is sufficient wharf and rail capacity for the 

importation of marine-won sand and gravel and other aggregates. Capacity is to be 
provided by existing sites, allocated sites and criteria for determining new proposals.  

 
4.12 The level of capacity of both wharves and depots during the 7-year period are 

declining with no significant change between 2015 and 2017. However, in 2018, rail 
depot capacity has increased slightly, and wharf capacity has declined further.   

 
4.13 In relation to wharves, the monitoring trigger is a reduction of more than 256,000 

tonnes per annum (10% of 2.56 mtpa). A significant reduction (350,000 tpa (top 
estimate)) occurred during 2014-2015 with the loss of Tipner Wharf which was 
considered unsuitable for wharf operations.   

 
4.14 It should be noted that from 2016, capacity has been surveyed through the Aggregate 

Monitoring (AM) survey. Prior to receipt of this data, capacity had been judged on the 
highest level of sales in previous years. It is recognised that circumstances may 
change at sites over time which can impact on capacity and it is believe this is what 
has resulted in the reduction of capacity. In addition, a poor response rate from the 
wharves in 2018 (1/6 return) may be the cause for the further decline in capacity, as 
sales figures were used where data was absent.  

 
4.15 Tipner Wharf in Portsmouth has now been redeveloped. This regeneration proposal 

was recognised in the HMWP and therefore, the site was not safeguarded. 
 
4.16 It should also be noted that an application was submitted to extend Kendalls Wharf in 

Portsmouth36. However, this application has stalled as the proposed compensation 
measures have not been approved by Natural England.    

 
4.17 No new wharf sites have been proposed. However, the safeguarded area ‘land located 

to the north west of Hythe’ (also known as Dibden Bay) has been included as a 
strategic land reserve in the Port of Southampton Port Master Plan – Consultation 
Draft which was published by Associated British Ports (ABP)37 in 2016. The draft 
Master Plan covers 2016 to 2035 and recognises that the strategic land reserve is 
safeguarded through Policy 34 (see ‘Safeguarding potential minerals and waste wharf 
and rail depot infrastructure’ (Policy 34). Should this proposal come forward, 
consideration will need to be given to the provision of a minerals (and possibly waste) 
wharf as part of the development. This could have wider implications for existing 
wharves in the Southampton area. Should the capacity be viewed as a replacement to 
existing wharf capacity, these sites may be viewed as potential waterside regeneration 
sites.   

 
36 Kendalls Wharf Application - http://publicaccess.portsmouth.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=OWVWPNMOHRB00&activeTab=summary 
37Port of Southampton Port Master Plan 2016-2035: Consultation Draft (Associated British Ports, 2016) -
http://www.southamptonvts.co.uk/admin/content/files/New%20capital%20projects/Master%20Plan%202016
/Master%20Plan%202016%20-%202035%20Consultation%20Document%20Oct%202016.pdf 

Page 195



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 98 
 

 
4.18 In relation to rail depots, the monitoring trigger is a reduction of more than 130,000 

tonnes per annum in capacity (10% of 1.3 mtpa). A significant reduction occurred 
during 2014-2015. As there was no change in the number of sites, it is assumed that 
this was due to changes to the operations on the site leading to reports of reduced 
capacity. In addition, in 2018, Kendall’s rail depots were taken over by Aggregate 
Industries. This may explain the change in capacity reported through the AM survey.  

 
4.19 There are two allocated aggregate rail depot sites in the HMWP: Basingstoke Sidings; 

and Micheldever Sidings. Whilst there has been some limited interest raised regarding 
Basingstoke Sidings in the 7-year period, no formal discussions have been held or 
applications submitted for either of the allocations.  

 
4.20 Micheldever Sidings has featured in previous plans but has not come forward for 

development.  
 

Relevant national policy updates 
 

4.21 In 2016, the Government announced a programme of development of railway stations 
and surrounding land to deliver homes and jobs to boost local growth38. Network Rail 
and the Homes and Communities Agency will work with local councils to identify 
development opportunities with the ambition of delivering 10,000 new homes. 
Proposals have already been drawn up in York, Taunton and Swindon to deliver 
housing and regeneration. In order to release land for regeneration, Network Rail will 
need to provide evidence to the Office of Rail and Road that the land is no longer 
required for the railway.  

 
4.22 The NPPF states that ‘significant development should be focused on locations which 

are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering 
genuine choice of transport modes’39.  

 
4.23 The drive for delivering homes and jobs at railway stations may create competition on 

land near railways. This may lead to an increase in pressure on safeguarding existing 
or allocated minerals and waste sites in these locations.  

 

Should this issue be addressed? 
 

4.24 Policy 19 supports aggregate wharf and rail depot development to ensure sufficient 
capacity to meet requirements and new wharf or rail depot development is supported 
through the criteria contained in Part 3 of Policy 19. However, further opportunities 
may be available.   
 

 
38 Government Press Release - https://www.gov.uk/government/news/regeneration-of-stations-set-to-deliver-
thousands-of-new-properties-and-jobs 
39 NPPF (Para. 103) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf 

Page 196



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 99 
 

4.25 Therefore, it is considered that this issue does need to be addressed by exploring 
further site options through an update of the Plan. However, the wording does not 
necessarily need to be updated as the existing policy makes provision for further 
development to address any shortfall in reserves.   
 
RAG Review status 

 
4.26 The wording of the policy does not need to be updated but site options should be 

explored through an update of the Plan. 
 

Amber 

 
 

Page 197



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 100 
 

Local land-won aggregate (Policy 20) 
 

4.27 Policy 20 seeks to maintain of the landbank for 7 years of permitted reserves of sand 
and gravel through: the extraction of remaining reserves at permitted sites as listed; 
extensions to specific sites listed; new listed sand and gravel allocations; and new 
proposals which meet the criteria in 20 (4).  
 

4.28 The landbank is monitored annually to ensure that sufficient supply is provided. The 
monitoring trigger is a breach of the 7 years over two years. The landbank dropped 
below the target in 2016 and has remained below the 7 years requirement (calculated 
against the Local Requirement rate). Therefore, the provision specified in the NPPF of 
at least seven years40 has not been met.        

 
4.29 Part 2 and 3 of Policy 20 outline specific sites which have been allocated as being 

suitable for development. Table 5 highlights the status of each of the allocations, as of 
September 2020.  
 
Table 5: HMWP Allocation status in 2018  
  

Site Proposal Permitted?  Other information 
Bleak Hill Quarry 
extension 
 

Sand & gravel 
extraction 

Yes41 
Subject to legal 
agreement 

Awaiting completion of 
legal agreement following 
determination at Regulatory 
Committee on 16 
September 2020. 

Bramshill Quarry 
extension 
 

Sand & gravel 
extraction 

No No response provided.  

Cutty Brow 
 

Sand & gravel 
extraction 

No Application not currently 
anticipated.  

Forest Lodge 
Home Farm 
 

Sand & gravel 
extraction 

Yes42 
   

Extraction commenced with 
completion of restoration 
expected by 11 July 2027.  

Hamble Airfield 
 

Sand & gravel 
extraction 

No Application expected mid 
2021  

Purple Haze Sand & gravel 
extraction and 
reserve landfill 

No EIA scoping received 17 
June 2020 and public 
engagement is being 
undertaken by the 
applicant. An application is 
expected in the near 
future43, early 2021. 

 
40 NPPF (Para. 207) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf  
41 Bleak Hill Quarry Application - https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=20535 
42 Forest Lodge Farm Application - https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=17774   
43 Source: Correspondence with David Jarvis Associates on behalf of the Somerley Estate (18/06/2018) 

Page 198



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 101 
 

Roeshot Sand & gravel 
extraction 

Yes44 
Subject to legal 
agreement 

Awaiting completion of 
legal agreement following 
determination at Regulatory 
Committee on 19 June 
2019.  

 
4.30 Policy 20 recognises that there is a shortfall in supply despite the allocated sites and 

this is expected to be met through unplanned opportunities. During the 7-year period, 
the opportunities in Table 6 have contributed to (or may) sand and gravel supply.  
 
Table 6: Unplanned opportunities  
 

Site Proposal Permitted Other information 
Kingsley Quarry 
Extension  
 

Soft sand and 
silica sand 
extraction  

Yes45 
 

Granted on 18 March 2020 
with completion of 
restoration expected by 18 
March 2031. 
Estimated 994,000 tonnes 
of silica sand.   

Downton Manor 
Farm Extension  
 

Sand & gravel 
extraction 

Yes46 
 

Granted on 18 April 2018 
with completion of 
restoration expected by 18 
April 2034.  
Extraction area extended 
by 18.4 ha. Estimated 
tonnage of 760,000 tonnes 
of sand and gravel, at an 
extraction rate of between 
70,000 – 150,000 tonnes 
per year.   

Roke Manor 
Farm Extension  

Sand & gravel 
extraction 

Yes 47 Granted on 11 October 
2018 Extraction area 
extended by 2.7 ha. 
Estimated tonnage of 
50,000 tonnes of sand and 
gravel.  

Frith End Quarry  
 

Importation of 
aggregate.  

Yes48 Importation, handling and 
re-sale of soft sand from 
Whitehill Bordon Relief 
Road scheme. Estimated 
tonnage of 0.048Mt.  

Five Oaks Farm Soft sand and 
restoration 

No. Application 
currently being 
determined, validated 
07 July 2020 

Up to 230,000 tonnes of 
soft sand with 435,000 
tonnes of infill. 

 

 
44 Roeshot Application - https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=17204 
45 Kingsley Quarry Extension Application - https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=19368 
46 Downton Manor Farm Extension Application - 
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=18645 
47  Roke Manor Farm Extension Application - 
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=18831 
48 Frith End Application - https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=19598 

Page 199



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 102 
 

4.31 Alongside the known opportunities outlined in Table 6, on-going discussions are taking 
place with the districts and boroughs regarding their proposed Local Plan housing 
allocations and opportunities for prior extraction including Eastleigh Borough Council 
and East Hampshire District Council. New Forest District Council recently adopted 
(July 2020) Part 1 (Planning Strategy) of its Local Plan. The Local Plan includes a 
number of sites within the Minerals Safeguarding Area and the Plan makes specific 
requirement for Mineral Resource Assessments. Opportunities to engage in further 
plan preparation with Hampshire’s other districts and boroughs will be sought as plan 
preparation commences. 

 
4.32 Whilst the landbank has been below the required 7 years since 2016, it should be 

noted that, permission was granted for Roeshot in 2019 (subject to legal agreement) 
therefore, this will increase the reserves for 2019 (3 million tonnes). Bleak Hill Quarry 
application (0.5 million tonnes) was submitted in 2019 and is yet to be determined.  
Applications are anticipated for Purple Haze (4.0 million tonnes) and Hamble Airfield 
(1.5 million tonnes) in 2021.    

 
4.33 Each of these proposals, should they all be approved, will have a positive impact on 

the landbank by increasing the permitted reserves. Although it should be noted that 
there can be delays to commencement of extraction and therefore, reserves elsewhere 
will be depleted prior to these proposals contribute to supply. It is also currently 
unknown what impact the current recession and exit from the European Union will 
have on construction supply and demand.  

 
4.34 Part 4 of Policy 20 seeks to support further development proposals to ensure the 

maintenance of the landbank provided they meet the criteria. Part 4 (a) requires a 
demonstration that the existing allocations cannot deliver the landbank and / or the 
proposal maximises an existing quarry. Part 4 (b) supports prior extraction, Part 4 (c) 
supports proposals for a beneficial use and Part 4 (d) supports proposals for a ‘specific 
local requirement’.   

 
4.35 The HMWP states that soft sand supply will be provided by remaining reserves and 

new allocated sites, including: 
a. Permitted sites: 

i. Blashford Quarry (including Plumley Wood / Nea Farm), Ringwood 
ii. Frith End Sand Quarry, Sleaford 
iii. Kingsley Quarry, Kingsley 

b. Allocated sites: 
i. Forest Lodge Home Farm, Hythe 
ii. Purple Haze, Ringwood Forest 

 
4.36 It should be noted that the Kingsley extension is for the supply of silica sand not soft 

sand and therefore, does not increase the landbank for soft sand.  
 

4.37 The Purple Haze is the last remaining soft sand allocation and would serve the south-
west Hampshire/Dorset/Christchurch market rather than the north Hampshire market 
(subject to permission).  
 

Page 200



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 103 
 

4.38 Within Hampshire, soft sand reserves are scarce and are concentrated in a small 
number of areas, in contrast to reserves of sharp sand and gravel which are more 
widely distributed.  

 
4.39 Soft sand is currently extracted in western Hampshire from Nea Farm (Plumley Wood) 

in Ringwood Forest and east Hampshire at Frith End and Kingsley. As with sharp sand 
and gravel sites, the soft sand sites supply all of Hampshire as well as some adjacent 
market areas.   

Relevant national policy updates 
 
4.40 Although not national policy, the Minerals Products Association published the UK 

Minerals Strategy in 201849. The Strategy seeks to highlight the link between the need 
for more housing and infrastructure and the supply chain of minerals that enables them 
to be delivered. It states that a demand in supply is likely to increase and that 
permitted reserves are declining and not replenishing at an equivalent rate to enable a 
steady supply. The Strategy also identifies that some local shortages of minerals are 
already evident including certain sands and this issue is likely to increase further.   
 

4.41 In relation to planning and regulation, the UK Strategy highlights that it can take up to 
15 years from identifying a potentially viable resource to securing planning permission.  
Therefore, the Strategy states that up-to-date development plans are required to 
provide certainty for operators to invest in development.  

Should this issue be addressed? 
 

4.42 The 2018 Local Aggregate Assessment reported that the local requirement landbank 
has been below 7 years since 2016. Whilst it is recognised that the applications have 
not yet been determined, there are applications (both for allocations and for unplanned 
opportunities) in the pipeline which indicates that Policy 20 is encouraging 
development to maintain the landbank.    
 

4.43 The promoters of most of the remaining allocations have suggested that these will 
come forward during the remaining life of the Plan. Policy 20 supports further 
proposals for new sites to meet the landbank should monitoring indicate that the sites 
listed within the Policy are unlikely to be delivered.  

 
4.44 Therefore, whilst the landbank for both sharp sand and gravel and soft sand are below 

the required 7 year minimum, the pipeline applications suggest that the policy is not 
preventing applications being forthcoming but is likely to be with the forecasted 
capacity requirements outlined in Policy 17 (Aggregate supply – capacity and source). 

 
4.45 The existing policy does seek to enable development to maintain the landbank. 

However, in addition to consideration of the required capacity, further opportunities for 
extraction should be explored to provide more certainty of supply for both soft sand 
and sharp sand and gravel.   

 
49 UK Minerals Strategy (2018) - http://www.mineralproducts.org/documents/UK_Minerals_Strategy.pdf 

Page 201



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 104 
 

 
4.46 Therefore, it is considered that this issue does need to be addressed by exploring 

further site options through an update of the Plan. However, the wording does not 
necessarily need to be updated as the existing policy makes provision for further 
development to address any shortfall in the landbank.   
 
RAG Review status 

 
4.47 The wording of the policy does not need to be updated but site options should be 

explored through an update of the Plan. 
 

Amber 

Page 202



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 105 
 

Silica sand (Policy 21) 
 

4.48 Silica sand, also known as industrial sand, is used by the construction industry (as a 
non-aggregate) for a range of specialist uses but also high value industrial applications 
such as glass and chemical manufacture, water filtration and recreational uses.  

 
4.49 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) identifies silica as a mineral of local 

and national importance50. Furthermore, the NPPF requires MPAs to plan for a steady 
and adequate supply of industrial minerals. This includes the provision of a stock of 
permitted reserves of at least 10 years for individual silica sand sites51.  

 
4.50 There are two permitted sand and gravel quarries in Hampshire which provide silica 

sand: Frith End Quarry and Kingsley Quarry. It is acknowledged that resources at 
Kingsley and Frith End have properties with silica sand uses. However, historical data 
identified the quarries as soft sand only.  

 
4.51 Data on silica sand has only been available since 2013. Due to confidentiality, sales 

data cannot be reported individually and therefore, a three-year average has been 
applied which shows a decrease in sales during this period. Based on the three-year 
average (2016-2018), collectively, the permitted reserves amounted to 3 years and 
based on 2018 sales was only 2.5 years. These figures fall significantly short of the 10 
years of permitted reserves at each site required by the NPPF.  

 
4.52 The resources at Frith End and Kingsley can be classed as soft sand or silica, any 

sales of the resources as non-aggregate (silica) depletes the soft sand reserves (see 
‘Aggregate supply – capacity and source’ (Policy 17)). However, it should be noted 
that although the resources can be classed as silica, the current use of the sand is not 
currently for industrial purposes. The main use of the silica sand at Kingsley is for 
sports surfaces52.    

 
4.53 The majority of resources which have silica sand properties in Hampshire are found 

either within or very close to the South Downs National Park. National Policy states 
that great weight should be given to National Parks and planning permission should be 
refused for major development except in exceptional circumstances53.  

 
4.54 In March 2020, permission was granted for an extension to Kingsley Quarry54 which 

falls just outside of the National Park. This permission provides 994,000 tonnes of 
silica sand.   

 

 
50 NPPF (Annex 2: Glossary) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf  
51 NPPF (Para. 208 (c))  
52Planning Statement (supporting Kingsley Quarry Extension Application (May 2018)  
53 NPPF (Para. 172)  
54 Application No: 51188/003 - https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=19368  

Page 203



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 106 
 

4.55 Applying the three-year average sales (which also includes Frith End and therefore, is 
assumed to be higher than the actual sales), the proposal increases the permitted 
reserves of the Kingsley site to over 10 years. However, the permitted reserves at Frith 
End would remain below 10 years.   

 
4.56 In 2017, a national silica sand group was established to meet the requirements of the 

NPPF which required ‘co-operating with neighbouring and more distant authorities to 
co-ordinate the planning of industrial minerals to ensure adequate provision is made to 
support their use in industrial and manufacturing processes’55. Hampshire County 
Council is an active member of this group.   

 

Relevant national policy updates 
 
4.57 No relevant policy updates.  

 
Should this issue be addressed? 

 
4.58 The existing policy does seek to enable development to maintain permitted reserves 

provided that ‘proposals do not have an unacceptable environmental or amenity 
impact either alone or in combination with other plans or projects’. However, further 
opportunities may be available.   
 

4.59 Therefore, it is considered that this issue does need to be addressed by exploring 
further site options through an update of the Plan. However, the wording does not 
necessarily need to be updated as the existing policy makes provision for further 
development to address any shortfall in reserves.   
 
RAG Review status 

 
4.60 The wording of the policy does not need to be updated but site options should be 

explored through an update of the Plan. 
 

Amber 

 
55 NPPF (Para. 208) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733637/
National_Planning_Policy_Framework_web_accessible_version.pdf 

Page 204



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 107 
 

Brick-making clay (Policy 22) 
 

4.61 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) identifies brick clay as a mineral of 
local and national importance56. Furthermore, the NPPF requires MPAs to plan for a 
steady and adequate supply of industrial minerals. This includes the provision of a 
stock of permitted reserves of at least 25 years57.  
 

4.62 Hampshire has two local brickworks: Michelmersh, near Romsey and Selborne in the 
South Downs National Park. These brickworks produce bricks from local brick-making 
clay, although only Michelmersh is currently operational.  

 
4.63 In 2014, permission was granted for the extension site allocated in the HMWP and 

extraction commenced in 2017. This led to a significant increase in permitted reserves.  
However, despite a relative improvement in permitted reserves in recent years, the 25 
years has not and will not be achieved.  

 
4.64 Selborne brickworks does not have a current operational clay reserve and there is no 

activity at this site.   
 

Relevant national policy updates 
 
4.65 The NPPF (2019) introduced a new criterion (208 (d)) in relation to the provision of 

brick clay for industrial purposes. The criteria states that Minerals Planning Authorities 
should ‘take account of the need for brick clay from a number of different sources to 
enable appropriate blends to be made’58.   

 
Should this issue be addressed? 

 
4.66 It is recognised that Michelmersh (and Selborne) do not currently collectively contain 

25 years permitted reserves. However, the permission at Michelmersh has increased 
the permitted reserves at this site significantly. It is considered unlikely, based on the 
work undertaken during the preparation of the HMWP, that further suitable resources 
are available in the locality of the brickworks.  
 

4.67 It is not anticipated that Selborne will operate as brickworks in the near future. Its 
potential to commence production within the Plan period is unknown and will depend 
on obtaining the relevant planning permissions.   

   
4.68 The existing policy does seek to enable development to maintain permitted reserves 

provided that the site allocations are not deliverable (the Michelmersh allocation is 
currently being delivered and there is no evidence to suggest that the Selborne 

 
56 NPPF (Annex 2: Glossary) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf  
57 NPPF (Para. 208 (c))  
58 NPPF (Para. 208 (d))  

Page 205



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 108 
 

allocation will be delivered in the near future) and that there is a ‘demonstrable need 
for the development’ and / or the ‘extraction of brick-making clay is incidental’.   

 
4.69 Whilst it could be argued that further allocations should be identified to provide 

certainty of supply at Michelmersh, work undertaken to support the HMWP highlighted 
that alternative site options in the area are limited due to availability of suitable 
resources. Policy 22 currently makes provision for the need for clay extraction outside 
of the sites identified and therefore, can enable the supply of brick clay from different 
sources should this be required for blending.  

 
4.70 Therefore, it is considered that this issue does need to be addressed by exploring 

further site options through an update of the Plan. However, the wording does not 
necessarily need to be updated as the existing policy makes provision for further 
development to address any shortfall in reserves.   
 
RAG Review status 

 
4.71 The wording of the policy does not need to be updated but site options should be 

explored through an update of the Plan. 
 

Amber 

Page 206



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 109 
 

Non-hazardous landfill (Policy 32) 
 
4.72 Policy 32 supports landfill development to enable the capacity necessary to deal with 

Hampshire’s waste to 2030. This is expected to be provided at: remaining permitted 
capacity at existing listed sites; additional capacity at listed sites; and additional 
capacity at other suitable sites that accord with the criteria.   

 
4.73 Whilst the majority (95%) of household waste is diverted from landfill, the remaining 

amount still needs to be landfilled. Therefore, sufficient landfill capacity is required to 
meet these needs in the near future. In the longer term, technological solutions may 
deliver an alternative treatment option.   

 
4.74 At the time the HMWP was prepared, it was estimated that there was 8 years of 

remaining capacity which would be exhausted by 2018/1959. In line with the absence of 
new provision of landfill there has been a declining trend in the lifetime of landfill 
capacity, with a low point in 2017 (2.4 years). In 2018 this increased to 3.7 years as 
reduced amounts of waste were received at the remaining landfill in Blue Haze.  

 
4.75 The lifetime of landfills is monitored annually to ensure that sufficient capacity is 

provided. The lifetime of landfill capacity dropped below 4 years in 2015 and has 
remained that way.  

 
4.76 In 2016, Squabb Wood Landfill closed earlier than anticipated and is currently being 

restored. Squabb Wood is listed in Policy 32 in Part 1 (ii) as an existing site to provide 
remaining capacity and Part 2 (i) as the site that could provide additional capacity. The 
closure of the site means that the proposed extension of this site will not be 
implemented. This has been confirmed by the operator. With the early closure of the 
landfill both the remaining capacity at the site and any additional capacity that could 
have been provided have been lost.    

 
4.77 Policy 32, Part 3 lists the allocated soft sand extraction Purple Haze as a reserve site 

for landfill. Purple Haze has not yet been permitted, though the site promoter has 
indicated that a planning application should be forthcoming in the near future. The 
current proposals for the site (at the scoping opinion stage) specifically make no 
provision for non-hazardous landfill. As the potential landfill capacity of this site could 
be up to 4 million tonnes this represents a significant loss of capacity and the loss of 
the only new landfill allocation.  

 
4.78 The South East Waste Planning Advisory Group (SEWPAG) which is formed of all of 

the Waste Planning Authorities in the South East, has recognised that the early closing 
and lack of replacement of non-hazardous landfill is a regional issue and is currently 
preparing a Landfill Joint Position Statement. The issue partly represents the 
successful diversion of waste from landfill. The Statement of Common Ground 
prepared by SEWPAG recognises that there is likely to be a move towards regionally 
strategically landfill sites in the near future.  

 
59 Assessment of Need for Waste Management Facilities in Hampshire: Landfill and Surcharging Report (2012). 

Page 207



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 110 
 

Relevant national policy updates 
 
4.79 The National Planning Policy for Waste60 (NPPW) sets out detailed waste planning 

policies to which local planning authorities need to have regard. The NPPW 
recognises that when preparing Waste Local Plans there is a need to drive waste 
management up the waste hierarchy whilst recognising the need for a mix of facilities 
as well as adequate provision for waste disposal61. 
 

4.80 The Resources and waste strategy (2018) seeks to enable the circular economy, 
improve recycling rates, drive greater efficiency of energy from waste plants, as well as 
directly reduce plastic and food waste not being recycled. All of these proposed policy 
and legislative drivers have the potential to further reduce waste going to landfill. 

 
Should this issue be addressed? 

 
4.81 Policy 32 seeks to provide sufficient landfill capacity. The estimated capacity forecasts 

appear to be accurate with a slight increase in lifetime capacity in 2018. However, non-
hazardous landfill capacity is recognised as a regional issue and is being addressed 
by Waste Planning Authorities through the creation of a Position Statements and 
Statements of Common Ground. Therefore, whilst the capacity is not meeting the 
required level of 4 years, it is recognised that there is existing provision in the policy 
that the market has chosen not to take up. As such, it is considered that this issue 
does not need to be addressed through an update of the Plan, however in the case of 
a Plan update the issue would need to be reviewed to ensure all appropriate steps are 
being taken.   

 
RAG Review status 

 
4.82 The wording of the policy does not need to be updated, however in the case of a Plan 

update the policy and evidence would need to be reviewed to see if further allocations 
are necessary and possible. 
 

Amber 

 
60 National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
planning-policy-for-waste 
61 NPPW (Para. 3).  

Page 208



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 111 
 

 Summary of Review status 
Policy Number & Title RAG status 

Policy 14: Community Benefits Red 

Policy 19: Aggregate wharves and rail depots Amber 

Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates Amber 

Policy 21: Silica sand development Amber 

Policy 22: Brick-making clay Amber 

Policy 32: Non-hazardous waste landfill Amber 

Page 209



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 112 
 

5. Effectiveness of the Vision, Plan Objectives, Spatial 
Strategy & Key Diagram 
 

5.1 It is recognised that Vision was considered briefly in the 2018 Review of the Plan but 
that the Plan Objectives, Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram were not addressed.  
 

Vision 
 

5.2 The Vision of the HMWP is ‘Protecting the environment, maintaining communities and 
supporting the environment’. The purpose of the Vision was to reflect the pillars of 
sustainability.  
 

5.3 The 2018 Review concluded that the Plan was delivering the Vision but the issues 
raised through this Review suggest that whilst the development policies which control 
development are working effectively, the delivery policies are not necessarily 
supporting the economy, particularly in relation to aggregate supply.  

 
5.4 Achieving sustainable development is still at the core of the NPPF62 and therefore, the 

Vision is still relevant. However, since adoption of the Plan, many of the partner 
Authorities have declared climate emergencies, which requires a re-focus on how the 
Authorities plan for the future.   

 
5.5 In addition, Hampshire County Council launched the Hampshire 2050 Commission of 

Inquiry which ran from May 2018 to October 2019 and explored future prosperity, 
quality of life, and protection and enhancement of the character and environment of 
Hampshire. The HMWP currently looks to guide minerals and waste decision-making 
up to 2030. As such, there is an opportunity to align the HMWP with the Hampshire 
2050 Vision principles.    

 
5.6 The wording of the Vision would also benefit from a clearer relevance to minerals and 

waste planning and the inclusion of geographical specificity. 
 

Plan Objectives 
 
5.7 A suite of Plan objectives is set out in the HMWP that are intended to deliver the Vision 

and Spatial Strategy. A table showing the relationship between the Plan’s objectives 
and policies is set out in Appendix 1. The Table demonstrates that most of the 
objectives are addressed directly by the policies. Therefore, they are generally fit-for-
purpose in delivery of the Vision through the policies as they currently stand. However, 
the review has highlighted that it is not clear how Policy 21 (Silica sand development) 
is addressed within the objectives as this is not an aggregate.  
 

 
62 NPPF (Section 1) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf  

Page 210



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 113 
 

5.8 As this 2020 Review indicates that not all the policies are meeting their delivery 
objectives, then the Plan is also failing to meet its objectives to deliver the Vision.  
 

5.9 Any update to the policies and/or Vision will require a further review of the Plan 
objectives. This would also ensure that they deliver the Vision in line with policy driver 
changes set out in Section 6, for instance in relation to biodiversity net gain and 
climate change. In addition, a review would ensure they are SMART63. Plan readability 
would be improved with a clearer distinction between Plan Objectives and the Vision 
and Spatial Strategy. 
 

Spatial Strategy & Key Diagram 
 
5.10 The Spatial Strategy sets the context for the Plan’s policies. It is important, therefore, 

that the Spatial Strategy is reviewed to ensure that the context it provides is up to date, 
for instance ensuring that it accounts for changes in areas of growth, resource 
demand, infrastructure and planned development. 

 
5.11 Components of the Spatial Strategy are illustrated in the Key Diagram (Para. 2.47 of 

the Plan).  The Key Diagram is a diagrammatic interpretation. However, a lack of 
definition elsewhere in the Plan has led to an assumption that the diagram represents 
boundaries for what should be a technical consideration. Policy 29 (Locations for 
waste management development) supports development to provide recycling, 
recovery and/or treatment of waste on suitable sites in “Areas along the strategic road 
corridors”. Whilst it is not outlined as a definition of a “strategic road corridor”, Para. 
6.198 provides further guidance in that waste sites should be prioritised with “good 
transport connections to the strategic road network”.   

 
5.12 During an Appeal for Knowle Lane, the lack of definition of the strategic road corridor 

in Policy 29 meant that the applicant was seeking to determine whether the site was 
within the boundary of the strategic road corridor as shown on the Key Diagram64. 
However, the Key Diagram illustrates the presumption of where the corridor would be 
by applying a 1-kilometre buffer to the Strategic Road Network but does not take into 
consideration “good connections”. As such, clarification of how a strategic road 
corridor is defined would be beneficial for Para. 6.198 of the Plan.   

 

 
63 SMART: Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic and Timely.  
64 See Planning Statement of Case (WYG) Para. 2.29 - 
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/ApplicationDetails.aspx?RecNo=17123 

Page 211



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 114 
 

6.  Policy change drivers 
 

6.1 As outlined in the previous sections, there have been a number of Government policy 
publications, announcements and consultations which have and will have an impact on 
the HMWP policies. Where these relate to the policies outlined in sections 3 and 4, 
these have already been discussed. However, there are implications on other policies 
which are outlined in this section.  
 

6.2 Implementation of the HMWP policies by development management practitioners has 
also highlighted areas where further clarification of the terminology outlined in the 
policies would make them more effective. Therefore, where these clarifications have 
not been addressed in sections 3 and 4, they are also outlined in this section.  

  

NPPF (2019) 
 
6.3 Following consultation by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG), the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), published in 2012 was 
subsequently revised in 2018 and 201965. 
 

6.4 There is a discreet but strong encouragement given to local planning authorities to 
move towards strategic plan-making (para. 24). This is an improvement on the original 
NPPF, which focused on the preparation of single all-encompassing local plans 
containing both strategic and development management policies; which do not easily 
lend themselves to joint preparation with neighbouring authorities. 

 
6.5 Linked to this is the strengthening of the duty to co-operate with the addition of a 

requirement for the preparation of statements of common ground. These are required 
to document the cross-boundary issues to be addressed and the progress in dealing 
with them.   

 
6.6 Other NPPF revisions include (but are not limited to):  

 additional guidance on securing net gains for biodiversity; 
 uses of land and developing green and brown field land; 
 greater emphasis on design of development; 
 additional guidance on the change of use of land in the Green Belt; 
 additional guidance on flood risk; 
 consideration of undeveloped coasts and public access to the coast; 
 additional guidance on designated landscapes;   
 consideration of ground conditions and impacts of air quality on natural 

environment; and 
 greater emphasis on energy security.     
 

6.7 The NPPF (2019) has a direct impact on the implementation of all the policies within 
the Plan.  

 
65 NPPF (2019) - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2  

Page 212



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 115 
 

National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) 
 

6.8 The National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW)66 sets out detailed waste planning 
policies to which local planning authorities need to have regard. A framework for Local 
Plan preparation is provided as well as on the need for waste management facilities 
and suitable sites on which they should be located. In relation to the determination of 
applications, provision is made for the consideration of impacts of non-waste 
development on existing or allocated waste sites.   
 

6.9 The NPPW outlines much of the policy previously contained within Planning Policy 
Statement (PPS)10 which informed the preparation of the HMWP. As such, the HMWP 
is in conformity with the NPPW. Should further update occur, appropriate reference will 
be made in the updated HMWP.  
 

Planning Practice Guidance (2014 onwards) 
 

6.10 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) was launched in 2014 by Government, following 
the adoption of the HMWP, to support the interpretation and implementation of the 
NPPF and NPPW. This is a live web-based resource, updated as necessary by 
MHCLG. The PPG includes references to Statements of Common Ground and 
specifically outlines the requirement for a Statement of Common Ground to be 
prepared for minerals and waste plans67.  
 

River Basin Management Plan (2016) 

 
6.11 Originally published in 2009, the South East river basin district River Basin 

Management Plan (RBMP) was updated in December 2015, published in February 
201668 and approved by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs. An updated draft South East river basin district RBMP is being consulted on 
(October 2020 – April 2021) and will be published later in 2021. 
 

6.12 The purpose of the RBMP is to provide a framework for protecting and enhancing the 
benefits provided by the water environment in line with the requirements of the Water 
Framework Directive. To achieve this, and because water and land resources are 
closely linked, it also informs decisions on land-use planning. 

 
6.13 The ambitions of the RMBP are delivered at the river catchment scale. Since 2012, 

formal Defra recognised Catchment Partnerships were established for each Water 
Framework Directive (WFD) catchment across England, as part of the Government’s 
Catchment Based Approach (CaBA). Eight of these catchments are wholly or partly 
within Hampshire. Over the last few years, each catchment Partnership has prepared 

 
66 National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
planning-policy-for-waste  
67  Planning Practice Guidance - https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 
68 South East River Basin Management Plan - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/718337/
South_East_RBD_Part_1_river_basin_management_plan.pdf  

Page 213



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 116 
 

and updated a Catchment Action Plan for its respective catchment, which encapsulate 
a range of objectives and actions that reflect the ambitions of partners, including 
Hampshire County Council. Policies 2, 3, 9, 10, 11 and 31 are most closely aligned 
with the delivery of the RMBP through action at the Catchment level. 

 

Clean Growth Strategy: Leading the way to a low carbon future 
(2017) 

 
6.14 The Clean Growth Strategy69 sets out a comprehensive set of policies and proposals 

that aim to accelerate the pace of “clean growth”, i.e. deliver increased economic 
growth and decreased emissions. 
 

6.15 Policies 1 and 2 are most closely aligned with the policies and proposals in the 
Strategy. 

 

The 25 Year Environment Plan (2018)  
 

6.16 The 25 Year Environment Plan70 sets out Government action to help the natural world 
regain and retain good health. It aims to deliver cleaner air and water in our cities and 
rural landscapes, protect threatened species and provide richer wildlife habitats. It calls 
for an approach to agriculture, forestry, land use and fisheries management that puts 
the environment first. The Plan sits alongside the Government’s Clean Growth 
Strategy and Industrial Strategy. 
 

6.17 The Plan strives to ensure that communities are “Using resources from nature more 
sustainably and efficiently” and “Minimising waste”. Great emphasis is placed on 
‘natural capital’. The policies in the HMWP are aligned with the protection principles of 
this plan, particularly policies 2-6.  

 
6.18 There is a noticeable change in focus to not only protect the natural capital that 

already exists but enhancing this where possible. This extra step is needed to increase 
resilience to climate change. Policy 9 of the HMWP is most closely aligned with this 
national policy change and may need strengthening to ensure mineral and waste 
development is aligned with national policy objectives. There is also a renewed 
emphasis on, not only conserving protected landscapes such as National Park and 
AONBs, but also enhancing them. 
 

6.19 The detrimental effects of plastic on the environment have been widely covered in the 
press. The 25 Year Environment Plan sets out guidelines on how to transition to 
materials that can be recycled more easily leading to a reduction in overall waste. 
Policy 25, which relates to sustainable waste management, will need to encompass 
this change.    

 

 
69 Clean Growth Strategy - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy  
70 25 Year Environment Plan - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan  

Page 214



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 117 
 

6.20 The Plan sets clear policy direction on “embedding an ‘environmental net gain’ for 
development, including housing and infrastructure”; this not only includes action to 
work with interested parties and streamline environmental processes but to widen 
environmental gains to include flood protection, recreation and improved water and air 
quality. 

 

Industrial Strategy: Building a Britain fit for the future - White 
Paper (2018) 

 
6.21 The Industrial Strategy71 sets out ‘how we are building a Britain fit for the future’ – how 

businesses will be helped to create better, higher-paying jobs with investment in the 
skills, industries and infrastructure of the future. The Government’s ambitions in the 
white paper in relation to regenerative circular economy, waste and energy 
infrastructure are particularly relevant to Policies 1, 2, 18, 25, 28 and 30. 
 

Resources and Waste Strategy (2018) 

 
6.22 The strategy72 sets out how we plan to double resource productivity and eliminate 

avoidable waste of all kinds (including plastic waste) by 2050, by: 
• preserving stocks of material resources by minimising waste; 
• promoting resource efficiency and moving towards a circular economy;  
• minimise the damage caused to our natural environment by reducing and 

managing waste safely and carefully; and 
• dealing with waste crime. 

The strategy gives a clear longer-term policy direction in line with the 25 Year 
Environment Plan. 

 
6.23 Policies 1, 18, 30 and 32 of the HMWP are most closely aligned with this national 

policy change and may need to be strengthened. 
 

Review of Designated Landscapes (2019) 
 
6.24 Following the publication of the 25 Year Environment Plan and implementing one of its 

key ambitions, the Government launched a review (‘Glover Review’) of designated 
landscapes (National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty - AONB) in 
England73. The review concluded in September 2019 with the publication of a report 
containing 27 wide-ranging recommendations that span integrated environmental and 
landscape management, planning protection, nature recovery, governance, sharing of 
expertise, strengthening of statutory purposes and the resourcing and public 
awareness of AONBs. Policy 4 of the HMWP is specific to the protection of protected 

 
71 Industrial Strategy - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-building-a-britain-fit-
for-the-future  
72 Resources and Waste Strategy 2018 - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-
strategy-for-england  
73 Landscapes Review - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/designated-landscapes-national-parks-
and-aonbs-2018-review  

Page 215



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 118 
 

landscapes. The Government is expected to announce its response to the report in 
late 2020. With almost 40% of Hampshire’s land area covered by designated 
landscapes, any associated legislative and policy guidance changes will necessitate a 
review of Policy 4.  

 

South Inshore and South Offshore Marine Plan (2018) 

 
6.25 This Marine Plan74 has been prepared for the purposes of Section 51 of the Marine 

and Coastal Access Act 2009 and has been adopted with the agreement of the 
Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. 

 
6.26 The plan introduces a strategic approach to planning within the inshore and offshore 

waters between Folkestone in Kent and the river Dart in Devon, providing a clear, 
evidence-based approach to inform decision-making by marine users and regulators 
on where activities might take place within the marine plan area. 

 
6.27 A number of policies within the Marine Plan are relevant to Policies 17 and 24 of the 

HMWP. 
 

The Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 
2019 

 
6.28 The Order75 updates the Climate Change Act 2008 by replacing its target with the 

2050 Net Zero Emission target in relation to greenhouse gases. Policy 2 (climate 
change) of the HMWP is most closely aligned to this modification. 
 

6.29 Following the declaration of a climate emergency by Hampshire County Council in 
June 2019, the council adopted a 2050 carbon neutral target. 

 

Environment Bill (2020) 
 
6.30 The Environment Bill76 will put the environment at the centre of policy making. It will 

make sure that we have a cleaner, greener and more resilient country for the next 
generation. The Bill includes details on: 

• creating a new governance framework for the environment; 
• a new direction for resources and waste management; 
• improving air quality; 
• securing our water services; 
• enhancing our green spaces; and 
• updating laws on chemicals (REACH). 

 

 
74 South Marine Plan - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-south-marine-plans-documents  
75 Climate Change Order - https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111187654  
76 Environment Bill 2020 - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-2020  

Page 216



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 119 
 

6.31 The Bill introduces a new requirement for the Secretary of State to prepare a statutory 
Environmental Improvement Plan (EIP) and confirms that the Government’s 25 Year 
Environment Plan (outlined above) will be the first EIP.  
 

6.32 An important aspect of the Environment Bill is the power to set long-term, legally-
binding environmental targets77 to provide a strong mechanism to deliver long-term 
environmental outcomes, both to build upon progress towards achieving the long-term 
vision of the 25 Year Environment Plan and help tackle some of the serious challenges 
that remain. These targets will focus on matters which relate to the natural 
environment and people’s enjoyment of it, including air quality, biodiversity, water, 
resource efficiency and waste reduction, and fine particulate matter (PM2.5). These 
targets will be relevant to a range of HMWP policies and it will be necessary to reflect 
these changes in Plan policies, where relevant. 

 

Biodiversity Net Gain 

 
6.33 The 2018 revision of the NPPF (maintained in the current 2019 version) introduced 

guidance that “…plans should… identify and pursue opportunities for securing 
measurable net gains for biodiversity” and that when determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should encourage “biodiversity improvements in 
and around developments…, especially where this can secure measurable net gains 
for biodiversity.” 
 

6.34 The Environment Bill, however, will introduce a mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain of 
10% for most new developments. The Department for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs (Defra) through Natural England is currently testing its Biodiversity Metric 2.078 
to quantify pre and post development biodiversity values to support the delivery of this 
requirement. Further consideration is being given to how the metric will be applied to 
minerals and waste development. Policy 3 of the HMWP is specific to the protection of 
habitats and species and will need to reflect this new requirement. 

 

Fixing our broken housing market – Housing White Paper (2017) 
 

6.35 This paper79 re-evaluated the need and the way in which housing numbers are 
calculated in each local planning authority area.  
 

6.36 This paper introduced the use of the statement of common ground as a way of 
evidencing joint working and the duty to cooperate which has been included in the 
revised NPPF.  

 

 
77 Environmental Bill: Environmental targets - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-
2020/august-2020-environment-bill-environmental-targets  
78Natural England Biodiversity Metric -  
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5850908674228224 
79 Housing White paper - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market 

Page 217



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 120 
 

6.37 Whilst the introduction of statements of common ground does not directly impact the 
policies within the HMWP, statements would need to be drawn up between interested 
parties if an update to the Plan occurs.  
 

Strategic Environmental Assessment Regulations 
 

6.38 The screening thresholds for industrial estate development and urban developments 
were raised in 201580. This will impact the implementation of Policy 29 (Locations and 
sites for waste management).  
 

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 201581 

 
6.39 This change included temporary permitted development rights in respect of change of 

use of some industrial premises to residential, from a B8 storage and distribution use 
under 500m2 to residential use. The regulations require prior approval to be sought in 
respect of specific issues including ‘Impact on the sustainability of adjoining uses’. This 
requirement should therefore ensure that mineral and waste sites remain adequately 
safeguarded against encroaching non-mineral uses. Therefore, this order is relevant to 
Policy 16 (Safeguarding – minerals infrastructure) and Policy 26 (Safeguarding – 
waste infrastructure).  
 

Community Infrastructure Levy  
 

6.40 The Government published updated guidance on the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) in 201482.  
 

6.41 The supporting text to Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development) refers 
to CIL. The charging of CIL is relevant to Southampton and Portsmouth City Councils.  
However, it is recognised that mineral extraction and some built facilities for waste 
management activities are exempt from paying charges.  
 

Court Rulings 
 

6.42 In April 2018, a court ruling by the European Court of Justice had a significant impact 
on Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). The People over Wind & Sweetman v 
Coillte Teoranta 83 had implications for developers and competent authorities in 
relation to plans and projects which are subject to HRA.  
 

 
80 SEA Guidance - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-
appraisal 
81 Came into force 23 May 2017 
82 CIL Guidance - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy 
83 People over Wind Vs Sweetman Ruling - 
http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?text=&docid=200970&pageIndex=0&doclang=en&mode
=lst&dir=&occ=first&part=1&cid=424528 

Page 218



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 121 
 

6.43 The effect of the ruling is that where previously, mitigation measures which may modify 
site selections or the boundary of a site to avoid any effects on European sites such as 
scheme design, buffer zones or restriction on operating hours, can no longer be 
considered at the Screening stage and must be ‘screened-in’ for further consideration. 
This means that an analysis of the measures capable of avoiding or reducing any 
significant effects on the site concerned must be carried out specifically at Stage 2 of 
the HRA process (Appropriate Assessment). The Habitat Regulations have been 
amended to reflect this change in the law84. 

 
6.44 Furthermore, the ‘Wealden Judgement’85 has implications for the use or thresholds (in 

this case in relation to air quality and HRA) at the Screening stage. Recent guidance 
from Natural England, developed following the requirements of this Judgment, advise 
that screening thresholds should be applied with consideration to impacts from 
individual proposed developments and with consideration to in-combination effects. 

 
6.45 The HMWP was subject to HRA86. The Sweetman and Wealden rulings, therefore, are 

likely to be relevant should an update of the Plan be required.  
 

Government Oil and Gas Consultations  
 

6.46 The Government consulted on proposed changes to the planning system which relate 
to shale gas in 2018. On the basis of the disturbance caused to residents living near 
Cuadrilla’s Preston New Road site in Lancashire and latest scientific analysis, the 
government announced in November 2019 a moratorium on fracking until compelling 
new evidence is provided. 

 
6.47 The government also confirmed that it will not be taking forward proposed planning 

reforms set out in the 2018 consultation for shale gas developments at this time. The 
implications for Policy 24 (oil and gas development) in the HMWP will need to be 
considered as part of an update. 
 

Planning for the future - White Paper (2020) 
 
6.48 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) have 

consulted on proposals for reform of the planning system in England, contained in the 
white paper ‘Planning for the future’ (consultation ended October 2020)87. The 
planning reform proposals are aimed at delivering a "significantly simpler, faster and 
more predictable system", although the detail is focussed on district local plans rather 

 
84 Habitats Regulations - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/1307/contents/made  
85 Wealden District Council v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Lewes District Council 
and South Downs National Park Authority [2017] EWHC 351. 
86 Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan Assessment Under the Habitats Regulations: Habitats Regulations 
Assessment Record – Final (July 2013) - http://documents.hants.gov.uk/planning-
strategic/HMWPHRARecordFINALSept2013.pdf 
87 Planning for the future consultation - https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-
future  

Page 219



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 122 
 

than minerals and waste local plans. Proposed changes or options relevant to the 
HMWP include: 

• A move from discretionary to rules based planning, with all areas of land 
categorised in local plans as either growth areas – “suitable for sustainable 
development”; renewal areas “suitable for development”; or areas that are 
“Protected”. 

• A new role for local plans and a new process for making them, with local plans 
being "significantly shorter in length" and completed within 30 months, with 
‘sanctions’ for authorities who fail to achieve this, and the potential option for self-
assessment rather than Examination. 

• Local plans to be assessed against a single statutory “sustainable development” 
test, replacing the existing tests of soundness. 

• The Sustainability Appraisal system abolished and a simplified process for 
assessing the environmental impact of plans developed, which would continue to 
satisfy the requirements of UK and international law and treaties. 

• The Duty to Cooperate test removed (although further consideration will be given 
to the way in which strategic cross-boundary issues can be adequately planned 
for). 

• Remove or limit the role of general development management policies in local 
plans and instead rely on such policies derived at national scale, with local 
planning authorities producing required design guides and codes for a whole 
local authority area, or for a smaller area or site. 

• Greater use of digital technology with a move to digital local plans incorporating 
interactive web-based mapping. 

• Replace the existing developer contribution regimes (including CIL and S106) by 
a consolidated ‘Infrastructure Levy’. 

• Amend the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 

6.49 Based on the outcome of the consultation, the Government will seek to bring forward 
legislation and policy changes to implement reforms. Although these changes may not 
significantly affect this review, subject to timescales, they may have significant 
implications for subsequent reviews and updates of the HMWP and, as such, the 
potential implications of these proposals need to be considered at this stage. 

 

Changes to the Current Planning System consultation 2020 
 
6.50 Published separately for consultation in parallel with the ‘Planning for the future’ white 

paper consultation is a further document - ‘Changes to the Current Planning System’88, 
which sets out proposed short-term changes to improve the efficiency of the current 
planning system in certain areas and support economic recovery. The main proposals 
focus on the: 

• standard method for assessing local housing need; 
• delivering first homes; 
• the small sites threshold; and 
• extension of the current permission in principle regime. 

 
88 Changes to the current planning system - https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-
current-planning-system  

Page 220



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 123 
 

 
6.51 By proposing changes to the methodology for assessing housing figures, with a focus 

on boosting housing supply, the outcome of this consultation may have implications for 
the demand for aggregates from the house building sector. 

Page 221



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)  Page 124 
 

7. Review Workshop Outcomes 
 
7.1 Following completion of the 2018 Review of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan, a 

Review Workshop was held on 25th September 2019 to explore the issues raised in the 
Review.  

7.2 The Workshop was attended by approximately 60 participants including 
representatives from the minerals and waste industry, statutory consultees, 
neighbouring minerals and waste planning authorities and from the wider south east, 
districts and boroughs and Members.  

7.3 The Workshop was structured around presentations and round table discussion 
sessions. The agenda was as follows: 

Introduction  

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 
(HMWP) Review outcomes  

Melissa Spriggs, Strategic 
Planning, Hampshire County Council 

The changed policy landscape: NPPF, 25 
Year Plan, Waste and Resources 
Strategy, Brexit  

Chris Murray, Strategic 
Planning, Hampshire County Council 

Sustainability issues: Climate change, 
biodiversity net gain, horizon scanning  

Garry King, Strategic 
Planning, Hampshire County Council 

Biodiversity net gain  Kirsten Williamson, South Downs 
National Park Authority 

Round table discussion on how the HMWP addresses sustainability issues (All)  
 
Waste issues – Circular economy, recycling, landfill, sites  

Waste Resource Strategy  
 

Vicky Beechey, Project Integra  

Round table discussion on how the HMWP addresses waste issues (All)  
 
Mineral issues – Soft sand, sharp sand and gravel, wharves  

Soft Sand  
 

Jane Poole, Idris Consulting 

Marine aggregates  
 

Dr Ian Selby, University of Plymouth  

Round table discussion on how the HMWP addresses minerals issues (All)  
 

 

Key messages 

7.4 The notes from the session are outlined in Appendix 2. However, a number of key 
messages were highlighted which can be used to inform this Review and the scope of 
the Plan update: 

Page 222



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 125 
 

General messages 

7.5 The issue of climate change was a key area of focus for many of the participants, 
especially in light of the climate emergency declaration.   

7.6 It is was clear that due to the uncertainties over Brexit (and now arguably, the COVID-
19 pandemic), the Plan needed to be future proofed and could be flexible in its 
approach. The potential for technological advances should also be taken into 
consideration.  

7.7 There were a number of Government updates which had either happened or are 
known to be forthcoming. The Plan will need to take these into account, but it was also 
raised that guidance on how they are implemented was important, for example with 
biodiversity net gain.  

7.8 It was felt that the Duty to Cooperate should be incorporated into the Review as well 
as more engagement with industry.  

7.9 Lastly, whilst the Review looks at the effectiveness of the policies, it was also raised 
that the monitoring of the policies should be reviewed and the relevant triggers.  

Minerals messages 

7.10 Safeguarding was a key issue that was raised, particularly in relation to enabling prior 
extraction and also protecting capacity of the wharves.  

7.11 When considering mineral supply, it was considered that this should be explored at a 
regional level and that greater emphasis should be placed on the annual Local 
Aggregate Assessment.  

7.12 It was also considered that demand forecasts should take into account Local Plan 
delivery as well as infrastructure proposals.   

Waste messages 

7.13 In relation to waste, it was considered that there should be a wider focus on all waste 
streams, not just household waste.  

7.14 It was also felt that a more detailed review was needed on data, the types of site (not 
just type of facility) but also how sites are delivered.  

7.15 There was a call for more waste sites, such as resource parks, to be identified through 
the Plan but it was not clear where these would be located.   

Page 223



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 126 
 

8. Compliance with National Policy 
 

8.1 Guidance for Plan Review was issued by the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) in the 
form of a Local plan Route Mapper & Toolkit (Oct 2019)89. The Toolkit is in two parts 
with Part 2 setting out the requirements for Local Plan Content. Completing the 
associated checklist ensures Local Plans are in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). 

8.2 As the checklist is geared towards all Local Plans, some parts are not relevant to 
Minerals and Waste Local Plans. Where relevant, these parts of the checklist have 
been struck out and highlighted as ‘not applicable’. In addition, the checklist does not 
include compliance with the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) (2014) which 
is relevant to Waste Local Plans and therefore, the requirements have been included.   

8.3 The completed checklist is set out in Appendix 3. A RAG (Red, Amber, Green) 
Compliance status is provided for each policy and is determined as follows: 

HMWP Policy is in compliance with 
NPPF/NPPF  

Green 

HMWP Policy is in general conformity 
with NPPF/NPPF but required refresh to 
ensure compliance.  

Amber 

HMWP Policy is silent on NPPF/NPPF 
requirements 

Red 

 

Key outcomes 

8.4 The review of Local Plan Content compliance has demonstrated that on the whole the 
HMWP is in compliance and is not silent on any policy requirement. However, there 
are a number of policy areas where the general policy approach is in conformity, but 
the specific wording may need to be refreshed to ensure that the policy is fully 
compliant. This is unsurprising taking into account the updates to the NPPF in 2018 
and 2019. It is also expected that the NPPW will be updated in the near future.  

8.5 The key policy areas requiring a policy refresh include: 
 Reference to government policy (post 2013); 
 The Vision and its relevance to minerals and waste; 
 The removal of some areas of ambiguity in policies; 
 Clearer identification of the Strategic Policies;  
 Reference to net gain, natural capital and the agent of change;  
 Clearer climate change measures; 
 Clearer delivery of the waste hierarchy; and 
 An update on terminology, such as ‘sustaining’ rather than ‘protecting’ historic 

assets. 

 
89 Local plan Route Mapper & Toolkit (Oct 2019) - 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/PAS%20Local%20Plan%20Route%20Mapper%20v1%2
00.pdf 

Page 224



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 127 
 

9 Conclusion 
 

9.1 This 2020 Review has considered the effectiveness of the HWMP since its adoption in 
2013. Unlike the 2018 Review, consideration has been given not only to the monitoring 
data but specific compliance with national policy. In addition, the Vision, Plan 
Objectives, Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram have been taken into account.  
 
Development Management Policies  
 

9.2 The monitoring data suggests that most of these policies are performing well, with 
Policy 14 (Community benefits) the exception. However, reviewing compliance against 
national policy requirements, highlights that whilst the general drive of the policy aligns 
with national policy, the policies would benefit from a refresh in their terminology and in 
some cases, their delivery. For example, the inclusion of natural capital, net gain and 
agents of change. 
 

9.3 In addition, based on changes to national policy and local priorities, Policy 2 (Climate 
change – mitigation and adaption) needs to be strengthened and Policy 9 (Restoration 
of minerals and waste developments) needs to ensure that climate change is suitably 
imbedded in its implementation.     
 

Minerals Policies  
 

9.4 The 2018 Review highlighted that the required 7-year landbank for sand and gravel 
(for both sharp sand and soft sand) was not being met; there was not 10 years of 
permitted reserves at the sites providing silica sand; and there was not 25 years of 
permitted reserves at brick-making clay sites. Two years on and the situation remains, 
as well as an increasing risk to recycled and secondary aggregate delivery and 
capacity issues at the wharves.  
 

9.5 The aggregate delivery requirements (Policy 17 (Aggregate supply – capacity and 
source) would benefit from being updated, taking into consideration the fact that the 
1.56mpta has not been achieved since 2016 and the increasing supply issues 
regarding soft sand in the wider south east. The ability to maintain a 1mtpa capacity of 
recycled and secondary aggregate needs to be explored as well as the 2mtpa of 
marine aggregate. This would help ensure the requirements of the NNPF were being 
met.  

 
9.6 Whilst the policies which enable the development to come forward are worded 

sufficiently for suitable development to be permitted, the policies would benefit from 
outlining any sustainable opportunities to ensure revised requirements are met but 
also to help provide certainty to industry and communities.   
 
Waste Policies    
 

9.7 The 2018 Review outlined that in general, the waste forecasts had been relatively 
accurate and additional capacity is coming on stream, albeit focused more on recovery 

Page 225



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 128 
 

than recycling. This point is also raised in this 2020 Review. However, to ensure 
compliance with the NPPW, the policies relating to waste management delivery would 
benefit from an update to enable greater alignment with the waste hierarchy in 
enabling waste activities. The potential for a Waste Infrastructure Strategy should be 
explored to provide greater certainty on the types of activities required, when and 
where.   
 

9.8 Landfill capacity continues not to meet the forecasted need. Policy 32 allows for landfill 
capacity to come forward where there is a clear need. However, it is recognised that 
the reserve capacity within the Purple Haze allocation may not be implemented. 
Therefore, the policy would benefit from considering possible sustainable options 
alongside other sites for waste management.  

 
Monitoring Indicators  

 
9.9 This Review has not assessed these in detail but it is recognised that not all indicators 

obtain the information required to monitor the effectiveness of the Policies. Where 
possible, some adjustments have been made to the monitoring plan, such as ensuring 
all data is covering the calendar year so that it is comparable. However, any update of 
the policies should include a further review of the monitoring indicators to ensure that 
they are SMART.   

 
Vision, Plan Objectives, Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram 

 
9.10 Due to the generic nature of the current HMWP Vision, it is possible to conclude that in 

general the policies are enabling the Vision. However, the issues with delivering 
minerals supply could suggest that the economy was not being supported adequately. 
The NPPF suggests that the Vision should state what it is seeking to deliver and 
therefore, the current Vision could be considered to be lacking in spatial identity and 
specificity in its aims in relation to minerals and waste. The Vision would also benefit 
from aligning itself with the visionary Hampshire 2050 work and the climate change 
agenda.  
 

9.11 The Plan Objectives are present but not clearly identified in the HMWP and this is also 
an issue with the Strategic Policies which was highlighted through the compliance 
check. The Plan Objectives closely align with the policies (except Policy 21 (Silica 
sand development) and would help achieve the current Vision. As some of the Policies 
are currently not delivering their aim, this would suggest the Plan Objectives are not 
being met. An update of the Policies and/or Vision would need to include a review of 
the Plan Objectives to ensure they align.  

 
9.12 The Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram outline how the Objectives and Vision will be 

implemented spatially and in diagrammatic form. Any update to the Policies would 
need to be reflected in both the Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram. To ensure 
compliance with national policy, the Policies need to be unambiguous and this also 
applies to the Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram.  

Page 226



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 129 
 

Review limitations 
 

9.13 It is recognised that there are limitations to this Review. However, the application of 
the PAS Guidance has enabled a more thorough assessment.   
 

9.14 The monitoring indicators were set when preparing the Plan and were an attempt to 
quantify the impacts of the decisions made within the framework of the HMWP. 

 
9.15 It is understood that the indicators and triggers set out in the HMWP may not, on 

reflection, be defined sufficiently narrowly to clearly identify an issue from the data 
alone. Any update to the policies should include a further investigation of the indicators 
and triggers. This will need to be reflected in an update to the Implementation, 
Monitoring Plan set out in Appendix C of the Plan.  

 
9.16 The Plan also contains several Appendices which whilst not directly reviewed will need 

to be updated to align with any policy changes or circumstances.  Appendix A (site 
allocations) will need to be updated with any additional sites and/or the boundary of 
the Mineral Safeguarding Area at Whitehill & Bordon may benefit in being updated to 
represent recent developments.  This will also be relevant to the Policies Map.  

 
9.17 Appendix B provides a list of safeguarded minerals and waste sites.  However, this is 

now out of date and is superseded by the on-line updated version. An update of the 
Plan may benefit from reference to on-line list rather than an instantly out-dated 
Appendix.   

 
9.18 In addition, Appendix D (Relationship between Plan policies and previously adopted 

policies) may be no longer of value.  Appendix E will require updating to reflect any 
new studies required to update the Plan.  

 
9.19 Lastly, the Plan’s Glossary and acronyms will require updating to ensure they are 

consistent with national policy, regulations, and current circumstances.   
 

Duty to Cooperate 
 

9.20 Duty to cooperate correspondence has been issued to minerals and waste planning 
authorities who have a relationship with Hampshire in terms of minerals and waste 
movements to inform this Review.  However, it is recognised that the minerals data is 
out-of-date (2014) as the new data was not available at the time. It was also intended 
that further liaison would be undertaken with industry and key stakeholders on some of 
the issues outlined in the 2018 Review. However, following the 2020 Review, and the 
need for a Plan update, it is felt that this focussed liaison can be addressed as part of 
the Plan update.   

 

Page 227



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 130 
 

Future uncertainty 
 
9.21 The 2018 Review highlighted that there were at the time a number of uncertainties 

which could have an impact on future supply and capacity requirements of minerals 
and waste. The most prominent was Britain’s exit from the European Union due to the 
significant mineral and waste movements between Britain and Europe and any future 
alterations could impact local indigenous supply. However, uncertainty has only been 
increased due to the national pandemic, which is impacting on the economy, the 
longevity of these impacts is unknown.  

 
9.22 The Government continues to drive forward changes to boost the housing market and 

enable the necessary infrastructure to support this, more recently with a proposal to 
fundamentally change the planning system. Whilst an increase in development will 
have a direct impact on demand for construction aggregates, the rate of this increase 
is unclear.   

Next Steps 
 

9.23 It is recommended that an update of the HMWP is undertaken to ensure compliance 
with the NPPF and NPPW but also to ensure that the Plan is delivering a steady and 
adequate supply of minerals and enabling sustainable waste management provision. 
An investigation of the monitoring indicators and triggers will ensure any changes to 
policy are reflected and that the monitoring plan is fit-for-purpose.  
 

9.24 In addition, the Vision, Plan Objectives, Spatial Strategy and Key Diagram will need to 
be further reviewed to ensure that all requirements of the Plan are delivered but also 
that the Vision aligns with the 2050 principles for Hampshire.  

 
9.25 To support the Plan update, an assessment of mineral and waste site options would 

ensure any suitable sites for enabling sustainable minerals and waste development 
are included in the Plan helping provision certainty to the industry and local 
communities.   

 
 

Page 228



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 131 
 

Appendix 1: Plan Objectives / Policy Table  
 

The following table plots the Policies against the Plan Objectives. Where a policy helps to 
deliver the Objective, this is marked as Green.  

Policies  Plan Objectives  
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

1               
2               
3               
4               
5               
6               
7               
8               
9               
10               
11               
12               
13               
14               
15               
16               
17               
18               
19               
20               
21               
22               
23               
24               
25               
26               
27               
28               
29               
30               
31               
32               
33               
34               

 
The Objectives in the Plan have been allocated a number to enable this exercise (see 
below).  

Objective 
No.  

Objective  

1 Protecting and conserving the New Forest and South Downs National Parks, 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and other valued landscapes. Sensitive 

Page 229



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 132 
 

habitats like the Thames Basin Heaths and our archaeological and historic 
heritage will be treated similarly. 

2 Helping to mitigate the causes of, and adapt to, climate change by developing 
more energy recovery facilities and the appropriate restoration of mineral 
workings. 

3 Protecting community health, safety and amenity in particular by managing 
traffic impacts, ensuring sustainable, high quality and sensitive design and 
imposing adequate separation of minerals and waste development from 
residents by providing appropriate screening and / or landscaping. 

4 Valuing the countryside for its own merits and protecting the South West 
Hampshire Green Belt from inappropriate development but recognising local 
geology, the rural economy and protection of amenity. 

5 Managing traffic impacts including the encouragement of rail and water borne 
transport of minerals and waste. 

6 Encouraging engagement between developers, site operators and 
communities so there is an understanding of respective needs. 

7 Supporting Hampshire’s continued economic growth, as well as the 
economies influenced by Hampshire and opportunities for urban regeneration 
where possible. 

8 Safeguarding mineral resources, necessary existing minerals and waste 
infrastructure and land for potential wharf or rail depot infrastructure as a 
contribution to a steady and adequate supply of minerals and provision of 
waste management facilities. 

9 Helping to deliver an adequate supply of minerals and mineral-related 
products to support new development, deliver key infrastructure projects and 
provide the everyday products that we all use in Hampshire, as well as in 
neighbouring areas. This will be achieved by ensuring sufficient aggregate is 
supplied to the construction industry from an appropriate combination of 
sources including: local sand and gravel from around Southampton, south 
west Hampshire, Ringwood Forest, east of Andover, the Bordon area and 
north-east Hampshire; marine dredged sand and gravel via wharves on the 
River Itchen, River Test and Portsmouth and Langstone Harbours; rail 
imported limestone via existing depots in south Hampshire and new rail 
depots located in north Hampshire; and giving particular support for 
recycled/secondary aggregates from various sites before supply from other 
sources. 

10 Providing for brick-making clay for the brickworks at Michelmersh, near 
Romsey and Selborne, near Bordon. 

11 Appropriately planning for chalk extraction for agricultural use. 
12 Exploration and production of oil and gas. 
13 Encouraging a zero waste economy whereby landfill is virtually eliminated by 

providing for more recycling and waste recovery facilities including energy 
recovery. 

14 Aiming for Hampshire to be ‘net self-sufficient’ in waste management facilities 
whereby it can accommodate all the waste that arises, whilst accepting there 
will be movements into and out of the area to facilities such as the nationally 
important incinerator at Fawley. 

Page 230



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 133 
 

Appendix 2: Review Workshop – Notes from Event 
 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan Review Workshop 

25 September 2019, Ashburton Hall, Winchester 

Notes from the round table discussions 

Review & Sustainability Issues 

How could the methodology be improved for the 2020 review? 

Key Messages: 

 Climate change needs to be a key area of focus.  
 The monitoring indicators / triggers themselves should be reviewed as part of the 

process.  
 More communication is required with industry. 

 More detailed review of mineral supply is required (not just from land-won sources). 

Table Comments 
One  Climate Change – should be higher on the agenda and at the forefront of 

work 
 Waste sites – have a uniqueness; firstly, you have to work around any 

constraints.  No real problem for finding sites for waste uses.  Good 
vehicle access is important 
 

Two  RAG (Red, Amber, Green) system – exceptional circumstances should 
not trigger a red score 

 Triggers – could be wider (more included) but generally the methodology 
works 

 Policy one – why should sustainability be judged on the length of time to 
determine applications? 

 Climate Change (policy two) – why is this judged against EA 
(Environment Agency)?  Also states three criteria and only uses one 

 Climate Change – needs more guidance 
 Monitoring indicators – one indicator against all those policies isn’t the 

most effective.  However, understand that monitoring indicators need to 
be something you have data on, which is why it has probably been 
selected 

 Windfall sites – policies have a general presumption against sites outside 
of the allocated sites therefore policies preclude windfall sites being 
utilised 
 

Three  Better communication of issues directly with local operators – unaware of 
some of Hampshire County Council concerns 

 Joined up developments 
 Multi nationals well served – independents less informed of updated.  

Quarterly policy update / wish list? 
 

Four  Light touch in engagement with industry, felt that it was strongly officer 
led 

Page 231



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 134 
 

 Brexit – no impact 
 Acceptance that there will always be a need for landfill capacity.  

Preference from strategic siting of landfill 
 Issues with recording of mineral data 
 Coordination with other parties plans and strategies 

 
Five  Unsure on what happened in the review 

 Land bank (S&G), which is low there could be a mineral shortage in the 
Council which the review needs to recognise this. 

 What questions are asked in the review. What is evidence showing? If we 
change plan, what do we achieve? How can we change things so we can 
change the outcome?  

 Industry would like firmer policies to allow investment to occur with sites. 
More site allocation to allow for greater land bank.  

 Review windfall, what is it set out to achieve? 
 Are current allocations based on seven years in recession, which shows 

more sales? Minerals and waste was not fully affected by recession. 
 Industry feel like they are playing catchup in regard to the Council’s 

apportionment.  
 With the plan being from 2013, how big of an influence of housing had on 

the review of the Plan. Does it make the Plan vulnerable the longer a 
comprehensive review is not done? 

 Is windfall recognition there’s not enough minerals and it’s a hope factor 
that it makes up the difference. 

 Availability is one thing and landbank is another. Landbank is an 
indicator-not the end of the world.  

 Seems to be a gap between national and local government emphasis on 
minerals planning. 

 Lack of gov guidelines. Government might look to review minerals. 
 Do the County Council understand the types of CDE (construction 

demolition and excavation) waste? Lack of understanding of what is 
recycled aggregate. Can only make aggregate from hard material, not 
from all CDE.  
 

Six  Logical starting point – have to start looking early based on evidence 
o Is the evidence based getting out of date? 
o Evidence base underpins everything so up to date information is 

necessary 
o Have to avoid complacency – every plan reviewed every 5 years 
o Quarries capacity has been discussed – new quarry in the south 

of the district providing much of New Forest minerals and waste 
 Is there any independent assessment? Any external critical assessment 

on both the plan and review? 
 Critical review maybe required if approach stays the same with each 

review, to ensure support if challenged 
 Plan up to 2030, reviews at present are over lifetime of plan, as opposed 

to new proposals 
 Policies pulled in as part of related issues, e.g. waste capacity 

satisfactory but further review needed to assess whether something is a 
trend and plan needs to be updated, review into whether update 
necessary or not – future review with greater evidence base. 

Seven  More communication with industry 
 

Page 232



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 135 
 

Eight  Further community impact monitoring – issue with how all local plans are 
monitored.  Could take into account the complaints.  More influence from 
individual site monitoring 

 Feed into the community  
 

 

Are there any other factors that need to be taken into consideration in the next review? 

Key Messages: 

 The need to future proof the Plan taking into account: 
o  current and on-going policy updates from Government (e.g. on waste or 

environment) 
o Technological advancements  

 Climate change and any emerging guidance/action plans.  
 The Duty to Cooperate 
 Consideration of wider sources of mineral supply (e.g. marine and prior 

extraction/windfall opportunities) 

Table Comments 
One  Changes e.g. deposits on glass bottles – will be a big change coming 

regarding recycling (standardised approach or all paid for by producers) 
and will need to facilities to be in place – not covered in policy in the Plan.  
How will it be handled?  Future proofing / flexibility – needed to cope with 
whatever system comes in 

 
Two  Think Brexit is unlikely to change policy drastically 

 Waste should be reviewed more frequently than minerals considering the 
rate of progression 

 Lack of national and regional guidance so no benchmark for everyone 
 Protected landscapes review – talks about strengthening settings of 

protected areas (Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs)) and 
could it advance allocations? 
 

Three  Wharves need to be safeguarded – flexibility of uses where current uses 
unviable 

 Duty to Cooperate 
 

Four  Technological advances – extraction of resources (specialist resources) 
such as lithium and ELV (End of Life Vehicles) facilities for electric 
vehicles 

 Consideration of industrial uses for waste uses (B8 and B2) 
 Potential to review industrial estate study to demonstrate suitability 

 
Five  No comment 

 
Six  Dependent on new government policies and goals  

 May be overachieving already but new policies may create higher 
requirements 

 How will climate change emergency declaration affect review and future 
plans? 

Page 233



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 136 
 

o Only so much policy and officers can do, also down to industry 
o Interesting to see how risk is assessed based on when/how policy 

changes may be made (also whether legal challenges will be 
necessary) 

 Decisions made based on climate emergency “priority” may be contrary 
to plan policies due to shifting priorities outside of scope of initial plan – 
e.g. Hampshire declares intention to be climate neutral but proposed site 
in plan cannot be made to be carbon neutral by 2030 – clash between 
policy and government intentions 

 
Seven  Does the review need to focus more on the way need is actually 

assessed (i.e. greater focus on local aggregates assessments, rather 
than figures in place at the time of adoption) 

 Duty to Cooperate / cross boundary matters 
 Interaction with housebuilding targets and local plans (including to 

facilitate local sourcing of aggregates) 
 Minimal provision / allocation (which may be politically more acceptable) 

vs flexibility through over provision 
 Marine resource is very large and could supply much but major issue is 

wharf capacity including onward transport via rail (as opposed to road) 
 

Eight  More consideration of the viability of the processing and extraction of 
mineral in assessing sites for continued inclusion in the Plan 

 More weight on prior extraction for housing permissions / allocations 
 Further consideration of previously rejected sites 

 
 

How effective is the Plan at ensuring development is sustainable? 

Key Messages: 

 There is a need to consider Net Environment Gain / off-setting and guidance is 
required on how to implement 

 Need to review how sustainability is defined and measures in the Plan 

Table Comments 
One  10% seems reasonable, but it will need offsetting 

 Applying the metric – how to decide where the benefits are; what they will 
be in the future; what is valuable now may not be in the future 

 
Two  Need to take a step back and detail what exactly you want to achieve 

 Currently no substance – where is the guidance? 
 Can minerals sites assist waste sites i.e. offsetting? 
 For existing brownfield industrial sites, what is the natural benefit?  How 

can we ensure improvement when sites are low benefit and already 
impacting upon air quality etc 
 

Three  Effective as much as possible at the time of adoption 
 Ideals are good but balance between aims and practical possibilities not 

currently available 
 

Four  Subjective in what ‘implement’ comprises 

Page 234



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 137 
 

 Caveat policy ‘or’ and ‘and’ – policy 32 
 Lack of quality (in addition the subjectivity) 
 Welcome current position on requirement for implementation 

 
Five  How much is 10% net gain on a site that has zero value 

 Can environmental be subjective? Who makes decisions on the net gain.  
 Could there be regional environmental plans that sites could aim towards 
 Could there be a policy that every application has a certain percentage 

on net gain, could this be more than the national 10% 
 Need to make sure that biodiversity net gain doesn’t over shadow very 

important issues that affect rural Hampshire 
 The restoration must be accepted by the land owner and be commercially 

attractive. 
 Could land owners be compensated when a development exceeds the 

10% 
 Will certain sectors come to parks and other groups to carry out offsetting 

for them as they own the land? 
 How will Brexit affect this? 
 Aggregates don’t have flexibility of housing and can’t only choose low 

environmental areas. 
 Climate change can change the areas in which you’re looking at then 

how can you measure its environmental net gain. 
 The plan should give more weight to other forms to restoration than 

biodiversity. 
 Sites should return to what it originally looked like. 
 Could there be a structure of what are Hampshire’s biodiversity targets, 

this can then help the industry 
 What changes would you propose to the Plan to improve the 

sustainability of development? 
 Can industry make a contribution to a wider scheme as an offset strategy  
 We can’t always make the species stay in the created habitat, which 

should be recognised in the plan. 
 Is the County Council going out of its responsibilities in term?  See where 

sustainability goes in terms of how quarries operate. 
 A site will operate within its grounds of sustainability  
 Could industry have free reign to operate within the standards already set 

out on climate change, and have less intervention from local 
government? 

 Some minerals & waste industry are going to third party companies to 
provide clean electricity, rather than them trying to implement this clean 
energy on site.  

 Could reviews be done more often, as technology is moving at such a 
fast rate in the period that the plan spans? 

 Can sites offset each other with their biodiversity net gain so you can 
have varying restorations? 
 

Six  In what way is it sustainable? 
o Planning permission granted? 
o Environmental? 
o Biodiversity? 
o Minerals and waste? 
o National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) definition of 

sustainability? Economic, Social, Environmental  

Page 235



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 138 
 

 Sustainability an overriding factor in decision making “If it’s not 
sustainable it won’t get through” 

 If an application complies with policies, then by definition it should be 
sustainable 

o Shifting baselines of sustainability (e.g. biodiversity net gain) 
o Can policies be enforced or upheld without the calculations?  
o List of what can be included within “30%” 

 Hampshire minerals and waste plan specifies (policy 1?) that if an 
application is sustainable planning permission should be granted without 
further delay 

o Differing pressures on all; “advantages outweigh disadvantages”  
o Need vs sustainability 

 “As long as you’re in line with the NPPF then you have met your 
requirements” 

 Doing its best within existing policy 
 Lag in environmental returns 
 Retrospective assessment under modern day principals?  
 5 year after-care period 
 Can aspire to improvement but practical enforcement unlikely 
 Review restoration plans in existing sites (e.g. extension of time etc) to 

meet current standards 
 Government looking at 106’s to include (for example) future maintenance 

of roads as well as initial cost  
 

Seven  Sustainability is now a recognised and accepted concept which is positive 
 Industry is well placed to deliver net gain after extraction (maybe more so 

than other developments) 
 Difficulty of taking objective / dream / vision of sustainability as 2050 

vision and knowing what this means in practice and on the ground 
 

Eight  Air quality issues – include shipping emissions  
 How far should plans go – site specific emissions 
 Better scoping of what the sustainability issues are / and explanation of 

them 
 10% net gain – depends on how it is quantified – needs to be kept simple 

to keep costs down for developers.  Net gain currently a bit woolly! 
 

 

What changes would you propose to the Plan to improve the sustainability of development? 

Key Messages: 

 Enhance the Climate Policy, what measures could be put in place and how it is 
monitored. 

 Greater flexibility in the Plan to deal with changes in the minerals and waste industry 
in the future. 

 There is a need to strengthen the connection between the need for minerals and 
waste and maintaining communities.  

Table Comments 
One  Climate Change policy – could be more strongly worded, don’t give 

developers the option of avoiding the policy 

Page 236



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 139 
 

 How to record what has been actioned and was it successful?  Record in 
the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR).  Could it be more widely reported, 
easily accessible?  Record progress or lack of progress, perhaps 
annually? 

 Should we have climate change net gain?  If so, should it be recorded 
and how would it be recorded? 

 There should be a requirement to use recycled materials over primary 
resources 

 
Two  Need clarity in the overarching policy but also detailed guidance in a 

separate document 
 Review of aggregates levy – tax could be better utilised – should be 

spent locally for environment and community – could be increased? 
 Set out why minerals and waste are critical to communities in plans – get 

the message out there and explain why it’s sustainable 
 

Three  Climate change policy needs strengthening – metric needs to be clarified 
 Air quality particulates – electric vehicles not yet available 
 Policies need to be accepting of current technological constraints rather 

than state structure 
 Transport of mineral around the site by conveyor rather than lorry 
 A need for flexibility during the Plan period 

 
Four  Quantity of screening of biodiversity enhancement for DM (Development 

Management) purposes 
 Work with developers in helping them identify potential for improvements 
 Net benefits to be provided elsewhere within the Plan area 
 Requirement for minerals and waste developers to provide additional 

area for green space 
 Ensure developers are clear on what is expected of this 
 Emerging waste plans make policy reference to the circular economy 

(West London Waste Plan) 
 Influence emerging local plans to accord with this policy in terms of 

planning for industrial ecosystems 
 

Five  No comments 
Six  Meeting in line with government targets and guidance  

o Decide whether we want to go above and beyond government 
 Local targets, what would they be? 

o Primary focus would be environmental net gain? 
 Is 10% sufficient? With waste 10% may be too high, minerals sites 

usually viable agricultural land – weight of biodiversity vs economical. 
Viability of future options, e.g. workable land for farmers. 

 Whose responsibility will it be to define baseline biodiversity and future 
biodiversity? 

 What is the 10%? Biodiversity of species? Metric? 
 Copycat planning – Net gain goes into one policy  
 Connectivity - Habitat fragmentation – connectivity, red line boundaries? 

 
Seven Is there too much emphasis on extraction than reuse?  (although suggested 

that UK is quite good at these already): 
 Clarity of objectives, how things will be assessed and monitored – 

consistency of approach 

Page 237



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 140 
 

 Need more careful consideration of how sustainability and net gain will be 
measured (e.eg local vs global: competing objectives) – even with metric 
this is quite subjective; resources for amenity  

 Industry is already doing things for sustainability – maybe need to feed in 
more to minerals and waste Plan review in terms of what is realistic and 
achievable 
 

Eight  Include all issues discussed in presentation – including net gain and air 
quality 

 Net gain policy to reflect alternative option where improvements cannot 
be done on site  

 Include sustainability of development in Plan principles – location of 
facilities, use of resources, heat and power considerations – wider 
benefits for communities / climate change 

 Inclusion of renewable energy facilities 
 How to address the loss of exporting materials to China – is this not 

additional landfill? 
 Retrofit energy recovery to existing sites e.g. methane capture 
 Needs joined up thinking and proper coordination 

 
 

How will the evolving sustainability policy impact minerals and waste planning? 

Key Messages: 

 It is recognised that the policy changes will make positive improvements.  
 More guidance will be required on how they are implemented.   

 There are concern over the cost and burden on developers.  

Table Comments 
One  Are housing targets over estimated?  Use different methods for house 

building.  Complete change away from what we do now, and it will require 
a huge change 

 Electric vehicles, to include electric trucks transporting minerals and 
waste.   
 

Two  Becoming more difficult to get applications through 
 Policies need to be worded positively and set out criteria / guidance 

clearly 
 Demonstration of the link between housing and minerals and waste is 

essential – helps people to understand the importance and that they go 
hand in hand 

 Engagement – needs to be correct for the type of consultee but would 
help get everyone on the same page and policy to be effective for 
everyone involved 
 

Three  Generally positive 
 Impact / possibility of improvement of previously poorly restored sites – 

when does net gain come into consideration for historic sites 
 Movement of waste by rail 
 Will net gain impact upon capacity and future provision?  Need vs 

viability.  Should costs be a planning consideration 

Page 238



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 141 
 

 
Four  Recent adopted plans which integrate biodiversity net gain and 

strengthen landscape policy yet to be tested in the delivery (appeals / 
case law) 

 Creates burden on developers – potential impact on viability and 
therefore delivery in accordance with the Plan’s requirements 
 

Five  No comments 
 

Six  In principal it can improve biodiversity and benefit 
 What impact can one minerals and waste plan have on its own? 

o Regional strategies required – beyond borders 
 

Seven  More incineration of waste may bring opportunities for more re use 
 Minerals industry could be after net gain trading for other sites that can’t 

provide it 
 

Eight  Lorry movements are not sustainable 
 Electric vehicles, although the technology isn’t there yet 
 Land ownership issues will attract net gain potential (how the site is 

restored) – they will want to maximise returns 
 Costs of environmental improvements and viability issues.  Needs to be 

clear on what environmental requirements are to determine viability of 
schemes before making an application 

 Who monitors Government initiatives?  The gap between local and 
national monitoring, if any 
 

 

Page 239



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 142 
 

Minerals Issues 

How effective is the Plan at enabling sand and gravel (including soft sand) supply? 

Key Messages: 

 More work required on working developers on ensuring prior development where 
relevant.  

 Landbank is not met but supply is coming forward and is affected by markets. 
 Designated areas impact the availability of supply.  
 Stronger emphasis on safeguarding of wharves is required.  

Table Comments 
One None 
Two  Currently a lag in data figures – needs to catch up 

 Policy 20 – only refers to landbank figures and doesn’t report marine 
sources 

 Sand and gravel have not run out so must be somewhat effective 
 Need to safeguard wharves for future marine supplies 

 
Three  Safeguarding policies fine – problem is co-ordination with housing 

developers – Whitehill Bordon not successful 
 Can’t rely on windfall developments 
 Soft sand and gravel should be separated 
 Always coming up against requirements of housing developers 

 
Four  Not effective – cannot demonstrate land bank in accordance with NPPF 

 Not all allocated sites have come forward 
 Safeguarding wharves and mineral infrastructure 

 
Five  Lack of supply could be due to how we are not allowed to get aggregates 

from within certain designations – the Plan should be more supportive 
 

Six  Policies are effective, got allocations and criteria 
 

Seven  Stronger emphasis on prior extraction needed 
 Not been effective at safeguarding protected wharf sites from housing 

development – better interpretation needed between minerals and waste 
plans and local plans 
 

Eight  Issues of market and viability are outside the control of the Plan 
 Soft sand a geological / location issue – consider protected areas? 

 
 

What changes would you propose to the Plan to improve sand and gravel supply in 
Hampshire? 

Key Messages: 

 Reference should be made to the Local Aggregate Assessment as this is updated 
annually. 

Page 240



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 143 
 

 There is a need to consider mineral supply more strategically (at regional level).   
 The Plan needs to maintain flexibility is supply sources and locations.  

Table Comments 
One  No comment 

 
Two  Incorporate marine figures into policy – need to report land and marine 

sources – increases transparency and will improve public perception 
 Flexibility – consider any site that comes forward, don’t limit to only 

allocated sites – don’t make provision per site so exact, allow for change 
 Be thinking more long term and more strategically – plan for a bit further 

ahead so the Plan does not become so outdated by the review.  Tie 
together inshore and offshore to have more joined up thinking 
 

Three  Separating soft sand and sharp sand and gravel 
 Better understanding of allocation 
 Plans should be regional 
 Certainty of supply 

 
Four  Trend led with infrastructure 

 Maintain flexibility to extract in sensitive landscape areas (national parks 
and AONBs) 

 Conditions within policy to allocate extraction in these areas for example, 
demonstrating clear need and satisfactory mitigation 

 Make reference to updated LAA (local aggregate assessment) to inform 
mineral requirement 
 

Five  Could there be a potential of a minerals site within a national park – this 
could create political issues 

 Do the allocations of minerals and waste sites need to be dealt with on a 
national infrastructure level, as it seems politics are playing a large role at 
the moment 
 

Six  Plan did not have supply ready for end period of plan when written 
 In a more comprehensive review, a call for sites would likely be required 
 Holistic approach required 
 Minerals without borders 
 

Seven  Would be helpful to have three separate landbanks, for the different types 
of aggregate 

 Better communication between decision making authorities 
 

Eight  Resources are being sterilised by housing allocations – needs stronger 
policy support 

 Encourage wharf use – how to target industry to invest? 
 Look at provision at a regional level – wider hubs? 
 Plan on a geology basis rather than administrative one, or another 

determining factor 
 

 

What are the key factors that need to be considered in forecasting aggregate demand? 

Page 241



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 144 
 

Key Messages: 

 Need to be more flexible on end uses of material (e.g. beach replenishment and use 
of silica/soft sand).  

 There is a need to consider local demand through emerging local plans but also 
national infrastructure.  

 The future of the construction industry and use of materials needs to be considered.  

Table Comments 
One  No comment 

 
Two  Locally – impossible as it doesn’t all correlate (e.g. regional 

housebuilders vs local aggregate supply / usage) 
 Marine aggregates used for beach refill isn’t reported by the LAA  
 Silica sand treated differently – why is end use so heavily dictated?  

Flexibility is the key! 
 Need to be less inward looking and consider other regions and trends 

occurring 
 

Three  Industry are not that flexible 
 Future housing delivery 
 How effective is safeguarding?  - not very as it is too easy to override 

 
Four  Changes in building material / construction – aware of economic position 

 Changes in construction habitats / use of materials 
 

Five  Questions over marine soft sand and how useful it is 
 Caution to be taken regarding marine won sand and its viability in 

replacing land won sand 
 

Six  No comments 
 

Seven  Marine not likely to replace land won soft sand in the plan period (though 
may contribute) 

 Access in Hampshire to viable wharves for marine won resource 
 What is the lead indicator e.g. housing, and key infrastructure projects? 
 Emerging local plans need to be considered; not just adopted 
 Declining use of aggregates in construction over time 

 
Eight  Operators are buying in sand rather than extract their own resources 

because the price will increase in the future 
 Look beyond the demand of Hampshire – wharves are national assets – 

transport constraints 
 Marine extraction – where would the silt go?  Only gives two types of 

sand – not versatile enough.  Not enough wharf and shipping capacity at 
present 

 Decreasing land won extraction would impact inert waste infill capacity 
 Wider view to meet national infrastructure and housing projects e.g. HS2 
 A more joined up approach is needed 

 
 

Page 242



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 145 
 

Waste Issues 

How effective is the Plan at enabling waste management provision? 

Key Messages: 

 There are issues with the availability of sites, the location of sites and the 
acceptability of sites by local residents.  

 The Plan is currently quite flexible but will need to be more so in the future with 
potential change in national policy.  

 The Plan focusses too much on household waste.  
 Better linkages between county and districts/boroughs in waste management 

provision.  

Table Comments 
One  How to deal with food waste – specific facilities.  Handle in Hampshire 

only – localised vs strategic facilities 
 Need more capacity to deal with food waste in Hampshire 
 Want a commitment from Government that funding will be made available 
 Have integration of the waste management systems and interpreting 

within the local plan 
 What will be done with the output of the process, whatever that is 
 Climate Change should be embedded throughout the Plan 
 Strategic Planning – does waste need more strategic approval? 
 Does the Plan need to allocate other points? 
 Education and behaviour change 
 Specify recycled aggregate over primary – specify (mandate?) a 

proportion to be used 
 

Two  Waste management provision adapts with societal needs, the Plan will 
not always enable it, it depends on need 

 Waste management facilities should be treated as any other industrial 
use 

 Currently an overlap in regulatory controls which hinders development 
 More flexibility on sites – positive approach for all sites that come forward  

 
Three  Too small focus – don’t hub activities in the continental fashion 

 
Four  Mismatch of recovery and recycling targets 

 Lack of sites available 
 Need to update waste capacity data 
 Need to consider call for sites 
 Need to be more flexible – provide appropriate capacity and therefore 

market resilience  
 Ensure the public are well informed 
 Introduce zonal areas for waste management on a strategic scale  
 Encourage waste facilities to be located near to manufacturing plants 

(circular economy) 
 Political issues / stigma / unwanted land use 
 Demonstrating public incentives / trade off / developer contributions 

 
Five  Waste sites are being put forward for housing. 

Page 243



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 146 
 

 Is the public perception on waste sites justified? 
 Waste is a complete industry of itself, why do we have a Waste and 

Minerals plan together. 
 Should they be separate 
 CDE (Construction, demolition and excavation) is still associated with 

minerals, whereas municipal waste isn’t 
 Some policies are beginning to become redundant in the HMWP as they 

are no longer linked to waste. 
 Minerals are temporary and waste used to be but now seen as relatively 

permanent investments. 
 Are incinerators industrial or sui generis?  
 CDE isn’t always fully understood by authorities.  
 Could the review of the waste part of the plan take longer than other 

areas? 
 Regions will have to deal with all the waste they produce, not necessarily 

counties or boroughs. 
 Are Hampshire integral in looking for waste sites, and what happens 

when these sites don’t come forward.  
 Could we follow the European model where each town/borough has its 

own facilities on a smaller scale? 
 Why Incineration doesn’t count as recycling? Because it wastes the 

material, recycling keeps material in circulation. 
 Could more be done at the source of the waste? To segregate the brick 

from the metal from the concrete? 
 ‘NIMBY’ISM (not in my back yard) is the main barrier of planning - 

traffic/noise – they can be seen as destroying communities 
 

Six  UK working at 45% 
 Technology investment required e.g. air compression technology 
 Is the Hampshire waste plan in line with the circular waste economy  
 Policy has good flexibility to allow for changing technologies – 

establishing site for use as waste remains 
o  Is policy being used effectively?  
o  Attractive to private companies? 
o  Enabling experimentation and investment in new technologies 

 Safeguarding of waste sites 
 Not feasible for privately run ERFs (Energy Recovery Facilities), have to 

be part of PPIs (Public Private Investment), no private incentives 
 50 MW generation part of NSIPs (Nationally Significant Infrastructure 

Projects)?  
 Principal is broad which allows for flexibility 
 EA permit tiered and often allows for higher capacity than the planning 

application or LPA (Local Planning Authority)/Waste Authority would 
permit 

 Capacity, especially in light of European countries adding tax to waste 
fuel exports 

 
Seven  Hampshire has been successful in the past e.g. permissions for investors 

 Need more focus on prevention e.g. education to reduce food waste 
 Review of industrial estates to facilitate sites for uses of waste (NB focus 

on permitted development rights for housing is not making protection of 
industrial sites easy) 

 Need better waste issue enforcement (from small to fly tipping) 

Page 244



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 147 
 

 Consistency of collection is key and ease of collection / usability for 
people 

 Challenge – land take of facilities after composting 
 Challenge – resident objections to waste uses 
 Better relationship needed between county minerals and waste planning 

and district local plans (e.g. planning for facilities in local plan allocations) 
  

Eight  Single minded on household waste.  More consideration of commercial 
waste production and where the waste needs to be taken 

 Better waste separation of some for C&I (Commercial & Industrial).  And 
waste minimisation at source 

 
 
What changes would you propose to the Plan or its implementation to improve waste 
management provision in Hampshire? 

Key Messages: 

 Better communication with the waste industry.  
 There is a need to more fully review the data.  
 More consideration needs to be given to how sites come forward and what type of 

site is required.  

 The Plan needs to be flexible to deal with emerging Government policy and targets.  

Table Comments 
One  See response to Question above.  

 
Two  Looking favourably upon adaptation of existing facilities (flexibility) 

especially for repurposing materials 
 Do waste management sites need to be allocated?  Why not consider 

any site that comes forward? 
 Policy 27 – wording to be more open and flexible minus caveats about 

ancillary 
 Policy 29 – maybe combine into one policy or make clearer that one is 

just capacity and one is location 
 

Three  EfW (energy from waste) site for industrial / commercial sector, built by 
Hampshire County Council 

 Waste parks 
 More collaboration with commercial partners instead of only 

concentrating on domestic 
 Realistic / practical conditions 
 More communication with private operators 
 Set up working group with waste operators 

 
Four  See response to Question above.  

 
Five  See response to Question above.  

 
Six  Deposit protection schemes may be good – how and where will the 

facilities be implemented? 
 Food waste required to achieve circular economy 

Page 245



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 148 
 

 Any consideration for sites for private companies 
 Principal/policy is effective at present – is a review necessary introduce 

specific policies or sites for new facilities handling different aspects of the 
waste stream? 

 Locational requirements as opposed to operator or tech requirements 
 

Seven  See response to Question above.  
 

Eight  A one size fits all solution to collection won’t work (e.g. terraced housing) 
 Inclusion of producer pays changes 
 Needs to be achievable, not just aspirational – some technology isn’t 

available or viable yet 
 Data based review and decision making 
 Educating the public and putting it simply, raising awareness (starting in 

schools), options available (e.g. extension building waste – knowledge of 
where it goes, does it need to be separated) 

 Working more with partners 
 The current plan is unable to address 2025 targets, therefore a review is 

needed 
 

 
What are the barriers to suitable sites being put forward for waste uses? 

Key Messages: 

 Public / Political concerns 
 Cost and availability of sites 

 Restrictions on site operations.  

Table Comments 
One  Cost of sites 

 Timescales 
 Use more localised sites 
 

Two  Landowner aspirations 
 Public perception 
 Policy needs to be more positive and enabling 
 EA (Environment Agency) – needs more flexibility 

 
Three  Political 

 Culture 
 Better figures of non-municipal waste quantities to show the need for 

facilities 
 

Four  See response to Question above.  
 

Five  See response to Question above.  
 

Six  Locations may be specified but barriers (public comment/objections etc) 
are raised after a planning application is formed 

 Conditions such as hours of work can be restrictive 
 Minimal response to call for sites from waste operators 

Page 246



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 149 
 

 Waste doesn’t have the monetary value for landowners (compared to 
housing or employment sites) 

 Are our conditions a barrier to new sites coming forward, or increasing 
capacity on site? 

 EA permit tiered and often allows for higher capacity than the planning 
application or LPA (Local Planning Authority)/Waste Authority would 
permit 

 Capacity, especially in light of European countries adding tax to waste 
fuel exports 

 
Seven  See response to Question above.  

 
Eight  Affecting change! 

 More information on what the requirements are for bringing a site forward 
(e.g. what do landfills need – size, accessibility etc?) 

 Technological limitations at present – recycling limits, product separation.  
Investment needed – the Government needs to lead on this but need 
sites available to do this 

 Enabling sustainable change – co location of facilities e.g. lorry park 
closer to sites instead of protecting a low-quality green belt site for 
example…) 

 
 

 

Page 247



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 150 
 

Appendix 3: National Policy Checklist 

Page 248



 
2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 151 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 General Requirements  

1.  Include any relevant material that is set out in a 
government policy statement(s) for the area for 
example a national policy statement(s) for major 
infrastructure and written ministerial 
statements. 

NPPF Para 5, 6 Relevant Government Policy is outlined in the HMWP – Other Plans and 
Programmes (Para 2.19 – 2.24)  

However, there have been a number of Policy updates (Post 2013) 
which are relevant and should be applied [check others]: 

- National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) 
- Energy Policy: Written statement - HCWS690 (May 2018)  
- 25 Year Environment Plan (2019) 
- Waste & Resources Strategy (2019) 
 

2.  Contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. 

NPPF Para 8, 9, 16 The need to contribute to achieve of sustainable development is set out 
in HMWP Policy 1: Sustainable minerals and waste development 

3.  Apply the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. 

NPPF Para 11 Applying the presumption is set out in HWMP Policy 1: Sustainable 
minerals and waste development 

4.  Provide a positive vision for the future; a 
framework for addressing housing mineral 
demand and waste management needs and 

NPPF Para 15 The HMWP Vision is set out in Para 2.25 

P
age 249



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 152 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

other economic, social and environmental 
priorities.  

‘Vision: ‘Protecting the environment, maintaining communities and 
supporting the economy’ 

Whilst the Vision outlines the needs to address economic, social and 
environmental priorities, it does not specially address the mineral and 
waste needs.   

5.  Plans should be: 

a) Aspirational and deliverable 
b) Contain clear and unambiguous policies 
c) Accessible through the use of digital 

tools 
d) Serve a clear purpose avoiding 

duplication 

NPPF Para 16 The aspirations of the HMWP are set out in the Introduction (Para 1.1 – 
11.5).  The Policies Map is available on-line and is interactive.  

However, since adoption, it has become clear that some of the policies 
contain areas of ambiguity and some clarification would be of benefit 
for their implementation.   

6.  Plan Content   

7.  Include strategic policies to address priorities for 
the development and use of land. They should 
set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale 
and quality of development. 

NPPF Para 17, 20 The content of the HMWP is set out in Para 1.5 

‘The Plan comprises three elements: 

- Strategic approach and policies; 
- Strategic sites allocations considered necessary to deliver the 

Plan objectives; and 
- General and site-specific development management policies.‘ 

P
age 250



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 153 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

The Spatial Strategy is set out in Paras. 2.26 to 2.46 and this is supported 
by the Key Diagram (Figure 6).  

8.  Outline which policies are ‘strategic’ policies NPPF Para 21 Whilst the HMWP outlines that it contains Strategic Policies in Para 1.5, 
these are not specifically identified.  

9.  Strategic policies should look ahead over a 
minimum 15-year period from adoption. 

NPPF Para 22 The overall strategic priority is set out in HMWP Para. 28: 

‘The overall priority is that enough minerals and waste development is 
provided to support the economies of Hampshire, as well as economies 
in other areas influenced by Hampshire throughout the Plan period, 
without jeopardising Hampshire’s environment and the quality of life of 
its communities.” 

This priority is then transposed in HMWP Policy 17: Aggregate supply – 
capacity and source and Policy 27: Capacity for waste management 
development.  Both policies include the Plan period of 2030.   

10.  Indicate broad locations for development on a 
key diagram, and land use designations and 
allocations on a policies map.  
 

NPPF Para 23 The HMWP Key Diagram is outlined in Figure 6 (Key Diagram) and the 
allocations are set out in inset maps (Appendix A) and the Policies Map 
(adopted 2013).  

P
age 251



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 154 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

11.  Strategic policies should provide a clear strategy 
for bringing sufficient land forward, and at a 
sufficient rate, to address objectively assessed 
mineral demand and waste management needs 
over the plan period. 

NPPF Para 23 The HMWP Spatial Strategy is set out in Paras. 2.26 to 2.46.  

12.  Include non-strategic policies to set out more 
detailed policies for specific areas.  

NPPF Para 18, 28 Whilst the HMWP outlines that it contains Strategic Policies in Para 1.5, 
these are not specifically identified. 

However, the HMWP contains detailed policies for the provision of 
different minerals and waste streams as well as outlining specific 
development management policies. 

13.  Set out contributions expected from 
development (where relevant) and demonstrate 
that expected contributions will not undermine 
the deliverability of the Plan. 

NPPF Para 34, 57 The requirement for planning obligations are set out in HMWP Para 3.9 
– 3.13.   

*Typo in para 3.13, line 5  

 Housing  

14.  Be informed by a local housing need 
assessment, conducted using the standard 
method in national planning guidance as a 
starting point. 

NPPF Para 60 Not applicable 

15.  Identify the size, type and tenure of housing 
needed for different groups. 

NPPF Para 61 Not applicable 

P
age 252



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 155 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

16.  Where a need for affordable housing is 
identified, specify the type of affordable housing 
required. 

NPPF Para 62 Not applicable 

17.  Expect at least 10% of homes to be available for 
affordable home ownership, unless this would 
exceed the level of affordable housing required 
in the area, or significantly prejudice the ability 
to meet the identified affordable housing needs 
of specific groups 

NPPF Para 64 Not applicable 

18.  Set out a housing requirement for designated 
neighbourhood areas which reflects the overall 
strategy for the pattern and scale of 
development and any relevant allocations. 

NPPF Para 65 Not applicable 

19.  Identify a supply of specific, deliverable sites for 
years one to five of the plan period, and specific, 
developable sites or broad locations for growth, 
for years 6-10 and, where possible, for years 11-
15 of the plan. 

NPPF Para 67 Not applicable 

20.  Identify land to accommodate at least 10% of 
the housing requirement on sites no larger than 
one hectare; unless it can be demonstrated that 
there are strong reasons why the 10% target 
cannot be achieved. 

NPPF Para 68 Not applicable 

21.  Support the development of entry level 
exception sites, suitable for first time buyers, 

NPPF Para 71 Not applicable 

P
age 253



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 156 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

unless the need for such homes is already being 
met within the authority’s area.  

22.  Include a trajectory illustrating the expected rate 
of housing delivery over the plan period, and 
requiring a buffer of 10% where the local 
planning authority wishes to demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable sites through an 
annual position statement or recently adopted 
plan. 

NPPF Para 73 Not applicable 

23.  Be responsive to local circumstances and 
support rural housing developments that reflect 
local needs.  

NPPF Para 77 Not applicable 

24.  Identify opportunities for villages to grow and 
thrive, especially where this will support local 
services. 

NPPF Para 78 Not applicable 

25.  Avoid the development of isolated homes in the 
countryside unless specific circumstances are 
consistent with those set out in the NPPF.  

NPPF Para 79 Not applicable 

 Economy  

26.  Create conditions in which businesses can 
invest, expand and adapt. 

NPPF Para 80 Not applicable 

P
age 254



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 157 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

27.  Set out a clear economic vision and strategy 
which positively and proactively encourages 
sustainable economic growth, having regard to 
Local Industrial Strategies and other local 
policies for economic development and 
regeneration. 

NPPF Para 81 Not applicable 

28.  Set criteria, or identify strategic sites, for local 
and inward investment to match the strategy 
and to meet anticipated needs over the plan 
period. 

NPPF Para 81 Not applicable 

29.  Seek to address potential barriers to investment, 
such as inadequate infrastructure, services or 
housing, or a poor environment. 

NPPF Para 81 Not applicable 

30.  Be flexible enough to accommodate needs not 
anticipated in the plan, allow for new and 
flexible working practices (such as live-work 
accommodation), and to enable a rapid 
response to changes in economic circumstances. 

NPPF Para 81 Not applicable 

31.  Recognise and address the specific locational 
requirements of different sectors. This includes 
making provision for clusters or networks of 
knowledge and data-driven, creative or high 
technology industries; and for storage and 
distribution operations at a variety of scales and 
in suitably accessible locations. 

NPPF Para 82 Not applicable 

P
age 255



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 158 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

32.  Enable the sustainable growth and expansion of 
all types of business in rural areas, both through 
conversion of existing buildings and well-
designed new buildings. 

NPPF Para 83 Not applicable 

33.  Enable the development and diversification of 
agricultural and other land-based rural 
businesses. 

NPPF Para 83 Not applicable 

34.  Enable sustainable rural tourism and leisure 
developments which respect the character of 
the countryside. 

NPPF Para 83 Not applicable 

35.  Enable the retention and development of 
accessible local services and community 
facilities, such as local shops, meeting places, 
sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, 
public houses and places of worship. 

NPPF Para 83 Not applicable 

36.  Recognise that sites to meet local business and 
community needs in rural areas may have to be 
found adjacent to or beyond existing 
settlements, and in locations that are not well 
served by public transport. 

NPPF Para 84 Not applicable 

37.  Town centres  

38.  Define a network and hierarchy of town centres 
and promote their long-term vitality and 
viability. 

NPPF Para 85 Not applicable 

P
age 256



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 159 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

39.  Define the extent of town centres and primary 
shopping areas, and make clear the range of 
uses permitted in such locations. 

NPPF Para 85 Not applicable 

40.  Retain and enhance existing markets and, where 
appropriate, re-introduce or create new ones. 

NPPF Para 85 Not applicable 

41.  Allocate a range of suitable sites in town centres 
to meet the scale and type of development likely 
to be needed, looking at least ten years ahead.  

NPPF Para 85 Not applicable 

42.  Where suitable and viable town centre sites are 
not available for main town centre uses, allocate 
appropriate edge of centre sites that are well 
connected to the town centre.  

NPPF Para 85 Not applicable 

43.  Recognise that residential development often 
plays an important role in ensuring the vitality of 
centres and encourage residential development 
on appropriate sites. 

NPPF Para 85 Not applicable 

44.  Healthy and safe communities  

45.  Achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which 
promote social interaction, are safe and 
accessible, and enable and support healthy 
lifestyles.   

NPPF Para 91 The HWMP has limited scope for contribution to the provision of health 
and safe communities due to the nature of the development delivered.  
However, HMWP Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and waste 

P
age 257



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 160 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

46.  Plan positively for the provision and use of 
shared spaces, community facilities (such as 
local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open 
space, cultural buildings, public houses and 
places of worship) and other local services to 
enhance the sustainability of communities and 
residential environments. 

NPPF Para 92 developments specifies that restoration of minerals and waste 
developments should ‘contribute to the delivery of local objectives for 
habitats, biodiversity or community use where these are consistent with 
the development plan.  

Para. 4.74 states that restoration should include at least one of the aims 
including: 

- Improved public access to the natural environment through the 
creation of enhanced access as well as leisure and amenity 
opportunities.  

- Contribution to local objectives (provision of green 
infrastructure).  

47.  Take into account and support the delivery of 
local strategies to improve health, social and 
cultural well-being for all sections of the 
community. 

NPPF Para 92 

48.  Guard against the unnecessary loss of valued 
facilities and services, particularly where this 
would reduce the community’s ability to meet 
its day-to-day needs. 

NPPF Para 92 Not applicable 

49.  Ensure that established shops, facilities and 
services are able to develop and modernise, and 
are retained for the benefit of the community. 

NPPF Para 92 Not applicable 

50.  Ensure an integrated approach to considering 
the location of housing, economic uses and 
community facilities and services. 

NPPF Para 92 Not applicable 

P
age 258



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 161 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

51.  Consider the social, economic and 
environmental benefits of estate regeneration. 

NPPF Para 93 Not applicable 

52.  Promote public safety and take into account 
wider security and defence requirements. 

NPPF Para 95 The promotion of Public Safety is outlined in HWMP Policy 10: 
Protecting public health, safety and amenity.  However, the HWMP has 
limited scope for taking into account wider security and defence 
requirements.  

53.  Provide open space, sports and recreational 
facilities which meets the needs of the local 
area. 

NPPF Para 95 The HWMP has limited scope for provision of open space, sports and 
recreational facilities due to the nature of the development delivered.  
However, HMWP Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and waste 
developments specifies that restoration of minerals and waste 
developments should ‘contribute to the delivery of local objectives for 
habitats, biodiversity or community use where these are consistent with 
the development plan.  

Para. 4.74 states that restoration should include at least one of the aims 
including: 

- Improved public access to the natural environment through the 
creation of enhanced access as well as leisure and amenity 
opportunities.  

Contribution to local objectives (provision of green infrastructure). 

54.  Protect and enhance public rights of way and 
access. 

NPPF Para 98 

55.  Transport  

P
age 259



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 162 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

56.  Should actively manage patterns of growth in 
support of objectives in Para 102. Significant 
development should be focused on locations 
which are/can be made sustainable. 
Opportunities to maximise sustainable transport 
solutions will vary between urban and rural 
areas - this should be taken into account in plan-
making.  

NPPF Para 103 Transport issues relating to minerals and waste development are 
addressed by HWMP Policy 12: Managing traffic.   

However, the Policy makes reference to ‘mitigating’ significant adverse 
effects rather than considering the “environmental impacts of traffic and 
transport infrastructure can be identified, assessed and taken into 
account – including appropriate opportunities for avoiding and 
mitigating any adverse effects, and for net environmental gains” (NPPF, 
Para. 102 (d)).  

57.  Support an appropriate mix of uses across an 
area, and within larger scale sites, to minimise 
the number and length of journeys needed for 
employment, shopping, leisure, education and 
other activities. 

NPPF Para 104 Minerals extraction development can only take place where the geology 
is present.  Therefore, there is limited scope to consider an appropriate 
mix of uses.   

However, different waste management activities can occur in varying 
scales and HMWP Para. 5.36 outlines the suggested scale of 
development in a waste management network to reduce the transport 
impacts.  

58.  Identify and protect, where there is robust 
evidence, sites and routes which could be critical 
in developing infrastructure to widen transport 
choice and realise opportunities for large scale 
development. 

NPPF Para 104 The HWMP only considered minerals and waste transport 
infrastructure.  These are identified and safeguarded though Policy 16: 
Safeguarding – minerals infrastructure, Policy 19: Aggregate wharves 
and rail depots and Policy 34: safeguarding potential minerals and waste 
wharf and rail depot infrastructure.  

P
age 260



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 163 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

59.  Provide for high quality walking and cycling 
networks and supporting facilities such as cycle 
parking (drawing on Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plans). 

NPPF Para 104 Not applicable. 

60.  Provide for any large-scale transport facilities 
that need to be located in the area and the 
infrastructure and wider development required 
to support their operation, expansion and 
contribution to the wider economy. 

NPPF Para 104 The HWMP only considered minerals and waste transport 
infrastructure.  These are identified though Policy 19: Aggregate 
wharves and rail depots and Policy 34: safeguarding potential minerals 
and waste wharf and rail depot infrastructure. 

61.  Recognise the importance of maintaining a 
national network of general aviation airfields. 

NPPF Para 104 Not applicable. 

62.  Provide adequate overnight lorry parking 
facilities, taking into account any local shortages. 

NPPF Para 107 Not applicable. 

63.  In assessing sites that may be allocated for 
development in plans, it should be ensured that: 
appropriate opportunities to promote 
sustainable transport modes can be – or have 
been – taken up, given the type of development 
and its location; safe and suitable access to the 
site can be achieved for all users; and any 
significant impacts from the development on the 
transport network (in terms of capacity and 
congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost 
effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.   

NPPF Para 108 The assessment of sites for mineral and waste development is set out in 
HMWP Policy 12: Managing traffic. 

 

P
age 261



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 164 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

64.  Development should only be prevented on 
highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe.  

NPPF Para 109 In addition to HWMP Policy 12: Managing traffic, Para. 5.36 makes 
specific reference to the importance of cross-boundary impacts and 
cumulative impacts.  

65.  Communications  

66.  Support the expansion of electronic 
communications networks, including next 
generation mobile technology (such as 5G) and 
full fibre broadband connections, setting out 
how high-quality digital infrastructure is 
expected to be delivered and upgraded over 
time.  
 
 
 

NPPF Para 112 Not applicable. 

67.  Making effective use of land  

68.  Promote an effective use of land in meeting the 
need for homes and other uses, while 
safeguarding and improving the environment 
and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. 

NPPF Para 117 Minerals extraction development can only take place where the geology 
is present.  However, Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates outlines the 
locations of where provision will be met and specific criteria for 
proposals for new sites.  

P
age 262



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 165 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

The provision of waste management development is outlined in Policy 
29: Locations and sites for waste management.  Part 2 makes specific 
reference to support development where it “is previously development 
land or redundant agricultural and forestry buildings, their curtilages 
and hardstandings or is part of an active quarry or landfill operation”.   

The HWMP seeks to protect the environment and living conditions 
through Policy 10: Protecting public health, safety and amenity.   

69.  Set out a clear strategy for accommodating 
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes 
as much use as possible of previously-developed 
or ‘brownfield’ land. 

NPPF Para 117 Not applicable – See NPPW Requirements 

70.  Encourage multiple benefits from both urban 
and rural land, including through mixed use 
schemes and taking opportunities to achieve net 
environmental gains. 

NPPF Para 118 The HWMP has limited scope for encouraging multiple benefits from 
both urban and rural land.  However, HMWP Policy 9: Restoration of 
minerals and waste developments specifies that restoration of minerals 
and waste developments should ‘be restored to beneficial after-uses 
consistent with the development plan’. 

Para. 4.74 states that restoration should include at least one of the aims 
listed.  

The policies and supporting text do not make specific reference to 
achieving net environmental gains.  

P
age 263



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 166 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

71.  Recognise that some undeveloped land can 
perform many functions, such as for wildlife, 
recreation, flood risk mitigation, 
cooling/shading, carbon storage or food 
production. 

NPPF Para 118 The important functions or contributions land can make are highlighted 
in various parts of the HMWP including Para. 4.1.  However, there is no 
specific mention of some of the functions listed in NPPF Para. 118.  
Neither is there a clear statement giving cause for land to be 
undeveloped due to the importance of these functions.  

72.  Give substantial weight to the value of using 
suitable brownfield land within settlements for 
homes and other identified needs, and support 
appropriate opportunities to remediate 
despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or 
unstable land. 

NPPF Para 118 Minerals extraction development can only take place where the geology 
is present.  Therefore, the opportunities for use of brownfield land is 
limited.  

The provision of waste management development is outlined in Policy 
29: Locations and sites for waste management.  Part 2 makes specific 
reference to support development where it “is previously development 
land or redundant agricultural and forestry buildings, their curtilages 
and hardstandings or is part of an active quarry or landfill operation; or 
is within or adjoins sewage treatment works and the development 
enables the co-treatment of sewage sludge with other wastes”.   

73.  Promote and support the development of 
under-utilised land and buildings. 

NPPF Para 118 

74.  Support opportunities to use the airspace above 
existing residential and commercial premises for 
new homes. 

NPPF Para 118 Not applicable.  

75.  Reflect changes in the demand for land. NPPF Para 120 Allocations and capacity are monitored annually for both minerals and 
waste development and reported in the Monitoring Report and/or Local 
Aggregate Assessment.  An assessment of the allocations was 

P
age 264



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 167 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

undertaken as part of the 2018 Review of the HMWP and is being 
repeated to inform the 2020 Review of the HWMP.  

76.  Support development that makes efficient use 
of land, taking into account the need for 
different types of housing and other forms of 
development, local market conditions, the 
availability and capacity of infrastructure and 
services, the character and setting of the area, 
and the importance of securing well-designed, 
attractive and healthy places.   

NPPF Para 122 The HMWP only considers minerals and waste development.  The 
efficient use of land is encouraged through a number of policies 
including: Policy 15: Safeguarding minerals resources which seeks to 
encourage prior extraction; Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and waste 
development which seeks to achieve beneficial after-uses; and Policy 29: 
Locations and sites for waste management development which 
recognises the various the locational requirements of different types of 
waste development.   

The availability and capacity of infrastructure is considered through: 
Policy 16: Safeguarding – minerals infrastructure; Policy 17: Aggregate 
supply – capacity and source; Policy 19: Aggregate wharves and rail 
depots; Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates; Policy 21: Silica sand 
development; Policy 22: Brick-making clay;  Policy 23: Chalk 
development; Policy 26: Safeguarding – waste infrastructure; Policy 27: 
Capacity for waste management development.    

Securing well-designed development is sought through Policy 13: High-
quality design of minerals and waste development.  

P
age 265



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 168 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

77.  Avoid homes being built at low densities where 
there is an existing or anticipated shortage of 
identified housing needs, and where appropriate 
include the use of minimum density standards. 

NPPF Para 123 Not applicable.  

78.  Design  

79.  Set out a clear design vision and provide 
maximum clarity about design expectations. 

NPPF Para 125 & 
126 

The requirement for design of minerals and waste developments is set 
out in HMWP Policy 13: High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development.  This is supported by Para. 5.44 which states design and 
access statements are required, where appropriate.  This is supported 
further by Para. 5.45. which provides the key designs and operational 
principles that should be met.  

The scope for design of minerals development is limited.  However, the 
policy does not seek to encourage the inclusion of local communities in 
considering the design of waste management facilities only 
consideration of the impact of the development on communities 
through the reference to Policy 10: Protecting public health, safety and 
amenity.   

80.  Ensure that developments will function well and 
add to the overall quality of the area, are visually 
attractive as a result of good architecture, layout 
and appropriate and effective landscaping, are 
sympathetic to local character and history, 

NPPF Para 127 The requirement for design of life cycle of minerals and waste 
developments is set out in HMWP Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and 

P
age 266



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 169 
 

 A. NPPF Requirement B. NPPF Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting, establish or maintain a strong 
sense of place, optimise the potential of the site 
to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development, and create 
places that are safe, accessible and inclusive.   
 

waste developments and Policy 13: High-quality design of minerals and 
waste development.   

This is further supported by the following policies which give specific 
criteria on the locational requirements of development: 

- Policy 19: Aggregate wharves and rail depots 
- Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates 
- Policy 21: Silica sand development 
- Policy 24: Oil and gas development 
- Policy 27: Capacity for waste management development 
- Policy 28: Energy recovery development 
- Policy 29: Locations and sites for waste management  
- Policy 31: Liquid waste and waste water management  
- Policy 32: Non-hazardous waste landfill   

  

P
age 267



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 170 
 

81.  Green Belt  

82.  Set out proposals for new Green Belts within strategic 
policies.  This should demonstrate why normal planning and 
development management policies would not be adequate, 
any major changes in circumstances, consequences for 
sustainable development, the need for Green Belt to support 
adjoining areas, and how new Green Belt would meet other 
objectives of the Framework.  

NPPF Para 
135 

Not applicable.  

83.  Green Belt boundaries should only be altered where 
exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and justified, 
through the preparation or updating of plans. Strategic 
policies should establish the need for any changes to Green 
Belt boundaries, having regard to their intended permanence 
in the long term, so they can endure beyond the plan period. 
Where a need for changes to Green Belt boundaries has been 
established through strategic policies, detailed amendments 
to those boundaries may be made through non-strategic 
policies, including neighbourhood plans.  Even when 
exceptional circumstances are demonstrated strategically to 
take land out of the Green Belt, it is still necessary to 
demonstrate that exceptional circumstances exist at the site 
level. 

NPPF Para 
136 

The potential impact of minerals and waste development on the Green 
Belt is set out in HMWP Policy 6: South West Hampshire Green Belt.  
Whilst the policy outlines that development within the Green Belt with 
need to demonstrate that it is not inappropriate or that very special 
circumstances exist, the terminology of the policy and support text does 
not reflect the NPPF’s use of ‘exceptional’ circumstances or the regard 
that should be given to the permanence of the development impact on 
the Green Belt.    

P
age 268



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 171 
 

84.  Strategic policies should make as much use as possible of 
suitable brownfield sites and underutilised land and optimise 
the density of development including promoting an uplift in 
minimum density standards in town and city centres and 
locations well served by public transport. Where it has been 
concluded that it is necessary to release Green Belt land for 
development, plans should give first consideration to land 
which has been previously-developed and/or is well-served 
by public transport. They should also set out ways in which 
the impact of removing land from the Green Belt can be 
offset through compensatory improvements to the 
environmental quality and accessibility of remaining Green 
Belt land. 

NPPF Para 
137 & 138 

Not applicable. 

85.  When defining Green Belt boundaries, plans should ensure 
consistency with the development plan’s strategy for 
meeting identified requirements for sustainable 
development, not include land which it is unnecessary to 
keep permanently open, identify areas of safeguarded land 
between the urban area and the Green Belt where necessary, 
make clear that the safeguarded land is not allocated for 
development at the present time, be able to demonstrate 
that Green Belt boundaries will not need to be altered at the 
end of the plan period, and define boundaries clearly. 

NPPF Para 
139 

Not applicable. 

  

P
age 269



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 172 
 

86.  Climate change, flooding and coastal change  

87.  Take a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to 
climate change, taking into account the long-term 
implications for flood risk, coastal change, water supply, 
biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk of overheating from 
rising temperature. 

NPPF Para 
149 

The HMWP seeks to address the mitigation and adaptation of climate 
change through Policy 2: Climate change mitigation and adaptation. 

Whilst the policy states that minerals and waste development should 
minimise their impacts, this is not necessarily a ‘proactive’ approach.  
The Climate Change Act requires Local Plans to monitor carbon 
emissions.  The Plan does not outline the baseline for carbon emissions 
or measures to monitor the performance of the Plan on its carbon 
impact. 

In June 2019, Hampshire County Council declared a Climate Change 
Emergency90.  The HMWP is listed in the Climate Change Strategy as 
being a support for managing Hampshire’s emissions and resilience.   

88.  Support appropriate measures to ensure the future resilience 
of communities and infrastructure to climate change 
impacts. 

NPPF Para 
149 

89.  Increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon 
energy and heat by providing a positive strategy for energy 
from these sources, identifying suitable areas for renewable 
and low carbon energy sources, and identifying opportunities 
for development to draw its energy supply from 
decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply 
systems and for co-locating potential heat customers and 
suppliers. 

NPPF Para 
151 

HMWP Policy 2: Climate change mitigation and adaptation and Policy 
28: Energy recovery development seek to facilitate low carbon 
technologies. Policy 28 also requires the design of plants to have the 
capability to deliver heat in the future, this is not necessarily being 
delivered on the ground.   

90.  Strategic policies should manage flood risk from all sources. NPPF Para 
156 

The impact of minerals and waste development on flood risk it set out in 
HMWP Policy 11: Flood Risk & Prevention.  The supporting text 

 
90 Portsmouth declared a climate change emergency in March 2019, Southampton in September 2019. 

P
age 270



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 173 
 

considers all sources of flooding and the role of the lead local flood 
authority (LLFA).  However, at the time of adoption, the role of the was 
being defined and this text would benefit from being updated.   

Reference to the supporting Strategic Flood Risk Assessment is set out in 
Para. 5.27.  

91.  Avoiding inappropriate development in vulnerable areas and 
not exacerbating the impacts of physical changes to the 
coast. 

NPPF Para 
167 

Consideration of the impact of development on the coast is outlined in 
Para. 5.24 and 5.25. However, there is no mention of Coastal Change 
Management Areas and the need for their consideration where 
proposals are made on the coast.  

92.  Natural environment  

93.  Contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 
by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of 
biodiversity or geological value and soils, recognising the 
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the 
wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services.   

NPPF Para 
170 

The HWMP recognises the benefits of ‘ecosystem services’ in Para. 4.1 
but does not make reference to natural capital.  

The contribution to and the enhancement of the natural and local 
environment it set out in the following policies: 

- Policy 3: Protection of habitats and species 
- Policy 4: Protection of the designated landscape 
- Policy 5: Protection of the countryside 
- Policy 8: Protection of soils 
- Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and waste developments 

Protection of soils, water and air is considered through Policy 10: 
Protecting public health, safety and amenity.  

P
age 271



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 174 
 

However, there is no specific reference to protection of the 
undeveloped coast or the provision of net gains.  

 

94.  Plans should: distinguish between the hierarchy of 
international, national and locally designated sites, take a 
strategic approach to maintaining and enhancing networks of 
habitats and green infrastructure, and plan for the 
enhancement of natural capital at a catchment or landscape 
scale across local authority boundaries. 

NPPF Para 
171 

The hierarchy and enhancement of sites, habitats and species is set out 
in HMWP Policy 3: Protection of habitats and species.  Consideration of 
the enhancement of habitat network and green infrastructure is 
provided in Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and waste developments.  

However, there is no reference to natural capacity or the framework for 
how this can be considered at a catchment or landscape scale.  

95.  Conserve the special character and importance of Heritage 
Coast areas.  

NPPF Para 
173 

Not applicable.  

96.  Identify, map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich 
habitats and wider ecological networks, promote the 
conservation, restoration and enhancement of priority 
habitats, ecological networks and the protection and 
recovery of priority species, and identify and pursue 
opportunities for securing measurable net gains for 
biodiversity. 

NPPF Para 
174 

The consideration of local wildlife-rich habitats and wider ecological 
network is provided in HMWP Policy 3: Protection of habitats and 
species and Policy 9: Restoration of minerals and waste developments.  
The sites are identified and mapped on the Policies Map.  

However, there is no reference to securing measurable net gains for 
biodiversity. 

P
age 272



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 175 
 

97.  Ensure that a site is suitable for its proposed use taking 
account of ground conditions, any risks arising from land 
instability and contamination, and the likely effects of 
pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment.    

NPPF Para 
178 & 180 

The suitability of site conditions for minerals and waste development is 
set out in HMWP Policy 10: Protecting health, safety and amenity.  

 

98.  Sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant 
limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into 
account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and 
Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual 
sites in local areas.   

NPPF Para 
181 

HMWP Policy 10: Protecting health, safety and amenity considers the 
potential for release of emissions to the atmosphere but does not make 
specific reference to air quality.  It does consider cumulative impacts.  

 

HMWP Policy 12: Managing traffic considers the carbon dioxide 
emissions of traffic and methods for reducing this but does not make 
specific reference to Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones.  

 

99.  Ensure that new development can be integrated effectively 
with existing businesses and community facilities.   

NPPF Para 
182 

HMWP Policy 13: High quality design of minerals and waste 
developments seeks to ensure that minerals and waste development 
maintains and enhances the distinctive character of a landscape and 
townscape.  This is elaborated further in Para. 5.45 in that development 
should ‘be appropriate in scale and character in relation to its location, 
the surrounding area and any stated objectives for the future of the 
area.  This should include any planned new development or 
regeneration’.  

P
age 273



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 176 
 

Policy 16: safeguarding – minerals infrastructure and Policy 26: 
Safeguarding – waste infrastructure both seek to protect planned and 
existing development from encroachment.  

However, reference is not made to the ‘agent of change’.   

100.  Historic Environment  

101.  Set out a positive strategy for the conservation and 
enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage 
assets most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats. 

NPPF Para 
185 

The conservation of the historic environment is outlined in HMWP Policy 
7: Conserving the historic environment.  However, the emphasis is on 
‘protection’ rather than ‘sustaining’.  Whilst the contribution to a ‘sense 
pf place’ and ‘local identity’ is outlined in Para. 4.53, the wider social, 
cultural, economic and environmental benefits are not considered in the 
supporting text.  

102.  Minerals  

103.  Provide for the extraction of mineral resources of local and 
national importance. 

NPPF Para 
204 

The extraction of minerals resources of local and national importance is 
set out in the following policies: 

- Policy 15: Safeguarding – mineral resources 
- Policy 16: Safeguarding – minerals infrastructure 
- Policy 17: Aggregate supply – capacity and source 
- Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates 
- Policy 21: Silica sand development 
- Policy 22: Brick-making clay  
- Policy 23: Chalk development 
- Policy 24: Oil and gas development 

P
age 274



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 177 
 

Whilst the policies seek to make provision, the rates outlined in HMWP 
Policy 17 are not currently being met.  

104.  Take account of the contribution that substitute or secondary 
and recycled materials and minerals waste would make to 
the supply of materials, before considering extraction of 
primary materials. 

NPPF Para 
204 

The contribution of substitute or secondary and recycled materials and 
minerals waste would make is outlined in Policy 17: Aggregate supply – 
capacity and source and Policy 18: Recycled and secondary aggregates 
development.  This is further supported through Policy 30: Construction, 
demolition and excavation waste development.   

Whilst the policies seek to make provision, the rate of 1mpta outlined in 
HMWP Policy 17 is not currently being met. 

105.  Safeguard mineral resources by defining Mineral 
Safeguarding Areas. 

NPPF Para 
204 

The safeguarding of minerals resources and the need for prior extraction 
is outlined in Policy 15: Safeguarding – mineral resources.  This is further 
supported by the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Safeguarding 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)*.   

*As this was adopted after the HMWP, the Plan would benefit from 
making reference to the SPD.  

106.  Encourage the prior extraction of minerals, where practical 
and environmentally feasible, if it is necessary for non-
mineral development to take place. 

NPPF Para 
204 

107.  Safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for: the bulk 
transport, handling and processing of minerals, the 
manufacture of concrete and concrete products and the 
handling, processing and distribution of substitute, recycled 
and secondary aggregate material. 

NPPF Para 
204 

The safeguarding of minerals infrastructure is set out in Policy 16: 
Safeguarding – minerals infrastructure.  The requirement for the 
safeguarding is set out in Para. 6.22.   In addition, Policy 34: 
Safeguarding potential minerals and waste wharf and rail depots seeks 
to safeguard sites that may become available in the future.  These 
policies are further supported by the Hampshire Minerals & Waste 
Safeguarding Supplementary Planning Document* (SPD).   

P
age 275



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 178 
 

*As this was adopted after the HMWP, the Plan would benefit from 
making reference to the SPD. 

108.  Set out criteria or requirements to ensure that permitted and 
proposed operations do not have unacceptable adverse 
impacts on the natural and historic environment or human 
health 

NPPF Para 
204 

The criteria and requirements to ensure permitted and proposed 
operations do not have an unacceptable adverse impact are set out in 
the Development Management policies (1 - 12) including Policy 10: 
Protecting public health, safety and amenity which considered the 
potential for cumulative impacts.    

109.  Recognise that some noisy short-term activities, which may 
otherwise be regarded as unacceptable, are unavoidable to 
facilitate minerals extraction 

NPPF Para 
204 

The recognition of the impacts of minerals and waste development 
including noise is outlined in Paras. 5.4 and 5.8.  Policy 10: Protecting 
health, safety and amenity seeks to address any significant adverse 
impacts such as noise.  

110.  Ensure that worked land is reclaimed at the earliest 
opportunity, taking account of aviation safety, and that high-
quality restoration and aftercare of mineral sites takes place. 

NPPF Para 
204 

The need for restoration of worked land is set out in Policy 9: 
Restoration of minerals and waste developments.  The requirement for 
provision at the earliest opportunity is outlined in Para. 4.70*.  

 

  

P
age 276



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 179 
 

National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) 

 A. NPPW Requirement B. NPPW 
Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

 General Requirements  

1.  Positive planning through: 
- delivery of sustainable development and resource 
efficiency;  
- ensuring that waste management is considered alongside 
other spatial planning concerns;  
 

NPPW 
Para 1 

The delivery of sustainable development is outlined in HMWP Policy 25: 
Sustainable waste management. Para. 6.128 outlines how the waste 
policies contained within the Plan seeks to address wider planning 
concerns.    

2.  Providing a framework in which communities and businesses 
are engaged with and take more responsibility for their own 
waste; 
- helping to secure the re-use, recovery or disposal of waste 
without endangering human health and without harming the 
environment; and  
- ensuring the design and layout of new residential and 
commercial development and other infrastructure (such as 
safe and reliable transport links) complements sustainable 
waste management. 

NPPW 
Para 1 

Not applicable  

3.  Ensure that the planned provision of new capacity and its 
spatial distribution is based on robust analysis of best 
available data and information, and an appraisal of options.  

NPPW 
Para 2 

Provision is outlined in Policy 25: Sustainable waste management and 
the detail on how this is to be delivered in capacity terms is set out in 
Policy 27: Capacity for waste management development.  

P
age 277



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 180 
 

 A. NPPW Requirement B. NPPW 
Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

The background to this information is set out in Paras. 6.166 to 6.179 
and provided in more detail in the Assessment of Need for Waste 
Management Facilities in Hampshire: Waste Data Summary Report. 

4.  Work jointly and collaboratively with other planning 
authorities to collect and share data and information on 
waste arisings, and take account of:  
    

(i) waste arisings across neighbouring waste 
planning authority areas;          

(ii) any waste management requirement identified 
nationally, including the Government’s latest 
advice on forecasts of waste arisings and the 
proportion of waste that can be recycled. 

NPPW 2 
Para 2 

The HMWP was prepared in Partnership which is outlined in Para. 2.23.  

The information on waste arisings is set out in Table 6.5 which takes into 
account the guidance on forecasts at the time.  This is provided in more 
detail in the Assessment of Need for Waste Management Facilities in 
Hampshire: Waste Data Summary Report. 

 

5.  Ensure that the need for waste management facilities is 
considered alongside other spatial planning concerns, 
recognising the positive contribution that waste 
management can bring to the development of sustainable 
communities. 

NPPW 
Para 2 

The delivery of sustainable development is outlined in HMWP Policy 25: 
Sustainable waste management. Paras. 6.126 to 6.128 outlines how the 
waste policies seek to meet national planning objectives. 

However, the Plan could be more explicit in relation to the positive 
contribution that waste management can bring to communities.     

6.  Undertake early and meaningful engagement with local 
communities so that plans, as far as possible, reflect a 
collective vision and set of agreed priorities when planning 
for sustainable waste management, recognising that 

NPPW 
Para 3 

Paras 1.6 and 1.7 of the HMWP outlines how and when the local 
community was engaged in the development of the Plan including the 
Vision and Plan objectives.  The concerns regarding waste management 

P
age 278



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 181 
 

 A. NPPW Requirement B. NPPW 
Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

proposals for waste management facilities such as 
incinerators can be controversial. 

development are recognised and outlined in Para. 2.17 as a key issue for 
the Plan.  

7.  Drive waste management up the waste hierarchy, 
recognising the need for a mix of types and scale of facilities, 
and that adequate provision must be made for waste 
disposal. 

NPPW 
Para 3 

Application of the waste hierarchy is outlined in Policy 25: Sustainable 
waste management and the types and scales of the facilities required to 
delivery is set out in the supporting text to Policy 29: Locations and sites 
for waste management.  

8.  Identify the tonnages and percentages of municipal, and 
commercial and industrial, waste requiring different types of 
management in their area over the period of the plan. 

NPPW 
Para 3 

The requirement is outlined in Policy 25: Sustainable waste 
management and the detail on how this is to be delivered in terms of 
types of infrastructure is set out in Policy 27: Capacity for waste 
management development.  

The background to this information is set out in Paras. 6.166 to 6.179 
and provided in more detail in the Assessment of Need for Waste 
Management Facilities in Hampshire: Waste Data Summary Report. This 
includes minimum capacity targets through the Plan period.  

9.  Consider the need for additional waste management capacity 
of more than local significance and reflect any requirement 
for waste management facilities identified nationally. 

NPPW 
Para 3 

The consideration of capacity for waste management of more than local 
significance and national requirements which may result in the need fir 
limited facilities are set out in the following policies:  

- Policy 28: Energy recovery development 
- Policy 31: Liquid waste and waste water management 
- Policy 32: Non-hazardous waste landfill 

10.  Take account of waste management needs, including for 
disposal of the residues from treated wastes, arising in more 

NPPW 
Para 3 

P
age 279



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 182 
 

 A. NPPW Requirement B. NPPW 
Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

than one waste planning authority area but where only a 
limited number of facilities would be required. 

- Policy 33: Hazardous and Low Level Radioactive Waste 
Development 

11.  Work collaboratively in groups with other waste planning 
authorities, and in two-tier areas with district authorities, 
through the statutory duty to cooperate, to provide a 
suitable network of facilities to deliver sustainable waste 
management. 

NPPW 
Para 3 

The HMWP was prepared in Partnership which is outlined in Para. 2.23 
and waste management is currently provided under a partnership of a 
number of Hampshire local authorities known as Project Integra (Para. 
6.160). The Duty to Cooperate during plan-preparation was met (Para. 
2.23).   

The delivery of provision is set out Policy 25: Sustainable waste 
management and the detail on how this is to be delivered is set out in 
Policy 27: Capacity for waste management development.  

12.  Consider the extent to which the capacity of existing 
operational facilities would satisfy any identified need. 

NPPW 
Para 3 

Existing capacity at the time of the Plan preparation is outlined in Paras. 
6.160 to 6.162.  This was taken into account to establish the capacity 
gaps which outlines the additional capacity required during the Plan 
period as set out in Policy 27: Capacity for waste management 
development.   

More detail is provided in the Assessment of Need for Waste 
Management Facilities in Hampshire: Waste Data Summary Report. This 
includes minimum capacity targets through the Plan period. 

P
age 280



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 183 
 

 A. NPPW Requirement B. NPPW 
Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

13.  Identify the broad type or types of waste management 
facility that would be appropriately located on the allocated 
site or in the allocated area in line with the waste hierarchy. 

NPPW  
Para 4 

The types of facilities and locational requirements are set out in HWMP 
Policy 29: Locations and sites for waste management.  At the time of the 
plan adoption, there was a suitable network of facilities in place.  The 
only allocations for waste management were for non-hazardous landfill 
and outlined in Policy 32: Non-hazardous landfill.  

It was expected that some future provision could be made on industrial 
estates (Para. 6.203).  However, these are not identified within the Plan.  

Policy 29 also suggests that certain types of waste development would 
be supported in ‘areas pf major new or planned development’ and these 
are identified on the Key Diagram.    

The Plan expects market-led delivery. However, monitoring suggests 
that there is a disconnect between what is being brought forward by the 
market and Policy 25 which seeks to drive waste management up the 
waste hierarchy.  

14.  Plan for the disposal of waste and the recovery of mixed 
municipal waste in line with the proximity principle. 

NPPW  
Para 4 

The proximity principle is outlined in part (b) of Policy 25: Sustainable 
waste management.  

15.  Consider opportunities for on-site management of waste 
where it arises 

NPPW  
Para 4 

There is limited scope for on-site management of wastes for minerals 
and waste developments.  However, Policy 30: Construction, demolition 

P
age 281



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 184 
 

 A. NPPW Requirement B. NPPW 
Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

and excavation waste development seeks to encourage recycling or 
recovery of the material which can take place on-site.  

16.  Consider a broad range of locations including industrial sites, 
looking for opportunities to co-locate waste management 
facilities together and with complementary activities. 

 

NPPW  
Para 4 

Co-location of facilities is addressed in the following HMWP policies: 

- Policy 25: Sustainable waste management 
- Policy 27: Capacity for waste management development  
- Policy 29: Locations and sites for waste management 
- Policy 31: Liquid waste and waste water management 

17.  Where a low carbon energy recovery facility is considered as 
an appropriate type of development, waste planning 
authorities should consider the suitable siting of such 
facilities to enable the utilisation of the heat produced as an 
energy source in close proximity to suitable potential heat 
customers. 

NPPW  
Para 4 

HMWP Policy 28: Energy recovery development states that ‘As a 
minimum requirement the scheme should recover energy through 
electricity production and the plant should be designed to have the 
capability to deliver heat in the future’ (Part (b)).  

 

18.  Give priority to the re-use of previously-developed land, sites 
identified for employment uses, and redundant agricultural 
and forestry buildings and their curtilages. 

NPPW  
Para 4 

HMWP Policy 29: Locations and sites for waste management includes 
support for ‘previously-development land or redundant agricultural and 
forestry buildings; their curtilages and hardstandings’ (Part 2 (c)) but is 
provides a more focused direction on employment sites by referencing 
‘suitable industrial’ estates and land ‘allocated for general 
industry/storage’.  This is due to fact that not all employment sites are 
suitable (e.g. business parks) as outlined in Para. 6.203.     

P
age 282



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 185 
 

 A. NPPW Requirement B. NPPW 
Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

19.  Physical and environmental constraints on development, 
including existing and proposed neighbouring land uses. 

NPPW 
Para 5 

HMWP Para. 6.196 states that the market-led approach ‘recognises the 
‘spatial’ needs of different types of waste facilities, including the 
demand for certain sites, and the constraints that limit the location of 
some facility types’.   

20.  The capacity of existing and potential transport infrastructure 
to support the sustainable movement of waste, and products 
arising from resource recovery, seeking when practicable and 
beneficial to use modes other than road transport. 

NPPW 
Para 5 

The capacity of transport infrastructure to support waste management 
is outlined in HMWP Policy 12: Managing traffic.  Potential wharves and 
rail depots are referenced in Policy 34: Safeguarding potential minerals 
and waste wharf and rail depot infrastructure.  

21.  The cumulative impact of existing and proposed waste 
disposal facilities on the well-being of the local community, 
including any significant adverse impacts on environmental 
quality, social cohesion and inclusion or economic potential. 

NPPW 
Para 5 

The cumulative impact of waste development is considered in Policy 10: 
Protecting public health, safety and amenity.  

 

22.  Planning authorities should first look for suitable sites and 
areas outside the Green Belt for waste management facilities 
that, if located in the Green Belt, would be inappropriate 
development. Local planning authorities should recognise the 
particular locational needs of some types of waste 
management facilities when preparing their Local Plan. 

NPPW 
Para 6 

Waste development in the Green Belt is considered in HMWP Policy 6: 
South West Hampshire Green Belt. 

P
age 283



 

2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) Page 186 
 

 A. NPPW Requirement B. NPPW 
Paragraph 
Reference 

C. Record your assessment results 

23.  Local planning authorities should, to the extent appropriate 
to their responsibilities, monitor and report. 

NPPW 
Para 9 

Section 7 of the HMWP outlines the responsibility of the Authorities to 
monitor and report on the Policies.  An Implementation and Monitoring 
Plan is set out in Appendix C.  

 

P
age 284



 
 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL, NEW FOREST NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY, PORTSMOUTH CITY 
COUNCIL, SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY & SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan 

 

 

Development Scheme 

 

 

 

 

 
December 2020 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Page 285



 
 

Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................. 1 

What is a Minerals & Waste Development Scheme? ......................................................... 1 

Why is the Plan being updated? ........................................................................................ 1 

What area is covered by the HMWP? ................................................................................ 3 

What resources are available for plan-making? ................................................................. 3 

2 Minerals & Waste Planning ......................................................................................... 4 

What is the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan? ................................................................ 4 

How does the Plan relate to other Plans and Strategies? .................................................. 4 

What are the key stages in document preparation? ........................................................... 5 

HMWP Update: Timetable ................................................................................................. 6 

Policies Map ...................................................................................................................... 7 

Meeting the Duty to Cooperate .......................................................................................... 7 

Local Aggregate Assessment ............................................................................................ 8 

Plan Assessment and Appraisal ........................................................................................ 8 

Plan Monitoring ................................................................................................................. 8 

Potential Risks to the Timetable ........................................................................................ 9 

3 HMWP Update: Evidence Base ................................................................................. 11 

Preparing a robust evidence base ................................................................................... 11 

Proposed evidence base ................................................................................................. 11 

Glossary of Terms & Acronyms ....................................................................................... 12 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 286



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  1 
 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 Hampshire County Council is one of five Minerals and Waste Planning Authorities 
(MWPA) which cover the geographical area of Hampshire and include New Forest 
National Park Authority, Portsmouth City Council, South Downs National Park 
Authority and Southampton City Council. 
 

1.2 The current Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (HMWP) (the Plan) was adopted by 
the five Hampshire MWPA in October 20131. The Plan is based upon the principle of 
ensuring that the Plan area has the right developments to maintain a reliable and 
timely supply of minerals and excellent management of waste, whilst protecting the 
environment and communities. It contains policies to enable minerals and waste 
decision-making, as well as minerals and waste site allocations (rail depots, land-won 
sand and gravel quarries, brick-making clay quarries and landfill) which support 
Hampshire's vision and objectives for minerals and waste development to 2030. The 
effectiveness of the policies in the HMWP are reviewed through annual Monitoring 
Reports. 

What is a Minerals & Waste Development Scheme? 
 
1.3 This Minerals and Waste Development Scheme (HMWDS) provides a timetable for the 

update to the HWMP and sets out what planning policy documents will be prepared, 
the subject matter, which geographical areas they relate to and the various stages that 
each will go through, including opportunities for public participation. 
 

1.4 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended by the Localism Act 
2011, requires every local plan making authority (LPA) in England to produce a 
development scheme, which sets out the timetable and details of planning policy 
documents that each LPA will produce. 

 
1.5 This updated HMWDS (2020) came into effect on to be inserted and replaces the 

previously published HMWDS published in 2014. The HMWDS will be subject to 
review on a regular basis to take account of the implementation and monitoring of the 
HMWP and the production of any associated documentation. The most up to date 
version of the HMWDS is published on Hampshire County Council’s website at:  
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-
minerals-waste-plan.   

 

Why is the Plan being updated? 
 

1.6 Planning Regulations2 and National Planning Policy3 require that policies in Local 
Plans should be reviewed to assess whether they require updating at least once every 
five years and updated, as necessary. As such, the HMWP was reviewed in 2018. 

 
1 Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) - 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-plan  
2 Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 
3 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (para. 33; p11) 

Page 287



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  2 
 

That review concluded that the policies were working effectively to achieve the Vision 
and there was no requirement at that time to update the HMWP.  
 

1.7 The 2018 Review also concluded, that the HMWP would be reviewed again in two 
years (2020) to determine the effectiveness of the policies and whether there is a need 
to amend site allocations. It was recognised that there were limitations to the 2018 
review: 
 The monitoring indicators and triggers may not have been defined sufficiently; 
 There were a number of uncertainties which would have an impact on future 

capacity requirements such as Brexit; and 
 The Government’s drive to boost the housing market would have an impact on 

construction aggregates but the timescales and quantities were difficult to define. 
 

1.8 A HMWP Review Workshop, attended by a wide range of Stakeholders, was 
undertaken in September 2019 to investigate the issues raised within the 2018 Review 
and how trends in minerals supply and sustainable waste management provision are 
developing. 
 

1.9 The 2020 Review of the HWMP has now been undertaken and concludes that the Plan 
requires some updating. This HWWDS outlines the programme for the partial Plan 
update including the timetable for production and when public participation is likely to 
take place.   

 
1.10 An updated Plan is important as an out-of-date plan allows less control over-achieving 

the right developments, in the right locations, at the right time for Hampshire and could 
lead to more planning applications determined at appeal.  

 
1.11 It is important that the project plan for the partial update of the HMWP is realistic, 'fit for 

purpose', and that the timescales are justified based on the local circumstances 
(including its available resources). The timetables set out in this document therefore 
reflect: 
 The available resources (see below); 
 The need to build upon previous minerals and waste plans; 
 The Statement of Community Involvement requirements for each Authority; 
 The need to produce a robust and up-to-date evidence base; 
 The need to undertake Sustainability Appraisal and a detailed Habitats 

Regulations Assessment; 
 New guidance and emerging best practice; and  
 The need to undergo democratic processes at the various plan preparation 

stages for each of the four authorities involved.   
 
1.12 Minerals and waste planning authorities are allowed to work together to prepare 

minerals and waste development documents4. The HMWP will be prepared, submitted, 
and adopted by the five authorities as a joint document. Each mineral and waste 
planning authority will ‘adopt’ the HMWP individually.  

 
4 Under section 28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

Page 288



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  3 
 

What area is covered by the HMWP? 
 
1.13 Minerals and waste planning issues are most appropriately addressed jointly so that 

strategic issues can be satisfactorily resolved. The updated HMWP will reflect the 
boundary of the current adopted Plan (2013).   
 

1.14 Figure 1 below indicates the administrative areas of each of the Authorities. 
 

Figure 1: HMWP Administrative Areas 

 

What resources are available for plan-making? 
 
1.15 The Plan will be approved by each Authority.  Hampshire County Council will lead the 

technical preparation of the partial HMWP working with the partner Authorities. 
Hampshire will contribute planning, specialist, and managerial staff resources sufficient 
to prepare a sound plan.   
 

1.16 The partner Authorities have committed significant financial support to the partial 
update of the HMWP and will also provide support and contribute some staff time 
where required. 

 

Page 289



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  4 
 

2. Minerals & Waste Planning   

What is the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan? 
 
2.1 The HMWP is a Local Plan, supported by other development documents such as the 

Statement of Community Involvement for each Authority. The HMWP covers the 
period up to 2030.  

 
2.2 Local Plans undergo an examination conducted by an independent Planning Inspector.  
 
2.3 Figure 2 shows the documents that make up the HMWP and the linkages to other 

strategies.  
 

Figure 2: HMWP Linkages to other Strategies 
 

 
 
How does the Plan relate to other Plans and Strategies? 

National Planning Policy 
 

2.4 HMWP will need to accord with current planning policy and guidance on minerals and 
waste. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)5 was published in 2012 and 
subsequently updated and revised in 2019. The National Planning Practice Guidance6  
which sits alongside the NPPF was launched in 2014 and is a live document, updated 
as necessary by the Government. The Waste Management Plan for England7 was 
published in December 2013, followed by the National Planning Policy for Waste8 
which was published in October 2014.  

 
5 National Planning Policy Framework - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf 
6 Planning Practice Guidance - http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/  
7 Waste Management Plan for England - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/waste-management-
plan-for-england  
8 National Planning Policy for Waste - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-
for-waste  

Page 290



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  5 
 

Regional Planning Policy 
 
2.5 The South East Plan was partially revoked on 25 March 2013. Policy NRM6, which 

deals with the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area, remains in place as a 
saved policy9 and is relevant to the Plan area.  

Local Planning Policy 
 

2.6 The Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) remains the adopted Plan until it is 
replaced by the updated HMWP.  

Other relevant Strategies 
 
2.7 A Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out the approach for involving the 

community in the preparation, alteration and continuing review of all development plan 
documents (DPD), and in publicising and dealing with planning applications. Each of 
the Authorities has adopted its own Statement of Community Involvement. These are 
as follows:  

 Hampshire – Statement of Community Involvement (2017)10 
 Portsmouth – Statement of Community Involvement (2017)11  
 Southampton – Statement of Community Involvement (2019)12  
 New Forest – Statement of Community Involvement (2013)13  
 South Downs – Statement of Community Involvement (2017)14  

What are the key stages in document preparation? 
 
2.8 All Local Plans have to go through prescribed procedures and are subject to wide 

public consultation and ultimately an independent public examination before they can 
be adopted. Local Plans are examined to assess their 'soundness' (i.e. whether they 
are fit for purpose and legally compliant). 

 
2.9 The key stages in Local Plan preparation and updating are outlined in Figure 3.  

 

 
9 Natural Resource Management (NRM6) - http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/south-east-plan-policy-
nrm6.pdf  
10 Hampshire SCI (2017) - https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-
planning/statement-community-involvement 
11 Portsmouth SCI (2017) - https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/development-and-planning/planning-
policy/statement-of-community-involvement 
12 Southampton SCI (2019) - https://www.southampton.gov.uk/images/involving-you-in-planning-(sci)_tcm63-
424238.pdf 
13 New Forest SCI (2013) - https://www.newforestnpa.gov.uk/planning/community-involvement/ 
14 South Downs SCI (2017) - https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Statement-of-
Community-Involvement-August-2017.pdf 

Page 291



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  6 
 

Figure 3: Local plan preparation  

 
 

HMWP Update: Timetable  
 
2.10 The following table outlines the timetable for the partial HMWP update. 

 
HMWP Key 
Milestones 

Timescale Description 

Regulation 18 
(Preparation) 
 

March 2021 – September 
2021 

Call for Sites (Fixed period) 
Evidence Base  
 Scoping Report (SA/SEA) 
 Screening (HRA) 
 Minerals & Waste Background 

Studies 
 Minerals & Waste Proposal 

Studies 
 Wharves & Rail Depots Needs 

Assessment 
 Climate Change Topic Paper 
 Aggregate Recycling Topic 

Paper 
 Restoration Topic Paper 
 Technical Assessments 

(Landscape, Transport, Flooding, 
Heritage) 

 
Regulation 18 
(Consultation) 
 

October 2021 – 
December 2021  

Consultation on the Draft Plan Update 
and Evidence 

Page 292



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  7 
 

Regulation 19 
(Proposed Submission 
Document 
Preparation) 
 

January 2022 – March 
2022 

Update Evidence Base 
Revise Plan based on Evidence Base 
and Consultation 
 

Regulation 19 
(Proposed Submission 
Document 
Consultation) 
 

April 2022 – June 2022 Consultation on the updated Plan to 
be submitted to the Secretary of State 
 

Regulation 22 
(Preparation) 
 

July 2022 – October 2022 Update Evidence Base 
Proposed Modifications based on 
Evidence Base and Consultation 
 

Regulation 22 
(Submission to SoS) 

Winter 2022 Submitting the Plan to the Secretary 
of State who appoints a Planning 
Inspector 
 

Regulation 24 (Public 
Examination) 

Spring 2023 Pre- Examination Hearing 
Planning Inspector examines the Plan 
 

Regulation 25 
(Inspector’s Report) 

Summer 2023 Planning Inspector delivers his report 
on the Plan 
 

Regulation 26 
(Adoption) 

Autumn 2023 All authorities adopt the Plan, as 
modified by Planning Inspector 
 

Policies Map 
 
2.11 A Policies Map forms part of the HMWP and will be updated simultaneously with the 

Plan. The Policies Map illustrates geographically how the policies of the HMWP are to 
be applied.  

Meeting the Duty to Cooperate 
 
2.12 In preparing the updated HMWP, the Hampshire Authorities will fulfil their duty to 

cooperate with: 
 Districts and Boroughs and surrounding Minerals & Waste Planning Authorities; 
 Statutory consultees – organisations such as Natural England, Historic England 

and the Environment Agency that need to be involved in planning for minerals or 
waste; and 

 Those organisations and communities that have a minerals or waste interest or 
that may be impacted by the proposals. 

 
2.13 A report showing how the requirements to fulfil the duty to cooperate have been met 

will be prepared as part of the evidence base.   
 

2.14 Where relevant, Statements of Common Ground will be prepared to address strategic 
cross-boundary issues.  

Page 293



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  8 
 

Local Aggregate Assessment 
 
2.15 The Local Aggregate Assessment (LAA) is prepared annually and is a report that 

considers the sale and movements of aggregates in the local authority that produces it. 
The Hampshire Authorities already work together to produce a joint Local Aggregate 
Assessment15. This document will continue to be produced annually and will form an 
important part of the Evidence Base for the HMWP. 

Plan Assessment and Appraisal 
 
2.16 The policies and proposals in the updated HMWP will be assessed to ensure that they 

contribute to the aims of sustainable development. This assessment will be through 
Sustainability Appraisal (which incorporates assessment as required under the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive). To prepare these appraisals, a 
sustainability 'Scoping Report' will be prepared. This report describes the existing key 
environmental, social, and economic issues for Hampshire and includes a set of 
sustainability objectives which will be used to assess the policies in documents.  

 
2.17 All minerals and waste development documents are also subject to Habitats 

Regulations Assessment (HRA)16 and the updated HMWP will be assessed 
accordingly. 

 
2.18 Local government authorities are subject to the public sector equality duty under the 

Equality Act 201017. An Equalities Impact Assessment will be produced to ensure that 
the HMWP update meets this duty.  

Plan Monitoring 
 
2.19 In accordance with the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended by 

The Localism Act 2011, local authorities are required to produce a Monitoring Report, 
containing: 

 information on how the preparation of the minerals and waste DPDs are 
progressing; and 

 the extent to which the policies set out in the associated documents are being 
implemented.  

 
2.20 Monitoring Reports are produced annually for the Hampshire Authorities18. 

 
15 Aggregates Monitoring Report (2019) - https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-
planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-plan 
16 Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 - 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made  
17 Equality Act 2010 - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents  
18 Minerals and Waste Monitoring Reports - 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-plan 

Page 294



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  9 
 

Potential Risks to the Timetable  
 
2.21 The plan preparation process has a number of risk elements including: 

 Staff Resources; 
 Funding; and  
 Democratic timetables. 

 
2.22 The Hampshire Authorities have a variety of procedures in place to mitigate these 

risks. 
 

2.23 The key risks and mitigation measures are outlined in the table below. 

 

Risk Why 
Level x 

likelihood 
of Impact 

Mitigation / minimisation 
measures 

Staffing and 
resources 

Minerals and waste 
planning require 
specialist staff, while 
government spending 
cuts continue to affect 
resources across all 
Councils. 

Low 

The Hampshire Authorities have 
resolved to allocate appropriate 
resources for the production of the 
updated HWMP. Hampshire County 
Council will be the lead Authority and 
will undertake the majority of the 
work, having appropriate staff skills 
and resources. Regular updates will 
be provided to the partners and 
progress will be closely monitored. 

Potential 
changes in 
national and 
local political 
control/ 
leadership 

There may be future 
changes to legislation 
and guidance introduced 
by a new Government. 

There may be changes 
in the political 
composition and outlook 
of one or more of the 
Hampshire Authorities. 

Medium 

Changes in policy and guidance will 
be monitored and assessed for their 
impact on the content of emerging 
documents. The HWMP update will 
be based upon the information 
available at that time. Advice will be 
sought from the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) and the Planning 
Inspectorate, as appropriate. Locally, 
officers will work closely with 
Members. 

The focused update and timetable 
should reduce the risk of any 
potential change. 

Page 295



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  10 
 

Legal 
Compliance / 
Soundness / 
Legal Challenge 

The updated HMWP will 
be assessed by a 
Planning Inspector as to 
whether it has complied 
with legislation and is 
sound (a suitable plan 
for the local 
circumstances, based on 
relevant policy and a 
robust evidence base). Medium 

The Councils will seek to ensure that 
the Local Plan is legally compliant, 
"sound", based upon a robust 
evidence base, and has a well 
audited consultation process, in order 
to minimise the risk of legal 
challenge. The Councils will work 
closely with the Planning 
Inspectorate at all stages of the 
examination to ensure the tests of 
soundness are met. The Council will 
take account of other advice 
available such as from the Planning 
Advisory Service and tools such as ' 
toolkits' in respect of the Local Plan 
process. The Council will also take 
legal advice on the plan process as 
appropriate. 

Local opposition Minerals and waste 
plans can lead to high 
levels of local interest 
and/or local opposition 
to proposals. 

Medium 

Information and opinions from the 
public need to be fully considered 
during plan-making and contribute to 
the development of a sound plan. In 
order to maximise the input from 
local stakeholders to the updated 
HMWP, early and focused 
engagement will be essential. 
Realistic time should be programmed 
for consultation and subsequent 
analysis of responses of any 
controversial documents. 

Partnership 
working 

While partnership 
working will bring 
benefits in the 
preparation of the 
updated HMWP, it can 
also introduce delays 
due to differing positions 
or democratic timetables 
and processes. 

Medium 

There is a need to share timetables, 
as well as engage and maintain good 
working relationships.  

The focused update and timetable 
should reduce the risk of any 
potential impact on the partnership. 

National 
pandemic 

The impact of a national 
pandemic may impact 
resources and/or how 
engagement is carried 
out with the public and 
stakeholders.  

Medium 

Managing resources is outlined 
above. 

Statements of Community 
Involvement will set outline any 
revised approaches to consulting in a 
time of a pandemic.  Any change in 
measures will accord with 
Government advice.  

If necessary, and where possible, 
events including the Public 
Examination will be carried out 
virtually.  

Page 296



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  11 
 

3. HMWP Update: Evidence Base  
 

Preparing a robust evidence base 
 
3.1 Planning authorities are urged to ensure that effective programme management 

techniques are employed in progressing and orchestrating the production of the 
evidence base for plan work.  

 
3.2 It is intended that the main studies should be completed prior to public participation on 

minerals and waste planning documents, in order to ensure that all the key issues 
have been identified at the Regulation 18 stage. 

 
3.3 It is also important that the evidence base is complete and robust prior to publication of 

the plans. This will help demonstrate that the proposed plans are the most appropriate 
considering all the options and based on the available evidence.  

Proposed evidence base 
 
3.4 Due to the focused nature of the partial HMWP Update, specific studies will need to be 

undertaken including: 
 Waste Background Study 
 Minerals Background Study 
 Wharves & Depots Needs Assessment 
 Climate Change Topic Paper 
 Aggregate Recycling Topic Paper 
 Restoration Topic Paper 
 Minerals and Waste Proposal Studies 
 Sustainability Appraisal (incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment) 
 Habitats Regulations Assessment 
 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
 Strategic Technical Assessments on issues such as Transport, Landscape and 

Heritage.  
 
3.5 As the evidence base is prepared any completed or draft supporting documents will be 

available to view on the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan website19. 

 
19 Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan webpage - 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/strategic-planning/hampshire-minerals-waste-plan  

Page 297



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  12 
 

Glossary of Terms & Acronyms  
 

Development Plan - Planning law (section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 and section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) requires that 
decisions on planning applications should be made in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for each of the 
partner Authorities includes the latest Local Plans for that authority, the Hampshire Minerals 
and Waste Plan (incorporating South East Plan saved policy NRM6) and any completed 
Neighbourhood Plans. It is important that all documents comprising the Development Plan 
are read together. 

Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) - An equality impact assessment (EqIA) is a process 
designed to ensure that a policy, project, or scheme does not discriminate against any 
disadvantaged or vulnerable people. 
 
Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) - Statutory requirement for Planning Authorities to 
assess the potential effects of land-use plans on designated European Sites in Great Britain. 
The Habitats Regulations Assessment is intended to assess the potential effects of a 
development plan on one or more European Sites (collectively termed 'Natura 2000' sites). 
The Natura 2000 sites comprise Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and Special Areas of 
Conservation (SACs). SPAs are classified under the European Council Directive on the 
conservation of wild birds (79/409/EEC; Birds Directive) for the protection of wild birds and 
their habitats (including particularly rare and vulnerable species listed in Annex 1 of the Birds 
Directive, and migratory species). 
 
Local Plan - Local Plans have statutory development plan status and are subject to rigorous 
procedures involving community involvement and formal testing through examination by an 
independent Planning Inspector to assess whether a plan has been prepared in accordance 
with the Duty to Co-operate, legal and procedural requirements and whether it is sound. 
Local Plans usually deal with non-minerals or waste matters but references minerals and 
waste plans. 

National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) – The NPPW sets out detailed waste 
planning policies. It should be read in conjunction with the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - The NPPF is a single document that sets 
out the Government’s economic, environmental, and social planning policies for England. 
Taken together, these policies articulate the Government’s vision of sustainable 
development.  

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) - The PPG (2014 onwards) is an online resource 
setting out further detail on the Government's national planning policies set out in the NPPF 
and NPPW. 

Stakeholder - Any person or organisation expected to have a concern or interest in a 
particular minerals and waste development, site, policy, or issue. 
 

Page 298



Hampshire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (2020)  13 
 

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) - A document which sets out how a Council 
will engage with communities in reviewing and preparing planning policy documents and 
consulting on planning applications. 

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) - A system of incorporating environmental 
considerations into policies, plans, programmes, and part of European Union Policy. It is 
sometimes referred to as strategic environmental impact assessment and is intended to 
highlight environmental issues during decision-making about strategic documents such as 
plans, programmes and strategies. The SEA identifies the significant environmental effects 
that are likely to result from implementing the plan or alternative approaches to the plan. The 
Sustainability Appraisal often includes the SEA. 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) - Examines the impact of proposed plans and policies on 
economic, social, and environmental factors, and ensures that these issues are taken into 
account at every stage so that sustainable development is delivered on the ground. It also 
appraises the different options that are put forward in the development of policies and the 
process of allocating sites. The SA often incorporates SEA. 

Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (TBHSPA) - A group of heathland sites 
distributed across Berkshire, Surrey and Hampshire that support important breeding 
populations of lowland heathland birds (especially the Nightjar, Dartford Warbler and 
Woodlark). The area is designated for its interest under a European Wildlife Directive (and 
subject to the assessment procedure set out in the Habitats Directive) in order to protect the 
important species of birds that live within them. 

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Executive Decision Record 
 

Decision Maker:  Executive Member for Economy, Transport and Environment 

Date of Decision: 14 January 2020 

Decision Title:  Appointments to Statutory Joint Committees and Outside 
Bodies  

Report From:  Director of Transformation and Governance - Corporate 
Services  

Contact name: Katy Sherwood  

Tel: 01962 847347 Email: katy.sherwood@hants.gov.uk 
 

  
1. The Decision (PROPOSED):  
 
 a) That the Executive Member for Environment and Transport be requested to 
 make appointments to the Statutory Joint Committees and Outside Bodies as 
 detailed below. The term of office to expire in May 2021. 
 
OUTSIDE BODIES AND OTHER ORGANISATIONS 
 
 

 Name of Body 
 

Description Previous 
representatives 
 

Appointment(s) 
until May 2021 
 

1.  

Solent Airport 
Consultative 
Committee (1) 

To foster open and effective 
communication and build 
understanding between 
Solent Airport and its users, 
local residents and the 
business community about 
the impact of airport 
operations  
 

N/A – new 
Outside Body 
 
 

 

 
2. Reason for the decision: 
 
2.1. To maintain County Council representation on committees and bodies within the 
community. 
 
3. Other options considered and rejected: 
 
3.1. Not to make appointments, which would cease County Council representation.  
 
4. Conflicts of interest: 
 

Page 301

Agenda Item 7

mailto:katy.sherwood@hants.gov.uk


 

2 

4.1. Conflicts of interest declared by the decision-maker: None 
 
4.2. Conflicts of interest declared by other Executive Members consulted:  
 
5. Dispensation granted by the Conduct Advisory Panel: none.  
 
6. Reason(s) for the matter being dealt with if urgent: not applicable. 
 
7. Statement from the Decision Maker:  
 
 
 
 

Approved by:  
 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------                

Date: 14 January 
2020 

Executive Member for Economy, Transport and 
Environment Councillor Rob Humby 

 

 

  

Page 302


	Agenda
	1 Framework Agreement for Bus Stop and Bus Shelter Infrastructure
	2 Revenue Budget 2021/22
	3 ETE Capital Programme Monitoring
	4 ETE Proposed Capital Programme 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	5 Project Appraisal: Whitehill and Bordon – South East Loop Pedestrian and Cycle Path
	6 2020 Review of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan and revised Development Scheme
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	7 Appointments to Outside Bodies

